The International Journal of Transfusion Medicine

IN THIS ISSUE

Journals and affiliated medical societies must address gender inequities among editors White paper on pandemic preparedness in the blood supply Impact of donor ferritin testing on iron deficiency prevention and blood availability in France: A cohort simulation study

Efficacy of therapeutic plasma exchange in severe COVID-19 disease: A meta-analysis



International Society of Blood Transfusion

WILEY

International Journal of Blood Transfusion

Official Journal of the International Society of Blood Transfusion

Founded 1956 by J. J. van Loghem, L. P. Holländer, J. Dausset, A. Hässig and J. Julliard (formerly Bulletin of the Central Laboratory of the Blood Transfusion Service of the Dutch Red Cross, founded 1951)

Editor-in-Chief

Miquel Lozano, Barcelona, Spain

Section Editors

Blood Component Collection and Production Denese C. Marks, *Sydney, Australia*

Cellular Therapy Zbigniew 'Ziggy' M. Szczepiorkowski, *Lebanon, NH, US*A

Donors and Donations Katja van den Hurk, *Amsterdam, the Netherlands*

Haemovigilance Claudia Cohn, *Minneapolis, MN, USA*

Immunohaematology and Immunogenetics Jill R. Storry, Lund, Sweden

Arwa Al-Riyami, *Muscat, Oman* Claire Armour Barrett, *Bloemfontein, South Africa* Thierry Burnouf, *Taipei, Taiwan* Andreas Buser, *Basel, Switzerland* Marcela Contreras, *London, UK* Dana Devine, *Vancouver, Canada* Christian Erikstrup, *Aarhus, Denmark* Helen Faddy, *Petrie, Australia* Hendrik Feys, *Mechelen, Belgium* Ruchika Goel, *Springfield, IL, USA* Salwa Hindawi, *Jeddah, Saudi Arabia* Yanli Ji, *Guangzhou, China* Mickey Koh, *London, UK and Singapore* Linda Larsson, *Stockholm, Sweden*

Scientific/Medical Illustrator Alison Schroeer, Thompson, CT, USA

Technical Editor Doug Huestis, *Tucson, AZ, USA*

ISBT Standing Committee on Vox Sanguinis

Gwen Clarke, *Chairperson, Edmonton, Canada* Lin Fung, *Brisbane, Australia* Eric Jansen, *Amsterdam, the Netherlands* Diana Teo, *Singapore* Miquel Lozano, *Editor-in-Chief, Barcelona, Spain*

Observers Michael P. Busch, ISBT President, San Francisco, USA Jenny White, ISBT Executive Director, Amsterdam, the Netherlands Claire Dowbekin, Publishing Manager, Wiley, Oxford, UK International Forum Nancy M. Dunbar, *Lebanon, NH, USA* Patient Blood Management

Nelson Tsuno, *Tokyo, Japan*

Reviews

Zbigniew 'Ziggy' M. Szczepiorkowski, *Lebanon, NH, USA* Leo van de Watering, *Amsterdam, the Netherlands*

Transfusion Medicine and New Therapies Pierre Tiberghien, *Paris, France*

Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention Sheila O'Brien, *Ottawa, Canada*

Editorial Board

Bridon M'Baya, Blantyre, Malawi Wolfgang R. Mayr, Vienna, Austria Pieter van der Meer, Amsterdam, the Netherlands Celina Montemayor, Toronto, Canada Shirley Owusu-Ofori, Kumasi, Ghana Luca Pierelli, Rome, Italy France Pirenne, Créteil, France Sandra Ramirez-Arcos, Ottawa, Canada Veera Sekaran Nadarajan, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Ratti Ram Sharma, Chandigarh, India Eilat Shinar, Ramat Gan, Israel Claude Tayou Tagny, Yaounde, Cameroon Vip Viprakasit, Bangkok, Thailand Silvano Wendel, São Paulo, Brazil

Editorial Office

Maria Davie, Edinburgh, UK

Production Editor Ella Mari Polintan, *Manila, the Philippines*

Past Editors-in-Chief

J. J. van Loghem, 1956–1960 W. H. Crosby, 1960–1963 (N. and S. America) L. P. Holländer, 1960–1970 (Europe) F. H. Allen, 1963–1977 (N. and S. America) M. G. Davey, 1970–1980 (Africa, Asia and Australia) N. R. Rose, 1977–1980 (N. and S. America) C. P. Engelfriet, 1977–1996 M. Contreras, 1996–2003 W. R. Mayr, 2003–2011 D. Devine, 2011–2020

International Journal of Blood Transfusion

Aims and Scope

Vox Sanguinis reports on all issues related to transfusion medicine, from donor vein to recipient vein, including cellular therapies. Comments, reviews, original articles, short reports and international fora are published, grouped into 10 main sections:

- 1. Blood Component Collection and Production: Blood collection methods and devices (including apheresis); blood component preparation; inventory management; collection and storage of tissues; quality management and good manufacturing practice; automation and information technology; plasma fractionation techniques and plasma derivatives;
- Cellular Therapy: Cell-based therapies; CAR T-cell therapies; genetically modified cell therapies; cellular therapy (sources; products; processing and storage); stem cells; cell-based regenerative medicine; cellular immunotherapy; molecular therapy;
- 3. Donors and Donations: Donor recruitment and retention; donor selection; donor health
- 4. Haemovigliance: Adverse events in blood and blood component donors and transfusion recipients; corrective and preventive measures of complications; near-misses and errors in the transfusion chain; evaluation and outcomes of adverse events
- Immunohaematology and Immunogenetics: autoimmunity in haematology; alloimmunity of blood; pre-transfusion testing; complement in immunohaematology; blood phenotyping and genotyping; genetic markers of blood cells and serum proteins: polymorphisms and function; parentage testing and forensic immunohaematology;
- 6. International Forum: Section in which topics related to any aspects of the transfusion chain (from technical to scientific, including socioeconomic and ethical facets) are discussed by invited participants and summarized by guest editors
- 7. Patient Blood Management: Bloodless surgery; preoperative anaemia; minimizing blood loss during surgery; alternatives to blood transfusion;
- 8. Review: Comprehensive reviews or short comments of any aspect related to transfusion medicine;
- 9. Transfusion Medicine: Transfusion indication, transfusion practice, thresholds and audits; transfusion efficacy assessment, clinical trials; therapeutic apheresis;
- Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention: Identification and epidemiology of infectious pathogens transmissible by blood; donor testing for transfusion-transmissible infectious pathogens; bacterial contamination of blood components; pathogen inactivation;

This comprehensive coverage has made the journal essential reading for a wide range of specialists interested in the present state of transfusion research and practice.

Journal Customer Services

For ordering information, claims and any enquiry concerning your journal subscription please go to https://wolsupport.wiley.com/s/contactsupport?tabset-a7d10=2 or contact your nearest office. Americas: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +1 877 762 2974. Europe, Middle East and Africa: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +44 (0) 1865 778315; 0800 1800 536 (Germany). Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Luxembourg, Liechtenstein: cs-germany@wiley.com; Tel: v6800 1800 536 (Germany). Asia Pacific: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +65 3165 0890. Japan: For Japanese-speaking support, Email: cs-japan@wiley.com. Visit our Online Customer Help at https://wolsupport.wiley.com/s/contactsupport?tabset-a7d10=2.

Information for Subscribers: Vox Sanguinis is published in 12 issues per year. Institutional subscription prices for 2023 are: Print & Online: US\$2262 (US), US\$2637 (Rest of World), €1579 (Europe), £1225 (UK). Prices are exclusive of tax. Asia-Pacific GST, Canadian GST/HST and European VAT will be applied at the appropriate rates. For more information on current tax rates, please go to www. wileyonlinelibrary.com/ tax-vat. The price includes online access to the current and all online backfiles for previous 5 years, where available. For other pricing options, including access information and terms and conditions, please visit https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/library-info/products/price-lists. Terms of use can be found here: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions.

Delivery Terms and Legal Title: Where the subscription price includes print issues and delivery is to the recipient's address, delivery terms are Delivered at Place (DAP); the recipient is responsible for paying any import duty or taxes. Title to all issues transfers Free of Board (FOB) our shipping point, freight prepaid.

Claims for Missing or Damaged Print Issues: Our policy is to replace missing or damaged copies within our reasonable discretion, subject to print issue availability, and subject to the following terms: Title to all issues transfers Freight on Board ("FOB") to the address specified in the order; (1) Freight costs are prepaid by Wiley; and (2) Claims for missing or damaged copies must be submitted by the Customer or Subscription Agent within the claims window, as noted below.

Claims window - General: Claims for missing print issues must be sent to cs-agency@wiley.com (and the Subscription Agent or Customer may be referred to a society) within three months of whichever of these dates is the most recent: date of subscription payment; or date of issue publication.

Claims window - India: Both Subscription Agents and Customers in India have 48 hours after receipt of goods to confirm that all content listed on the packing label has been received. In the event of any discrepancy, SPUR Infosolutions, Wiley's delivery partner in India, needs to be notified within forty-eight (48) hours using this email address: support@spurinfo.com. All claims will be checked against SPUR Infosolutions delivery records before the claim is accepted. The above terms for Wiley's claims policy otherwise apply.

Back Issues: Single issues from current and recent volumes are available at the current single issue price from cs-journals@wiley.com. Earlier issues may be obtained from Periodicals Service Company, 351 Fairview Avenue - Ste 300, Hudson, NY 12534, USA. Tel: +1518 822-9300, Fax: +1518 822-9305, Email: psc@periodicals.com

Abstracting and Indexing Services: The Journal is indexed by Abstracts in Anthropology (Sage); Abstracts on Hygiene & Communicable Diseases (CABI); Academic Search (EBSCO Publishing); Academic Search Alumni Edition (EBSCO Publishing); Academic Search Premier (EBSCO Publishing); AGRICOLA Database (National Agricultural Library); BIOBASE: Chemical Abstracts Service (ACS); CSA Biological Abstracts (Clarivate Analytics); BIOSIS Previews (Clarivate Analytics); CAB Dotatase (ProQuest); CSA Virology & AIDS Abstracts Service (ACS); CSA Biological Sciences Database (ProQuest); CSA Environmental Sciences & Pollution Management Database (ProQuest); CSA Virology & AIDS Abstracts (ProQuest); Current Contents: Life Sciences (Clarivate Analytics); Embase (Elsevier); Global Health (CABI); HED: Health Economic Evaluations Database (Wiley-Blackwell); Index Veterinarius (CABI); Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition (Clarivate Analytics); MEDLINE/PubMed (NLM); Nutrition Abstracts & Reviews Series A: Human & Experimental (CABI); Pio Sus & Information (CABI); ProQuest); Produest (ProQuest); Produest Research Library (ProQuest); Protozoological Abstracts (CABI); PubMedDietary SupplementSubset (NLM); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Entomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Entomology (SABI); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); PubMedDietary SupplementSubset (NLM); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Entomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); PubMedDietary SupplementSubset (NLM); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Entomology (SABI); Roviex (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); PubMedDietary SupplementSubset (NLM); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Entomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); PubMedDietary SupplementSubset (NLM); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Entomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical & Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (C

Copyright and Copying (in any format): Copyright © 2023 International Society of Blood Transfusion. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior permission in writing from the copyright holder. Authorization to copy items for internal and personal use is granted by the copyrightholder for libraries and other users registered with their local Reproduction Rights Organisation (RRO), e.g. Copyright Clearance Center (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA (www.copyright.com), provided the appropriate fee is paid directly to the RRO. This consent does not extend to other kinds of copying such as copying for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, for republication, for creating new collective works or for resale. Permissions for such reuse can be obtained using the RightsLink "Request Permissions" link on Wiley Online Library. Special requests should be addressed to: permissions@wiley.com

Open Access: Vox Sanguinis accepts articles for Open Access publication. Please visit https://authorservices.wiley.com/author-resources/Journal-Authors/open-access/hybrid-open-access.html for further information about Open Access.

Copyright Policy: Papers accepted must be licensed for publication in *Vox Sanguinis* and a completed Copyright Transfer Agreement Form must accompany every accepted paper. Authors will be required to license copyright in their paper to John Wiley & Sons Ltd. Upon acceptance of an article, corresponding authors must log into Author Services to complete the licence agreement of their paper.

Wiley's Corporate Citizenship initiative seeks to address the environmental, social, economic, and ethical challenges faced in our business and which are important to our diverse stakeholder groups. Since launching the initiative, we have focused on sharing our content with those in need, enhancing community philanthropy, reducing our carbon impact, creating global guidelines and best practices for paper use, establishing avendor code of ethics, and engaging our colleagues and other stakeholders in our efforts. Follow our progress at www.wiley.com/go/citizenship. Wiley is a founding member of the UN-backed HINARI, AGORA, and OARE initiatives. They are now collectively known as Research4Life, making online scientific content available free or at nominal cost to researchers in developing countries. Please visit Wiley's Content Access – Corporate Citizenship site: http://www.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-390082.html. The journal to which you are submitting your manuscript employs a plagiarism detection system. By submitting your manuscript to this journal you accept that your manuscript may be screened for plagiarism against previously published works.

Disclaimer: The Publisher, International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher or the International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors, neither does the publication of advertisements constitute any endorsement by the Publisher or the International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors divertised.

VOX SANGUINIS (Online ISSN: 1423-0410 Print ISSN: 0042-9007) is published monthly. Postmaster: Send all address changes to VOX SANGUINIS, Wiley Periodicals LLC, C/O The Sheridan Press, PO Box 465, Hanover, PA 17331, USA. For submission instructions, subscription and all other information visit: www.wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/vox. Printed in the UK by Hobbs the Printers Ltd.

Contents

Review

 817 What influences decisions to donate plasma? A rapid review of the literature M. Berger, A. Easterbrook, K. Holloway, D. Devine & N. Bansback

Original Articles

Donors and Donations

825 The added value of ferritin levels and genetic markers for the prediction of haemoglobin deferral M. Vinkenoog, J. Toivonen, M. van Leeuwen, M. P. Janssen & M. Arvas

Blood Component Collection and Production

 835 Association of blood donor characteristics and in vitro haemolysis of packed red blood cell concentrates during storage B. Dhawan,
 K. Mittal, P. Kaur, S. Jaswal, A. Tahlan, R. Kaur,
 T. Sood, G. Kaur & R. Rohilla

Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention

843 Human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus incidence in blood donors from 2000 to 2020 in France: Trends and lessons from haemovigilance surveillance S. Laperche, C. Sauvage, P. Gallian, S. Jbilou, E. Pouchol, J. Y. Py, L. Chabli, P. Richard, P. Morel, F. Lot & P. Tiberghien

Transfusion Medicine and New Therapies

- 854 Incidence of acute haemolytic transfusion reaction among ABO-incompatible recipients transfused with A₃ blood: A case series C. Latour, A. Gaussen, J. Beaudoin, G. A. Leiva-Torres, S. Rochette & N. Robitaille
- 863 Plasma resuscitation improves and restores intestinal microcirculatory physiology following haemorrhagic shock J. E. Schucht, B. G. Harbrecht, L. M. Bond, W. B. Risinger, P. J. Matheson & J. W. Smith

Immunohaematology

- 873 Genetic diversity of Gerbich alleles in Brazilians reveals an unexpected prevalence of the GE: -2,-3,4 phenotype C. P. Arnoni, N. M. Silva, F. S. Silva, R. M. Parreira, T. Vendrame, M. P. Miola, J. Muniz, A. Cortez, M. Valvasori, E. P. de Araujo, L. Dalmazzo, A. Freitas, F. Latini & L. Castilho
- 881 Use of computational biology to compare the theoretical tertiary structures of the most common forms of RhCE and RhD R. Trueba-Gómez, F. Rosenfeld-Mann, H. A. Baptista-González, M. L. Domínguez-López & H. Estrada-Juárez

Short Reports

- 891 Removal of UK-donor deferral for variant Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease: A large donation gain in Australia V. C. Hoad, C. R. Seed, P. Kiely, C. E. Styles, H. McManus, M. Law, J. Kaldor & I. B. Gosbell
- 895 Identification of a novel variant c.761C>T on ABO*B.01 gene in ABO glycosyltransferases associated with B_{weak} phenotype H. Lei, H. Zhang, L. Guo, D. Xiang, X. Wang, X. Liu & X. Cai
- 901 Simulated effects of ferritin screening on C-reactive protein levels in recruited blood donors E. Turkulainen, J. Ihalainen & M. Arvas

Letter to the Editor

- 906 Tetanus antibodies in normal human immunoglobulin preparations M. R. Farcet, C. Lackner, A. Schirmer & T. R. Kreil
- 908 Diary of Events





This journal is available online at *Wiley Online Library*. Visit wileyonlinelibrary.com to search the articles and register for table of contents e-mail alerts. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13496

REVIEW



What influences decisions to donate plasma? A rapid review of the literature

Mary Berger¹ Adam Easterbrook^{1,2} Kelly Holloway^{3,4} Dana Devine^{2,3} Nick Bansback^{1,2}

Revised: 6 April 2023

¹Centre for Health Evaluation and Outcome Sciences, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

²Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

³Donation Policy & Studies, Canadian Blood Services, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

⁴Institute of Health Policy, Management & Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Correspondence

Nick Bansback, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, 317-2194 Health Sciences Mall, Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z3, Canada. Email: nick.bansback@ubc.ca

Funding information

Canadian Institute of Health Research Projects Grant, Grant/Award Number: PJT-178170

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Plasma has become an essential ingredient for various medical treatments. Many blood collection agencies rely on voluntary nonremunerated donation when collecting plasma, but at present many do not collect sufficient plasma to meet domestic demands. This rapid review sought to explore the factors that have been found to influence people's decisions to donate plasma to inform future research.

Methods: Searches were conducted in PubMed, PsycINFO, Social Sciences Citation Index and CINAHL for peer-reviewed journal articles that discussed plasma donation and the factors associated with donor behaviour. Pertinent information from included articles was extracted and arranged in themes.

Results: In total, 33 articles were included in this review. Three main themes were identified by the authors. The first focused on site-level factors related to blood collection agencies' engagement with plasma donors and their influence on plasma donation experiences. The second theme considered how individual characteristics and experiences influence willingness to donate plasma. The third theme examined social and cultural-level factors, such as how social networks and community shape perceptions and experiences with donation.

Conclusion: Our findings suggest that the current understanding of plasma donation is focused mainly on converting whole blood donors and also centres on individuallevel factors to donation. Further research must examine what factors attract non-whole blood donors to become plasma donors, focusing on broader social-level influences. This review will inform policies and interventions for blood collection agencies to increase plasma donors.

Keywords

donor motivation, donor retention, donors, plasma

Highlights

• This rapid review explores what influences people's decision to donate plasma. Most studies focus on existing whole blood donors, examining individual-level factors such as intention, altruism and fear surrounding the donation process.

_____ This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

© 2023 The Authors. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

- There is little literature on non-whole blood donors or exploring social and cultural factors such as community influences and accessibility for diverse groups.
- Given that the findings show a lack of research on the influences of ethnicity, socioeconomic status and gender on plasma donation, specifically with non-donors, future studies should explore these factors in more depth.

INTRODUCTION

Plasma protein therapies are vital for patient recovery in clinical settings [1]. Plasma forms the treatment for patients with autoimmune disorders, immune deficiencies, rare blood disorders, various cancers, tetanus infections, nervous system disorders and so forth [1]. It can also be transfused directly into patients in hospitals or manufactured into specialized medicines called plasma protein products [2]. Due to the increasing use of these plasma protein products, the demand for plasma collection has increased globally [3].

Many blood collection agencies worldwide rely on voluntary, nonremunerated donations when collecting plasma. However, most fail to collect sufficient plasma to meet demand. Therefore, many countries purchase plasma from the international market, which often includes plasma from countries where people are paid to donate. While international purchasing allows countries to provide care, it raises concerns about the security of the supply. These concerns have been exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic, which has led to increasing costs of plasma products and disruptions to the supply chain [4].

It is important to understand the factors that influence people to either donate or not donate plasma to increase domestic plasma donation. Since whole blood donation is dominant in donation literature, recognizing the work done in plasma donation literature is a timely contribution. As discussed below, most plasma studies focus on converting whole blood donors to plasma. Addressing plasma donations' unique barriers and facilitators is vital to increase the plasma donor pool with new, inexperienced donors to ensure the whole blood donor pool remains stable. Thus, this review aims to summarize current plasma literature to provide insight for future research on improving plasma donor recruitment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A rapid review of plasma donation literature was done from February to April 2022. A rapid review follows a similar strategy to a systematic review but is more efficient due to limiting the search parameters and aspects of the synthesis. By applying a more streamlined approach to data collection and analysis, rapid reviews are best utilized in areas where information needs are immediate. This is relevant for plasma research, as the need for increasing supply is ever-growing; therefore, we chose a rapid review to quickly disseminate knowledge on how this demand can be met in a time of dire need. While there is no formal rapid review guideline, we used reviews that discussed the various approaches other authors have used [5–7], as well as supplemented the preliminary findings of the unpublished PRISMA-RR protocol [8].

Information sources

The search was completed by one reviewer (M.B.). The databases that we searched included PubMed, PsycINFO, CINAHL and Social Sciences Citation Index. We searched for peer-reviewed journal articles that discussed plasma donation and the factors associated with intention, motivation, facilitators and deterrents. The search term used was 'plasma don*' and was further specified using either [title/abstract] or depending on the database. The search began on 25 February 2022 and was completed on 19 April 2022. Test searches were performed before the official search using more specific terms alongside plasma don* (e.g., willingness, intent, barriers). However, the search results were too specific and did not provide a sufficient number of articles necessary for the review's aim. We searched Social Sciences Citation Index using the search terms and parameters; however, no relevant or new articles emerged. Therefore, we chose not to include any articles found in this database.

Inclusion criteria

We included journal articles that focused on factors of plasma donation that impact donors' willingness to, or not to, donate. These factors included motivation, intent, self-efficacy, barriers, facilitators, donor identity and willingness. In addition, eligible studies included those discussing factors that impacted the amount people donated, recruitment of new plasma donors, experiences of people who donated and perceptions surrounding plasma donation. More succinctly, we focused on the donor experience and how their backgrounds influence their perceptions and attitude towards donating plasma.

Exclusion criteria

Articles were excluded if not written in English or based outside North America, Europe or Australia. Articles outside of this geographic region examine healthcare systems that are structurally different from the Canadian system. Even with included countries varying in their reliance on remunerated donations, they historically have collected and distributed blood and plasma donations through a not-for-profit Blood Collection Agency (BCA) or an entity separate from the public health authority. Therefore, we examine countries with similarities in procurement, as the collection agencies often determine the type of people who donate [9]. We did not review any medical articles or letters to the editor. We chose not to include articles that described donor demographics (e.g., sex, age) alone as the review's focus is on how to increase donations, and descriptions of donor demographics are insufficient for this understanding. We also chose not to include op-ed articles or letters to the editor that discussed the ethical implications of paying donors (Figure 1).

Synthesis

Articles were organized in an Excel spreadsheet using descriptions of the studies, including methodology, sampling, study aims and findings. The authors kept notes on the emergent themes. The wider study





Vox Sanguinis

14230410, 2023, 10, Downloaded from https

elibrary.wiley

com/doi/10.11111/vox.13496 by Cornell University E-Resources & Serials

3 Department, Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Terms

and Condit

on Wiley Online

Library for rules of use; OA articles

are governed by the applicable Creative Commons

team developed final themes by identifying each study's main goals and outcomes and grouping similar articles. In these groups, the authors highlighted how key findings fit together to create common trends across the articles, allowing for the development of broader themes. Moreover, grouping articles in such a way allowed the authors to find potential knowledge gaps explored in the discussion. Preliminary themes were developed by one author (M.B.), and then verified by another author (A.E.), with any disagreements resolved by a third author (N.B.).

RESULTS

The electronic databases yielded 1403 articles. From these, 51 met our inclusion and exclusion criteria. After eliminating repeat articles, 24 unique studies met the inclusion/exclusion criteria to review fully. An additional nine articles were added from citation searches for a total of 33 articles (Table S1). The year range is from 1999 to 2022, as no articles appeared before 1999 in our search. Ten articles were qualitative and nine were quantitative. Additionally, three were mixed methods, and seven were experimental studies (e.g., randomized control trials). One article was a systematic review of whole blood donor willingness to convert to another substance of human origin [10]. Three were narrative reviews of motivations and deterrents towards plasma donation [11], motivations and compensation for plasma donation [12], and a summary of the current literature to provide strategies for BCAs [13].

We grouped our findings into three broad themes (Figure 2). The first theme focused on site factors, which include processes related to accessing plasma donation sites. The second theme was on individual-level factors, which focus on the motivations and deterrents of people who are approached to donate or already donate plasma. The third theme examined social/cultural-level factors, which explore the broader influences communities and social institutions have on individuals' perceptions of donating plasma.

Site and blood collection agency factors

Influence of BCA staff

To increase plasma donation, BCAs have explored both the recruitment of new donors and the conversion of whole blood donors to increase plasma donation [14–16]. The study by Thorpe et al. [16] aimed to increase the retention of first-time donors by comparing four strategies: calling donors, e-mailing donors, approaching donors to make advanced appointments and a simple 'thank you' message (control group). Compared with the control group, all intervention groups reported higher return rates and increased frequency of plasma donation. The most impactful strategy for getting donors to return included a call from the BCA asking about their experiences. This intervention demonstrated the importance of post-donation communication since





retention and recruitment improved when staff took the time to explain plasma donation and how to book an appointment.

Similarly, other studies [15, 17] compared the efficacy of different strategies for converting whole blood donors to plasma donation and found that in-person conversations with centre staff were more effective than call-centre phone conversations. Moreover, the relationships donors create with staff strongly influence return donations. Bove et al. [22] interviewed plasma donors on what triggered them to donate and what made them continue. For many, their relationship with the staff prompted them to switch from whole blood to plasma and kept them returning.

Time to donate plasma

Plasma donation takes approximately 1 h due to the separation and the return of the red blood cells, which is four times the length of blood donation and is the primary barrier preventing people from donating [11, 13, 18–21]. Bagot et al. [20] interviewed donors who declined to convert to plasma from whole blood donation and found that across all groups, the amount of time it took to donate plasma was the most cited reason for not wanting to donate plasma. Thorpe et al. [19] found that most plasma donors who lapsed did so because of changes in life circumstances, such as changes to work schedules, shifting family obligations and the ebb and flow of everyday life, which causes plasma donation to get sidelined.

Individual-level factors

Incentives and compensation

There has been substantial research into financial compensation's impact on people's willingness to donate plasma [12]; however, findings remain mixed and contradictory. Two experimental studies found that incentives did not influence willingness to donate [23] and return rates [24]. Gyuris et al. [23] found that donor willingness did not differ between the group given a monetary reward and the group that had the social significance of plasma donation emphasized to them. However, those who were given the option to pay their monetary reward forward to a non-governmental organization reported higher willingness to donate. Chell et al. [24] provided participants with a voucher for a local cafe and found that while nearly 70% of the sample took the voucher, only 18% redeemed it. Moreover, the return rate between the control group that received no voucher and the experimental group with a voucher was not significantly different.

Two non-experimental studies explored the motivations of paidplasma donors in the United States [25] and Hungary [26]. Anderson et al. [25] found that university students who were paid to donate their plasma were motivated by monetary incentives, not altruism. These students used the funds on activities they otherwise could not afford. Similarly, Trimmel et al. [26] surveyed paid plasma donors and voluntary whole blood donors in Hungary and found that paid plasma donors were motivated by monetary incentives and would not continue to donate if payment ceased. Moreover, paid donors had lower altruistic thinking levels than voluntary whole blood donors. More recently, France and France [27] surveyed university students on their preference to donate plasma or whole blood. They found that students' willingness to donate plasma rose from 3.9% to 47.5% after being informed that plasma donors are paid in the United States, where the study was based.

Anxiety and fear about donating plasma

Anxiety is often higher for new plasma donors due to navigating the apheresis machine and the unpleasant cold feeling experienced when blood is returned [28]. The medical environment in which plasma donation takes place appears to cause some unease and anxiety, especially for those new to the process.

A common factor for donor lapse is adverse events when donating, such as fainting. Vasovagal reactions (VVRs) are common for novice plasma donors [18, 28] and occur when individuals experience a sudden drop in blood pressure due to an extreme emotional response to a trigger, like seeing blood, and faint. Thijsen et al. [29] found that those plasma donors who experienced a VVR took significantly longer to return to donate and were more likely to experience another adverse event. Similarly, Thijsen et al. [30] explored the impact of a new policy in Australia, which allowed individuals to donate plasma without a previous whole blood donation. Compared to experience an adverse event and were not as likely to return.

Attempts have been made to address the anxiety and fears of new plasma donors. Gilchrist et al. [31] conducted an experimental study with two treatment groups for new donors. They gave the first group an informative brochure that normalized donor fear and provided stress reduction strategies—the second met with a trained research assistant who discussed concerns about with process with each donor. Both groups had fewer adverse events and higher positive support levels than the control.

Individual intention, motivation and self-efficacy

The most common framework for understanding individual intention and motivation towards plasma donation is the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) [21, 32, 33]. The theory suggests that the best predictor of behaviour is intention. Three factors determine the strength of intention: perceived behavioural control, which is an individual's perception of how easily or not a behaviour can be performed; attitude, which is the evaluation of the behaviour as a positive or negative act; subjective norm, which is the perception of others approval towards the enacted behaviour. Godin and Germain [33] used TPB to evaluate which factors were the most impactful when determining the intention of plasma donors. They found that perceived behavioural control and attitude were the most significant determinants of intention, as well as age (i.e., older adults) and donor experience. Based on these findings, an individual's intention to donate plasma hinges on whether they believe they can do so successfully.

In response to these findings, studies have begun to supplement TPB with Bandura's concept of self-efficacy [34]. In this context, selfefficacy describes an individual's belief in their ability to carry out a behaviour well. Veldhuizen and van Dongen [32] used a modified TPB to identify the most significant predictor of conversion to plasma donation or the onset of a plasma donor career. Plasma donors had stronger positive attitudes than whole blood donors.

However, the most significant difference was the higher levels of self-efficacy reported in plasma donors. This result was mirrored in Bagot et al. [21]. This study incorporated additional factors such as moral norms and anticipated regret. Moral norms assess the individual's perceptions of whether the behaviour is right or wrong. Anticipated regret drives people to perform a behaviour to avoid feeling guilty if they fail to do so. Using these additional factors, Bagot et al. [21] found that moral norms were a significant predictor of intention to donate plasma; however, anticipated regret was only significant if the individual reported high moral norms.

Donor role

Bagot et al. [21] found that those blood donors with a strong tie to their 'blood donor identity' were less likely to convert to plasma donation. However, Thorpe et al. [35] found that converted plasma donors who felt whole blood donation was similar to plasma donation believed their donor identity remained stable. For many, their donor identity was also tied to the motivation to help as much as possible. Thus, when informed of the dire need for plasma, those who switched to plasma donation did not experience tension in the donor identity since it was seen as helpful and did not conflict with their blood donor identity [35].

Social and cultural-level factors

Donation frequency and supporting community

Several studies explored why people converted to plasma donation and what made them stay [22, 36–40]. The increased frequency at which donors could donate was a draw to plasma donation, as several

researchers found that donors often wanted to donate as much as possible to address the need for plasma and benefit the broader community [22, 36, 38]. Bagot et al. [39] examined underlying beliefs that promote the intention to donate plasma and found that individuals who made a second plasma donation reported a strong desire to help others.

Family influences

A strong emotional connection to whole blood or plasma increased donation likelihood. Charbonneau et al. [40] found that many plasma donors had family members who had previously donated, knew of someone close to them who needed whole blood or plasma, or had someone close to them get ill or pass away. Thus, learning first-hand the impact of plasma donation on people, whether it was a favourable report of the experience from a loved one or witnessing its lifesaving capabilities, is a powerful motivator for many plasma donors.

Discriminatory or stigmatizing practices

Programmes have been developed to mitigate the exclusion of LGBTQ+ donors by Hema-Quebec in Canada. They proposed that men who have sex with men (MSM) could donate plasma, but their donation would be guarantined for 3 months and would require them to return to be tested for blood-borne infections such as HIV [41]. Several studies explored how members of the community, specifically MSM, felt about the plasma programme [41-43]. Using a TPB lens, Veillette-Bourbeau et al. [42] found that study participants reported a moderate level of perceived behavioural control, suggesting that the MSM programme was something they could see themselves doing. While some participants were keen to join the programme, a significant number of people still felt that the programme reinforced donation as an exclusionary practice that perpetrated an 'us vs. them' mentality Grace et al. [43]. Therefore, while the study by Veillette-Bourbeau et al. [42] found that MSM may feel they could donate, both Grace et al. [43] and Caruso et al. [41] found that the programme perpetuates the notion that the blood of MSM is 'impure' and reinforces the stigmatizing and discriminatory practices of BCAs. Participants in both studies did feel that the programmes were a step in the right direction and were hopeful that they would aid in the reduction of harmful prejudices held against them.

DISCUSSION

This rapid review of the plasma donor literature examined the various factors influencing plasma donor behaviour. A primary finding is that much of this research has focused on converting whole blood donors. Given the shortages in the supply of whole blood donors, exacerbated due to COVID-19 [44], this group will not sufficiently resolve plasma supply issues meaningfully. Historically, recruiting whole blood donors

has been an effective way of collecting plasma, which was considered secondary to whole blood donation, until the 1990s when demand for plasma-derived products dramatically increased [45]. More research is needed on people not currently donating blood, including diverse populations who tend to be underrepresented amongst whole blood donors [46, 47].

There was a gap in the literature surrounding how knowledge of plasma donation and its uses influenced donor motivations. This was surprising, considering in whole blood donation literature, knowledge is discussed as an important factor [47-51]. Further research should be implemented to understand knowledge's influence on individuals when deciding whether they will donate plasma.

We suggest a more thorough discussion of altruism as a motivator within the context of blood plasma donation. In whole blood donation literature, attempts to broaden definitions of altruism have included influences like self-worth (warm glow) [52] and moral obligations (reluctant altruism) [53]. However, these expanded definitions are not found within plasma donation literature. Furthermore, because the discussion of altruism is lacking in blood plasma literature, it is examined using individual-level factors that do not capture the nuance of this socially driven behaviour. Based on this, we argue for having a more nuanced exploration of altruism in blood plasma literature, which may allow for more effective targeting strategies for specific groups of people instead of general marketing approaches.

Exploring macro-level social factors would greatly increase the understanding of the pushes and pulls people experience when deciding whether or not to donate plasma. Although some studies have examined how ethnicity and cultural background influence whole blood [46, 54, 55] and organ [56] donation, this literature remains scant and other influences, such as gender, socio-economic status, disability status and language, remain largely under-explored. Greater attention to larger social influences such as immigration status and socio-economic status should be explored to improve understanding of the pushes and pulls towards plasma donation.

It is important to note the strengths and limitations of this rapid review. The strengths of this article include a strict inclusion/exclusion criterion created before the initial search. Moreover, throughout the search and writing this review, the primary reviewer (M.B.) collaborated with other authors to negotiate and determine the best way to organize the data and reinforce the rigour of the review. The limitations are the nature of the rapid review and the method's efficiency, which means the review's scope is limited. For example, we omitted scholarship on COVID-19 convalescent plasma donation, as this donor base has different motivations that were irrelevant for future non-convalescent donation. However, this area would likely inform future plasma collection strategies and should be examined with nonconvalescent donation [57]. As such, limiting the search terms and the databases may have resulted in publications being missed. Further, excluding grey literature, op-ed articles and publications in languages other than English may have created a potential publication bias.

Overall, the main message across the literature is that the need for plasma donors is dire, and the plasma supply must be increased to ensure people get the treatment they need. Future research should

look at how to recruit new donors from a diverse population and the larger structural- and cultural-level factors that influence people's desire to donate plasma or not.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes for Health Research Project Grant PJT-178170. M.B. performed the literature search, analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript; A.E. analysed and synthesized the data and reviewed and edited the manuscript; K.H. reviewed and edited the manuscript; D.D. edited and reviewed the manuscript; N.B. supervised the review, and edited and reviewed the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest concerning the authorship, and/or publication of this article.

ORCID

Mary Berger ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9193-6063 Kelly Holloway ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3867-1072 Dana Devine ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9059-0344

REFERENCES

- Mathew J, Sankar P, Varacallo M. Physiology, blood plasma. Stat-Pearls. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2022.
- Jolles S, Sewell WAC, Misbah SA. Clinical uses of intravenous immunoglobulin. Clin Exp Immunol. 2005;142:1–1.
- Prevot J, Jolles S. Global immunoglobulin supply: steaming towards the iceberg? Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020;20:557–64.
- Kenan N, Diabat A. The supply chain of blood products in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic: appointment scheduling and other restrictions. Transp Res E Logist Transp Rev. 2022;159: 102576.
- Garritty C, Gartlehner G, Nussbaumer-Streit B, King VJ, Hamel C, Affengruber L, et al. Cochrane Rapid Reviews Methods Group offers evidence-informed guidance to conduct rapid reviews. J Clin Epidemiol. 2021;130:13–22.
- Ganann R, Ciliska D, Thomas H. Expediting systematic reviews: methods and implications of rapid reviews. Implement Sci. 2010; 5:56.
- Tricco AC, Antony J, Zarin W, Strifler L, Ghassemi M, Ivory J, et al. A scoping review of rapid review methods. BMC Med. 2015;13:224.
- Stevens A, Garritty C, Hersi M, Moher D. Developing PRISMA-RR, a reporting guideline for rapid reviews of primary studies (protocol). EQUATOR Network. 2018 [cited 2022 Mar 7]. Available from: https://www.equator-network.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/ PRISMA-RR-protocol.pdf
- Healy K. Embedded altruism: blood collection regimes and the European union's donor population. Am J Sociol. 2000;10:1633–57.
- Hyde MK, Masser BM, Coundouris SP. A review of whole-blood donors' willingness, motives, barriers and interventions related to donating another substance of human origin. Transfus Med. 2022; 32:95–114.
- 11. Beurel A, Terrade F, Lebaudy JP, Danic B. Determinants of plasma donation: a review of the literature. Transfus Clin Biol. 2017;24: 106–9.
- 12. Farrugia A, Penrod J, Bult JM. Payment, compensation and replacement—the ethics and motivation of blood and plasma donation. Vox Sang. 2010;99:202–11.

- Masser B, Bagot K. Plasmapheresis: recruitment, retention and flexible donors. ISBT Sci Ser. 2015;10:268–74.
- Beurel A, Terrade F, Danic B, Lebaudy JP. Conversion to nonremunerated plasmapheresis donation: effects of labeling and donation environment. Eur Rev Appl Psychol. 2020;70:100554.
- 15. Godin G, Germain M. How to motivate whole blood donors to become plasma donors. J Blood Transfus. 2014;2014:752182.
- Thorpe R, Masser BM, Nguyen L, Gemelli CN, Davison TE. Bringing new plasma donors back: testing the efficacy of telephone and e-mail communications with first-time donors. Transfusion. 2020;60: 1463–9.
- Bagot KL, Bove LL, Masser BM, White KM. Asking for something different from our donors: factors influencing persuasion success. Transfusion. 2014;54:848–55.
- Masser BM, Bove LL, White KM, Bagot KL. Negative experiences and donor return: an examination of the role of asking for something different. Transfusion. 2016;56:605–13.
- Thorpe R, Nguyen L, Masser BM, Van Dyke N, Davison TE. Gone, but haven't forgotten: insights on plasmapheresis donation from lapsed donors. Vox Sang. 2021;116:281–7.
- Bagot KL, Bove LL, Masser BM, Bednall TC, Buzza M. Perceived deterrents to being a plasmapheresis donor in a voluntary, nonremunerated environment. Transfusion. 2013;53:1108–19.
- Bagot KL, Masser BM, White KM. Using an extended theory of planned behavior to predict a change in the type of blood product donated. Ann Behav Med. 2015;49:510–21.
- 22. Bove LL, Bednall T, Buzza M. Understanding the plasmapheresis donor in a voluntary, nonremunerated environment. Transfusion. 2011;51:2411–24.
- Gyuris P, Gáspár BG, Birkás B, Csókási K, Kocsor F. Help is in your blood—incentive to "double altruism" resolves the plasma donation paradox. Front Psychol. 2021;12:653848.
- Chell K, White C, Karki S, Davison TE. An Australian trial of the effectiveness of a discount reward to increase plasma donor retention and frequency of donation. ISBT Sci Ser. 2021;16:188–95.
- Anderson L, Newell K, Kilcoyne J. "Selling blood": characteristics and motivations of student plasma donors. Sociol Spectr. 1999;19: 137-62.
- Trimmel M, Lattacher H, Janda M. Voluntary whole-blood donors, and compensated platelet donors and plasma donors: motivation to donate, altruism and aggression. Transfus Apher Sci. 2005;33: 147–55.
- France CR, France JL. Preference for whole blood versus plasma donation among university students. Vox Sang. 2020;115:624–7.
- Thijsen A, King A, Waller D. Lost in translation: knowledge, attitudes and practices in donors experiencing a vasovagal reaction. Transfus Apher Sci. 2016;54:384–9.
- Thijsen A, Masser B, Gemelli CN, Davison TE. Trends in return behaviour after an adverse event in Australian whole blood and plasma donors. Transfusion. 2019;59:3157–63.
- Thijsen A, Davison TE, Speedy J, Hoad V, Masser B. Offering new and returned donors the option to give plasma: implications for donor retention and donor adverse events. Vox Sang. 2021;116: 273-80.
- Gilchrist PT, Thijsen A, Masser BM, France CR, Davison TE. Improving the donation experience and reducing venipuncture pain by addressing fears among whole-blood and plasma donors. Transfusion. 2021;61:2107–15.
- Veldhuizen I, van Dongen A. Motivational differences between whole blood and plasma donors already exist before their first donation experience. Transfusion. 2013;53:1678–86.
- Godin G, Germain M. Predicting first lifetime plasma donation among whole blood donors. Transfusion. 2013;53:1575–1615.
- Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev. 1977;84:191–215.

Vox Sanguinis ST International Society 823

4230410, 2023, 10, Downloaded from https

elibrary.wiley

com/doi/10.11111/vox.13496 by Cornell University E-Res

& Serial

5 Depa

rtment, Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Term:

ç

l by the

applicable Creativ

- Thorpe R, Masser BM, Jensen K, Van Dyke N, Davison TE. The role of identity in how whole-blood donors reflect on and construct their future as a plasma donor. J Community Appl Soc Psychol. 2019;30: 73–84.
- Thorpe R, Masser BM, Nguyen L, Davison TE. Understanding donation frequency: insights from current plasma donors. Vox Sang. 2020;115:174–81.
- Bagot KL, Masser BM, Starfelt LC, White KM. Building a flexible, voluntary donation panel: an exploration of donor willingness. Transfusion. 2016;56:186–94.
- Bagot K, Masser B, White K. A novel approach to increasing inventory with the current panel: increasing donation frequency by asking for a different blood product. Transfusion. 2015;55: 1294–302.
- Bagot KL, Masser BM, White KM, Starfelt LC. Recruiting and retaining plasmapheresis donors: a critical belief analysis. Transfus Apher Sci. 2015;52:350–7.
- Charbonneau J, Cloutier MS, Fainstein B. How do people become plasma and platelet donors in a VNR context. J Clin Apher. 2018;33: 236–48.
- Caruso J, Germain M, Godin G, Myhal G, Pronovost F, Morin M, et al. "One step closer": acceptability of a programme of plasma donation for fractionation from men who have sex with men. Vox Sang. 2019;114:675–86.
- 42. Veillette-Bourbeau L, Otis J, Lewin A, Godin G, Germain M, Daunais-Laurin G, et al. Determinants of the intention to participate in a programme of plasma donation for fractionation among men who have sex with men. Vox Sang. 2021;116:1051–9.
- 43. Grace D, Gaspar M, Klassen B, Lessard D, Anand P, Brennan DJ, et al. Stepping stones or second class donors? A qualitative analysis of gay, bisexual, and queer men's perspectives on plasma donation policy in Canada. BMC Public Health. 2021;21:444.
- 44. Draaisma M. Canadian Blood Services urges donors to keep appointments as blood supplies reach new low. CBC News. 2022 [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/ canada/toronto/canadian-blood-servicessupplies-low-mask-mandate-1.6543815
- Robert P. Global plasma demand in 2015. Pharm Policy Law. 2009; 11:359–67.
- Tran NYL, Charbonneau J, Valderrama-Benitez V. Blood donation practices, motivations and beliefs in Montreal's Black communities: the modern gift under a new light. Ethn Health. 2013;18: 508–29.
- Renzaho AMN, Polonsky MJ. The influence of acculturation, medical mistrust, and perceived discrimination on knowledge about blood

donation and blood donation status: acculturation and blood donation. Transfusion. 2013;53:162S-171S.

- Francis KL, Polonsky MJ, Jones SC, Renzaho AMN. The effects of a culturally-tailored campaign to increase blood donation knowledge, attitudes and intentions among African migrants in two Australian states: Victoria and South Australia. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0188765.
- Fernández de la Iglesia J d C, Martínez-Santos AE, Rodríguez-González R, Cebreiro B, Fernández-Morante C, Casal-Otero L. Service-learning to improve attitudes towards blood donation among university students. Health Educ J. 2020;79:812–25.
- Allerson JT. Assessment of selected university students' knowledge of blood donation and the relationship with intent to donate blood. Mankato: Minnesota State University; 2012.
- Hupfer ME, Taylor DW, Letwin JA. Understanding Canadian student motivations and beliefs about giving blood. Transfusion. 2005;45:149–61.
- Ferguson E, Taylor M, Keatley D, Flynn N, Lawrence C. Blood donors helping behaviour is driven by warm glow: more evidence for the blood donor benevolence hypothesis. Transfusion. 2012;52:2189–200.
- 53. Ferguson E, Lawrence C. Blood donation and altruism: the mechanisms of altruism approach. ISBT Sci Ser. 2016;11:148–57.
- Muthivhi TN, Olmsted MG, Park H, Sha M, Raju V, Mokoena T, et al. Motivators and deterrents to blood donation among Black South Africans: a qualitative analysis of focus group data. Transfus Med. 2015;25:249–58.
- 55. Charbonneau J, Tran NYL. The paradoxical situation of blood donation in the Haitian-Quebec community. Can Ethn Stud. 2015;47:67–92.
- Morgan M, Deedat S, Kenten C. 'Nudging' registration as an organ donor: implications of changes in choice contexts for socio-cultural groups. Curr Sociol. 2015;63:714–28.
- Masser BM, Ferguson E, Thorpe R, Lawrence C, Davison TE, Hoad V, et al. Motivators of and barriers to becoming a COVID-19 convalescent plasma donor: a survey study. Transfus Med. 2021;31:176–85.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Berger M, Easterbrook A, Holloway K, Devine D, Bansback N. What influences decisions to donate plasma? A rapid review of the literature. Vox Sang. 2023;118: 817-24. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13517

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



The added value of ferritin levels and genetic markers for the prediction of haemoglobin deferral

Marieke Vinkenoog^{1,2} | Jarkko Toivonen³ | Matthijs van Leeuwen² Mart P. Janssen¹ | Mikko Arvas³

¹Donor Medicine Research, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

²Leiden Institute of Advanced Computer Science, Leiden University, Leiden, The Netherlands

³Research and Development, Finnish Red Cross Blood Service, Helsinki, Finland

Correspondence

Mart P. Janssen, Plesmanlaan 125, 1066CX Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Email: m.janssen@sanquin.nl

Funding information

Stichting Sanguin Bloedvoorziening, Grant/Award Number: PPOC18-14/L2337; Valtion tutkimusrahoitus

Abstract

Background and Objectives: On-site haemoglobin deferral for blood donors is sometimes necessary for donor health but demotivating for donors and inefficient for the blood bank. Deferral rates could be reduced by accurately predicting donors' haemoglobin status before they visit the blood bank. Although such predictive models have been published, there is ample room for improvement in predictive performance. We aim to assess the added value of ferritin levels or genetic markers as predictor variables in haemoglobin deferral prediction models.

Materials and Methods: Support vector machines with and without this information (the full and reduced model, respectively) are compared in Finland and the Netherlands. Genetic markers are available in the Finnish data and ferritin levels in the Dutch data.

Results: Although there is a clear association between haemoglobin deferral and both ferritin levels and several genetic markers, predictive performance increases only marginally with their inclusion as predictors. The recall of deferrals increases from 68.6% to 69.9% with genetic markers and from 79.7% to 80.0% with ferritin levels included. Subgroup analyses show that the added value of these predictors is higher in specific subgroups, for example, for donors with minor alleles on single-nucleotide polymorphism 17:58358769, recall of deferral increases from 73.3% to 93.3%.

Conclusion: Including ferritin levels or genetic markers in haemoglobin deferral prediction models improves predictive performance. The increase in overall performance is small but may be substantial for specific subgroups. We recommend including this information as predictor variables when available, but not to collect it for this purpose only.

Keywords

donor deferral, ferritin, genetic markers, hemoglobin

Highlights

· Ferritin is routinely measured in some blood services, and genetic information for several iron-related single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are collected by some others.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2023 The Authors. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

- Inclusion of ferritin levels or genetic markers in haemoglobin deferral prediction models only
 marginally increases the predictability of blood donor deferrals.
- For donors with minor alleles on SNP 17:58358769, or donors with ferritin levels between 30 and 50 μg/L, the predictability of donor deferral increases considerably.

INTRODUCTION

Deferral of blood donors with low haemoglobin levels is necessary to prevent iron depletion. Currently, in Finland and the Netherlands, haemoglobin is measured before donation, which leads to on-site deferral if haemoglobin is below the donation threshold of 7.8 mmol/L (125 g/L) for women or 8.4 mmol/L (135 g/L) for men. On-site deferral is demotivating for donors and can be a reason to drop out of the donor pool permanently [1]. Haemoglobin deferral prediction models can help reduce the on-site deferral rate: for invitation-based donations, predictions can be included in the decision-making process of which donors to invite; for walk-in donations, the prediction could be communicated to the donor (e.g., shown on a donor dashboard or app that many blood banks offer), who can use this information to decide when to visit the blood bank.

Currently, haemoglobin deferral prediction models are not very accurate at predicting deferral on the specific day a donor may visit the blood bank. Although it is possible to correctly predict most deferrals as such (and therefore prevent them), this comes at the cost of incorrectly predicting some non-deferrals to be deferrals, which results in a large net loss of donations if these donors are then not invited to the blood bank based on this incorrect prediction. However, in a previous study we showed that predicting haemoglobin deferral at different time points, and inviting a donor once the predicted outcome is 'non-deferral', results in non-deferred donors to be invited earlier and deferred donors to be invited later, thereby eliminating the loss of successful donations [2]. This tells us that haemoglobin deferral prediction models are useful, and it is worth the effort of trying to improve the predictions.

Multiple studies [3–5] have shown previous haemoglobin levels to be the most important predictor of future haemoglobin deferral. Researchers from blood services in different countries have investigated many different potential predictors of haemoglobin deferral, to assess whether the inclusion of these predictors improves prediction performance. Most of these predictors were found to not substantially improve the models: information on menstruation, diet, ethnicity and smoking all only slightly improve model performance, even though they are known to be associated with iron stores [4]. One small-scale study on 261 donors did show that ferritin, soluble transferrin receptor and hepcidin were associated with subsequent anaemia [5].

In this study, we investigate the added value of including ferritin levels and genetic information in haemoglobin deferral prediction models. Ferritin is routinely measured at Sanquin, the Dutch national blood service, and therefore available for all donors. Genetic information for several iron-related single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) is collected for many donors by the Finnish Red Cross blood service. Because the information in both countries is collected without targeting specific donors, our results provide a realistic indication of how much predictions would be improved if the prediction model was to be used in practice. Our results will therefore be useful for blood services that would like to collect additional donor information to improve haemoglobin deferral predictions.

METHODS

Data

Data on blood donation attempts by whole-blood donors from (almost) five recent years were extracted from the eProgesa database (MAK-SYSTEM, Paris, France) in Finland and the Netherlands. Only data from donors who explicitly provided informed consent for the use of their data for scientific research were used. This consent is given by more than 99% of all Dutch donors. All Finnish blood donors studied provided informed consent for biobank research in accordance with the Finnish Biobank Act and the study was approved by the Blood Service Biobank (project 004_2019). In Finland, \sim 23% of active blood donors have given this consent since the founding of the Blood Service Biobank in 2017.

Finnish data reflect data entries from January 2016 through April 2020 and Dutch data from January 2017 through December 2021. For each visit, the following information was collected in both countries: donor sex, donor age, donation date and haemoglobin level. Additionally, ferritin level is measured at every new donor intake and upon every fifth donation in repeat donors in the Netherlands.

In Finland, only donors participating in the Blood Service Biobank are included, as only for these donors, genetic information related to iron metabolism is available [6]. Four SNPs were identified as significantly associated with higher prevalence of iron deficiency anaemia in an iron deficiency anaemia meta-analysis on Finnish and UK data. Polygenic risk scores were derived for three related endpoints: iron deficiency anaemia, ferritin and haemoglobin [7].

In total, complete information on the predictor variables (see Table 1) was available for 172,508 donation attempts by 42,255 donors in Finland and 456,384 donation attempts by 157,423 donors in the Netherlands.

The variable of interest is 'HbOK', a dichotomous variable that indicates whether the result of the donation attempt was deferral (i.e., haemoglobin [Hb] level below the eligibility threshold for donation) or non-deferral (i.e., Hb level equal to or above the threshold).

Donor deferral due to low haemoglobin is similar in Finland and the Netherlands. Haemoglobin is measured using a capillary skin-prick device before each donation, and eligibility thresholds for donation are 7.8 mmol/L for women and 8.4 mmol/L for men. However, in case

TABLE 1 Predictor variables used in each country.

Variable used	Unit or values	Description	Country/Countries where data are available
Sex	{male, female}	Biological sex of the donor; separate models are trained for men and women	Both
Age	Years	Donor age at time of donation	Both
Month	{1-12}	Month of the year that the visit took place	Both
NumDon	Donations	Number of successful (collected volume >250 mL) whole-blood donations in the last 24 months	Both
DaysSinceFirstDon	Days	The number of days since the donor visited the blood bank for the first time	Both
HbPrevi	mmol/L	Haemoglobin level at <i>i</i> th previous visit, for <i>i</i> between 1 and 5	Both
DaysSinceHbi	Days	Time since related Hb measurement at <i>i</i> th previous visit, for <i>i</i> between 1 and 5	Both
FerritinPrev	μg/L	Most recent ferritin level measured in this donor	The Netherlands
SNP 1:169549811	{0, 1, 2}	Number of minor alleles in SNP rs6025	Finland
SNP 6:32617727	{0, 1, 2}	Number of minor alleles in SNP rs3129761	Finland
SNP 15:45095352	{0, 1, 2}	Number of minor alleles in SNP rs199138	Finland
SNP 17:58358769	{0, 1, 2}	Number of minor alleles in SNP rs199598395	Finland
PRS_anaemia	Standard deviations	Standardized polygenic risk score for anaemia	Finland
PRS_ferritin	Standard deviations	Standardized polygenic risk score for ferritin	Finland
PRS_haemoglobin	Standard deviations	Standardized polygenic risk score for haemoglobin	Finland

Abbreviation: SNP, single-nucleotide polymorphisms.

the measurement is below the eligibility threshold in Finland, haemoglobin is measured again (using the same device) in a venous sample, and this measurement is used for the deferral decision. In the Netherlands, two additional capillary haemoglobin measurements are taken when the first measurement outcome is below the eligibility threshold, and the donor is allowed to donate if any of the three measurement outcomes is above the eligibility threshold.

Analyses

For both countries, two models were fitted for each sex: one with all predictor variables available (the full model), and one with only those predictor variables that are available in both countries (the reduced model). By comparing the full model with the reduced model in both countries, the added value of the extra predictor variables (i.e., genetic information in Finland and ferritin information in the Netherlands) can be assessed.

The prediction models used were based on models developed for an earlier study considering Dutch data only [2]. All models are based on support vector machines (SVMs), supervised machine learning models that learn a separation between outcome classes from a *training set*, after which the model can be used to predict donor deferral for observations in an unseen *test set*. Here, the training set consists of blood bank visits in the first 4 years of data, whereas the test set consists of data collected in the final year.

Given a dataset and a set of predictor variables, a model consists of 10 SVM sub-models. The sub-models are named SVM-*sex-n*, where

sex indicates donor sex (m for male, f for female donors) and n indicates the number of previous blood bank visits that are used for prediction. That is, each sub-model includes HbPrevi and DaysSinceHbi for *i* ranging from 1 to *n* as predictor variables. If sex is omitted in the sub-model name, it refers to the combination of two sexspecific sub-models. The number of blood bank visits (n) considered in this study varies from 1 to 5, and so five sub-models per sex are created. Donors can be included in the SVM-sex-n sub-model only if they have at least n previous visits; therefore, the sizes of the datasets used for both training and testing decrease from SVM-1 to SVM-5. Hyperparameters were optimized separately for each sub-model using stratified (on the outcome variable) fivefold cross-validation within the training set data only. Hyperparameters were optimized using grid search, using the balanced accuracy (defined as the weighted average of recall in both classes) as scoring method, which is suitable for datasets with imbalanced outcome sizes, as mistakes in the minority class are penalized more than those in the majority class.

827

During model training, the classification threshold is chosen again by optimizing the balanced accuracy. The predictive performance of the models is assessed using precision (also known as positive predictive value) and recall (also known as sensitivity) at this classification threshold. For non-deferral prediction, precision is defined as the proportion of true non-deferrals out of all predicted non-deferrals; recall is defined as the proportion of predicted non-deferrals out of all true non-deferrals. In this context, the complement of the precision is the hypothetical new deferral rate if the model would be used to choose which donors to invite, and the complement of the recall is the TABLE 2 Number of donation attempts available per model for both countries; number of deferrals and deferral rates are given in brackets.

	Women		Men	
Model	Finland	Netherlands	Finland	Netherlands
SVM-1	83,628	236,994	88,880	219,390
	(3216; 3.85%)	(7724; 3.26%)	(1480; 1.67%)	(2411; 1.10%)
SVM-2	68,718	166,640	78,268	179,465
	(2494; 3.63%)	(5875; 3.53%)	(1264; 1.61%)	(2114; 1.18%)
SVM-3	55,011	123,171	68,225	150,396
	(1859; 3.38%)	(4370; 3.55%)	(1054; 1.54%)	(1889; 1.26%)
SVM-4	43,164	93,868	58,951	127,807
	(1307; 3.03%)	(3149; 3.35%)	(896; 1.52%)	(1667; 1.40%)
SVM-5	33,179	72,165	50,540	108,832
	(868; 2.62%)	(2112; 2.93%)	(749; 1.48%)	(1424; 1.31%)

Abbreviation: SVM, support vector machines.

proportion of successful donations that would be missed by the model because the donors are incorrectly predicted to have a low haemoglobin level. Precision and recall can be calculated for both outcome classes ('deferral' and 'non-deferral').

The precision-recall (PR) curve is a graph in which the recall and the precision of a prediction model at varying classification thresholds are shown. The area under this curve (AUPR), is a number between 0 and 1, where 1 would indicate a perfect classifier. By subtracting the deferral rate from the AUPR, we get an adjusted AUPR, which reflects the improvement by the model over a strategy that would always predict non-deferral. Without this correction, the improvement made by the model would be biased by the difference in deferral rate. AUPR represents the ability of the model to distinguish between two classes at differing classification thresholds. It is possible for model A to have a higher AUPR than model B even if precision and recall at the optimal classification threshold are the same in both models.

Model explanations

Because SVMs do not provide model coefficients that can be directly interpreted, we use Shapley Additive exPlanations (SHAP) values to investigate the importance of different predictor variables [8]. SHAP is a model agnostic explainer that shows the contribution of each predictor variable to the predicted outcome. This contribution is calculated for each individual observation separately (in a subsample of the test set) and is therefore very informative.

Subgroup analysis

To further investigate the value of including ferritin and genetic information in the models, we perform additional analyses in which donors are placed in groups defined by ferritin level or genotype. Deferral rate, model performance and the difference between reduced and full model performance are calculated and compared to assess whether there are subgroups of donors for whom including the extra variables results in better predictions.

Software

All analyses were performed in Python 3.10 using packages *numpy* and *pandas* for data processing, *scikit-learn* for model training and predictions, *shap* for calculating SHAP values and *matplotlib* for creating graphs. All code is available on GitHub and is indexed on Zenodo at https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7780718.

RESULTS

Table 2 shows the number of donation attempts used for each model in both countries. Deferral counts and rates are given in brackets. Sample sizes are much larger in the Netherlands than in Finland. This is because the total number of blood donations is much higher in the Netherlands than in Finland, which is due to a larger population (17.4 million vs. 5.5 million in 2020), but also because genetic information is available in Finland in only a subgroup of donors, whereas ferritin measurements are available for all Dutch donors.

Deferral rates are very similar in both countries, around 3% for women and 1% for men. The biggest difference in deferral rates is found in men with at least one previous haemoglobin measurement, where the deferral rate is 0.57 percentage points higher in Finland. In most cases, deferral rates go down whenever more previous visits are included; this is most likely the result of selfselection, where donors with lower haemoglobin levels are less likely to return for subsequent donations than donors with higher haemoglobin levels. Surprisingly, for Dutch men this pattern seems to some extent to be reversed as their deferral rate goes up with an increasing number of donations.

Table S1 shows the marginal distribution of the predictor variables, combined for all sub-models. Donors in Finland are older than

VINKENOOG ET AL.

829



FIGURE 1 Adjusted area under precision-recall curve (AUPR) by sub-model for the Netherlands (NL) and Finland (FI) for both sets of predictor variables. SVM, support vector machines.

donors in the Netherlands (median age 46 vs. 30 years in women, 52 vs. 34 years in men) and the number of donations in the past 2 years ('NumDon') is also higher, with a difference in median donations of 2 for both sexes. This difference can be explained by the sample composition: the Finnish dataset consists of participants of the Blood Service Biobank, who have given consent for medical research and are typically regular, committed blood donors. Genetic information is available only for these donors.

Haemoglobin levels are slightly higher in Finland for both sexes for all variables HbPrevi, by 0.1–0.3 mmol/L. The time between subsequent donation attempts (variables DaysSinceHbi) is slightly shorter for Finnish women than for Dutch women, but almost identical for men. This difference can be partly explained by a difference in minimum donation interval between blood donations: for women, 91 days in Finland versus 122 days in the Netherlands; for men, 61 days in Finland versus 57 days in the Netherlands.

Predictive performance

Predictive performance can be assessed for individual sub-models, or for all sub-models combined, by using the most complex sub-model possible to predict each outcome. When more previous blood bank visits are taken into consideration, more predictor variables are used, and we expect the performance of the sub-model to increase. Figure 1 shows that this is the case for both the full and reduced model in both countries. The adjusted AUPR increases from SVM-1 to SVM-5 almost everywhere. An exception is the AUPR for class deferral in SVM-m-5, where the reduced model for Finnish donors shows an unexpected drop in the adjusted AUPR. For male donors, class non-deferral, the adjusted AUPR does not seem to change from SVM-m-1 to SVM-m-5.

Overall model performance and the difference in model performance between the full and reduced models are assessed by PR curves and adjusted AUPR values as described in Section 2. Figure 2 shows the PR curves for various models (SVM-1 through SVM-5, using the model with the most predictor variables possible for each donation attempt) by sex and true outcome class. In general, models are better at identifying non-deferrals (the most common outcome) than deferrals, even with scoring methods that weigh mistakes in both outcome classes proportionally. However, all curves are well above the baseline, indicating a structural improvement as compared to random guessing.

When comparing the reduced models with each other, one can observe that the performance is very similar in both countries. For women the AUPR is higher in Finland than in the Netherlands for the class deferral, but lower for the class non-deferral. This indicates that deferrals are more likely to be predicted correctly, but at the cost of more inaccuracies when predicting non-deferrals.

Moving from the reduced to the full model has virtually no effect on the AUPR for the class non-deferral: the AUPR of the full model is almost identical to that of the reduced model for both countries and sexes. For the class deferral, however, there is a difference: in Finland, AUPR increases by 58% (from 0.066 to 0.104) for men and by 8.5% (from 0.106 to 0.115) for women. In the Netherlands, AUPR remains the same for women (0.086 for both) but increases by 8.3% (from 0.072 to 0.078) for men.

Table 3 provides the confusion matrices of model predictions by the reduced and full models for both countries. In the Finnish data, going from the reduced to the full model causes 7 (1.9%) more



FIGURE 2 Precision-recall curves for the prediction models. For the Netherlands (NL) and Finland (FI), the curve is shown for the reduced and full prediction models. The baseline (proportion of observations belonging to this outcome class, i.e., for class deferral, the deferral rate) is shown as a dotted horizontal line. AUPR, adjusted area under precision-recall.

Finnish donors: Reduced-model		Finnish donors: Full model			
	Predicted deferral	Predicted non-deferral		Predicted deferral	Predicted non-deferra
True deferral	363	166	True deferral	370 (+7)	159 (-7)
True non-deferral	4573	18,713	True non-deferral	4662 (–59)	18,624 (+59)
Dutch donors: Reduced model			Dutch donors: Full model		
	Predicted deferral	Predicted non-deferral		Predicted deferral	Predicted non-deferra
True deferral	3762	957	True deferral	3775 (+13)	944 (–13)
True non-deferral	56,676	145,549	True non-deferral	55,203 (–1473)	147,022 (+1473)

TABLE 3 Confusion matrices of predictions by the reduced and full models.

Note: Numbers are summed over both sexes and over all sub-models SVM-1 through SVM-5. Observations that can be predicted with multiple sub-models are included in the most complex sub-model.

Abbreviation: SVM, support vector machines.

deferrals to be predicted correctly, while 59 (0.3%) more nondeferrals are predicted correctly. These improvements were all for female donors; at the chosen threshold values, no net changes in the confusion matrix were seen for male donors. In the Dutch data, 13 (0.3%) more deferrals, as well as 1473 (1.0%) more nondeferrals, are predicted correctly by the full model as compared with the reduced model. Note that the large increase in AUPR for Finnish male donors, class deferral, is not reflected in the confusion matrices. The PR curve in Figure 2 shows that the AUPR increase is due to higher precision in the full model between a recall of 0 and 0.2. However, the optimal classification threshold that is used by the models corresponds to a recall of 0.7, at which point precision in the full model is exactly equal to precision in the reduced model.





Variable importance

For all sub-models, SHAP values show the importance of the different predictor variables on the predicted outcome. Figure 3 shows SHAP plots of the sub-model SVM-5 of the full model, separately for both sexes and countries.

These plots show that in both countries and for both sexes, the most important predictor variable is HbPrev1, that is, the most recent haemoglobin measurement. The direction of the association between the impact on the model output and the feature value for all HbPrevi variables is sensible: a lower haemoglobin measurement is predictive of deferral. Age is a more important predictor variable for women than

Feature value

TABLE 4 Sample sizes, deferral rates and precision and recall of outcome class deferral for subsets of donors based on values for four SNPs (single-nucleotide polymorphisms).

SNP	Minor alleles N	Deferral rate	Precision (class deferral)		Recall (class deferral)		
				Reduced model	Full model	Reduced model	Full model
SNP 1:169549811	0	22,810	0.022	0.073	0.073	0.686	0.702
SNP 6:32617727	1 or 2	1005	0.026	0.087	0.095	0.692	0.692
	0	7268	0.021	0.063	0.067	0.573	0.587
	1	11,908	0.022	0.072	0.074	0.704	0.742
	2	4639	0.026	0.092	0.081	0.790	0.756
SNP 15:45095352	0	20,831	0.022	0.073	0.073	0.676	0.691
	1 or 2	2984	0.022	0.080	0.080	0.758	0.773
SNP 17:58358769	0	23,427	0.021	0.071	0.071	0.683	0.687
	1 or 2	388	0.077	0.156	0.129	0.733	0.933
Total	-	23,815	0.022	0.074	0.074	0.686	0.701

for men in both countries, which is known from previous studies: young women have the highest probability of being deferred because of low haemoglobin, due to monthly iron loss with menstruation.

The additional genetic and ferritin variables for either country end up rather low in the variable importance ranking. The importance of all polygenic risk score and SNP variables in the Finnish models is very low. However, having the minor allele present in either SNP 6:32617727, SNP 15:45095354 or SNP 17:58358769 impacts the model output negatively. This effect is more pronounced in male than female donors.

Subgroup analysis in Finnish data

To further investigate the effect of the SNPs on deferral prediction, model performance was calculated for groups of donors with the same value for one SNP at a time. Donors with values 1 and 2 are grouped together, as the proportion of donors with value 2 is extremely low, except for the SNP on chromosome 6.

Table 4 shows that for the SNPs on chromosomes 1, 6 and 17, deferral rates are higher among donors with one or two minor alleles than in donors with only major alleles. As these SNPs are selected because of their association with iron deficiency or anaemia, this is to be expected. Additionally, precision and recall of class deferral are generally higher for donors with minor alleles than for those without, for both the reduced and full models. The SNP 17:58358769 shows this same trend, but the difference between donors with and without minor alleles is much larger. Precision in this subgroup is about twice as high as the overall precision in both the reduced and full model. The increase in recall between the full and reduced model (which changes from 0.733 to 0.933) is the highest of all subgroups.

An additional analysis on the distribution of haemoglobin measurement per donor showed that the higher deferral rate among donors with minor alleles on SNP 17:58358769 can be explained through a combination of a slightly lower average haemoglobin level and a slightly higher variance. This causes these donors to have a slightly higher deferral probability (median 32.6% for donors without minor alleles, median 36.6% for those with minor alleles). This difference was not observed for the other SNPs.

Subset analysis in Dutch data

Similar to the subset analysis in Finnish data, model performance was calculated for groups of donors with similar ferritin levels: <15, 15–30, 30–50, 50–100 and >100 μ g/L. The first two groups are those that would be deferred for 12 or 6 months, respectively, in accordance with Sanquin's ferritin deferral policy.

Table 5 shows that precision and recall are highest for donors with ferritin levels between 30 and 50 μ g/L. This is also the group of donors with the highest deferral rate: 3.2%, versus an overall deferral rate of 2.3%. The fact that this group has the highest deferral rate, and not donors with lower ferritin levels, can be explained by the fact that donors with ferritin levels below 30 μ g/L were deferred for 6 months (12 months for ferritin levels below 15 μ g/L) in accordance with Sanquin's ferritin deferral policy. This delay for the next donation provides the donors with sufficient time to replenish their iron stores and therefore reduces the deferral probability. Hence, donors with ferritin levels just above the ferritin-deferral threshold will have the highest haemoglobin-deferral rate, as they have neither the advantage of the donation break nor that of a very high ferritin level, which also protects against low haemoglobin levels.

DISCUSSION

Predicting deferral for low haemoglobin levels is a topic of interest to many blood banks, as accurate predictions could aid in decreasing deferral rates. This study investigates the added value of including **TABLE 5** Sample sizes, deferral rates and precision and recall of outcome class deferral for various subsets of donors based on their ferritin level.

Ferritin level N	N	Deferral rate	Precision (class def	erral)	Recall (class deferra	Recall (class deferral)		
	20.010.100	Hb only model	All variables	Hb only model	All variables			
<15 μg/L	7172	0.022	0.054	0.054	0.700	0.681		
15-30 μg/L	19,903	0.022	0.058	0.056	0.744	0.783		
30-50 μg/L	62,140	0.032	0.082	0.079	0.815	0.833		
50-100 μg/L	65,141	0.024	0.064	0.063	0.798	0.799		
>100 µg/L	52,588	0.010	0.033	0.040	0.801	0.730		
Total	206,944	0.023	0.062	0.064	0.797	0.800		

Abbreviation: Hb, haemoglobin.

information on the donor's ferritin level or iron-related genetic information to improve haemoglobin deferral prediction. This is done by comparing prediction models with and without information on genetic markers and ferritin levels for the Finnish and Dutch blood bank, respectively. The reduced models (i.e., without the additional information) use the exact same predictor variables in both countries. The increase in AUPR is larger for adding genetic markers than it is for adding ferritin levels. Especially for the Finnish male donors, including genetic markers in the prediction model improves the ability of the model to distinguish between the two outcome classes, although at the optimal classification threshold precision and recall do not increase from the reduced model. The SHAP values of the predictions by the full models in both countries show that both genetic markers and ferritin levels have a much smaller impact on the prediction than the variables included in the reduced models, as confirmed by the modest increase in AUPR between the reduced and full models.

Overall, including either genetic or ferritin information has little effect on the predictions made by the models. Both increase the proportion of deferrals that are predicted correctly: 1.9% and 0.3% more deferrals are correctly identified in the Finnish and Dutch setting, respectively, when the full model is used rather than the reduced model. However, we found that in both countries, there is a subgroup of donors for which the full model performs substantially better than the reduced model. These are Finnish donors with minor alleles on SNP 17:58358769 and Dutch donors with ferritin levels between 30 and 50 μ g/L. In both cases, these are subgroups of donors with a higher than average deferral rate. Performance for these subgroups is already higher than average in the reduced model, but when using the full model this difference increases even further.

Other studies have shown that previous haemoglobin measurements are the most influential predictors for haemoglobin deferral. Including lifestyle behaviour, smoking, ethnicity or menstruation in prediction models also improves performance, but only marginally [4]. A Finnish study showed that genetic information does not improve the predictive performance of haemoglobin levels (as opposed to haemoglobin deferral) [9]. This study confirms that the performance of prediction models increases slightly when either ferritin or genetic information is added. Still, considering the large number of donation visits blood banks receive yearly, even a small increase could potentially prevent hundreds of deferrals. It should be noted that the Finnish population is more genetically homogenous than in other countries and that they are also genetically distinct from other countries due to several historic population bottlenecks and geographical isolation [10]. According to the Genome Aggregation Database (gnomAD) [11], the SNP 17:58358769 minor allele frequency in the Finnish population is 0.0147 but only 0.0007 in the European (non-Finnish) population. It is not found in any other populations and was discovered by an iron deficiency GWAS in the FinnGen project [7]. This means that findings on Finnish genetic data may not be representative for other countries, but analyses in other populations may discover similar population-specific variations that may make the use of genetic data more beneficial.

Vox Sanguinis ST International Society 833

The main limitation of this study is that the effect of including ferritin and genetic information is studied in two different countries, rather than in a single population. By comparing against the reduced model and reporting the relative increase in performance, we attempt to mitigate this limitation. The very similar adjusted AUPRs of the reduced models and the similarity in SHAP values of the models indicate that the countries are rather comparable. A second limitation is that all Dutch donors could be included in this study but only Finnish donors from the Blood Service Biobank, as genetic information is not available for other donors.

In general, we again confirm that accurately distinguishing deferrals from non-deferrals by predictive modelling is a complex task that comes at the cost of losing a substantial number of successful donations by incorrectly predicting them to be deferrals. A major reason for the low performance of our prediction models is the measurement variability, partly caused by the (pre-) analytical variability of the capillary haemoglobin measurements [12]. As long as we try to predict an outcome that is highly variable, the performance of any prediction model will remain unsatisfactory, regardless of the number of predictor variables included.

However, in the absence of a better measurement or decision strategy, it is worthwhile investigating which information would lead to better haemoglobin deferral predictions, as it still leads to a better understanding of the underlying process(es). Based on our results, we would recommend including ferritin and genetic information in prediction models in case these are readily available. Compared

with the reduced model, including genetic information would have resulted in 7 fewer deferrals and 59 more donations in 1 year, at a cost of genotyping approximately 24,000 donors. Including ferritin levels results in 13 fewer deferrals and 1473 more donations in 1 year, and although measuring ferritin levels is less expensive than genotyping, this measurement must be repeated regularly whereas genotyping has to be performed only once for each donor. We would therefore not recommend collecting this information explicitly for the use in haemoglobin deferral prediction, as the marginal increase in performance is not likely to be worth the investment of both time and money.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to all donors for their generous contribution, and to blood bank and biobank staff for their excellent work. This work was supported by Sanquin Blood Supply Foundation, PPOC18-14/L2337 and VTR (Valtion tutkimusrahoitus) funding from the Finnish Government.

All authors contributed to the study design; M.V. and J.T. developed the software and analysed the data; M.V. aggregated the results and wrote the paper and all authors reviewed and edited the paper.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

As the data used for this study contains personal information of blood donors, the data will not be shared outside the organisations.

ORCID

Marieke Vinkenoog ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5653-8078 Jarkko Toivonen ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6843-5831 Matthijs van Leeuwen ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0510-3549 Mart P. Janssen ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1682-7817 Mikko Arvas ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6902-8488

REFERENCES

 Spekman MLC, van Tilburg TG, Merz E-M. Do deferred donors continue their donations? A large-scale register study on whole blood donor return in the Netherlands. Transfusion. 2019;59:3657–65.

- Vinkenoog M, van Leeuwen M, Janssen MP. Explainable haemoglobin deferral predictions using machine learning models: interpretation and consequences for the blood supply. Vox Sang. 2022;117: 1262–70.
- Vinkenoog M, Toivonen J, Brits T, de Clippel D, Compernolle V, Karki S, et al. An international comparison of haemoglobin deferral prediction models for blood banking. Vox Sang. 2023;118: 430-9.
- Baart AM, Timmer T, de Kort WLAM, van den Hurk K. Lifestyle behaviours, ethnicity and menstruation have little added value in prediction models for low haemoglobin deferral in whole blood donors. Transfus Med. 2020;30:16–22.
- Pasricha S-R, McQuilten ZK, Keller AJ, Wood EM. Hemoglobin and iron indices in nonanemic premenopausal blood donors predict future deferral from whole blood donation. Transfusion. 2011;51: 2709–13.
- Kurki MI, Karjalainen J, Palta P, Sipilä TP, Kristiansson K, Donner KM, et al. FinnGen provides genetic insights from a well-phenotyped isolated population. Nature. 2023;613:508–18.
- Toivonen J, Castrén J, FinnGen AM. The value of genetic data from 665,460 individuals in predicting anemia and suitability to donate blood. Genet Epidemiol. 2022;46:477.
- Lundberg SM, Lee S-I. A unified approach to interpreting model predictions. Adv Neural Inf Proces Syst. 2017;30.
- Toivonen J, Koski Y, Turkulainen E, Prinsze F, Della Briotta Parolo P, Heinonen M, et al. Prediction and impact of personalized donation intervals. Vox Sang. 2022;117:504–12.
- Översti S, Majander K, Salmela E, Salo K, Arppe L, Belskiy S, et al. Human mitochondrial DNA lineages in Iron-Age Fennoscandia suggest incipient admixture and eastern introduction of farming-related maternal ancestry. Sci Rep. 2019;9:16883.
- 11. Karczewski KJ, Francioli LC, Tiao G, Cummings BB, Alföldi J, Wang Q, et al. The mutational constraint spectrum quantified from variation in 141,456 humans. Nature. 2020;581:434–43.
- 12. Janssen MP. Why the majority of on-site repeat donor deferrals are completely unwarranted.... Transfusion. 2022;62:2068–75.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Vinkenoog M, Toivonen J, van Leeuwen M, Janssen MP, Arvas M. The added value of ferritin levels and genetic markers for the prediction of haemoglobin deferral. Vox Sang. 2023;118:825–34. Revised: 3 July 2023

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13507

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Association of blood donor characteristics and in vitro haemolysis of packed red blood cell concentrates during storage

Bhuvandeep Dhawan ¹	Kshitija Mittal ¹ 💿	Paramjit Kaur ¹	💿 Shivani .	Jaswal ²
Anita Tahlan ³ Ravnee	t Kaur ¹ 💿 Tanvi	i Sood ¹ Gagand	leep Kaur ¹	Ravi Rohilla ⁴

¹Department of Transfusion Medicine, Government Medical College and Hospital, Chandigarh, India

²Department of Biochemistry, Government Medical College and Hospital, Chandigarh, India

³Department of Pathology, Government Medical College and Hospital, Chandigarh, India

⁴Department of Community Medicine, Government Medical College and Hospital, Chandigarh, India

Correspondence

Paramjit Kaur, Department of Transfusion Medicine, Government Medical College and Hospital, Chandigarh, India. Email: paramjit.gp71@yahoo.com

Funding information

The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Blood donor variability can affect the storage properties of packed red blood cells (PRBCs). This study aimed to determine the association of donor characteristics with in vitro storage haemolysis of PRBCs.

Materials and Methods: In the prospective observational study, a total of 109 whole blood donors were enrolled using the purposive sampling method. A pre-donation sample was collected for haemoglobin (Hb) and serum uric acid (UA) levels. PRBC aliquots were tested for potassium, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), Hb, haematocrit, plasma Hb and haemolysis on days 1, 21 and 35 of storage. The association of these parameters with donor age, sex, donation status, dietary pattern and body mass index was determined.

Results: Mean haemolysis was significantly higher in PRBCs from donors with UA levels $\leq 6 \text{ mg/dL}$ than donors with UA levels >6 mg/dL on day 35 of storage (0.22 ± 0.11 vs. 0.18 ± 0.07, p = 0.03). Median plasma Hb (mg/L) was significantly higher in PRBCs from first-time donors on day 21 (586 vs. 509, p = 0.05) and day 35 (1507 vs. 1358, p = 0.02) of storage in comparison to frequent donors. Significantly higher mean potassium (p = 0.04 day 1; p = 0.02 day 21) and median LDH values (p = 0.02 day 1, p = 0.05 day 21) were observed in PRBCs from male donors. A statistically significant positive association was observed between donor UA and LDH levels of PRBCs on day 35 of storage (β coefficient: 715.52, p-value: 0.003) on multiple regression analysis. **Conclusion:** In vitro haemolysis of PRBCs is affected by blood donor characteristics.

Keywords

donor characteristics, packed red blood cells, storage haemolysis

Highlights

- A significantly higher rate of haemolysis was observed in packed red blood cells (PRBCs) from donors with low uric acid (UA) levels during the storage period.
- The median plasma haemoglobin level was significantly higher in PRBCs from first-time donors on days 21 and 35 of storage.
- A statistically significant positive association was observed between donor UA levels and lactate dehydrogenase levels in PRBCs on day 35 of storage on multiple regression analysis.

INTRODUCTION

Packed red blood cells (PRBCs) are the most frequently transfused blood product in foetal and neonatal medicine, high-risk obstetric care, trauma, surgery, cancer, haematological diseases and degenerative conditions [1]. During storage, red blood cells (RBCs) undergo numerous time-dependent structural and biochemical changes that can adversely affect their post-transfusion recovery and also increase the risk of adverse reactions in the recipients. These time-dependent modifications and deterioration in a PRBC unit are collectively known as RBC storage lesions. These RBC storage lesions can lead to haemolysis, the release of potassium and micro-particle accumulation, resulting in reduced post-transfusion survival [2]. The exact mechanisms behind these storage lesions are uncertain, but the donor variation effect that refers to substantial donor-to-donor differences is one of the important contributing factors [3].

Inherent inter-donor variability plays an important role in determining the quality of PRBCs. Studies have found that PRBC products prepared from male blood donors consistently have higher haemolysis compared with their female counterparts, due to higher testosterone levels, which increases RBCs' susceptibility to haemolysis [3, 4]. In addition, a protective effect of progesterone has also been demonstrated on the red cell membrane [5]. The rate of PRBC haemolysis has been observed to differ with age in males and females [6, 7]. The frequency of blood donation has also emerged as one of the possible factors affecting red cell susceptibility to storage and stress-induced haemolysis [8]. Dietary habits can also affect RBC quality by affecting donor haemoglobin (Hb) and plasma antioxidant levels [9, 10]. A study was conducted to compare the effect of vegetarian and non-vegetarian diets on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant status. The authors observed a significant decrease in antioxidant glutathione peroxidase and non-enzymatic antioxidants in individuals consuming a non-vegetarian diet as compared with those consuming a vegetarian diet (p < 0.001) [11]. Blood donor body mass index (BMI) may alter the RBCs' susceptibility to peroxidation and free radical-induced haemolysis [12]. Uric acid (UA) acts as a major in vivo scavenger of hydroxyl/oxygen radicals and other intracellular reactive oxidant species [5]. According to a study, PRBCs donated by regular donors with higher UA levels (7.56 ± 0.59 mg/dL) showed decreased RBC haemolysis than regular donors with lower UA levels (6.01 ± 0.63 mg/dL) [13].

The relationship between blood donor characteristics and RBC haemolysis remains partly investigated. Therefore, the present study aimed to determine the association of blood donor characteristics with in vitro haemolysis in PRBCs during storage.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The present prospective observational study was conducted in a tertiary care hospital over a period of 12 months from April 2020 to April 2021. The study was approved by the Institute Ethics Committee (No. GMCH/IEC/2019/150 dated 17 December 2019)

and written informed consent was obtained from blood donors. Whole blood donors who approached the department either in-house or in outdoor blood donation camps during this period were screened as per the National Regulatory Authority [14]. A total of 109 blood donors were selected using a purposive sampling method. Blood donors not meeting eligibility criteria, where blood was not collected by single venepuncture, under or over-collected bags, blood bags reactive for any transfusion-transmitted infection (TTI), and technical errors during component preparation were excluded from the study. Blood donor characteristics such as age, sex, donation frequency, dietary pattern, height and weight (for BMI calculation) were recorded on pre-structured donor proforma.

Pre-donation blood donor sample

A pre-donation sample was taken from the enrolled study subjects in ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) and plain vial. The EDTA sample was subjected to pre-donation Hb measurement using a cell counter (LH 780, Beckman Coulter India Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai, India). The serum from a plain vial was separated using a tabletop centrifuge at 2000g for 3 min (Remi Elektrotechnik Ltd., Mumbai, India). Serum UA levels were estimated using a Chemistry analyser (AU5800, Beckman Coulter India Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai, India).

Blood collection

Whole blood was collected from enrolled blood donors in double blood bags (top and top blood bags with 350 mL capacity) containing 49 mL citrate phosphate dextrose adenine (CPDA-1) anticoagulant (Terumo Penpol, Thiruvananthapuram, India) via single clean venepuncture. The whole blood collected was then transported to the component preparation laboratory in transport boxes maintaining the cold chain. PRBCs and fresh frozen plasma were prepared on the same day within 6 h of collection by the same trained dedicated medical technologist as per the departmental standard operating procedure. The PRBCs were non-leukoreduced and suspended in plasma to maintain a haematocrit of 65%-70%. On the same day, 50 mL aliquots were prepared from the PRBC units using a sterile connecting device (Terumo Penpol, Thiruvananthapuram, India). The transfer bag aliquots (Terumo Penpol, Thiruvananthapuram, India) were stored under the same storage conditions at 2-6°C. The remaining PRBC units were transferred to the inventory for issuing to patients.

Aliquot sampling

Sampling from the aliquot was done after stripping the bag thrice using a tube stripper (Terumo Penpol, Thiruvananthapuram, India), to ensure a representative sample of the bag. Samples from these PRBC



aliquots were tested on days 1, 21 and 35 of storage. Hb and haemamolecule is utilized. It brings about the oxidation of benzidine by hydrogen peroxide to give a green colour, which changes to blue and green and finally reddish violet. The intensity of the colour developed is read photometrically at 515 nm.

Storage haemolysis was calculated using the formula [8]:

Storage baemolysis $(\%)$ –	(100 - haematocrit) imes plasma Hb (g/dL)
Storage naemolysis (%) =	Hb of PRBC (g/dL)

tocrit were measured using a cell counter (LH 780, Beckman Coulter India Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai, India). PRBC samples were subsequently centrifuged at 2000g for 3 min and the supernatant was subjected to potassium and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) levels using a Chemistry analyser (AU5800, Beckman Coulter India Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai, India) on the same day.

Plasma Hb was measured using the peroxidase method [15]. In this method, the peroxidase activity of the haem portion of the Hb

TABLE 1 Packed red blood cell (PRBC) parameters during storage.

Parameters	Day 1	Day 21	Day 35	p-value*
Potassium (mEq/L), Mean ± SD	7.95 ± 2.56	51.57 ± 10.49	72.37 ± 11.96	<0.01
LDH (U/L), Median (IQR)	590 (472–970)	3023 (2256-3848)	6132 (5127-8747)	<0.01
Plasma Hb (mg/L), Median (IQR)	103 (62–155)	563 (432–700)	1450 (1220–1696)	<0.01
Haemolysis (%), Mean ± SD	0.02 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.06	0.2 ± 0.09	<0.01

Abbreviations: Hb, haemoglobin; IQR, interquartile range; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; SD, standard deviation. *Using repeated measures ANOVA.

TABLE 2 Donor characteristics and potassium levels (mEq/L) of packed red blood cells (PRBCs) during storage.

Parameter	Day 1	Day 21	Day 35
Age (years)			
18–34 years (n = 56), Mean \pm SD	8.25 ± 2.82	51.38 ± 11.24	73.04 ± 12.54
35–65 years ($n = 50$), Mean ± SD	7.61 ± 2.21	52.00 ± 9.74	71.41 ± 11.71
p-value*	0.20	0.76	0.49
Sex			
Male ($n = 98$), Mean ± SD	8.09 ± 2.59	52.38 ± 10.52	72.92 ± 12.24
Female ($n = 8$), Mean ± SD	6.20 ± 1.15	43.01 ± 5.51	64.32 ± 7.26
p-value*	0.04	0.02	0.05
Donation status			
FTD ($n = 52$), Mean ± SD	8.17 ± 2.56	51.03 ± 10.85	72.50 ± 11.45
FD ($n = 54$), Mean \pm SD	7.73 ± 2.57	52.59 ± 10.24	72.05 ± 12.85
p-value*	0.38	0.54	0.85
Dietary pattern			
VD ($n = 36$), Mean ± SD	7.78 ± 2.19	49.69 ± 8.02	69.48 ± 9.11
NVD (n = 70), Mean \pm SD	8.04 ± 2.74	52.46 ± 11.43	73.71 ± 13.25
p-value*	0.62	0.20	0.09
BMI (kg/m ²)			
HWD ($n = 48$), Mean ± SD	7.90 ± 2.66	50.38 ± 11.41	72.59 ± 12.38
OWD ($n = 58$), Mean ± SD	7.98 ± 2.50	52.74 ± 9.68	72.01 ± 12.02
p-value*	0.87	0.25	0.81
Uric acid (mg/dL)			
≤6 mg/dL ($n = 51$), Mean ± SD	7.74 ± 2.42	49.78 ± 7.75	69.58 ± 9.83
>6 mg/dL ($n = 55$), Mean ± SD	8.14 ± 2.69	53.43 ± 12.36	74.77 ± 13.54
p-value*	0.66	0.07	0.03

Note: Bold p-values indicate statistically significant results.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; FD, frequent donor; FTD, first-time donor; HWD, healthy weight donor; NVD, non-vegetarian donor; OWD, overweight obese donor; SD, standard deviation; VD, vegetarian donors.

*p-value calculated using Student's t-test.

Blood donors were categorized into \leq 35 (young) and >35 years (old) based on age; sex (male and female donors); first-time (blood donors

who have not donated whole blood till date) and frequent (blood

donors who have donated whole blood earlier at least once in the

preceding year) based on donation status; vegetarian (never con-

sumed non-vegetarian food in their life) and non-vegetarian based

on dietary pattern, and healthy (BMI between 18.5 and 24.9 kg/m²)

and overweight (BMI \geq 25.0 kg/m²) based on BMI [16]. The UA cut-

off level for analysis was 6 mg/dL based on laboratory reference

range for ease of comparison amongst study subjects (males: 2.4-

7 mg/dL, females: 2.4-5.7 mg/dL). The association of donor factors

was then analysed with PRBCs potassium, LDH, plasma Hb and per-

centage haemolysis throughout storage. Percentage haemolysis is a

parameter calculated using haematocrit, plasma Hb and Hb of PRBC,

while a change in the levels of potassium, LDH and plasma Hb in

PRBCs is a direct indicator of red cell lysis and hence, these parame-

Categorization for analysis

ters were selected for analysis.

Statistical analysis

As per the Drugs and Cosmetics Act, only 1% of the PRBCs and components prepared are subjected to quality control [13]. Considering an annual blood collection of 22,000 units, the sample size came out to be 92 subjects at a confidence level of 95% and a margin of error of 7.5%. For possible attrition, it was decided to include 10% extra subjects so the final sample size target was 100 subjects. A total of 109 blood donors were recruited, and data from 106 blood donors were analysed.

Data were compiled using MS Excel and analysis was performed using the Statistical package SPSS-20. For normally distributed quantitative variables, mean and standard deviation (SD) were used, while, for skewed data, median with an interquartile range was used. Blood donor characteristics and laboratory values of the blood donors or PRBCs were compared using parametric and non-parametric tests as appropriate: Student's t-test, and Mann–Whitney U test. Repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied for intergroup comparisons. Multiple regression analysis was performed to

TABLE 3 Blood donor characteristics and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) levels (U/L) of packed red blood cells (PRBCs) during storage.

Parameter	Day 1	Day 21	Day 35
Age (years)			
18–34 years (n $=$ 56), Median [IQR]	731 [471-1004]	3100 [1985-3985]	6142 [4839-9085]
35–65 years (n $=$ 50), Median [IQR]	578 [468-972]	2960 [2348-3722]	6121 [5235-7731]
p-value*	0.24	0.92	0.94
Sex			
Male ($n = 98$), Median [IQR]	616 [481-984]	3045 [2302-3981]	6212 [5129-8901]
Female ($n = 8$), Median [IQR]	452 [414-536]	2291 [1935-2928]	5294 [4249-6106]
p-value*	0.02	0.05	0.06
Donation status			
FTD ($n = 52$), Median [IQR]	686 [473-1042]	2799 [1854-3627]	5760 [4680-7833]
FD ($n = 54$), Median [IQR]	578 [469-909]	3323 [2802-4407]	6550 [5559-9168]
p-value*	0.401	0.006	0.06
Dietary pattern			
VD ($n = 36$), Mean \pm SD	747 ± 481	3769 ± 2091	7234 ± 3270
NVD ($n = 70$), Mean ± SD	830 ± 641	3184 ± 1575	6690 ± 2982
p-value**	0.5	0.11	0.39
BMI (kg/m²)			
HWD ($n = 48$), Median [IQR]	590 [409-1043]	2784 [1855-3586]	5979 [4175-8048]
OWD ($n = 58$), Median [IQR]	590 [510-953]	3323 [2774.50-4443]	6192.50 [5469-9168
p-value*	0.43	0.003	0.08
Uric acid (mg/dL)			
\leq 6 mg/dL ($n =$ 51), Median [IQR]	570 [458-980]	2829 [2180-3630]	5705 [4570-7443]
>6 mg/dL ($n = 55$), Median [IQR]	731 [497-972]	3150 [2563-4428]	6700 [5652-9399]
p-value*	0.82	0.67	0.43

Note: Bold p-values indicate statistically significant results.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; FD, frequent donor; FTD, first-time donor; HWD, healthy weight donor; IQR, interquartile range; NVD, non-vegetarian donor; OWD, overweight obese donor; SD, standard deviation; VD, vegetarian donors.

*p-value using Mann–Whitney test.

**p-value calculated using Student's t-test.

determine the association of donor characteristics with indicators of PRBC haemolysis on day 35 of storage. The *p*-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Donor characteristics

Of 109 blood donors enrolled, 3 blood donors were excluded: 1 blood donor unit was HIV reactive and the other 2 donor units were under-collected. Data from 106 blood donors were included in the study.

In the present study, the majority were male (n = 98, 92.5%) and frequent (n = 54, 50.9%) blood donors. The mean age of the study population was 35.07 ± 9.8 years with a range of 19-60 years. Of 54 frequent blood donors, 94.4% (n = 51) had a donation frequency of three times in a year. Of 106 blood donors, 54.7% were overweight

(n = 58) and 66% were non-vegetarians (n = 70). The majority (n = 55, 51.8%) of donors had serum UA levels >6 mg/dL with a mean value of 6.0 ± 1.25 mg/dL (range: 2.8–9.6 mg/dL).

The mean pre-donation Hb of donors was $14.75 \pm 0.19 \text{ g/dL}$ (males: $15.4 \pm 0.51 \text{ g/dL}$; females: $12.5 \pm 0.12 \text{ g/dL}$). The mean Hb of PRBCs was $22.4 \pm 2.4 \text{ g/dL}$ (males: $23.2 \pm 3.2 \text{ g/dL}$; females: $19.5 \pm 0.6 \text{ g/dL}$).

PRBC storage parameters

Mean potassium, median LDH, median plasma Hb and mean storage haemolysis of PRBCs were observed to increase over storage. Haemolysis in the PRBCs did not exceed the permitted limit of 0.8% throughout the storage. Repeated measures ANOVA for potassium, LDH, plasma Hb and haemolysis were statistically significant along with inter-group comparisons from days 1 to 21, 21 to 35 and 1 to 35 (*p*-value < 0.01) as shown in Table 1.

TABLE 4 Donor characteristics and plasma haemoglobin levels (mg/L) of packed red blood cells (PRBCs) during storage.

Parameter	Day 1	Day 21	Day 35
Age (years)			
18–34 years ($n = 56$), Median [IQR]	98 [62.33-153.45]	527.05 [368.12-725.19]	1380.50 [1191.82-1565.50]
35–65 years ($n = 50$), Median [IQR]	103.80 [60-154.20]	557.40 [450.62-645.25]	1499.50 [1220.92-1805.75]
p-value*	0.02	0.09	0.25
Sex			
Male ($n = 98$), Median [IQR]	99.5 [60.63-148.20]	543.05 [382.02-674.00]	1450.30 [1186.82-1711.75]
Female ($n = 8$), Median [IQR]	148.65 [51.48-180.72]	527.80 [289.75-784.50]	1442.25 [1363.75-3050.00]
p-value*	0.41	0.96	0.36
Donation status			
FTD ($n = 52$), Median [IQR]	88.20 [46.15-146.60]	586.30 [369.12-890.25]	1507 [1297.38-1892.90]
FD ($n = 54$), Median [IQR]	106.55 [72.32-154.20]	509.50 [388.18-605.75]	1358 [1145.15-1558.25]
p-value*	0.20	0.05	0.02
Dietary pattern			
VD ($n = 36$), Mean ± SD	127.26 ± 103.82	586.52 ± 386.94	1453.53 ± 418.10
NVD ($n = 70$), Mean ± SD	161.86 ± 222.41	706 ± 615.72	1668.43 ± 802.53
p-value**	0.38	0.29	0.14
BMI (kg/m²)			
HWD ($n = 48$), Median [IQR]	103.40 [43.95-176]	591.20 [376.75-900]	1457.70 [1251.25-1851.75]
OWD ($n = 58$), Median [IQR]	100.70 [66.00-146.02]	499.50 [381.28-615.50]	1378.50 [1147.65-1613.50]
p-value*	0.79	0.01	0.13
Uric acid (mg/dL)			
\leq 6 mg/dL ($n =$ 51), Median [IQR]	97 [63-146.60]	566.60 [358.60-780]	1450 [1255.60-1765]
>6 mg/dL (n = 55), Median [IQR]	105.30 [60-153.60]	534.50 [394-672]	1435 [1160-1699]
p-value*	0.82	0.67	0.43

Note: Bold p-values indicate statistically significant results.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; FD, frequent donor; FTD, first-time donor; HWD, healthy weight donor; IQR, interquartile range; NVD, non-vegetarian donor; OWD, overweight obese donor; SD, standard deviation; VD, vegetarian donors.

*p-value using Mann–Whitney test.

**p-value calculated using Student's t-test.

Association of donor characteristics with potassium levels of PRBCs during storage

Significantly higher mean potassium values were observed in PRBCs from male donors than female donors on all days of storage (*p*-value: 0.04 day 1; 0.02 day 21; 0.05 day 35) and donors with higher UA values (>6 mg/dL) than donors with UA values ≤ 6 mg/dL on day 35 of storage (*p*-value: 0.03, Table 2).

Association of donor characteristics with LDH levels of PRBCs during storage

Median LDH values of PRBCs were significantly higher in male donors on day 1 (*p*-value: 0.02) and day 21 (*p*-value: 0.05) of storage and were also higher on day 35 though the difference was not statistically significant (*p*-value: 0.06). PRBCs from first-time donors had higher median LDH values on day 1 of storage while over the storage period, the values were greater in frequent donors with a significant difference on day 21 of storage (*p*-value: 0.006). PRBCs from overweight donors had higher median LDH values on days 21 and 35 of storage, and the difference was significant on day 21 (*p*-value: 0.003, Table 3).

Association of donor characteristics with plasma Hb levels of PRBCs during storage

Median plasma Hb values were higher in PRBCs from older donors throughout the storage period and the difference was statistically significant on day 1 (*p*-value: 0.02). Plasma Hb values were also significantly higher in first-time donors as compared with frequent donors on day 21 (*p*-value: 0.05) and day 35 (*p*-value: 0.02) of storage. Plasma Hb values were higher in PRBCs derived from healthy weight donors as compared with overweight donors throughout the storage period and the difference was statistically significant on day 21 of storage (*p*-value: 0.01). PRBCs from donors with UA levels ≤ 6 mg/dL had lower median plasma Hb on day 1 of storage. However, over the storage period, the plasma Hb values from blood donors with lower UA levels increased but were statistically nonsignificant (Table 4).

TABLE 5 Donor characteristics and storage haemolysis (%) of packed red blood cells (PRBCs) during storage.

Parameter	Day 1	Day 21	Day 35
Age (years)			
18–34 years ($n = 56$), Mean \pm SD	0.019 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.05	0.19 ± 0.09
35-65 years ($n = 50$), Mean \pm SD	0.020 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.07	0.21 ± 0.10
p-value*	0.99	0.32	0.4
Sex			
Male ($n = 98$), Mean \pm SD	0.019 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.06	0.19 ± 0.08
Female ($n = 8$), Mean ± SD	0.025 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.08	0.30 ± 0.15
p-value*	0.49	0.31	0.002
Donation status			
FTD ($n = 52$), Mean \pm SD	0.020 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.07	0.22 ± 0.11
FD ($n = 54$), Mean ± SD	0.018 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.05	0.18 ± 0.08
p-value*	0.72	0.08	0.43
Dietary pattern			
VD ($n = 36$), Mean ± SD	0.018 ± 0.02	0.076 ± 0.05	0.19 ± 0.06
NVD ($n = 70$), Mean ± SD	0.020 ± 0.02	0.086 ± 0.07	0.20 ± 0.11
p-value*	0.7	0.48	0.46
BMI (kg/m ²)			
HWD ($n = 48$) Mean ± SD	0.021 ± 0.02	0.099 ± 0.08	0.22 ± 0.12
OWD ($n = 58$) Mean ± SD	0.018 ± 0.02	0.069 ± 0.04	0.18 ± 0.07
p-value*	0.5	0.02	0.07
Uric acid (mg/dL)			
\leq 6 mg/dL (n = 51), Mean ± SD	0.020 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.08	0.22 ± 0.11
>6 mg/dL ($n = 55$), Mean ± SD	0.020 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.04	0.18 ± 0.07
p-value*	0.92	0.09	0.03

Note: Bold p-values indicate statistically significant results.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; FD, frequent donor; FTD, first-time donor; HWD, healthy weight donor; NVD, non-vegetarian donor; OWD, overweight obese donor; SD, standard deviation; VD, vegetarian donors.

*p-value calculated using Student's t-test.

Association of donor characteristics with haemolysis of PRBCs during storage

Mean storage haemolysis was significantly higher in PRBCs from female donors on day 35 (*p*-value: 0.002). It was also higher in PRBCs from healthy weight donors as compared with overweight donors and the difference was statistically significant on day 21 of storage (*p*-value: 0.02). Over the storage period, mean haemolysis was observed to be higher in PRBCs from blood donors with lower UA levels (≤ 6 mg/dL) and the difference was statistically significant by the end of the storage period (*p*-value: 0.03, Table 5).

Multiple regression analysis

Multiple regression analysis was performed to determine the association between donor characteristics and parameters of PRBC haemolysis on day 35 of storage. A positive but statistically non-significant association was seen between donor UA levels and potassium levels of PRBCs (β coefficient: 1.77, 95% confidence interval [CI]: -0.10 to 3.64, *p*-value: 0.06). A statistically significant positive association was observed between donor UA levels and LDH levels of PRBCs (β coefficient: 715.52, 95% CI: 243.34–1187.71, *p*-value: 0.003).

DISCUSSION

PRBCs are one of the major cellular components of blood. The association between blood donor characteristics and PRBC quality has been a subject of interest in the recent past. However, the data are scarce in a developing country like ours. In the present study, we attempted to determine the association between donor characteristics and parameters of in vitro PRBC haemolysis during storage.

In our study, more than 60% of donors were below 35 years of age. This corroborates with the data on blood donor's age by the World Health Organization stating that the majority of the donors belong to younger age groups in low- and middle-income countries [17]. In the present study, mean potassium, median LDH, median plasma Hb and mean percentage haemolysis were comparable in both age groups over the storage period. The association between donor age and PRBC haemolysis during storage is debatable in the literature. Increased storage haemolysis has been observed with increasing age of males between 18 and 45 years with a decreasing trend in older donors as ageing reduces erythropoiesis, thereby leading to a decrease in RBC count, Hb level and haematocrit thus reducing haemolysis due to an increase in cholesterol/phospholipid ratio in the red cell membrane and oxidative stress altering the fluidity and deformability of red cells [18, 19].

The majority of donors were males (92.5%) in our study. Many female blood donors were deferred because of low Hb, low weight and poor venous access. In the present study, PRBCs prepared from male donors had significantly higher mean potassium and median LDH values while mean storage haemolysis was higher in PRBCs from female donors. In one of the studies, significantly higher storage haemolysis was observed in PRBCs prepared from male donors ($0.41 \pm 0.29\%$) as compared with female donors ($0.35 \pm 0.32\%$) at 39–42 days of storage. Besides this, it has been shown that RBCs from post-menopausal female blood donors and male donors showed higher mechanical fragility when compared with RBCs from pre-menopausal donors, suggesting that sex hormones could play a role in red cell haemolysis [20]. Studies with the inclusion of more female donors with adequate representation of both pre- and post-menopausal females could give a better insight into the association of donor sex with PRBC haemolysis.

Vox Sanguinis Site of Blood Transfusion 841

PRBCs prepared from first-time donors had significantly higher median plasma Hb levels on day 35 of storage, while no association was seen with storage haemolysis. As per our National Regulatory Authority, males can donate whole blood after every 3 months (maximum donation frequency: 4 per year) while females are permitted to donate blood after every 4 months (maximum donation frequency: 3 per year). In our study, 94% of our frequent donors had a donation frequency of thrice a year. An increase in donation frequency was not seen to be associated with increased storage haemolysis in our study. Similarly, in another study, a decrease in RBC susceptibility to oxidative haemolysis was seen in frequent blood donors whereas no effect was observed on storage haemolysis [8].

No significant association of donor dietary habits with storage haemolysis in PRBCs was observed in our study. Literature reports that a vegetarian diet is associated with high levels of antioxidants [11]. However, to the best of our knowledge, no such study has been conducted to determine the association of vegetarian and nonvegetarian diets with PRBC haemolysis.

Median LDH values of PRBCs from overweight donors were higher than healthy weight donors. However, median plasma Hb and storage haemolysis were lower in PRBCs from overweight donors in our study and the difference was significant only on day 21 and not on day 35 of storage. On the contrary, Sparrow et al. found an overweight-obese BMI greater than 27 kg/m² in males to be significantly associated with higher haemolysis (p < 0.0001) with an odds ratio of 3 (95% CI: 1.3– 6.7) which further increased to 4 (95% CI: 1.8–8.6) for obese males with BMI greater than 30 kg/m² [7]. We used a cut-off value of BMI ≥ 25 kg/m² to categorize donors into healthy weight and overweight donors as compared with the higher BMI cut-off used by Sparrow et al., which could be the reason for the differing results.

The blood donors were also segregated based on their serum UA values. It was observed that mean storage haemolysis was significantly lower in PRBCs from blood donors with high UA levels (>6 mg/dL) on day 35 of storage. In addition, median plasma Hb and mean LDH values were also lower in PRBCs from donors with high serum UA levels throughout the storage period. On multiple regression analysis also, a significant positive association was observed between donor UA levels and LDH levels of PRBCs. In corroboration with our results, authors in another study observed a statistically significant difference in mean percentage haemolysis in PRBCs between days 1 and 21 of storage from donors with low UA levels (<5 mg/dL) as compared with donors with high UA levels (>7 mg/dL). They concluded that high UA levels in donors have a protective effect on PRBCs during storage and UA can further be explored as a constituent of an additive solution [21].

Similarly, in another study, the authors evaluated the effect of the UA levels on haemolysis, plasma oxidant and antioxidant factors in leukoreduced PRBC units prepared from regular blood donors. The authors observed that PRBCs prepared from blood donors with UA levels >7.1 mg/dL showed significantly better intracellular calcium accumulation, total antioxidant capacity and low spheroechinocytes [13].

The present study had a few limitations. We analysed only in vitro haemolysis in PRBCs during storage. Other measures of haemolysis, such as oxidative and osmotic haemolysis, were not studied due to financial constraints. The data collected here are from PRBCs stored in 50 mL aliquots rather than standard storage bags. Hence, the data are not representative of standard clinical grade PRBCs (210–260 mL). In our study, due to the unequal distribution of male to female donors, the correlation between storage parameters and donor sex could not be confidently made. Moreover, the effect of donor characteristics on recipient outcomes was also not studied.

To conclude, donor characteristics do have an impact on in vitro haemolysis of PRBCs during storage. Prospective studies with a larger sample size and analysis of oxidative and osmotic haemolysis may give a better perception of the impact of inter-donor variability on the storability of PRBCs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

B.D. collected and acquired the data; P.K. and K.M. conceptualized the study, collected, acquired and analysed the data, prepared the first draft of the manuscript; S.J. and A.T. analysed the data. R.K., T.S. and G.K. reviewed the manuscript; R.R. performed the statistical analysis.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Kshitija Mittal bhttps://orcid.org/0000-0001-6978-9140 Paramjit Kaur https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4014-9064 Ravneet Kaur https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0086-2132

REFERENCES

- Yoshida T, Prudent M, D'Alessandro A. Red blood cell storage lesion: causes and potential clinical consequences. Blood Transfus. 2019;17: 27–52.
- Antonelou MH, Kriebardis AG, Papassideri IS. Aging and death signaling in mature red cells: from basic science to transfusion practice. Blood Transfus. 2010;8:s39–s47.
- Jordan A, Chen D, Yi QL, Kanias T, Gladwin MT, Acker JP. Assessing the influence of component processing and donor characteristics on quality of red cell concentrates using quality control data. Vox Sang. 2016;111:8–15.
- Kanias T, Sinchar D, Osei-Hwedieh D, Baust JJ, Jordan A, Zimring JC, et al. Testosterone-dependent sex differences in red blood cell hemolysis in storage, stress and disease. Transfusion. 2016;56:2571–83.
- Tzounakas VL, Kriebardis AG, Papassideri IS, Antonelou MH. Donorvariation effect on red blood cell storage lesion: a close relationship emerges. Proteomics Clin Appl. 2016;10:791–804.

- Kanias T, Lanteri MC, Page GP, Guo Y, Endres SM, Stone M, et al. Ethnicity, sex, and age are determinants of red blood cell storage and stress hemolysis: results of the REDS-III RBC-Omics study. Blood Adv. 2017;1:1132–41.
- Sparrow RL, Payne KA, Adams GG. Higher donor body mass index is associated with increased hemolysis of red cell concentrates at 42-days of storage: a retrospective analysis of routine quality control data. Transfusion. 2021;61:449–63.
- Kanias T, Stone M, Page GP, Guo Y, Endres-Dighe SM, Lanteri MC, et al. Frequent blood donations alter susceptibility of red blood cells to storage- and stress-induced hemolysis. Transfusion. 2019;59: 67–78.
- Prior RL, Gu L, Wu X, Jacob RA, Sotoudeh G, Kader AA, et al. Plasma antioxidant capacity changes following a meal as a measure of the ability of a food to alter in vivo antioxidant status. J Am Coll Nutr. 2007;26:170–81.
- Pawlak R, Berger J, Hines I. Iron status of vegetarian adults: a review of literature. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2018;12:486–98.
- Somannavar MS, Kodliwadmath MV. Correlation between oxidative stress and antioxidant defence in south Indian urban vegetarians and non-vegetarians. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2012;16:351–4.
- Hazegh K, Fang F, Bravo MD, Tran JQ, Muench MO, Jackman RP, et al. Blood donor obesity is associated with changes in red blood cell metabolism and susceptibility to hemolysis in cold storage and in response to osmotic and oxidative stress. Transfusion. 2021;61: 435–48.
- Tzounakas VL, Georgatzakou HT, Kriebardis AG, Papageorgiou EG, Stamoulis KE, Foudoulaki-Paparizos LE, et al. Uric acid variation among regular blood donors is indicative of red blood cell susceptibility to storage lesion markers: a new hypothesis tested. Transfusion. 2015;55:2659–71.
- Central Drugs Standard Control Organization. Drugs and Cosmetics Act, 1940 and Amendments [Online], March 2020 [cited 2022 Nov 1]. Available from: https://cdsco.gov.in/opencms/opencms/system/ modules/CDSCO.WEB/elements/download_file_division.jsp?num_ id=NTc2MQ==.
- 15. Standefer JC, Vanderjagt D. Use of tetra methyl benzidine in plasma hemoglobin assay. Clin Chem. 1977;23:749–51.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Body mass index (BMI) [Online]. [cited 2022 Nov 11]. Available from https://www.cdc.gov/ healthyweight/assessing/bmi/index.html.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). Global database: blood safety and availability [Internet]. Geneva (Switzerland): WHO; 2020. [cited 2021 Dec]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/blood-safety-and-availability.
- Caprari P, Scuteri A, Salvati AM, Bauco C, Cantafora A, Masella R, et al. Aging and red blood cell membrane: a study of centenarians. Exp Gerontol. 1999;34:47–57.
- Simmonds MJ, Meiselman HJ, Baskurt OK. Blood rheology and aging. J Geriatr Cardiol. 2013;10:291–301.
- Raval JS, Waters JH, Seltsam A, Scharberg EA, Richter E, Kameneva MV, et al. Menopausal status affects the susceptibility of stored RBCs to mechanical stress. Vox Sang. 2011;100:418–21.
- Singh HK, Biswas AK, Philip J, Kushwaha N, Mukherjee B, Baranwal AK. A study to assess the relationship between donor uric acid levels and supernatant hemolysis in stored packed red blood cell units. Asian J Transfus Sci. 2022;16:251–6.

How to cite this article: Dhawan B, Mittal K, Kaur P, Jaswal S, Tahlan A, Kaur R, et al. Association of blood donor characteristics and in vitro haemolysis of packed red blood cell concentrates during storage. Vox Sang. 2023;118:835–42. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13514

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Revised: 3 August 2023

Vox Sanguinis

Human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus incidence in blood donors from 2000 to 2020 in France: Trends and lessons from haemovigilance surveillance

Syria Laperche ^{1,2}) Claire Sauvage ³ Pierre Gallian ¹ Saadia Jbilou ¹	I
Elodie Pouchol ¹	Jean Yves Py ¹ Lila Chabli ¹ Pascale Richard ¹ 💿	
Pascal Morel ^{1,4}	Florence Lot ³ Pierre Tiberghien ^{1,4} 💿	

¹Etablissement Français du Sang, La Plaine Saint-Denis, France

²National Reference Centre for infectious risks in transfusion, Institut National de la Transfusion Sanguine, Paris, France

³Santé Publique France, Saint-Maurice, France

⁴UMR RIGHT 1098, Université de Franche-Comté INSERM, Etablissement Français du Sang, Besançon, France

Correspondence

Syria Laperche, Etablissement Français du Sang, 20 Avenue du Stade de France, 93218 La Plaine Saint-Denis, France. Email: syria.laperche@efs.sante.fr

Funding information

The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Data from 21 years (2000–2020) of haemovigilance were used to assess human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) incidence rates in repeat blood donors and the occurrence of transfusion-transmitted (TT) viral infections.

Materials and Methods: Blood donors who converted for HIV, HCV or HBV markers within serial three-year analysis periods were included. Epidemiological and virological data were retrieved from the national epidemiological donor database and were supplemented with information on blood components and the infection status of recipients of the previous negative donation (D.N-1) of donors who seroconverted.

Results: Incidence rates declined from 1.27 to 0.35/100,000 person-years for HIV, from 0.59 to 0.19 for HCV and from 1.66 to 0.18 for HBV. Risk factors and lookback for 232 HIV, 90 HCV and 74 HBV seroconversions were investigated. The main risk factor identified at post-donation interview was having sex with men (47.8% of males) for HIV and a sexual risk for HCV (30.6%) and HBV (37.1%). The viral loads and sequences were retrospectively tested in 191 HIV, 74 HCV and 62 HBV D.N-1 archived samples. Six (five HBV and one HIV-1) were positive all low viral loads. Two recipients were infected by red blood cells from two HBV seroconverting donors before the introduction of HBV-nucleic acid testing.

Conclusion: HIV, HCV and HBV incidence rates in blood donors declined over the two past decades in France. There is a very small risk of a blood component that tests negative entering the blood supply resulting in TT infections, especially after introduction of molecular assays in donor screening.

Keywords

blood donors; haemovigilance; HIV, HCV, HBV incidence

Highlights

- Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus (HBV) incidence rates in blood donors have declined over the two past decades in France.
- The systematic banking of a plasma sample of all donations led to the identification of retrospectively positive donations (five HBV-DNA and one HIV-1 RNA) with an extremely low viral load.
- There is a very small risk of a blood component that tests negative entering the blood supply
 resulting in transfusion-transmitted viral infections, especially after the introduction of
 molecular assays in donor screening.

INTRODUCTION

Measuring the incidence of infectious diseases transmitted by transfusion in the blood donor (BD) population is important for monitoring the safety of the blood supply. Several methods are currently used to estimate the incidence. Most of them are based upon newly infected repeat blood donors (RBDs), which is facilitated by the fact that the vast majority of blood donations in highincome countries are collected from such donors. This provides the opportunity to estimate the incidence in the blood supply and avoid tedious and expensive longitudinal cohort studies. Alternative approaches are based on yield rates from nucleic acid testing (NAT) and/or limiting antigen avidity assay when available, allowing incidence to be evaluated in first-time blood donors (FTBDs) as well [1].

The incidence rate in RBDs is also used along with the duration of the window period (WP) to calculate the residual risk (RR) of infections with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus (HBV) or hepatitis C virus (HCV) [2, 3]. Indeed, it is now admitted that the major RR of transfusion-transmitted infections (TTIs) is due to donations given during the WP and that such risk is linked to the incidence of infections. Based on the incidence/WP model, the global RR of non-detection of viral infections in France during the 2019–2021 period has been estimated at 0.27 per million donations tested (0.058, 0.178 and 0.031 per million donations for HIV, HBV and HCV, respectively) [4, 5].

In addition, RBDs who recently acquired viral infections provide relevant information on the epidemiology and characteristics of recent infections, and lookback studies allow observed TTI to be compared with the estimated RR. A haemovigilance network, which collects information on adverse events and reactions in blood transfusions from healthcare organizations involved in the transfusion of blood components, is an essential tool to reach this goal.

We used data collected over 21 years of the French BD haemovigilance system, in place since 1994, to analyse trends in the incidence rates of HIV, HBV and HCV and the characteristics of BDs who have recently developed these viral infections. In addition, we analysed the results of lookback studies to assess the occurrence of TTI in recipients who were transfused with the last negative tested donation of RBDs who seroconverted and compared the data with the theoretical RR.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

BD surveillance and the haemovigilance process

In the past two decades, approximately 2.8 million donations from 1.5 million donors were collected per year in France. Donors represent around 4% of the general population between the ages of 18 and 70 and approximately 80% are donors who have made at least two donations in their lifetime. All donations are tested for several viral markers: anti-HIV-1/-2 antibodies (Abs), hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg), anti-hepatitis B core antibodies (anti-HBc Abs), anti-HCV Abs, anti-human T cell leuke-mia virus Abs (restricted to FTBDs in mainland France and in the lle de la Réunion since 2019), and HIV-1, HCV and HBV-NAT.

Donors found positive for tested markers are recalled to be retested to confirm infection and are invited to complete a questionnaire collecting data including their risk factors for infection. All data are collated in a national epidemiological donor database, which contains demographic characteristics (age and sex), the most likely route of transmission, geographical origin (location of birth or ethnicity), as well as the virological characteristics (viral loads [VLs] and sequence data) of positive donors, together with the total number of donations and donors classified per status (FTBDs or RBDs).

According to our haemovigilance procedures, when an RBD is found positive for a viral marker, the archive sample of the most recent negative donation is requested for retrospective re-testing. The repository plasma sample from the previous negative donation (D.N-1, archived for 3 years) is subject to investigations at the National Reference Centre (NRC) for infectious risks in transfusion. This consists of analysis of the viral genome by NAT, VL and sequencing in order to confirm the safety of blood components from the D.N-1. If this sample is retrospectively found to be positive, a clinical lookback is carried out: the associated components are traced, recipients are identified and advice is given on follow-up and testing.

Blood donation testing

In the study period, all blood donations were screened for HIV Abs, HBsAg, HBc Abs and HCV Abs with PRISM assays (Abbott Diagnostics, Rungis, France) in mainland France and ARCHITECT assays (Abbott) in the overseas territories (French West Indies, Reunion

Vox Sanguinis Solit of Blood Transitional Society 845

Island). HIV-1 and HCV-NAT screening was introduced in 2001 and performed in continental France in pool format by using either Chiron Procleix TMA HIV-1/HCV (Chiron, Emeryville, USA) in pools of 8 or Roche Cobas Ampliscreen HIV-1 and HCV (Roche Diagnostic, Meylan, France) in pools of 24, while it was performed in individual donation (ID) sample testing with Chiron assay in the overseas territories [6]. As of 2010, blood donations have been tested for viral genomes in ID testing with Procleix Ultrio assays (Grifols, Barcelona, Spain), including HBV-DNA testing.

A confirmatory and follow-up algorithm including HIV or HCV immunoblots and neutralization procedure for HBsAg was in place to classify repeatedly reactive samples by serology.

Investigations performed in archived samples at the NRC included plasma VL determination using the Cobas TagMan assays (Roche Diagnostic) with a 95% limit of quantification (95% LOO), at 34 copies/mL for HIV, 6 IU/mL for HBV and 15 IU/mL for HCV (data from package inserts). Molecular studies aimed at comparing viral strains when transfusion transmission was suspected based on NAT-positive archived donation and linked recipient NAT-positive samples consisted of sequencing at least two independent regions of the viral genome, as previously described [7-11].

Study population

BDs included in the study were those who donated between January 2000 and December 2020 and who converted from negative to confirmed positive for HIV, HCV or HBV (Abs and/or NAT for HIV and HCV, HBsAg and/or NAT positive for HBV) within a 3-year period. The 3-year study period was chosen because it corresponds to the period during which archived plasma samples are stored, so that information on the infectious status of previous negative donations is available.

Demographic, epidemiological and virological data were retrieved from the national epidemiological donor database and supplemented with information on blood components and the recipients of previous negative donations of seroconverters.

Incidence rate

RBDs included in this analysis were also used to assess HIV, HBV and HCV incidences in seven sequential 3-year periods from 2000-2002 to 2018-2020. Incidence was calculated as the number of donors who converted from negative to confirmed positive in one of the 3-year intervals, divided by the total person-years (PY) as previously described [3, 12].

Statistical analysis

To compare demographics between the different groups analysed, a chi-square analysis or Fisher's exact test, where appropriate, was used. Observations were considered statistically different if p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Seroconversions and incidence rates in RBDs

From January 2000 to December 2020, 58,160,984 blood donations were collected from 33,737,439 donors, of whom 26,322,760 (78%) were RBDs. The total number of seroconversions (SCs) was 241, 92 and 74 for HIV, HCV and HBV, representing 67%, 25% and 54% of the total number of HIV-, HCV- and HBV-positive RBDs, respectively (Table 1). Of these, 396 (232 HIV, 90 HCV and 74 HBV SC) were included in the study. No information was available for 11 HIV- and 2 HCV-infected donations.

Between 2000-2002 and 2018-2020 seven 3-year periods, incidence rates calculated as described above declined from 1.27 to 0.35 per 100.000 PY (divided by 3.6) for HIV. from 0.59 to 0.19 (divided by 3.1) for HCV and from 1.66 to 0.18 (divided by 9.2) for HBV (Figure 1).

Characteristics of seroconverted BDs

Among the 232 HIV SC, 184 were males and 48 were females (sex ratio 3.8), with a mean age of 37.8 and 35.2 years respectively (not significantly different). The mean inter-donation interval (between positive donation and D.N-1) was 316 days (median 227, range 28-1096). Information on risk factors was available for 228 donors (98.3%); 180 were men among which 47.8% reported having sex with men (MSM) with an increasing frequency between 2000-2002 (36.7%) and 2018-2020 (54.5%) (Figure 2); 34.4% reported a heterosexual sexual risk (including multiple sexual partnerships, a partner who is HIV positive or from a country with high HIV prevalence or sex work), 2.2% declared another risk factor (tattoo, healthcare professions, surgery, etc.) while for 15.6% the source of infection could not be identified. Among the 48 females, 35.4% had a sexual partner from an HIV endemic area, 18.8% had an HIV-positive sexual partner, 4.2% had another risk factor and 39.6% reported no risk factors (Table 2).

Among the 90 HCV SC, 34 were males and 56 were females (sex ratio 0.6), with a mean age of 45.6 and 41.5 years respectively (not significantly different). The mean inter-donation interval was 420 days (median 364, 66-1067). Seventy-five (83.3%) returned for the postdonation interview. Risk factors could not be identified for 29.3% of them, while 30.6% reported a sexual risk (out of whom 69% (16/23) had an HCV-positive partner), 18.7% had nosocomial exposure, 10.7% a healthcare professional risk and 4% reported drug use (Table 2).

Of the 74 HBV SC, 57 were males and 17 were females (sex ratio 3.3), with a mean age of 45.8 and 40.6 years respectively (not significantly different). The mean inter-donation interval was 243 days (median 159, 29-875). Information on risk factors was available for 62 donors (83.7%), of whom only 58.1% declared a risk factor. The main probable source of contamination was sexual for 37.1% (11.3% reported having an HBV-positive partner, 22.6% had an at-risk sexual contact and 3.2% were MSM) and 21% reported other probable

\bot Vox Sanguinis	S	Ъ,	Ţ	Internatio of Blood	onal Soci Transfus	ety ion			
d HIV, HCV	2010	3,004,863	1,662,994	1,294,918	24	15	16	8	
t virus (HBV), an	2009	3,001,321	1,701,018	1,265,325	24	13	14	2	
) and hepatitis E	2008	2,818,689	1,643,493	1,227,126	24	16	21	7	
tis C virus (HCV	2007	2,713,582	1,635,578	1,239,659	17	6	16	з	
us (HIV), hepati	2006	2,575,273	1,527,209	1,164,034	22	12	17	5	
odeficiency vir	2005	2,512,795	1,506,082	1,153,734	24	14	15	5	
r human immur	2004	2,498,298	1,535,900	1,153,260	20	16	29	8	
(BDs positive fc	2003	2,465,382	1,523,000	1,164,267	10	5	16	6	
onors (RBDs), F	2002	2,459,663	1,537,000	1,185,000	17	14	28	3	
, repeat blood d rs from 2000 to	2001	2,409,484	1,522,000	1,140,000	20	15	44	11	
nations, donors I previous 3 yea	2000	2,475,102	1,530,000	1,144,000	20	13	29	8	
TABLE 1 Number of do		N donations	N donors	N RBD	N HIV-positive RBDs	N HIV seroconversions	N HCV-positive RBDs	N HCV seroconversions	

and HBV seroconvertions ir	ı previous 3 yeaı	rs from 2000 to	2020.								
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
N donations	2,475,102	2,409,484	2,459,663	2,465,382	2,498,298	2,512,795	2,575,273	2,713,582	2,818,689	3,001,321	3,004,863
N donors	1,530,000	1,522,000	1,537,000	1,523,000	1,535,900	1,506,082	1,527,209	1,635,578	1,643,493	1,701,018	1,662,994
N RBD	1,144,000	1,140,000	1,185,000	1,164,267	1,153,260	1,153,734	1,164,034	1,239,659	1,227,126	1,265,325	1,294,918
N HIV-positive RBDs	20	20	17	10	20	24	22	17	24	24	24
N HIV seroconversions	13	15	14	5	16	14	12	6	16	13	15
N HCV-positive RBDs	29	44	28	16	29	15	17	16	21	14	16
N HCV seroconversions	8	11	e	6	8	5	5	3	7	2	8
N HBV-positive RBDs	7	10	6	4	4	5	6	5	5	5	10
N HBV seroconversions	5	7	ю	0	2	4	S	4	4	e	6
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
N donations	3,149,090	3,038,143	2,760,422	2,813,170	2,958,120	2,918,611	2,958,128	2,926,942	2,891,828	2,812,078	58,160,984
N donors	1,718,320	1,705,209	1,639,942	1,600,072	1,660,599	1,616,268	1,624,221	1,636,524	1,622,519	1,589,491	33,737,439
N RBDs	1,321,310	1,322,254	1,282,432	1,249,739	1,334,786	1,336,814	1,335,252	1,343,068	1,332,553	1,333,229	26,322,760
N HIV-positive RBDs	22	21	12	17	14	11	16	13	7	3	358
N HIV seroconversions	15	12	6	15	12	7	7	7	З	3	232
N HCV-positive RBDs	16	11	8	7	10	12	15	6	12	6	364
N HCV seroconversions	ю	5	в	1	2	2	2	1	3	2	90
N HBV-positive RBDs	7	8	б	1	8	б	11	2	5	5	137
N HBV seroconversions	4	5	1	0	6	2	6	1	в	2	74

Note: Seroconversions: RBDs who converted from negative to confirmed positive within a 3-year period. Abbreviation: FTBD, first-time blood donor.

847



FIGURE 1 Trends in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis C virus (HCV) and hepatitis B virus (HBV) incidence in blood donors in France, 2000–2020. Incidence rates (expressed per 100,000 person-year [PY]) were calculated in seven consecutive 3-year periods (2000–2002 to 2018–2020) as the number of repeat blood donors (RBDs) who converted from negative to confirmed positive in the 3-year intervals for HIV, HCV or HBV markers, divided by the total PY (sum of days between the first and the last donation of positive and negative RBDs within the 3-year intervals/365). The number of incident cases is provided for each period.



FIGURE 2 Trends in risk factors identified at post-donation interview in 180 male blood donors (BDs) who underwent a recent human immunodeficiency virus infection detected by BD screening over seven consecutive 3-year periods. MSM, men who have sex with men; non-MSM, sexual risk excluding MSM; other, healthcare professional risk.

sources of contamination, such as nosocomial or healthcare professional exposure (Table 2).

Lookback studies

Archived samples from D.N-1 were tested in 82.3% (191/232), 82.2% (74/90) and 83.4% (62/74) of HIV, HCV and HBV SC cases,

respectively. Missing results were due to unavailable tubes or the loss of traceability but, in most cases, archived samples were not tested because during the post-donation interview, it had been shown that the donor had been infected between D.N-1 and the positive donation. Among the 327 D.N-1 samples tested overall, 6 were found to be retrospectively positive, all with a very low VL: 5/62 (8.1%) for HBV-DNA and 1/191 (0.5%) for HIV-1 RNA (Tables 3 and 4).

Out of the five patients who were transfused with blood products prepared from HBV-positive D.N-1, two were infected by the transfusion of red blood cell concentrates (Table 4). HBV isolates from donors and recipients showed 100% identities into genotypes A2 and B4, respectively, as previously described [7]. One recipient spontaneously recovered from infection while the second was successfully treated. No information regarding other blood products from these donations was available. Interestingly, the last D.N-1 that was retrospectively found to be HBV-DNA positive despite screening HBV-DNA negative was collected in 2019 from a donor with an HBc Ab negative occult B infection. Due to the donor's donation history, this case, described in detail elsewhere, was extensively investigated [4]. Briefly, of the nine previous donations given in the 3 years prior to the positive index donation, five were retrospectively found to be HBV-DNA-positive with an extremely low level, but none of the recipients included in the lookback were infected [4].

The lookback investigations from the HIV-positive D.N-1 revealed the absence of viral infection in the recipient transfused with the platelet concentrate which had been submitted to pathogen reduction, but transmission could not be excluded for the red blood cell concentrate recipient due to his/her death shortly after the transfusion [13].

among rept	eat blood dc	nors betwe	en 2000 and 2020.					
		Males		Females		Inter-donation interval (days)	Risk factors	
Total		z	Age (years) Mean (range)	z	Age (years) Mean (range)	Mean-Median (range)		N (%)
ЫN	232	184	37.8 (18–65)	48	35.2 (18–66)	316-227 (28-1096)	Males (<i>n</i> = 180/184)	86 (47.8%): MSM
								62 (34.4%): Sexual not MSM
								4 (2.2%): Other
								28 (15.6%): Not identified
							Females ($n = 48$)	17 (35.4%): Partner from endemic area
								9 (18.8%): Partner HIV positive
								2 (4.2%): Other
								20 (41.6%): Not identified
HCV	90	34	45.6 (20-70)	56	41.5 (18-65)	420-364 (66-1067)	All $(n = 75/90)$	16 (21.3%): Partner HCV positive
								14 (18.7%): Nosocomial
								8 (10.7%): Healthcare professional
								7 (9.3%): At-risk sexual partner (drug user, etc.)
								5 (6.7%): Other
								3 (4.0%): Drug use
								22 (29.3%): Not identified
HBV	74	57	45.8 (19–68)	17	40.6 (19–63)	243-159 (29-875)	All ($n = 62/74$)	14 (22.6%): Sexual
								13 (21%): Other
								7 (11.3%): Partner HBV positive
								2 (3.2%): MSM
								26 (41.9%): Not identified
Abbreviatio	n: MSM, mei	n who have s	sex with men.					

848 Vox Sanguinis Self International Society of Blood Translusion.

TABLE 2 Demographic and epidemiological characteristics including risk factors of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) seroconversions
	7
	È3
	<u>4</u>
	2
	ã
	3
	0
	8
	Ē.
	äd
	ed f
	ī
	ц Ц
	ŧ
	Ş.
	Ĕ
	nel
	Бr:
	1
	≦.
	8V.0
	ğ
	ž
	Š.
	2
	Ξ
	8
	2
	35
	4
	ž
	ğ
	nell
	Ę
	uve
	TSit
	₹ E
	-R
	eso
	Ĩ
	æs.
	8
	Ĕ.
	als
	Å
	par
	Ē
	Ë.
	×
	lev
	ġ
	Ē.
	ē
	ģ
	arv
	g
	21
	5
	22
	23
	.s
	. See t
	. See the
	. See the Ter
]. See the Terms
]. See the Terms and
	 See the Terms and Co
	. See the Terms and Cond
]. See the Terms and Conditio
]. See the Terms and Conditions (
]. See the Terms and Conditions (htt
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https:/
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://or
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlin
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelib
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrar-
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.w
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.co
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terr
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-co
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-condit
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-condition
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) (
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on V
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wile
•]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley (
•]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Onl
•]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online
•]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Lit
]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Librau
•	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library fe
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for r
	 See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rule
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; C
•	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA a
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA artis
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA articles
•	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles an
•	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are go
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA articles are gover
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA articles are governee
•	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by
•	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the
•	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the av
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA articles are governed by the appli
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicat
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable v
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA articles are governed by the applicable Cre
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creativ
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative C
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Con
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commo
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use: OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons 1
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons Lice
	1. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

HIV, HCV, HBV INCIDENCE IN BLOOD DONORS

396 included seroconversions
ood components and recipients from
of lookback investigations and outcomes of bl
TABLE 3 Summary

	sitive						
	Po Po) - 5	0	0	2	2	
	Teste	z	56	13	23	92	
	lation	%	23.5	41.4	30.9	28.5	
	No inform	z	50	29	21	100	
	stigated	%	18.3	12.9	17.6	17.1	
	Not inves	z	39	6	12	60	
	_	%	31.9	27.1	17.6	28.2	
	Died	z	68	19	12	66	
ents		%	26.3	18.6	33.8	26.2	
Recipie		Total	213	70	68	351	
N transfused donations			175	59	53	287	:
N donations with fully completed lookback			196	69	60	325	
N D.N-1 positive (n D.N-1 previously screened with NAT)			1 (1)	0	5 (1)	6	
N D.N-1 retrospectively tested (n D.N-1 previously screened with NAT)			191 (154)	74 (51)	62 (31)	327	
N donors			232	06	74	396	
			≥H	HCV	НВV	Total	

Abbreviations: HBV, hepatitis B virus; HCV, hepatitis C virus; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; NAT, nucleic acid testing.

Lookback results of the six positive archived samples from N-1 donations.
TABLE 4

	Donor						Recipient		
Virus	Year of positive donation	Gender / age	Risk factor	Inter-donation interval (days)	Viral load of N-Viral load of N-1 positive donation	Stage of Stage of infection at D.N-1 ^a	Transfused component	Transmission	References
HBV	2000	M/37	Heterosexual	72	Not available	Acute	RBC	No markers of past HBV infection, died before testing	
	2005	M/59	Not traced	95	<6 IU/mL	Acute	RBC	No recipient tested negative	
	2006	M/42	Not identified	74	<6 IU/mL	Acute	RBC	Yes	[7-11]
	2007	F/22	Not identified	102	<6 IU/mL	Acute	RBC	Yes	[7-11]
	2019	M/68	Not identified	182	<6 IU/mL	Occult B infection	RBCs + PLT + Plasma	No (but incomplete lookback)	[7-11]
≥H	2017	M/57	Not identified	135	<34 cps/mL	Acute	RBCs + PLT	No	[7-11]
Abbrevi ^a Acute :	ations: HBV, hepatiti stage was establishec	is B virus; HN I by the dete	V, human immunc ction of HBsAg al	deficiency virus; PLT nd/or anti-HBc for HI	, platelets; RBC, red blood cells. 3V, and anti-HIV for HIV on the fo	llowing sample(s), and occi	ult B infection by t	he absence of evolution of the biolog	gical profile.

Information on blood components prepared from D.N-1 of all the 396 SC cases was missing for 71 of them. Of the remaining 327 donations, 287 resulted in one to three blood components transfused to 351 recipients (Table 3). Of these, 92 (26.2%) were tested despite our procedure, which stipulates that lookback should only be carried out on recipients of D.N-1 that tested positive on the archived sample: 56/213 (26.3%) for HIV, 13/70 (18.6%) for HCV and 33.8% (23/68) for HBV. Two of them were found to be HBV positive as described above.

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to characterize BDs who converted from negative to positive for HIV, HCV and HBV over seven successive 3-year periods, in order to describe and analyse the incidence of these infections in a 21-year study period in France. Furthermore, we capitalized on a haemovigilance system that has been in place in France for over 25 years to evaluate the occurrence of transfusion-mediated transmission.

The data reported here indicate a declining incidence of HIV. HCV and HBV infections in RBDs that were, respectively, 3.6 times, 3.1 times and 9.2 times lower in 2020 than in 2000. Apart from 2000-2002, the incidence of HIV has always been higher than HCV and HBV and was almost twice as high as HCV and HBV in 2018-2020, showing that new HIV infections occur more frequently than the other two viruses (Figure 1). This is illustrated by the higher percentage of SCs relative to the number of infected RBDs observed for HIV (67%), compared with HCV (24%) and HBV (54%). However, HIV incidence among BDs was 17 times lower than the estimated incidence in the general population (1.01/100,000 in 2012-2014 vs. 17/100,000 in 2014) and for HBV it was 1.7 times lower than in the general population (0.74 in 2015-2017 vs. 1.23/100,000 in 2016) [14, 15]. For HCV, a comparison between both populations was not possible because incidence in the general population is not available. The low incidence observed in the BD population is due at least in part to measures preventing infected donations from entering the blood supply, such as donor self-deferral or at-risk BD exclusion. For example, a recent study reported that countries with less stringent BD deferral criteria have higher HIV rates in their donor population [16].

An analysis of risk factors collected during the post-donation interview of positive donors provides insight into the most likely modes of acquisition of recent infections.

For HIV, the most common risk factor for males was MSM. Indeed, 56% of the 152 men with a recognized risk factor identified themselves as MSM. In France, MSM deferral for blood donation was reduced from permanent to 1 year since last sexual activity in July 2016 and to 4 months in April 2020 following reassuring risk analyses [17]. Notably, 8/12 HIV-positive male donors who gave blood between July 2016 and April 2020 (i.e., during the 12-month deferral period) and who reported MSM risk at the post-donation interview gave blood in the previous year although they would have been deferred with regard to the selection criteria in place at that time. This is consistent with non-compliance with BD selection criteria evidenced in a recent study performed in France showing that 0.73% [95% CI: 063–083] of male donors reported having sex with men in the 12 months prior to donation, the deferral period in place at that time [18]. In 2022, MSM-specific deferral criteria were removed for all blood donations. We could assume that a more individualized, behaviour-based deferral policy may increase donor adherence to the deferral criteria and ultimately increase blood safety.

For HCV, 43% (23/53 of donors with an identified risk factor) reported probably having been infected via a sexual route (16/23 had an HCV-positive partner). In the general population, newly acquired HCV infections have recently been observed in MSM, especially if they are co-infected with HIV [19, 20]. In our study, there were no self-reported MSM among the HCV SCs. In addition, the low number of donors reporting drug abuse (N = 3) is consistent with the decline in the incidence of HCV infection among drug users over the last two decades following the implementation of risk reduction policies in this population [21–23].

For HBV, being born in or having a relative from an endemic area has been reported as the most predictive factor for infection in chronically infected BDs, and recently acquired infections were most frequently associated with a sexual risk behaviour [4, 5, 24–26]. This is in line with the data since more than 68% of donors with acute infection (23/36 individuals with an identified risk factor) reported an at-risk sexual contact. However, the robustness of these findings is limited by the small numbers and proportions of interviewed HCV and HBV SC donors and uncertainty as to their representativeness.

Between 2000 and 2021, we identified five HBV and one HIV infections in retrospective testing of donations which were undetected as positive in routine screening. Of note, four of the five HBV donations were collected before the introduction of HBV-NAT and represent 13% of the 31 D.N-1 not screened for HBV-DNA but available for archive sample testing (Table 3). Two of them resulted in transmission to recipients. Assuming that these two transmissions could have been prevented by detection of HBV-DNA, this highlights the benefit of the introduction of NAT in reducing the RR of HBV infection.

Our haemovigilance procedures require patients transfused with components from the last negative donation of a seroconverted donor to be tested only if the archived sample is retrospectively positive. When the sample is no longer available, recipients are tested on a case-by-case basis according to the risk assessment. The review of 21 years of haemovigilance practice presented here shows that 92 of the 351 recipients involved in this analysis were tested (Table 3), whereas only 6 should have been tested given the 6 retrospectively positive D.N-1. The reasons for such off-protocol testing of recipients are probably multiple: (i) to save time for the rapid management of the patient in case of proven infection, (ii) to definitively rule out infection occurring with a donation with an undetectable VL. This strategy, while medically understandable, is questionable as it requires time and human and financial resources, could be a source of unnecessary anxiety for practitioners and patients and could create unfounded mistrust in the safety of blood components.

The main limitation of this study pertains to the focus on recent infections of less than 3 years for which samples were available in the frozen archive, which precluded the possibility of carrying out lookbacks beyond this period and also possibly underestimated incidence rates. In addition, donors who have undergone SCs that were not identified by or reported to blood centres were excluded from the analysis. This has led to a possible underestimation of the number of transmissions. Nevertheless, the absence of HIV, HCV or HBV TTIs reported by the haemovigilance network since the introduction of NAT supports the reliability of our findings.

In conclusion, this study highlights the decline of viral incidence in BDs over the past two decades and shows that the epidemiological characteristics of BDs recently infected with HIV, HCV or HBV in France mirror those observed in the general population. These findings are reassuring with regard to the BD selection criteria, which are mostly driven by the knowledge of viral epidemiology in the general population. The extremely low number of viral transfusion transmissions reported here, even though possibly underestimated, demonstrated that there is a very low risk of a blood component that tests negative but contains infectious virus entering the blood supply, especially before the introduction of molecular diagnostics assays in blood screening [4, 5, 27-30]. Lookback investigations offer many other opportunities than simply proving or ruling out TTI, such as characterizing the factors that determine the transmission of infectious agents through blood and the determination of minimal infectious doses [13, 31, 32]. In addition, a well-organized haemovigilance system can be mobilized rapidly in the event of a new infectious disease emerging with potential transfusion implications, as recently demonstrated with COVID-19 [33]. Our extensive experience also highlights the importance of preserving donor samples, not only for TTI research but also for epidemiological studies [34, 35], although the short retention period of archived samples limits our ability to investigate newly identified or emerging infectious diseases that may have long clinical latency periods.

While national haemovigilance systems are well established in some countries, there is a lack of effective blood safety surveillance in many settings, such as in resource-limited areas. Continuous surveillance through a national haemovigilance network is fully justified and should be encouraged where it is not yet implemented.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Marie France Lecomte des Fleuris and Josiane Pillonel, now retired, who initiated this study, the staff involved in blood testing and viral investigations at the Etablissement Français du Sang (EFS) and the National Reference Centre at the Institut National de la Transfusion Sanguine, Paris (INTS). We are also indebted to all those working in the field of haemovigilance at a national level.

S.L. coordinated and contributed to the study design, collected and analysed the data and wrote this article; C.S., S.J. and L.C. acquired the data and contributed to the data analysis; J.Y.P. contributed to the study design; P.G., E.P., P.M., P.R., F.L. and P.T. contributed to the study and reviewed and edited the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

S.L., S.J., P.G., J.Y.P., L.C., E.P., P.R., P.M. and P.T. are employed by Etablissement Français du Sang, the French blood transfusion service in charge of collecting, manufacturing, testing and issuing blood components in France.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Anonymised data will be provided upon a justified request to the corresponding author.

ORCID

Syria Laperche D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6497-0108 Claire Sauvage D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1664-9691 Pierre Gallian D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3310-5808 Pascale Richard D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1864-3824 Pierre Tiberghien D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9310-8322

REFERENCES

- Vermeulen M, Chowdhury D, Swanevelder R, Grebe E, Brambilla D, Jentsch U, et al. HIV incidence in South African blood donors from 2012 to 2016: a comparison of estimation methods. Vox Sang. 2021; 116:71–80.
- Glynn SA, Kleinman SH, Wright DJ, Busch MP, NHLBI Retrovirus Epidemiology Donor Study. International application of the incidence rate/window period model. Transfusion. 2002;42:966–72.
- Schreiber GB, Busch MP, Kleinman SH, Korelitz JJ. The risk of transfusion-transmitted viral infections. The retrovirus epidemiology donor study. N Engl J Med. 1996;334:1685–90.
- Cappy P, Boizeau L, Candotti D, Le Cam S, Martinaud C, Pillonel J, et al. Insights on 21 years of HBV surveillance in blood donors in France. Viruses. 2022;14:2507.
- 5. Donneurs de sang en France: chiffres clés 2019-2021. Available from: https://www.santepubliquefrance.fr/les-actualites/ 2022/donneurs-de-sang-en-france-chiffres-cles-2019-2021
- Assal A, Coste J, Barlet V, Laperche S, Cornillot C, Smilovici W, et al. Application of molecular biology to blood transfusion safety: the nucleic acid testing. Transfus Clin Biol. 2003;10:217–26.
- Servant-Delmas A, Chuteau C, Lefort C, Piquet Y, Chevaleyre S, Betbeze V, et al. Two cases of transfusion-transmitted hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection in a low-endemic country before implementation of HBV nucleic acid testing. Transfusion. 2013;53: 291-6.
- Candotti D, Temple J, Sarkodie F, Allain JP. Frequent recovery and broad genotype 2 diversity characterize hepatitis C virus infection in Ghana, West Africa. J Virol. 2003;77:7914–23.
- Pham DA, Leuangwutiwong P, Jittmittraphap A, Luplertlop N, Bach HK, Akkarathamrongsin S, et al. High prevalence of hepatitis C virus genotype 6 in Vietnam. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol. 2009;27: 153–60.
- Morice Y, Roulot D, Grando V, Stirnemann J, Gault E, Jeantils V, et al. Phylogenetic analyses confirm the high prevalence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) type 4 in the Seine-Saint-Denis district (France) and indicate seven different HCV-4 subtypes linked to two different epidemiological patterns. J Gen Virol. 2001;82:1001–12.
- Besse B, Coste-Burel M, Bourgeois N, Feray C, Imbert-Marcille BM, Andre-Garnier E. Genotyping and resistance profile of hepatitis C (HCV) genotypes 1-6 by sequencing the NS3 protease region using a single optimized sensitive method. J Virol Methods. 2012;185: 94–100.
- 12. Brambilla DJ, Busch MP, Dodd RY, Glynn SA, Kleinman SH, National Heart L, et al. A comparison of methods for estimating the incidence

of human immunodeficiency virus infection in repeat blood donors. Transfusion. 2017;57:823-31.

- Cappy P, Barlet V, Lucas Q, Tinard X, Pillonel J, Gross S, et al. Transfusion of HIV-infected blood products despite highly sensitive nucleic acid testing. Transfusion. 2019;59:2046–53.
- Marty L, Cazein F, Panjo H, Pillonel J, Costagliola D, Supervie V, et al. Revealing geographical and population heterogeneity in HIV incidence, undiagnosed HIV prevalence and time to diagnosis to improve prevention and care: estimates for France. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21: e25100.
- Laporal S, Leon L, Pioche C, Vaux S, Pillonel J, Lot F, et al. Estimation of the number of acyte hepatitis B diagnoses and exhauxtivuty of mandatory notification in France in 2016, LABOHEP 2016 survey. Bull Epidemiol Hebd. 2019;24–25:469–501.
- Germain M, Gregoire Y, Custer BS, Goldman M, Bravo M, Kamel H, et al. An international comparison of HIV prevalence and incidence in blood donors and general population: a BEST collaborative study. Vox Sang. 2021;116:1084–93.
- 17. Pillonel J, Pelat C, Tiberghien P, Sauvage C, Danic B, Martinaud C, et al. The evolving blood donor deferral policy for men who have sex with men: impact on the risk of HIV transmission by transfusion in France. Transfusion. 2020;60:525–34.
- Sauvage C, Spinardi R, Pelat C, Pouget T, Danic B, Woimant G, et al. Noncompliance with blood donor selection criteria–Complidon 2017, France. Transfusion. 2020;60:73–83.
- Newsum AM, Matser A, Schinkel J, van der Valk M, Brinkman K, van Eeden A, et al. Incidence of HCV reinfection among HIV-positive MSM and its association with sexual risk behavior: a longitudinal analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73:460–7.
- Popping S, Cuypers L, Claassen MAA, van den Berk GE, De Weggheleire A, Arends JE, et al. Persistent transmission of HCV among men who have sex with men despite widespread screening and treatment with direct-acting antivirals. Viruses. 2022;14:1953.
- Leon L, Kasereka S, Barin F, Larsen C, Weill-Barillet L, Pascal X, et al. Age- and time-dependent prevalence and incidence of hepatitis C virus infection in drug users in France, 2004–2011: model-based estimation from two national cross-sectional serosurveys. Epidemiol Infect. 2017;145:895–907.
- Lucidarme D, Duburque C, Bulois P, Filoche B. Evolution of HCV incidence in drug users in France. Epidemiol Infect. 2011;139: 1287–95.
- Wilkinson AL, van Santen DK, Traeger MW, Sacks-Davis R, Asselin J, Scott N, et al. Hepatitis C incidence among patients attending primary care health services that specialise in the care of people who inject drugs, Victoria, Australia, 2009 to 2020. Int J Drug Policy. 2022;103:103655.
- Roberts H, Jiles R, Harris AM, Gupta N, Teshale E. Incidence and prevalence of sexually transmitted hepatitis B, United States, 2013–2018. Sex Transm Dis. 2021;48:305–9.

- Llaneras J, Riveiro-Barciela M, Rando-Segura A, Marcos-Fosch C, Roade L, Velazquez F, et al. Etiologies and features of acute viral hepatitis in Spain. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;19:1030–7.
- van Houdt R, Bruisten SM, Koedijk FD, Dukers NH, Op de Coul EL, Mostert MC, et al. Molecular epidemiology of acute hepatitis B in the Netherlands in 2004: nationwide survey. J Med Virol. 2007;79: 895-901.
- Dodd RY, Crowder LA, Haynes JM, Notari EP, Stramer SL, Steele WR. Screening blood donors for HIV, HCV, and HBV at the American Red Cross: 10-year trends in prevalence, incidence, and residual risk, 2007 to 2016. Transfus Med Rev. 2020;34:81–93.
- Steele WR, Dodd RY, Notari EP, Haynes J, Anderson SA, Williams AE, et al. HIV, HCV, and HBV incidence and residual risk in US blood donors before and after implementation of the 12-month deferral policy for men who have sex with men. Transfusion. 2021; 61:839–50.
- 29. Busch MP, Bloch EM, Kleinman S. Prevention of transfusiontransmitted infections. Blood. 2019;133:1854–64.
- Reynolds C, Davison KL, Brailsford SR. Safe supplies: few infections in UK blood and tissue donors. Transfus Med. 2019;29:239-46.
- Gallian P, Pouchol E, Djoudi R, Lhomme S, Mouna L, Gross S, et al. Transfusion-transmitted hepatitis E virus infection in France. Transfus Med Rev. 2019;33:146–53.
- Candotti D, Assennato SM, Laperche S, Allain JP, Levicnik-Stezinar S. Multiple HBV transfusion transmissions from undetected occult infections: revising the minimal infectious dose. Gut. 2019;68: 313–21.
- Cappy P, Legrain-Jbilou S, Chabli L, N'Debi M, Gallian P, Brisbarre N, et al. SARS-CoV-2 and post-donation information: a one-year experience of the French haemovigilance network. Blood Transfus. 2022; 20:362–73.
- Gallian P, Cabie A, Richard P, Paturel L, Charrel RN, Pastorino B, et al. Zika virus in asymptomatic blood donors in Martinique. Blood. 2017;129:263–6.
- Bone A, Guthmann JP, Assal A, Rousset D, Degeorges A, Morel P, et al. Incidence of H1N1 2009 virus infection through the analysis of paired plasma specimens among blood donors, France. PLoS One. 2012;7:e33056.

How to cite this article: Laperche S, Sauvage C, Gallian P, Jbilou S, Pouchol E, Py JY, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus incidence in blood donors from 2000 to 2020 in France: Trends and lessons from haemovigilance surveillance. Vox Sang. 2023;118:843–53. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13503

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Incidence of acute haemolytic transfusion reaction among ABO-incompatible recipients transfused with A₃ blood: A case series

Catherine Latour¹ | Amaury Gaussen² | Julie Beaudoin³ | Gabriel André Leiva-Torres¹ | Samuel Rochette⁴ | Nancy Robitaille¹

¹Transfusion Medicine, Héma-Québec, Montréal, Quebec, Canada

²Medical Affairs and Innovation, Héma-Québec, Québec City, Quebec, Canada

³Quality Control and Development, Héma-Québec, Montréal, Quebec, Canada

⁴Medical Affairs and Innovation, Héma-Québec, Montréal, Quebec, Canada

Correspondence

Catherine Latour, Hematology and Stem Cells, Transfusion Medicine, Héma-Québec, 4045 Boulevard de la Côte-Vertu, Montréal, QC H4R 2W7, Canada. Email: catherine.latour@hema-quebec.qc.ca

Funding information

This study was funded by Héma-Québec.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: ABO antigens are among the most immunogenic, but the haemolytic risks of ABO incompatibilities involving a donor with a weak ABO phenotype are little documented.

Materials and Methods: This retrospective case series assessed the incidence of acute haemolytic transfusion reaction (AHTR) among ABO-incompatible recipients of A₃ blood in Québec (Canada). Transfusion safety officers reported laboratory AHTR indicators measured ≤24 h pre- and post-transfusion. Because the AHTR case definition of Québec's Hemovigilance System (QHS) leaves significant room for clinical judgement, a two-step approach was used to assess potential cases: Step 1 consisted in a highly sensitive—but unspecific—initial screen that identified all candidate cases per QHS case definition, and Step 2 consisted in a detailed review of candidate cases by two haematologists.

Results: Nine donors initially typed as Group B (N = 1) or O (N = 8) were subsequently found to display an A₃B or A₃O phenotype. Eighty-one recipients received ABO-incompatible blood, including 53 (65.4%) with interpretable data. Of these, 29 (54.7%) were classified as candidate cases after Step 1. Following Step 2, no conclusive evidence of AHTR was found: Abnormal pre- versus post-transfusion changes appeared modest, within normal range, insufficient to ascertain AHTR, or were consistent with a pre-existing condition unrelated to AHTR. Two candidate cases had a QHS-reported transfusion reaction; both were unrelated to AHTR.

Conclusion: In this case series, no conclusive evidence of serious AHTR was found among ABO-incompatible recipients who were inadvertently transfused with A_3 blood.

Keywords

acute haemolytic transfusion reaction, blood group incompatibility, haemovigilance, red blood cell transfusion, weak ABO subgroups

Highlights

• The haemolytic risks of ABO incompatibilities involving a donor with a weak ABO phenotype are little documented.

- 855
- In this case series, no conclusive evidence of serious AHTR was found among ABOincompatible recipients who were inadvertently transfused with A₃O or A₃B red blood cells.
- These results suggest that no serious AHTR ensued from these transfusions.

INTRODUCTION

Acute haemolytic transfusion reaction (AHTR) is a rare but potentially life-threatening transfusion-related complication of immune or nonimmune origin [1, 2]. Immune AHTR can result from the transfusion of red blood cells (RBCs) presenting cell-surface antigens that are incompatible with the recipient's antibodies. AHTRs due to ABO incompatibilities tend to show the most severe presentation [3], but their incidence has significantly declined in Québec (Canada) since the early 2000s due to the implementation of several safeguards (notably to prevent 'wrong blood in tube' errors and other patient identification errors) [4].

A number of rare, weak ABO subgroups (e.g., A₃, A_x, A_{el}, B₃, B_x, B_{el}) are associated with low levels of the A or B antigens on the surface of RBCs [5], which can make the interpretation of serologic test results difficult. A 1959 case report described a Group O female patient who accidentally received one packed RBC unit of Ax blood [6]. The patient subsequently experienced several signs and symptoms of AHTR, which suggests at least some weak A subgroups can cause AHTR [6].

However, we are unaware of more recent documented cases in which weak A or weak B blood was transfused to an ABO-incompatible recipient. Furthermore, the weak A phenotype identified in the aforementioned report might have been identified as a standard A phenotype with modern, highly sensitive reagents. Therefore, the haemolytic risks of ABO incompatibilities involving a donor with a weak ABO phenotype are little documented.

Our institution recently observed nine donors who were initially identified as Group O or B and were found to have an A₃O or A₃B phenotype at a subsequent donation. The RBC units collected before the detection of this typing discrepancy were transfused to 81 recipients, including Group O or B recipients or recipients who underwent stem cell transplant (SCT). Given the unclear haemolytic risks associated with such ABO incompatibilities, this case series investigated the potential incidence of AHTR among these recipients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This was a retrospective case series that identified ABO-incompatible recipients. Corresponding donors were initially typed O or B, but no anti-A1 on reverse grouping was detected at a subsequent donation. These donors were found to have an A₃O or A₃B phenotype through sequencing of the ABO locus (described in more detail below). All discrepancies were detected between 23 April 2020 and 12 March 2021 by Héma-Québec, the sole blood operator in Québec (Canada). Of note, no change in testing procedure, reagent or instrumentation occurred

during this period. Before April 2020, donors with weak ABO subgroups were deferred from donating blood, but hospitals were not notified of weak ABO typing discrepancies. At the time, this practice was not evidence-based, as no recent studies had evaluated the outcomes associated with ABO incompatibilities involving a donor with a weak ABO subgroup (hence the need for the current case series).

As per Héma-Québec's quality control procedures, a corrective and preventive action was undertaken, which led to the conduct of the current study. Hospital transfusion safety officers (TSOs) were asked to complete an Excel form to report recipients' AHTR indicators. No institutional review board was required as this was a noninterventional, retrospective study that aimed to validate the quality of existing operations.

ABO typing

The initial typing results were obtained by using an automated microplate system (PK7200 from 2004 to 2010 and PK7300 from 2011 to 2021; Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA), with antisera, A1 and B cells purchased from Beckman Coulter. Samples with typing discrepancies underwent further manual serologic subsequently testing (i.e., immediate centrifugation, room temperature [RT] incubation for 30 min and warming at $RT + 4^{\circ}C$ for 60 min) with reagents purchased from various manufacturers.

Sequencing of the ABO locus

Genomic DNA was extracted from blood (in EDTA-containing collection tubes) by using the QIAamp mini blood kit (Qiagen Inc., Canada) following the manufacturer's instructions. Exons 2-7 of the ABO gene were PCR-amplified using primers described by Goebel et al. [7] and analysed by Sanger sequencing (ABI 3730xl, Applied Biosystems). Results were compared to the NG_006669 ABO reference sequence.

Recipient outcomes

For each recipient, TSOs were asked to report the following AHTR indicators of interest within 24 h pre- and post-transfusion (where applicable): haemoglobin (Hb) concentration; lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) concentration; haptoglobin concentration; results of polyclonal, immunoglobulin G-specific and C3-specific direct antiglobulin test (DAT; positive or negative); plasma appearance (icteric or normal); total and indirect bilirubin concentration; and haemoglobinaemia (present or absent). They were also asked

TABLE 1 Québec Hemovigilance System case definition of acute haemolytic transfusion reaction.

AHTR may be suspected based on the following (unspecific) symptoms
Fever, chills, hot flashes
Hypotension
Icteria
Haemoglobinuria (reddish or dark urine)
Diffuse bleeding
Disseminated intravascular coagulation
Low back pain, or abdominal and thoracic pain
Nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea
Oligoanuria
AND ≥ 1 of the following laboratory findings
Haemoglobinaemia
Elevated levels of unconjugated bilirubin
Haemoglobinuria
Elevated LDH and aspartate transaminase levels
Reduced haptoglobin levels
Reduced Hb levels OR unsatisfactory increase in Hb levels

Abbreviations: AHTR, acute haemolytic transfusion reaction; Hb, haemoglobin; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase.

whether a transfusion reaction was reported to Québec's Hemovigilance System (QHS).

These indicators were selected based on the AHTR case definition of QHS (Table 1) [8]. This definition includes the laboratory test results that are essential for diagnosis and certain symptoms (e.g., fever, hypotension)—which can support the diagnosis but are not essential. Therefore, data on symptoms were not collected because of (1) their limited specificity for AHTR, (2) their dispensable nature for diagnosis and (3) the anticipated heterogeneity in the reporting of clinical data (as some products were transfused 20 years ago). This approach additionally alleviated the burden of data collection for TSOs amid the COVID-19 pandemic and a severe staff shortage in Québec.

Data interpretation

Given the anticipated heterogeneity in the reporting of AHTR indicators, we restricted our analysis to recipients with at least some interpretable data, defined as recipients with available pre- and posttransfusion data for ≥ 1 indicator. As for several other haemovigilance systems, the QHS case definition of AHTR lacks clarity for certain criteria, which leaves room for clinical judgement when determining whether certain signs or symptoms are consistent with AHTR. We used a two-step approach to address this potential caveat: (1) An initial screen was performed to identify all possible cases (termed 'candidate cases'), defined as recipients with ≥ 1 potentially abnormal or inconclusive AHTR indicator per the QHS case definition; and (2) two haematologists specializing in transfusion medicine subsequently reviewed candidate cases to determine the likelihood of AHTR.

Step 1: Initial screen

The initial screen was designed to account for the lack of specificity of certain criteria in the QHS case definition. For example, the QHS case definition mentions that AHTR can be characterized by the following: (1) an increase in LDH levels, (2) a decrease in haptoglobin levels and (3) an increase in indirect bilirubin levels [8]. However, no threshold is specified for these changes. For these indicators, recipients exhibiting any change consistent with AHTR were thus conservatively classified as candidate cases.

The QHS case definition additionally mentions that AHTR can be characterized by a decrease or unsatisfactory increase in Hb levels [8], without specifying any threshold. For this indicator, we thus conservatively classified recipients exhibiting any decrease in Hb levels or an increase $\leq 10 \text{ g/L}$ (i.e., the expected increase for a non-haemorrhagic adult transfused with one RBC unit) [9] as candidate cases.

For certain indicators, only pre- or post-transfusion data were available. Continuous or categorical indicators were not considered in data interpretation if only pre-transfusion data were available. Continuous indicators (e.g., biomarker levels) were considered as inconclusive if only post-transfusion data were available, because the unavailability of pretransfusion results makes it impossible to assess causality with transfusion. Categorical indicators (e.g., positive vs. negative DAT) were considered as normal if only a post-transfusion result inconsistent with AHTR was available, and as inconclusive if only a post-transfusion result consistent with AHTR was available (as the abnormal result could be due to another pre-existing condition).

Categorical indicators that were abnormal pre- and posttransfusion were not considered to be potentially indicative of AHTR, as these were likely due to another condition.

Step 2: Review of candidate cases

While highly sensitive, the initial screen lacked specificity, hence the need for the clinical judgement of two haematologists (C.L. and N.R.) in Step 2. It was planned that a third haematologist would be consulted to resolve any disagreement between the two haematologists (but this situation did not occur). Reviewers exercised their clinical judgement to assess the likelihood of AHTR considering the full set of available indicators—a process similar to that used by the QHS.

RESULTS

Donors

One donor was initially typed as Group B and eight donors as Group O (Table 2). At a subsequent donation, the automated platform

Vox Sanguinis

failed to adequately detect anti-A1 in the blood of these donors, thereby generating typing discrepancies that were initially confirmed by manual serologic testing (Table S1).

These discrepancies were then resolved through sequencing of the ABO locus. All donors were carriers of the $ABO^*A3.01$ allele (Table 2). Eight donors had this allele in conjunction with various O alleles containing the c.261delG deletion (yielding an A₃O phenotype) and one in conjunction with the typical $ABO^*B.01$ allele (yielding an A₃B phenotype).

These donors gave a total of 93 packed RBC units from 2002 to 2020, including 82 that were transfused to Group O or B recipients and one transfused to a recipient who underwent SCT, for a total of 83 transfused RBC units transfused across 46 hospitals (Table 2 and Figure 1). The 10 other RBC units were either transfused to compatible Group A or AB recipients or were discarded by the hospital blood bank for various reasons. For 57 of these 83 transfusions, data were available on further compatibility testing performed at the hospital blood bank, and no unexpected incompatibilities were detected by immediate spin (for 25 transfusions), anti-human globulin crossmatch (for 23 transfusions) or electronic crossmatch (for 9 transfusions). Moreover, 39 donations were subject to confirmatory typing at the hospital blood bank, and no typing discrepancy was noted.

TABLE 2 ABO genotype and ABO phenotype of included donors.

Recipient outcomes

These 83 RBC units were transfused to 81 unique recipients, including 2 recipients who received two RBC units (Figure 1; Table S2 for outcomes of all recipients). Of these, 53 recipients (65.4%) had interpretable data, and their AHTR indicators were analysed in Step 1 (see Table S3 for outcomes of recipients with interpretable data).

Step 1: Initial screen

Following the initial screen, 24 (45.3%) recipients exhibited no evidence of AHTR (Figure 1). The remaining 29 recipients had \geq 1 potentially abnormal or inconclusive AHTR indicator and were considered as candidate cases in Step 2 (Table 3).

Step 2: Review of candidate cases

Overall, there was no conclusive evidence of serious AHTR in these 29 recipients. Among those with an unsatisfactory increase

	ABO genotype		ABO phenotype		RBC units transf	used to
Donor #	Allele 1	Allele 2	Previous donation(s)	Last donation (before deferral due to weak ABO subgroup)	Group O or B recipients	Recipients who underwent SCT
1	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.01	0	A ₃ O	11	0
2	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.67	0	A ₃ O	3	0
3	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.26	0	A ₃ O	2	0
4	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.01	0	A ₃ O	2	0
5	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.75	0	A ₃ O	4	0
6	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.01	0	A ₃ O	18	0
7	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.68	0	A ₃ O	5	1
8	ABO*A3.01	ABO*0.01.01	0	A ₃ O	35	0
9	ABO*A3.01	ABO*B.01	В	A ₃ B	2	0

Abbreviations: RBC, red blood cells; SCT, stem cell transplant.



FIGURE 1 Flowchart illustrating the analytical process. AHTR, acute haemolytic transfusion reaction; RBC, red blood cells.

S
Š
۳ ا
in
ē
80
E
ıае
4
<u>=</u> .
ള്
Jai
ð
ą
b
e Le
ē
ō
es,
as
U av
at∈
lid
pu
ca
ВU
ē
an
b
ş
sel
ğ
ě
/er
3
SIC
atc
dic
Ë.
Ę
tic
g
P
uo
ısi.
sfL
an
tr
tic
Ň
Ĕ
aei
Ë
Jte
۲ ۲
4
0
Ш
Ш
8
.∢
-

		Change				Direct antiglobulin test ^c					
		in Hb Iavels	Reported		Hantoelohin		Immunoglobulin		Plasma	Total hiliruhin ^b	Indirect hiliruhin ^b
	Recipient ID	(g/L) ^a	reaction	rdh (u/l) ^b	levels (g/L)	Polyclonal	G-specific	C3-specific	appearance	(hmol/L)	(hmol/L)
Decrease or	1	4-	No	I	I	1	I	I	I	I	I
unsatisfactory	2	4	No	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	I
Increase $(N=15)$	т	0 -	Yes	170 to 174 ^d	NA to 1.91 ^d	- to NA	I	I	NA to Normal	12 to 11 ^d	I
	4	$^{-1}$	No	I	I	1	I	I	I	62.3 to NA	24.9 to NA
	5	1	No	92 to NA	I	1	I	I	Normal to NA	6.0 to NA	3.7 to NA
	9	С	No	I	I	1	I	ı	I	I	I
	7	e	No	I	I	1	I	I	Normal to Normal	108 to 120	NA to 28
	8	5	No	I	I	1	1	I	1	ı	1
	6	9	No	112 to NA	I	1	1	I	I	18 to NA	1
	10	7	No	NA to 139	NA to 3.21	NA to	ı	I	I	NA to 28	I
	11	7	NA	I	I	- to NA	I	I	Normal to NA	4 to NA	3 to NA
	12	œ	No	I	I	1	I	I	I	I	I
	13	Ø	No	I	I	I	I	I	I	12 to 18	I
	14	6	No	313 to NA	I	I	I	I	I	I	I
	15	6	No	219 to NA	I	I	I	I	I	9 to NA	I
Satisfactory	16	10	No	I	I	I	I	I	I	92.9 to 101.7	I
increase in Hb	18	10	No	209 to 250	I	- to -	I	I	Normal to NA	5.6 to 11.0	I
levels ($N = 14$)	23	13	No	730 to 463	I	- to NA	I	I	I	NA to 6.1	I
	25	18	No	I	NA to 1.11	I	I	I	NA to weakly icteric	NA to 25	NA to 11
	30	20	No	I	I	I	I	I	Normal to Normal	NA to 9.1	NA to 5.6
	33	22	No	NA to 157	I	1	I	I	Normal to NA	7 to NA	I
	37 ^e	25	No	843 to 1150	1	+ to +	+ to +	+ to +	lcteric to Icteric	43 to 65	35 to 59
	39	26	Yes	1	T	- to -	I	1	Normal to Normal	1	1
	40	26	No	581 to 706	I	1	I	I	Normal to NA	8 to 17	I
	41	26	No	NA to 458	I	I	I	I	T	NA to 21	I
	42	27	NA	NA to 575	I	1	I	I	Normal to NA	NA to 11.9	I

858 Vox Sanguinis Sold International Society of Blood Translational

htin iod	וונוומבמ
ŝ	
с Ц	0

Image Image <th< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>Change</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Direct antiglobulin test^c</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></th<>			Change				Direct antiglobulin test ^c					
Geopletion 1 Oracion 1 Option 1			in Hb levels	Reported		Hantoelohin		Immunoglobulin		Dlacma	Total hiliruhin ^b	Indirect hiliruhin ^b
44 32 Non-altonational Advantage <		Recipient ID	(g/L) ^a	reaction	rdh (u/l) ^b	levels (g/L)	Polycional	G-specific	C3-specific	appearance	(hmol/L)	(hmol/L)
aligned B No		44	32	No	I	I	1	I	I	I	NA to 19	I
20 20 00 2		48	38	No	I	I	1	I	I	Normal to Normal	8 to 9	I
Intermetation according to initial accening criteria (Step 1) Nermai indicator Remain indicator Inclusive withour market and Inclusive withour market and Inclusive without market and Inclusive without market and Interpretable for given indicator Inclusive without and accesses in the lowest or an increase. Nor nata available Remain and inclusive market and interpretable data for this indicator Meret Hermoglobinemails is not eithe and increases and or this indicator Remain and market and inclusive access hall interpretable data for this indicator Remain and increases in the Needs or an increase story gL was considered as a potential and an extension. The story of transition and an available Register of reactivity advint an indicator For this recipient 473 had a positive DAT, and the dages or fractivity without and indicator. Tory we can also be an increase story by the hospital, Tory we transfused to the same excipient. The RSC units were transfused to the same excipient. The RSC units were transfused to the same excipient and a store transfused to the market and the dages of reactivity the market and and a store transfused to the same excipient 473 had an positive DAT, and the dages of reactivity the market and an available. Tory we transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused. The need contract values were while the market considered normal by the hospital, the RC units were transfused to the same excipient. The RSC units were transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient. The RSC units were transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same excipient 473 had a positive transfused to the same recipient. The RSC units were tra		50	42	No	I	I	1	I	I	I	22.7 to 43.8	I
Normal indicator Determinary abnormal indicator Determinary abnormal indicator Norma examples or only pre-transfusion measurement available for given indicator Norma examples or only pre-transfusion measurement available for given indicator Set Set 1 ciferia avail of eace or an increase a 10 for this indicator. Per Set 1 ciferia avail of eace or an increase a 10 for this indicator Cortor recipient 37 and a positive for an increase a 10 for transition. For this recipient 37 and a positive for an increase and posi-transfusion. For this recipient 37 and a positive for the same recipient. For this recipient 37 and a positive for the same recipient.	Interpretation accor	ding to initial sci	reening cri	iteria (Step 1)								
Dentially abromal indicato: Inconclusive owing to unvariability of pre-transitision measurement No measurement available, or only pre-transitision measurement available, or the condition because non-the dear for this indicator. Abbreviations: Ho haemogloin: Di, dentifier: DH, lactate dehafongenses: NA, more available, or an increase s10 g/L, was considered as a potentially about available. "Fee Step 1 circleria any decrease in Hb levels, or an increase s10 g/L, was considered as a potentially about 137 Had a positive DAT. "Only veription: H37 Had a positive DAT, and the degree or frastivity diff on charge pre-ard dos's transition. "Fee this recipient, the exact numerical values were within the range considered as a potentially about 147 Had a positive DAT. "Only veription: He exact numerical values were within the range considered has pre-ard dos's transition. "For this recipient, the exact numerical values were within the range considered has pre-ard dos's transition. "For this recipient, the exact numerical values were writhin the range considered has pre-ard dos's transition.	Normal indicator											
Inconclusive owing to unavailability of pre-transfusion measurement No measurement available or only pre-transfusion measurement available for given indicator Abbre intervent and an or shown, where are not the randface areas had interpreted ted at or this indicator. The fact any decrease in HD levels, or an increase s10 g/L vas considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. "Per Step 1 criteria, any decrease in HD levels, or an increase s10 g/L vas considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. "Der Step 1 criteria, any decrease in HD levels, or an increase s10 g/L vas considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. "Der Step 1 criteria any decrease in HD levels, or an increase s10 g/L vas considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. "Der Step 1 criteria any decrease in HD levels, or an increase s10 g/L vas considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. "Der Step 1 criteria any decrease in HD levels, or an increase s10 g/L vas considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. "Der Step 1 criteria any decrease in HD levels, or an increase s10 g/L vas considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. "To this recipiont, the exact numerical values were within the range considered normal by the hospital. "To this vere transfused to the same recipient.	Potentially abnorma	l indicator										
No measurement available, or only pre-transfusion measurement available for given indicator. More: Haemoglobinaemia is not shown, because none of the candidate cases had interpretable data for this indicator. The Partier any increase and the provingence of the measurement and the provingence of the measurement and the ords. The Step 1 citricity any increase in the lived's, or an increase a 20 bus considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. The Step 1 citricity any increase was considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. The Step 1 citricity any increase was considered as a potentially abnormal indicator. The Step 1 citricity any increase was considered normal by the hospital. The RBC units were transfused to the same recipient.	Inconclusive owing t	o unavailability c	of pre-trans	sfusion measure	ement							
Note: Haemoglobinaemia is not shown, because none of the candidate cases had interpretable data for this indicator. Abbreviations: Ha. haemoglobin. Lieartifier: Lieartifier Di Ranting Carlo Ca	No measurement av.	ailable, or only pr	re-transfus	sion measureme	ent available for	given indicator						
	Note: Haemoglobinaer Abbreviations: Hb, hae ^a Per Step 1 criteria, an ^b Per Step 1 criteria, an ^c Only recipient #37 ha ^d For this recipient, the ^e Two RBC units were ¹	nia is not shown, smoglobin; ID, id, y increase in Hb y increase was c d a positive DAT exact numerical transfused to the transfused to the	because r entifier; LC onsidered. , and the c values we same reci	ione of the can DH, lactate deh as a potentially degree of reacti ipient.	didate cases hac ydrogenase; NA 0 g/L, was consin abnormal indica wity did not chan inge considered	i interpretable d , not available. dered as a poter ator for AHTR. nge pre- and po normal by the h	ata for this indicator. tially abnormal indicator. st-transfusion. ospital.					

or decrease in Hb levels (N = 15), 11 had no other abnormal or inconclusive indicator (Table 3), which is insufficient to ascertain AHTR. Recipient #7 additionally exhibited an increase in total bilirubin levels, but pre-transfusion levels appeared elevated. Recipient #10 had three inconclusive indicators, but available posttransfusion results appeared within normal range. Recipient #13 exhibited a marginal increase in total or indirect bilirubin, with post-transfusion levels seemingly within normal range. Recipient #3 was the only patient in this group who experienced a QHSreported transfusion reaction (Table 3). More detailed outcomes were obtained through direct interaction with the treating physician who completed a chart review. This was a Group O, elderly male patient admitted for lower gastrointestinal bleeding, oxygen desaturation and a suspected pneumonia for which intravenous antibiotics had been initiated. Besides a (non-significant) decrease in Hb levels, all other available indicators were normal, including LDH levels, haptoglobin levels, plasma appearance and total bilirubin levels (Table 3). Based on this information, the treating physician, the two reviewers and the TSO agreed that the reported transfusion reaction was a febrile non-haemolytic transfusion reaction.

Among candidate cases with a satisfactory increase in Hb levels (N = 14), one (recipient #39) experienced a QHS-reported transfusion reaction without any other potentially abnormal indicator (Table 3); the cause was a minor allergic reaction. Six recipients (#16, #18, #37, #40, #48 and #50) exhibited increased LDH levels, or increased total or indirect bilirubin levels. However, the patterns of these increases were generally not consistent with AHTR: Pre-transfusion levels were sometimes elevated (LDH: for recipients #37, #40 and #18; bilirubin: for recipients #16 and #37), and some increases were modest or within normal range (bilirubin: for recipients #18, #40 and #48). Only recipient #50 exhibited a meaningful increase in total bilirubin levels, but the concomitant (and substantial) increase in Hb levels was not consistent with AHTR. Several recipients (#23, #25, #30, #33, #41, #42 and #44) had one or more inconclusive indicators, but all exhibited strong increases in Hb levels that were not consistent with AHTR. Only recipient #37 had a positive DAT, and the degree of reactivity did not change pre- and post-transfusion. Further, the eluate of this recipient did not contain anti-A, and the recipient had autoimmune haemolytic anaemia.

Of note, recipients #57, #79 and #80 died within 24 h posttransfusion (Table S2). No other data were available for these units, except for recipient #79 who had seemingly normal post-transfusion Hb levels (115 g/L).

DISCUSSION

In this case series, none of the 53 recipients with interpretable data exhibited conclusive evidence of serious AHTR following transfusion with A_3O or A_3B blood. Only two recipients experienced a transfusion reaction that was reported to the haemovigilance system (i.e., QHS), and both reactions had a known or plausible cause other than AHTR. No transfusion-related death was reported to

QHS. Following the initial screen (i.e., Step 1), 29 recipients exhibited ≥1 potentially abnormal or inconclusive indicator. However, potentially abnormal pre- versus post-transfusion changes appeared modest, remained within normal range, were insufficient to ascertain AHTR or were consistent with a pre-existing condition unrelated to AHTR. To the best of our knowledge, this is the largest case series of ABO incompatibilities involving weak ABO donors.

Nonetheless, our study does not rule out the possibility that ABO incompatibilities involving an A_3 donor elicits an asymptomatic immune response (e.g., weakly positive DAT alone, without haemolysis), which may not have been recognized by the treating physician [1]. Mild AHTR-related symptoms might also have been (mistakenly) attributed to other pre-existing conditions, and hence not be reported in medical charts. However, if such symptoms manifested, there were no reported serious adverse reactions to the recipients.

Taken alone, the absence of transfusion reactions reported to the OHS is reassuring given the robustness of this haemovigilance system established in 2000. Over 20 years, the annual number of reports to the QHS has been relatively stable (i.e., ~2500-2900 reports/ vear) [10]. In 2019, there were 989.7 events per 100.000 units (i.e., 2968 reports for 299,879 units transfused) reported to the QHS, compared with 184.1 per 100,000 units (i.e., 4248 reports for 2,306,983 units) reported to the United Kingdom-based Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT) [10, 11]. This comparison suggests that awareness of transfusion reactions is relatively high in Québec, so that a clinically significant AHTR is likely to be noticed and reported to the QHS. The rate of QHS-reported ABO incompatibilities was 7.2 per 100,000 RBC units transfused in 2000, fell to 0.5 in 2009, and has been stable since then (i.e., 0.5-1.4 per 100,000 units from 2009 to 2019) [10]. TSOs use standardized case definitions and submit forms to report suspected transfusion reactions to the QHS.

AHTR case definitions vary across jurisdictions, but the QHS case definition [8] is largely similar to that of the US-based Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) [12] and the UK-based SHOT [13]. Nearly all laboratory measures included in the QHS definition are also included in the CDC or SHOT definition. The only exception is spherocytosis, which is included in the CDC and SHOT definitions but not in that of the QHS. Other country-specific elements include decreased fibrinogen (CDC only), plasma discolouration consistent with haemolysis (CDC only) and a positive crossmatch (SHOT only). Overall, these differences are relatively minor and suggest our results may be extrapolated to case definitions used in many other jurisdictions.

All ABO-sequenced donors were carriers of the ABO*A3.01 allele, consistent with other studies in which A_3 was the most frequent weak A subgroup [5, 14–16]. Since 2018, 40 individuals analysed at our Immunohematology Reference Laboratory had a discordant ABO phenotype, and 23 (57.5%) were carriers of the ABO*A3.01 allele (Figure S1). Of note, A_3 (along with A_x) ranks among the weak A subgroups with the highest levels of A antigen expression [17, 18]. Therefore, the apparent absence of serious AHTR observed in our study likely applies to other weak A subgroups with lower A antigen levels.

This study is subject to some limitations. First, owing to the retrospective nature of our study and the fact that some transfusions occurred 20 years ago across 30 hospitals, a large number of laboratory measures were unavailable or incomplete, which hindered data interpretation. Missing data may be due to lack of testing-in which case AHTR was likely not suspected—or data trimming after the mandatory 5-year retention period [19]. Second, data on AHTR-related symptoms were not collected. However, collecting data on AHTRrelated symptoms was deemed too burdensome for TSOs amid the COVID-19 pandemic and a severe staff shortage in Québec. Further, these data would have been of limited use since (1) AHTR-related symptoms are unspecific and dispensable for diagnosis per the QHS and SHOT case definitions [8, 13], and (2) clinically overt signs of AHTR should have prompted further laboratory testing. Third, data on recipients' medical conditions were unavailable. The recipient population included in this study is, therefore, likely heterogeneous and may include trauma patients and patients with a chronic condition who regularly need blood transfusions (e.g., for sickle cell disease). Many of these health conditions may cause abnormal laboratory test results seemingly consistent with AHTR, in which case our approach would overestimate the incidence of AHTR. In this regard, the apparent absence of conclusive signs of serious AHTR is reassuring. Fourth, the cause of death of the three recipients could not be ascertained based on the data available to us. Lastly, our ability to ascertain AHTR was limited by the amount of missing data, which we addressed by categorizing some indicators as 'inconclusive'. Albeit imperfect, this handling of missing data was complemented by clinicians' reports to the QHS, which should be generated each time a transfusion reaction is suspected. The QHS is a robust haemovigilance system with a relatively high and stable rate of reporting.

In this case series, no conclusive evidence of serious AHTR was found among ABO-incompatible recipients who were inadvertently transfused with A₃O or A₃B blood. Our results suggest no serious AHTR ensued from these transfusions, although mild or subclinical AHTR cannot be ruled out. Based on the present analysis, Héma-Québec obtained approval from the national regulator (i.e., Health Canada) not to notify hospitals when a donor with a weak, discordant ABO subgroup is identified. These donors are redirected to plasma for fractionation and are no longer eligible to donate whole blood.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the transfusion safety officers who participated in data collection and the other medical directors for their input on data interpretation. The authors would also like to thank Maryse St-Louis, Josée Lavoie, Geneviève Laflamme, Mathieu Drouin and Carl Simard for the sequencing workup. The authors also thank Marie-Hélène Robert for contacting hospital centres for additional follow-up. This study was funded by Héma-Québec. C.L., A.G. and N.R. designed the study. C.L., J.B. and G.A.L. acquired the data. C.L., G.A.L and N.R. analysed the data. C.L., G.A.L., S.R. and N.R. interpreted the data. S.R. wrote the manuscript. All authors reviewed the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest related to this manuscript.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that supports the findings of this study are available in the supplementary material of this article.

ORCID

Gabriel André Leiva-Torres b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8144-1443

Samuel Rochette D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0832-0792

REFERENCES

- Panch SR, Montemayor-Garcia C, Klein HG. Hemolytic transfusion reactions. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:150–62.
- Delaney M, Wendel S, Bercovitz RS, Cid J, Cohn C, Dunbar NM, et al. Transfusion reactions: prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Lancet. 2016;388:2825–36.
- Levy JH, McKee A. Chapter 30–bleeding, hemostasis, and transfusion medicine. In: Sidebotham D, Mckee A, Gillham M, Levy JH, editors. Cardiothoracic critical care. Philadelphia, PA: Butterworth-Heinemann; 2007. p. 437–60.
- Comité de Biovigilance du Québec. Rapport 2016-2017. [cited 2022 Jan 11]. Available from: https://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/msss/ fichiers/2020/20-933-03W.pdf
- Thakral B, Saluja K, Bajpai M, Sharma RR, Marwaha N. Importance of weak ABO subgroups. Lab Med. 2005;36:32–4.
- Schmidt PJ, Nancarrow JF, Morrison EG, Chase C. A hemolytic reaction due to the transfusion of Ax blood. J Lab Clin Med. 1959;54:38–41.
- Goebel M, Halm-Heinrich I, Parkner A, Rink G, Heim MU, Bugert P. A novel ABO gene variant leads to discrepant results in forward/reverse and molecular blood grouping. Transfus Med Hemother. 2013;40:454–8.
- Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec. Guide de déclaration des événements indésirables associés à la transfusion de produits sanguins. 2017.
- Choosing Wisely Canada. Why give two when one will do?—A toolkit for reducing unnecessary red blood cell transfusions in hospitals. 2019.
- Nawej KI, Lambert G, Unité Surveillance, Évaluation de Risque et Contrôle des Maladies Infectieuses, Direction des Risques Biologiques. Surveillance des erreurs et réactions transfusionnelles au Québec. 2019 [cited 2023 Feb 6]. Available from: https://www.inspq.qc. ca/sites/default/files/publications/2860-surveillance-erreurs-rectionstransfusionnelles-2019.pdf
- Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT). Annual Shot Report 2019. [cited 2023 Feb 6]. Available from: https://www.shotuk.org/shotreports/report-summary-and-supplement-2019/
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Healthcare Safety Network Biovigilance Component Hemovigilance Module Surveillance Protocol. 2021.
- Serious Hazards of Transfusion. Definitions of current SHOT reporting categories & what to report. 2021 [cited 2022 Jan 11]. Available from: https://www.shotuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ myimages/SHOT-Definitions-V6-19.10.21.pdf
- Garretta M, Muller A, Gener J, Matte C, Moullec J. Reliability in automatic determination of the ABO group by the groupamatic system. Vox Sang. 1974;27:141–55.
- Kaur G, Kaur P, Basu S, Kaur R. Blood group discrepancies at a tertiary care centre-analysis and resolution. Int J Lab Hematol. 2014; 36:481-7.

- 862 Vox Sanguinis SST International Society of Blood Transfersion
- Yamamoto F, McNeil PD, Yamamoto M, Hakomori S, Harris T, Judd WJ, et al. Molecular genetic analysis of the ABO blood group system: 1. Weak subgroups: A3 and B3 alleles. Vox Sang, 1993;64:116-9.
- Cartron JP, Gerbal A, Hughes-Jones NC, Salmon C. Weak A' phenotypes: relationship between red cell agglutinability and antigen site density. Immunology. 1974;27:723–7.
- Heier HE, Namork E, Čalkovská Z, Sandin R, Kornstad L. Expression of A antigens on erythrocytes of weak blood group A subgroups. Vox Sang. 1994;66:231–6.
- Québec Publications. M-9, r. 20.3–Règlement sur les dossiers, les lieux d'exercice et la cessation d'exercice d'un médecin. [cited 2022 July 13]. Available from: https://www.legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/ fr/document/rc/M-9,%20r.%2020.3

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Latour C, Gaussen A, Beaudoin J, Leiva-Torres GA, Rochette S, Robitaille N. Incidence of acute haemolytic transfusion reaction among ABO-incompatible recipients transfused with A_3 blood: A case series. Vox Sang. 2023;118:854–62. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13504

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Plasma resuscitation improves and restores intestinal microcirculatory physiology following haemorrhagic shock

Jessica E. Schucht^{1,2} | Brian G. Harbrecht^{1,2} | Logan M. Bond² | William B. Risinger² | Paul J. Matheson^{1,2} | Jason W. Smith²

¹Louisville Robley Rex Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Louisville, Kentucky, USA ²Department of Surgery, University of Louisville, Louisville, Kentucky, USA

Correspondence

Jessica E. Schucht, 550 S. Jackson Street, Ambulatory Care Building, 2nd Floor, Louisville, KY 40292, USA. Email: jeschu03@louisville.edu

Funding information The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Intestinal ischaemia-reperfusion injury following resuscitated haemorrhagic shock (HS) leads to endothelial and microcirculatory dysfunction and intestinal barrier breakdown. Although vascular smooth muscle machinery remains intact, microvascular vasoconstriction occurs secondary to endothelial cell dysfunction, resulting in further ischaemia and organ injury. Resuscitation with fresh frozen plasma (FFP) improves blood flow, stabilizes the endothelial glycocalyx and alleviates organ injury. We postulate these improvements correlate with decreased tissue CO2 concentrations, improved microvascular oxygenation and attenuation of intestinal microvascular endothelial dysfunction.

Materials and Methods: Male Sprague-Dawley rats were randomly assigned to groups (n = 8/group): (1) sham, (2) HS (40% mean arterial blood pressure [MAP], 60 min) + crystalloid resuscitation (CR) (shed blood saline) and (3) HS + FFP (shed blood + FFP). MAP, heart rate (HR), ileal perfusion, pO_2 and pCO_2 were measured at intervals until 4 h post-resuscitation (post-RES). At 4 h post-RES, the ileum was rinsed in situ with Krebs solution. Topical acetylcholine and then nitroprusside were applied for 10 min each. Serum was obtained, and after euthanasia, tissues were harvested and snap-frozen in liquid N_2 and stored at $-80^{\circ}C$.

Results: FFP resuscitation resulted in sustained ileal perfusion as well as rapid sustained return to baseline microvascular pO_2 and pCO_2 values when compared to CR (p < 0.05). Endothelial function was preserved relative to sham in the FFP group but not in the CR group (p < 0.05).

Conclusion: FFP-based resuscitation improves intestinal perfusion immediately following resuscitation, which correlates with improved tissue oxygenation and decreased tissue CO₂ levels. CR resulted in significant damage to endothelial vasodilation response to acetylcholine, while FFP preserved this function.

Keywords

fresh frozen plasma, haemorrhagic shock, microcirculation, physiology, resuscitation, transfusion, trauma

This study was presented at Eastern Association for the Surgery of Trauma, 35th EAST Annual Scientific Assembly, Austin, Texas, January 11-15, 2022.

Highlights

- Haemorrhagic shock (HS) results in derangements of the intestinal microcirculation which are significantly improved with plasma resuscitation.
- The improved microcirculatory flow resulting from plasma transfusion correlates with improved tissue oxygenation and decreased tissue CO₂.
- Plasma transfusion and resuscitation restore normal physiology of the intestinal microcirculatory environment following HS, possibly allowing for less intestinal barrier breakdown and systemic physiological derangements.

INTRODUCTION

Microvascular alterations are an integral part of the pathophysiology of haemorrhagic shock (HS). Just as the microcirculatory flow continues to be diminished following restoration of central haemodynamics, decreased oxygenation of the microcirculation can occur despite normal global oxygenation [1]. Under normal physiological conditions, the intestinal mucosa cells experience significant blood flow variations and tissue oxygenation. Intestinal epithelial cells frequently exist at a low pO₂, termed 'physiological hypoxia'. Countercurrent oxygen exchange from arterioles to venules allows for maintenance of the high-energy requirement of the intestinal barrier during fluctuations in oxygen supply [2–4]. However, this compensatory mechanism cannot overcome prolonged alterations in microvascular flow, such as in HS, resulting in microvascular ischaemia and subsequent barrier breakdown.

Endothelial dysfunction and interstitial oedema further exacerbate this microvascular ischaemia [5]. Previous studies have demonstrated the positive effects of plasma resuscitation on the endothelial glycocalyx, intestinal microcirculation, enterocyte damage and the intestinal barrier [6–8]. We hypothesized that fresh frozen plasma (FFP) resuscitation would improve intestinal microcirculatory flow, increase intestinal pO₂, decrease intestinal pCO₂ and improve endothelial function following HS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All studies were performed at the Robley Rex Veterans Affairs Medical Center in Louisville, Kentucky, an American Association for the Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC) approved facility. The protocol was approved by the Research and Development Committee, Research Animal Safety Subcommittee and Research Safety Subcommittee. Male Sprague-Dawley rats were housed in the Veterinary Medicine Unit, allowed food and water ad libitum and were acclimated on a 12-h light/dark cycle for at least 7 days prior to use. Daily body weights (BWs) were obtained, and protocols were performed when BW ranged between 250 and 300 g. Induction with ketamine/D-xylazine anaesthesia was performed via intraperitoneal (ip) injection (0.1 mL/100 g BW, 91 mg/kg and 9.1 mg/kg ip) and maintenance was via subcutaneous (sc) ketamine injections (0.1 mL/100 g BW) as needed to maintain the surgical plane of anaesthesia. Body temperatures were regulated using a servo-controlled heating pad and a rectal thermistor to remain at $37.0 \pm 1.0^{\circ}$ C.

ARRIVE 2.0 guidelines

The following statements pertain to the ARRIVE guidelines 2.0. There were 32 Sprague-Dawley outbred rats used for the three experimental groups (n = 8/group), which were sham haemorrhage (no HS, no RES). HS plus resuscitation with shed blood and saline and HS plus shed blood plus FFP. The animals were randomly assigned to groups. An additional 12 rats were used to obtain FFP. The sample size was determined by power analysis for analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the laser Doppler flow (LDF) in the terminal ileum as the primary variable. All animals in the experimental groups are included in the study. Randomization was performed by coin toss: first toss heads = sham, second toss heads = HS + crystalloid resuscitation (CR) and second toss tails = HS + FFP. Animals were added to groups until the n = 8needed for the group were completed. Blinding was not possible since the investigator performing the study had to know HS versus sham and CR versus FFP. All rats were anesthetized to a surgical plane of anaesthesia prior to and during the protocol. The ARRIVE recommended set was referenced during the drafting of this paper.

FFP donor surgery

The medial neck site for surgery was shaved, and 4% chlorhexidine scrub was used for sterilization. After loss of blink and withdrawal reflexes, a 1-cm incision was performed for surgical access to the left carotid artery, which was cannulated with PE50 (polyethylene [PE]) tubing (Intramedic PE50 tubing, Clay Adams Division of Becton Dickinson & Co., Parsippany, NJ, USA) that had been soaked in 1 mL NS with 10 IU heparin/mL. Blood was withdrawn under deep surgical anaesthesia. In a green top tube, the blood was spun at 2500 rpm for 15 min. The plasma was slowly pipetted into a sterile orange top tube and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The FFP was stored in an ultra-freezer (-80°) for no more than 10 days prior to use.

Animal experimental groups surgical preparation

After the loss of blink and withdrawal reflexes, the rats underwent tracheostomy (Intramedic PE240 tubing, Clay Adams Division of Becton Dickinson & Co., Parsippany, NJ, USA), and cannulation of the right carotid artery (PE50), jugular vein (PE90), left femoral artery

(PE50) and left femoral vein (PE50). Rats spontaneously breathed room air throughout. PE lines were coated with heparin (10 IU/mL) prior to placement, and lines were filled with normal saline (NS). Mean arterial blood pressure (MAP) and heart rate (HR) were continuously monitored (carotid artery) throughout the experimental protocol (BPA-400, DigiMed Signal Analyzers, Louisville, KY, USA). Lines were also used for haemorrhage, resuscitation, blood sampling and administration of intravenous (iv) fluids.

Experimental groups

Rats were randomly assigned to groups with n = 8 rats per group. Three groups were performed in this experiment: sham, CR and FFP. Sham rats had similar surgical preparation and manipulation but had no HS or RES. CR rats were haemorrhaged to 40% of baseline (BL) MAP for 60 min and resuscitated with shed blood plus two equal volumes of warmed NS. FFP rats received shed blood plus one equal volume of FFP (see below).

HS model

HS was initiated by the withdrawal of blood (1 mL/min) into a 10 mL syringe that had been prewarmed and coated with heparin (10 IU) before use. The haemorrhage syringe was placed on the heating pad $(37.0 \pm 1.0^{\circ} C)$ and frequently turned to prevent clot formation. Withdrawal of blood was continued until MAP decreased to 40% of BL MAP. Further withdrawal or reinfusion of blood was performed to maintain a 40% BL MAP for the duration of 60 min HS period (Figure 1).

CR protocol

The volume of blood withdrawn was recorded and the blood was returned over 5 min. For example, if a final total of 7.5 mL of blood

was withdrawn during HS, the blood was returned using a syringe pump at the rate of 1.5 mL/min. After the 5-min blood return, two equal volumes of NS were administered over 25 min. If 7.5 mL of blood was haemorrhaged, 15 mL of warmed NS was infused over 25 min at a rate of 0.6 mL/min. The total period for RES was 30 min.

Vox Sanguinis

FFP resuscitation protocol

On the day of the experiment, the FFP was thawed in warm water to 37°C before use. One equal volume of FFP to match the volume of withdrawn blood was administered over 25 min via the femoral vein cannula after the withdrawn blood reinfusion was complete. At the completion of the injection, MAP and HR were compared with the initial BL levels. MAP and HR were considered stable (i.e., less than 10% variability from BL) for all HS/FFP rats.

Measurement of ileal perfusion

Ileal perfusion was measured by LDF using a Perimed 4001 system (Perimed AB, Järfälla, Sweden) using an integrated LDF probe (seven sites). The integrating flow probe was held in place on the ileum near the site where pO_2 and pCO_2 were measured and was kept in place until the measurements were stable. The perfusion was recorded for 5 min at each time point and averaged.

Measurement of ileum pO₂ and pCO₂ levels

Through a 3-cm midline laparotomy, the terminal ileum was identified by moving back from the ileocecal junction approximately 6 cm. A 4-cm section of terminal ileum was sutured (5-O silk) to a small piece of soft polyvinyl chloride in situ. pO_2 and pCO_2 levels were measured by microelectrodes held onto the surface of the bowel. Micromanipulators attached to a wooden base were used to manoeuvre the





microelectrodes into place. Increased pCO_2 is thought to be a reliable representation of oxygen availability and metabolic activity within the intestine. pO_2 was measured by DO-166MAT-1 microelectrode using DO-166MT-1 amplifier and DO-166MT-1 attenuator box (Lazar Research Laboratories, Inc., Los Angeles, CA, USA) and Jenco Model 6230N mV metre, and data were recorded on an ASUS laptop computer (Arrow DO and Arrow ION software, Jenco Instruments, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). pCO_2 was measured with GS-136CO-1 micro-CO₂ electrode, amplifier and metre. pO_2 and pCO_2 electrodes were standardized at 0% and 100% CO₂ medical gas cylinders. Readings were made at each time point over 5 min and averaged. Calibration was checked against the gas standards at the end of the protocol.

866

Evaluation of endothelial function following HS/RES

The ileum was washed in situ with Krebs solution (no glucose, 37.0° , pH = 7.40), followed by topical acetylcholine (10^{-5} M) and nitroprusside (NP, 10^{-4} M) for 10 min each. LDF was measured following each of these applications.

Tissue oedema

Tissue samples from lung and intestine were harvested, washed, blotted dry, weighed for a BL wet weight and then dried in an oven for 3 weeks. Weekly weights were obtained until stable, and tissue dry



FIGURE 2 Central haemodynamics during baseline (BL), haemorrhagic shock (HS), resuscitation (RES) and post-RES (PR). (a) Heart rate (HR) in beats per minute. (b) Mean arterial pressure (MAP) in mmHg. Values are mean ± SD. CR, crystalloid resuscitation; FFP, fresh frozen plasma.

Syndecan-1 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

lleum and serum samples were obtained at the completion of the protocol, rinsed in cold NS, blotted dry on gauze, snap-frozen in liquid N₂ and stored at -80° C until the day of the ELISA protocol. A rat specific syndecan-1 ELISA kit was used (LSBio, Seattle, WA, USA). On the day of the protocol, serum and ileum tissue samples were prepared according to the manufacturer's directions.

Statistics

Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), and differences between groups were assessed by one-way or two-way ANOVA. Differences across time points in groups were determined by ANOVA for repeated measures (REMANOVA). The null hypothesis was rejected a priori at p < 0.05. When differences between groups were found, Tukey–Kramer's honestly significant difference test, Bonferroni's test or Dunnett's test was used for post hoc analysis.

RESULTS

Central haemodynamics and LDF

Central haemodynamic values are shown in Figure 2. There were no differences between groups at BL in MAP or HR. Figure 2a shows the

HR in beats per minute (bpm) and Figure 2b shows MAP (mmHg). Both MAP and HR values decreased during the HS period and returned to BL levels throughout the RES and post-RES periods. LDF values as a measure of microvascular perfusion in sham and treatment groups are shown in Figure 3. The decrease to 40% of BL MAP during the HS period resulted in a drop of less than 40% of BL LDF levels (i.e., from greater than 55 at BL to about 15-20 during HS in the CR and FFP groups). During the first 15 min of resuscitation, LDF increased more significantly in the CR group than in the FFP group (64.14 vs. 45.71, p = 0.018). At the end of the 30-min resuscitation period, LDF was improved considerably in the FFP group compared to CR or sham. Sham and CR demonstrated no statistically significant difference at 15 min into resuscitation (R15) to 150 min of post-resuscitation (post-RES150). Throughout the post-RES period, LDF in the CR group continued to decline, despite continued normalized central haemodynamics (Figure 2).

Measurement of ileum pO₂ and pCO₂ levels

Using microelectrodes, pO_2 and pCO_2 levels were measured and compared at protocol time points. Statistical significance was calculated with respect to change from BL values. Figure 4a,b show the average pO_2 and average percent change from BL for the animals in each group respectively (Figure 4). During the haemorrhage period, pO_2 demonstrated a precipitous decrease in both shocked groups. After 15 min of resuscitation, both FFP and CR had improved significantly from the end of the HS period but had not yet reached sham values. After the 30-min resuscitation period, both groups returned to sham values. At 60-min post-RES, the CR group began to show signs of decompensation, significantly different than both sham and FFP groups (p < 0.001 and p = 0.02, respectively). Oxygenation continued



Vox Sanguinis SST International Society 867



868 Vox Sanguinis

to decrease sharply in the CR group, whereas in the FFP group, pO_2 remained stable, if not improved over sham at various points throughout the post-RES period.

pCO₂ levels and change from BL are shown in Figure 5a,b. Baseline values in the sham, FFP and CR groups were not statistically different. Microvascular pCO₂ again progressively increased in both shocked groups throughout the HS period. After 60 min of HS, both CR and FFP demonstrated significant pCO₂ increases from their BL values relative to sham. There was a slight difference between the FFP and CR groups (2.83, p = 0.03). However, this was not thought to impact the overall trend in results. After 15 min of resuscitation, both CR and FFP values had started to decrease towards BL but remained significantly increased

over sham values. CR initially demonstrated a more rapid improvement than the FFP group and showed the lowest pCO₂ value at the end of the resuscitative period. At this time, pCO₂ values steadily increased and were significantly higher than sham beyond 1-h post-RES. FFP values continued to decrease and were substantially lower than sham at the end of the post-resuscitative period (5.40, p < 0.0001).

Evaluation of endothelial function following HS/RES

Endothelial function was evaluated by measuring LDF after the application of acetylcholine (Ach) and then subsequently, sodium



FIGURE 4 pO_2 (a) and change from baseline (BL) pO_2 (b) at each time point, HS (H), RES (R) and post-RES (PR). Values are mean ± SD for (a) and mean ± 95% CI for (b); *p < 0.05 versus sham, *p < 0.05 versus crystalloid resuscitation (CR), *p < 0.05 versus fresh frozen plasma (FFP).

869



FIGURE 5 pCO₂ (a) and change from baseline (BL) pCO₂ (b) at each time point, HS (H), RES (R) and post-RES (PR). Values are mean \pm SD for 5a and mean \pm 95% CI for 5b; *p < 0.05 versus sham, [†]p < 0.05 versus crystalloid resuscitation (CR), [‡]p < 0.05 versus fresh frozen plasma (FFP).

NP (Figure 6). Acetylcholine elicits vasodilation via endothelialdependent pathways, whereas sodium NP, a nitric oxide donor, demonstrates endothelial-independent vasodilation. At BL, as previously mentioned in the LDF results, all groups showed a similar flow. Acetylcholine application resulted in significant increases in inflow in both sham and FFP groups. CR flow did not significantly increase over BL and was considerably lower than both sham and FFP (p < 0.05). There were no statistically significant differences in flow following the application of NP. Tissue oedema was measured by comparing wet to dry weights of both lung and ileal tissue (Figure 7). Both tissues are thought to be adversely affected by interstitial oedema following HS. CR resulted in significantly higher ratios than sham and FFP groups in both tissues measured (p < 0.05). Finally, syndecan-1 levels were measured in serum and ileum tissue (Figure 8). Plasma levels of syndecan-1 in both the CR and FFP groups were significantly increased compared to sham with CR having the largest concentration. Tissue levels of syndecan-1 were lowest in the CR group while FFP concentrations approached the levels noted in the sham animals.



FIGURE 6 Results of laser Doppler flow (LDF) measurements at baseline (BL) and after application of acetylcholine (Ach) and nitroprusside (NP). Values are mean \pm SD; *p < 0.05 versus sham, $^{\dagger}p$ < 0.05 versus crystalloid resuscitation (CR), $^{\ddagger}p$ < 0.05 versus fresh frozen plasma (FFP).

DISCUSSION

This experiment examined various aspects of the intestinal microvasculature to further investigate the effect of HS/RES on the physiology of intestinal microcirculation. As hypothesized, FFP-alleviated signs of microvascular dysfunction following HS as evidenced by improved perfusion, increased pO₂, decreased pCO₂ and improved endothelial function. CR resulted in further decompensation. Although there is a relationship between oxygenation and blood flow, examining blood flow alone does not demonstrate a complete picture of tissue ischaemia. For this reason, we chose to measure LDF, physiological variables and endothelial function following the post-RES period.

Measuring LDF in microvessels allows for the measurement of the microvascular effects of vasomotion, spontaneous oscillations in vascular tone and diameter and RBC velocity within the intestinal microcirculation [9]. These changes in the microvasculature occur secondary to local humoral input and predominate during HS/RES. FFP LDF was increased above CR throughout the entire post-resuscitative period. LDF provides a measurement of flow motion. Increased flow motion, as demonstrated in the FFP group, has been demonstrated in other therapeutic interventions that resulted in positive outcomes [9, 10] [11]. We previously demonstrated improved flow 3-h post-RES; this study confirms that this increased perfusion continues as the CR group's flow continues to decline.



FIGURE 7 Results of the wet-to-dry ratio of ileum and lung tissue to quantify tissue oedema. Values are mean ± SD; *p < 0.05 versus sham, [†]p < 0.05 versus crystalloid resuscitation (CR), [‡]p < 0.05 versus fresh frozen plasma (FFP).

Alterations in microcirculatory oxygenation are not as well documented as changes in microcirculatory flow due to HS/RES. Oxygenation within the microcirculation can be measured using



FIGURE8 Tissue and plasma concentrations of Syndecan-1. Values are mean \pm SD; *p < 0.05 versus sham, †p < 0.05 versus crystalloid resuscitation (CR), p^{+} < 0.05 versus fresh frozen plasma (FFP). Values are mean ± SD; p^{+} < 0.05 versus sham, p^{+} < 0.05 versus CR, p^{+} < 0.05 versus FFP.

microelectrodes for perivascular and tissue oxygen partial pressure or phosphorescence quenching microscopy, a non-invasive technique. This experiment made use of the microelectrode method allowing for the measurement of pCO_2 concurrently. Measuring pO_2 and pCO_2 provides for a more thorough examination of tissue ischaemia and metabolism following HS. To our knowledge, this is the first study comparing these variables between CR and FFP resuscitation. As expected, the decreased flow was accompanied by a simultaneously decreased pO_2 and increased pCO_2 . Oxygenation and LDF returned to BL by the end of the 30 min resuscitative period in both groups, with supraphysiological LDF in the FFP group. Although a return to BL pCO₂ values lagged in the FFP group, overall changes in LDF and pO2 in the two treatment groups demonstrated a relative inverse change in the pCO₂ values.

HS resulted in a significant decrease in microvascular pO₂ in both shocked groups, comparable to other studies examining HS's effects on the microvasculature [9]. The extent and development of intestinal injury following HS are directly related to hypoxia within the villus [12-14]. We have previously demonstrated that FFP resuscitation decreases intestinal damage and intestinal barrier dysfunction following HS [7, 8]. The sustained increase in pO₂ following resuscitation with FFP shown in this study helps to explain these results. Tissue hypoxia not only leads to decreased availability of adenosine triphosphate but also adversely affects cellular immune responses [15], further exacerbating tissue damage and restoration following HS.

HS resulted in significant increases in intestinal microcirculatory pCO₂, up to 150% of BL values. Baseline and HS levels of pCO₂ were similar to those previously reported in the literature [9]. Intestinal pCO₂ measurements are thought to be reliable representations of oxygen availability and regional tissue perfusion [16]. FFP's sustained improvement in microcirculatory pCO₂ exemplifies improved oxygenation, tissue perfusion and overall decrease in tissue damage seen in this group.

HS leads to vascular hyporeactivity, which is thought to be partially responsible for the decompensation and tissue damage following HS [17, 18]. One group examined vascular responsiveness to norepinephrine following HS. It has been well demonstrated that plasma resuscitation protects the endothelium through the stabilization of the endothelial glycocalyx. Vasodilation was measured in this experiment following either sodium NP or acetylcholine. NP, a NO-donor, causes vasodilation through endothelium-independent pathways, whereas ACh relies on the endothelial release of NO to elicit vasodilation. This allowed us to distinguish the changes in endothelial function following HS and resuscitation. Both treatment groups demonstrated full vasodilatory capabilities when treated with NP. Therefore, it is likely that HS does not damage the vasodilatory machinery itself, but the endothelium's ability to respond to vasoactive mediators. Just as FFP protects the endothelial glycocalyx, FFP appears to protect the vasodilatory function of the endothelium. In contrast, CR led to decreased responsiveness of the endothelium to ACh. The combination of syndecan-1 and vasodilation preservation demonstrates FFP's protective effect on both endothelial structure and function.

In this study, we also examined the effects of resuscitative methods on intestinal and pulmonary oedema following HS. Oedema of the villus, in conjunction with decreased vasodilation, further reduces the pressure gradient between arterioles and venules in the intestinal villi and impedes microcirculatory flow [14]. FFP resuscitation was again superior to CR, demonstrating no statistically significant difference from sham values.

This study should be interpreted considering several limitations. In order to minimize variation, only male rats were used due to the significant differences in haemodynamic response to HS between male and female rats. The return of shed whole blood prior to CR or FFP resuscitation must be noted but is required to allow reproducible survival following the HS insult. Likewise, animals in the CR group received twice the volume ($2 \times$ shed blood volume) when compared to the FFP group (equal volume shed blood) during the resuscitation phase. This discrepancy is needed to ensure animals in the CR arm survive the experimental protocol. Although animals in the FFP group received blood products donated from at least two animals, there is

871

significant variability between different aliquots of single donor plasma that must be considered.

In conclusion, overall, FFP resulted in improved microcirculatory physiology following HS. Improved LDF correlated with both improved oxygenation and decreased levels of carbon dioxide within the ileal microcirculation. Furthermore, FFP was found to preserve vasodilatory response to acetylcholine and reduce intestinal and pulmonary oedema. These variables help explain the superiority of FFP over CR with regard to intestinal damage and barrier function. Although inherent physiological differences exist between humans and our experimental model, these findings provide further evidence of the beneficial effects of FFP utilization during acute resuscitation in HS.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

J.E.S., P.J.M., B.G.H. and J.W.S. conceptualized and designed the research; P.J.M., J.E.S. and L.M.B. performed experiments; J.E.S., P.J.M., B.G.H. and W.B.R. analysed data; J.E.S., B.G.H., P.J.M. and W.B.R. interpreted results of experiments; J.E.S. and P.J.M. prepared figures; J.E.S. and P.J.M. drafted paper; B.G.H., P.J.M. and W.B.R. edited and revised paper; J.E.S., B.G.H., L.M.B., P.J.M. and W.B.R. approved final paper.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors have no conflicts of interest, financial or otherwise, to declare.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

REFERENCES

- Sinaasappel M, van Iterson M, Ince C. Microvascular oxygen pressure in the pig intestine during haemorrhagic shock and resuscitation. J Physiol. 1999;514:245–53.
- Zheng L, Kelly CJ, Colgan SP. Physiologic hypoxia and oxygen homeostasis in the healthy intestine. A review in the theme: cellular responses to hypoxia. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2015;309:C350–60.
- Shepherd AP. Metabolic control of intestinal oxygenation and blood flow. Fed Proc. 1982;41:2084–9.
- 4. Glover LE, Lee JS, Colgan SP. Oxygen metabolism and barrier regulation in the intestinal mucosa. J Clin Invest. 2016;126:3680–8.

- Harrois A, Baudry N, Huet O, Kato H, Lohez M, Ziol M, et al. Synergistic deleterious effect of hypoxemia and hypovolemia on microcirculation in intestinal villi. Crit Care Med. 2013;41:e376–84.
- Kozar RA, Peng Z, Zhang R, Holcomb JB, Pati S, Park P, et al. Plasma restoration of endothelial glycocalyx in a rodent model of hemorrhagic shock. Anesth Analg. 2011;112:1289–95.
- Schucht JE, Matheson PJ, Harbrecht BG, Bond L, Ashkettle GR, Smith JW. Plasma resuscitation with adjunctive peritoneal resuscitation reduces ischemia-induced intestinal barrier breakdown following hemorrhagic shock. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2020;89:649–57.
- Schucht JE, Matheson PJ, Harbrecht BG, Bond L, Jones S, Alkhateeb KJM, et al. Plasma resuscitation with adjunctive peritoneal resuscitation reduces ischemic intestinal injury following hemorrhagic shock. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2020;89:649–57.
- Filho IT. Hemorrhagic shock and the microvasculature. Compr Physiol. 2017;8:61–101.
- Aalkjaer C, Boedtkjer D, Matchkov V. Vasomotion–what is currently thought? Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2011;202:253–69.
- Nilsson H, Aalkjaer C. Vasomotion: mechanisms and physiological importance. Mol Interv. 2003;3:79–89.
- Chiu CJ, McArdle AH, Brown R, Scott HJ, Gurd FN. Intestinal mucosal lesion in low-flow states. I. A morphological, hemodynamic, and metabolic reappraisal. Arch Surg. 1970;101:478–83.
- Haglund U, Bulkley GB, Granger DN. On the pathophysiology of intestinal ischemic injury. Clinical review. Acta Chir Scand. 1987;153: 321–4.
- Morini S, Yacoub W, Rastellini C, Gaudio E, Watkins SC, Cicalese L. Intestinal microvascular patterns during hemorrhagic shock. Dig Dis Sci. 2000;45:710–22.
- Schlichting E, Lyberg T. Monitoring of tissue oxygenation in shock: an experimental study in pigs. Crit Care Med. 1995;23:1703–10.
- Meisner FG, Habler OP, Kemming GI, Kleen MS, Pape A, Messmer K. Changes in p(i)CO(2) reflect splanchnic mucosal ischaemia more reliably than changes in pH(i) during haemorrhagic shock. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2001;386:333–8.
- Liu LM, Ward JA, Dubick MA. Hemorrhage-induced vascular hyporeactivity to norepinephrine in select vasculatures of rats and the roles of nitric oxide and endothelin. Shock. 2003;19:208–14.
- Liu J, Zhao K. The ATP-sensitive K(+) channel and membrane potential in the pathogenesis of vascular hyporeactivity in severe hemorrhagic shock. Chin J Traumatol. 2000;3:39–44.

How to cite this article: Schucht JE, Harbrecht BG, Bond LM, Risinger WB, Matheson PJ, Smith JW. Plasma resuscitation improves and restores intestinal microcirculatory physiology following haemorrhagic shock. Vox Sang. 2023;118:863–72.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Genetic diversity of Gerbich alleles in Brazilians reveals an unexpected prevalence of the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype

Carine Prisco Arnoni¹ Nayara Morais Silva¹ | Flavia Sant'Anna Silva¹ | Rafael Martins Parreira¹ | Tatiane Vendrame¹ | Marcos Paulo Miola² | Janaína Muniz² | Afonso Cortez¹ | Marilia Valvasori³ | Evanilde Pereira de Araujo³ | Leandro Dalmazzo³ | Alyne Freitas³ | Flavia Latini¹ | Lilian Castilho⁴

 ¹Colsan - Associação Beneficente de Coleta de Sangue, São Paulo, SP, Brazil
 ²Hemocentro - São José do Rio Preto, São Paulo, SP, Brazil

³Grupo GSH, São Paulo, SP, Brazil
⁴Hemocentro – Unicamp, Campinas, SP, Brazil

Correspondence

Carine Prisco Arnoni, Colsan - Associação Beneficente de Coleta de Sangue, Avenida Jandira 1260, Indianópolis, CEP 04080-006, São Paulo, SP, Brazil. Email: carine.arnoni@colsan.org.br

Funding information

The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Gerbich (GE) blood group system carries high-frequency antigens and the absence of them leads to rare phenotypes: GE:-2,3,4, GE:-2,-3,4 and GE:-2,-3,-4. Their serological differentiation is limited and misclassification of Gerbich phenotypes may occur, but this can be avoided by molecular characterization. This study aimed to characterize the molecular background responsible for rare Gerbich phenotypes in Brazilian population.

Materials and Methods: We selected eight samples from patients with anti-Ge, six from their relatives and nine samples with normal expression of Gerbich antigens. Serological tests were performed in gel and red blood cells (RBCs) were tested with anti-Ge2 and anti-Ge3. Monocyte monolayer assay (MMA) was performed. Molecular investigation was performed with allele-specific polymerase chain reaction and DNA sequencing.

Results: Patient plasma samples reacted with all commercial RBCs. Patient RBCs showed negative results with anti-Ge2 and anti-Ge3. Using MMA two of eight antibodies were clinically significant. Exon 3 was not amplified in any of the patient samples and in two samples from relatives, suggesting the presence of $GE^*01.-03/GE^*01.-03$. By sequencing, we identified the genetic variability that interferes with the definition of deletion breakpoints, thus two options of genetic structure were suggested to be responsible for the GE:-2, -3, 4 phenotype.

Conclusion: This study showed for the first time the genetic diversity of *GYPC* alleles for carriers of Gerbich-negative phenotypes in a Brazilian population and showed an unexpected prevalence of the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype. It also demonstrated the importance of using molecular tools to correctly classify Gerbich phenotypes for selection of variants in antigen-matched transfusions.

Keywords

Brazilians, Gerbich alleles, Gerbich genotype, Gerbich phenotype, GYPC

Highlights

- We report here the first study of the GYPC gene in Brazilian individuals with rare Gerbich (GE)-negative phenotypes.
- The study shows the unexpected predominance of the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype.
- Molecular tools for the classification of Gerbich-negative phenotypes are important for antigen-matched transfusions.

INTRODUCTION

The Gerbich (GE) blood system (ISBT 020) consists of 13 antigens carried on single-pass type I membrane glycoproteins, called glycophorin C (GPC) and glycophorin D (GPD) [1]. Rare Gerbich phenotypes such as Yus (GE:-2,3,4), Gerbich (GE:-2,-3,4) and Leach (GE:-2,-3,-4) are related to the development of antibodies against high-prevalence antigens [2]. As there are no commercial antisera for typing Gerbich antigens, antibody identification depends on the availability of rare red cells and sera with antibodies from individuals previously alloimmunized [3]. However, sometimes these 'in-house' reagents are not well characterized and misclassification of Gerbich phenotypes may occur. Thus, characterization at the molecular level can be a tool to overcome this limitation.

The single GYPC gene is responsible for the expression of both glycophorins (GPC and GPD), as a result of translation initiation at two different sites (Figure 1). GPD, a truncated version of GPC, is identical to residues 22–128 of GPC lacking the N-terminal amino acid residues [4, 5]. Protein assays demonstrated that the Ge2 antigen is located on N-terminus of GPD, but not on GPC, while Ge3 is



FIGURE 1 The genomic organization of *GYPC* and corresponding structure of glycophorins in wild-type and rare Gerbich (GE) phenotypes. Grey boxes represent exons. In glycophorins, black boxes represent antigens, white boxes represent the extracellular portion of the protein, vertical lines represent the transmembrane region and diagonal lines represent the intracellular portion. GE, Gerbich; GPC, glycophorin C; GPD, glycophorin D.

present in both proteins. Although amino acid sequence present in GPD is also present in GPC, probably anti-Ge2 recognizes an amino acid sequence only when it is in the conformation of the N-terminus of GPD and not when it is an internal sequence within GPC. Also, the Ge2 determinant could involve the free amino group of GPD and the adjacent amino acid sequence. GPC also carries Ge4 antigen that is situated near the N-terminus and therefore is not on GPD.

Figure 1 shows the genetic organization of GYPC and the structure of the glycophorins. GYPC comprises four exons, wherein exons 1-3 encode the extracellular domain of GPC and exon 4 encodes the membrane-spanning and intracellular domains [4]. Exons 2 and 3 of GYPC and their flanking regions of approximately 3600 base pairs are highly homologous, sharing 95% identity among repeat regions 1 and 2 [3]. They likely arose from a duplication event, although exon 3 contains a 27-nucleotide insertion not present in exon 2 [4]. It is suggested that this high homology contributes to unequal crossing-over resulting in deletion events responsible for deletion of high-frequency antigens (Ge2, Ge3 and Ge4) [6, 7]. The Yus (GE:-2,3,4) phenotype is the result of exon 2 deletion (GE*01.-02), which leads to the loss of Ge2 antigen, whereas the Gerbich (GE:-2,-3.4) phenotype is a consequence of exon 3 deletion (GE*01.-03) [3, 8, 9] in which Ge2 and Ge3 antigens are absent. The Leach phenotype (GE:-2,-3,-4) is characterized by a complete absence of GPC and GPD proteins and has been associated with two molecular events: an extended deletion from intron 2 to intron 4, with complete absence of exons 3 and 4 (GE*01N.01) and a cytosine deletion in 134 nucleotides resulting in a frameshift and premature generation of a stop codon (GE*01N.02) [6, 10].

Yus and Gerbich phenotypes are rare, being found in 1:44,000 Caucasian individuals [4]. Otherwise, these phenotypes are more common in endemic regions for malaria, such as Papua-New Guinea, probably due to a natural selection of the negative health effects of malaria, because the malarial merozoite form of *Plasmodium falciparum* uses GPC and GPD as a receptor to invade human red blood cells (RBCs) [11, 12].

Clinical significance of Gerbich antibodies is questionable, most of which are not involved in serious haemolytic transfusion reactions [4, 13], although anti-Ge3 has been related to haemolytic disease of the foetus and newborn [14]. In vitro studies have shown that, during pregnancy and postpartum, Gerbich antibodies not only cause classical macrophage-dependent erythroid cell destruction, but also inhibit early erythroid progenitor cell proliferation [13].

Serologic classification of Gerbich phenotypes and the correct identification of anti-Ge2 and anti-Ge3 are complex. Anti-Ge2 is the most common Gerbich alloantibody [4]. It is found in GE:-2,3,4 individuals, but it is also the most frequently detected antibody in the GE:-2,-3,4 and GE:-2,-3,-4 phenotypes. Despite that, some individuals with GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype make anti-Ge3 without anti-Ge2 [3, 15, 16]. Thus, the identification of the antibody formed by a patient does not necessarily reflect his phenotype, requiring well-characterized sera with anti-Gerbich antibodies or the use of molecular methods.

Determining the Gerbich genotype and the specific breakpoint of the deletion is challenging due to the high homology between repeat regions and large deletions involving variant alleles. In order to characterize Gerbich system in our population, this is the first study in Brazil performing genetic screening for carriers of Gerbich-negative alleles. As the Yus phenotype has been described in the literature as the most frequent worldwide and the restricted access to wellcharacterized serum with anti-Ge3 and anti-Ge4, most of the patients enrolled in this study were classified as Yus (Ge:–2,3,4) and the antibodies produced as anti-Ge2. However, with *GYPC* analysis, we demonstrated here that GE:–2,–3,4 is more prevalent in our population and a specific molecular background was described, for which we proposed two options of deletion breakpoints.

Vox Sanguinis Solit remained Society 875

METHODS

Samples

We analysed a total of 23 samples. Eight of them were from alloimmunized patients and six were relatives of these patients. Nine samples with normal expression of Gerbich antigens were also included as controls to better define the molecular changes present in our population. All patients were treated in hospitals located in the State of São Paulo. Samples from six patients were sent to our reference laboratory for investigation. All of them were initially typed as GE:-2,3,4 using a patient's serum containing an antibody identified as anti-Ge2. Ex295 and Ex273 samples were serologically analysed by other reference laboratories. In the Ex295 sample, an anti-Gerbich not classified was identified in the patient's serum and in the Ex273 sample the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype was identified. Molecular analysis was performed in all samples included in the study. Patients and their relatives are listed in Table 1. The study was approved by our local Ethics Committee and conducted in accordance with our Institution Review Board (IRB).

Serological tests

Antibody screening and identification were performed by gel test in low ionic strenght solution and papain using RBC panels containing the most common erythrocyte antigens (BioRad Laboratories, Hercules, CA or Grifols, Barcelona, Spain), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Patient samples (with the exception of P157 and Ex295) and a relative (D1089) were also tested for Ge2 and Ge3 expression using gel cards with sera derived from alloimmunized patients and from the serum cells and rare fluids (SCARF) repository (anti-Ge2 A3, anti-Ge2 A8 and anti-Ge3.2 A4). Patients' sera were tested with red cells available from our cryopreserved collection.

Monocyte monolayer assay

To predict the clinical significance of anti-Ge, monocyte monolayer assay (MMA) was performed as previously described [17] in six <u>⁸⁷⁶</u> Vox Sanguinis SS

TABLE 1 Samples included in the study with de

ARN	ONI	ΕT	A

		Antigen deterr	nination				
ID	Description	Anti-Ge2 A3	Anti-Ge2 A8	Anti-Ge3 2A4	Crossing match with RBCs	Genotype	Phenotype
P132	Patient with anti-Ge	Ν	Ν	Ν	P46: N; P54: w; P109: N	GE*01-03.01/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
P230	Patient with anti-Ge	Ν	Ν	Ν	D1089: N	GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
P157	Patient with anti-Ge	NT	NT	NT	P54: N	GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
P46	Patient with anti-Ge	Ν	Ν	Ν	D47: 2+	GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
P54	Patient with anti-Ge	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ge(-2,3,4) ^a : N	GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
P109	Patient with anti-Ge	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ge(-2,3,4) ^a : N	GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
Ex273	Patient with anti-Ge	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ge(-2,3,4) ^a : N	GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
Ex295	Patient with anti-Ge	NT	NT	NT	P132: N; Ex296: 2+ Ge(-2,3,4) ^b : N	GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
D1089	P230 sister	Ν	Ν	Ν		GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
D891	P157 sister	NT	NT	NT		GE*01-03/GE*01-03	GE:-2,-3,4
ex296	Ex295 grandson	NT	NT	NT		GE*01/GE*01-03	GE:2,3,4
ex300	Ex295 daughter	NT	NT	NT		GE*01/GE*01-03	GE:2,3,4
ex301	Ex295 daughter	NT	NT	NT		GE*01/GE*01-03	GE:2,3,4
D47	P46 brother	NT	NT	NT		GE*01/GE*01-03	GE:2,3,4
Abbreviatic ^a RBC from ^b RBC from	ons: N, negative; NT, not own inventory. serum cells and rare fluic	tested; w, weak. Is (SCARF) progra	m.				
samples (F	246, P54, P109, P157, I	D891 and D108	9). Using an opt	ical TABLE	2 Primer sequer	nces used in this study.	
microscop	y, 600 monocytes were	e counted to det	ermine the perce	Primer	name Sequen	ce	Reference
age of rea	Active monocyte (RBC % were considered post	aunered and p	nagocytized). M	GE13-i	1+2203F GGACG	CAGCTGCCAAATCT	Gourri et al. [3]
results <47	vo were considered nega	acive writte result	s 24% were con	siu-			

Molecular tests

ered positive.

NG_007479.1 was used as reference gene and to define the location of the single nucleotide variants (SNVs) we considered the nucleotide position in the introns. All samples were submitted to allelespecific polymerase chain reactions (AS-PCRs) for exons 2 and 3 using the set of primers GE13-i1+2203F/GYP2R and GYPC3F/ GE25-i3-503R, respectively, and a set of specific primers to human growth hormone as internal control. Sanger sequencing was performed to determine the breakpoint of deletions. For this, different sets of primers were used for PCR and sequencing, as listed in Table 2 and in Figure 2. We were unable to sequence the entire gene and the sequenced regions were from IVS1-2140 to IVS2-1250; from IVS2-938 to IVS2+15; from IVS2+280 to IVS3-1735 and from IVS3-490 to IVS3-758.

PCR was performed with 50-100 ng of DNA, 0.2 μM of each primer, 0.4 mM of each dNTP, 2.0 mM of MgCl₂, 1.0 U Taq DNA polymerase and $1 \times$ reaction buffer. The reagents were obtained from Cellco (Cellco Biotech, São Carlos, Brazil). PCR amplification was performed in

Primer name	Sequence	Reference
GE13-i1+2203F	GGACGCAGCTGCCAAATCT	Gourri et al. [3]
GYPC-i1-978F	GCCAAGTCCTGACCTGATAC	Gourri et al. [<mark>3</mark>]
GYPC-i1-561F	TGTGGTCTCTTTGCGAATG	Gourri et al. [<mark>3</mark>]
GYPC2F	CTCTGCCTCCACCACAATG	This article
GYPC-i2-336F	AGTTTTGGTGAGGGAGGTTG	Gourri et al. [3]
GYPC3F	TGGAGAATCTTCCTCTCTGACC	This article
GYPC2R	GCTGCTTAAAGGGCTCTGTG	This article
GYPC-i2-1283R	GGATCACAGAAATATCAGT	Gourri et al. [<mark>3</mark>]
GYPC3R	TGCTTGAAGGGCTCTGTGAT	This article
GYPC-i3-773R	TTGGGGAAGGTTGTGTGG	Gourri et al. [<mark>3</mark>]
GE25-i3-503R	TGCCTTCCTAAAATGATTCTCC	Gourri et al. [<mark>3</mark>]

Veriti[™] 96-well Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) using the following conditions: denaturation at 95°C for 15 min, followed by 28-35 cycles of 95°C for 60 s, 57°C for 40 s and 72°C for 150 s, and a final extension step of 72°C for 10 min. After purification, sequencing reaction was performed with BigDye™ Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Life Technologies Corporation, Austin, TX) and sequencing was performed on a 3500xL Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). CLC software was used for sequencing analysis, in which all the sequences were aligned with both homologous repeated regions.



FIGURE 2 Schematic sequence of *GYPC* and position of primers in the gene. The grey box represents repeat region 1 and white box represents repeat region 2. Above the sequence are forward primers and below are reverse primers.

The SNVs were searched in GenBank and their frequency was collected from the NCBI ALFA project [18].

RESULTS

Serological and MMA results

The eight plasma samples from patients and two from their relatives (D891 and D1089) had an antibody reacting from weak (+) to 2+ with all commercially available reagent red cells by indirect antiglobulin testing at 37° C. Negative reactions were observed in red cells treated with papain. Crossmatching performed with Ge:-2 RBCs (previously serologically characterized) from our collection was negative, suggesting the presence of anti-Ge2 in all samples. Only two antibodies were demonstrated to be clinically significant according to the MMA results (P46 with 26% of activated monocytes and P157 with 21%).

Patient RBC samples were also tested with anti-Ge2 A3, anti-Ge2 A8, anti-Ge3 2A4, and all of them gave negative results with the three antisera, which reacted 2+ with control samples, validating the results. Table 1 summarizes the serological findings.

Molecular analysis

Using the AS-PCR, GYPC exon 2 was amplified in all DNA samples of patients and relatives, excluding the presence of the Yus type. Exon 3 was not amplified in any of the patients' samples and in two samples from relatives (samples D1089 and D891), suggesting the *GE**01.-03/*GE**01.-03 genotype. Molecular genotypes found in patients and relatives are described in Table 1.

By sequencing, using different sets of primers, heterozygosity was identified in the samples from relatives (with the exception of D1089 and D891), which presented a wild-type allele (GE^*01) in heterozygosity with the $GE^*01.-03$ allele. Although the P132 sample failed to amplify exon 3 by AS-PCR, it also showed a heterozygous composition, with both $GE^*01.-03$ alleles, but with different breakpoints. We detected the $GE^*01.-03.01$ allele in a heterozygous status with the allele reported in the present study (see below). It also occurred in the other samples with GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype.

Characterization of deletion breakpoints

To investigate deletion breakpoints, extensive molecular analysis was performed on control samples (n = 9) and on samples with

*GE**01.-03/*GE**01.-03 genotype with sufficient genetic material, totalizing eight samples, which consist of seven patients and one relative (D891). Samples with *GE**01.-03/*GE**01.-03 genotype that had extensive molecular analysis were called *case samples*.

The same molecular background leading to exon 3 deletion was observed in all case samples. The DNA sequences were very similar to the *GE**01.-03.02 allele, but due to the genetic variability found in the control samples, another different breakpoint responsible for exon 3 deletion can be suggested. Two possible start sites of deletion are represented in Figure 3 as first (*GE**01.-03.02) and second (proposed herein) options. As the control samples showed genetic variability in the SNVs IVS2+745G>A and IVS3+863insAG, it was not possible to define whether the deletion started from IVS2+913 (first option, as already described by Gourri et al. [3] and named as *GE**01.-03.02 genotype) or starting from IVS2+494 (second option, not yet described).

Besides that, the determination of deletion endpoint is also uncertain due to the presence of IVS3+907C>G at a frequency of 61% in control samples and 100% in case samples. These data suggest that sequencing of this region in case samples is part from intron 3 and not from intron 2, as established in GE*01.-03.02 genotype.

GYPC molecular variability

Analysing the *GYPC* sequencing and comparing with the reference gene and SNV prevalence reported by the NCBI ALFA project [18], as highlighted in Table 3, the nucleotide changes that are predominant in case samples and differ between control samples and/or previously reported frequencies. In addition to the aforementioned SNVs that interfered with the definition of the deletion breakpoint, other molecular changes were predominantly observed in the case samples. Focusing on SNVs located in intron 1, we observed SNVs commonly found in our population and present in 100% of case samples. We emphasized SNVs c.IVS1-661G>A and c.IVS1-68G>A, in which wild-type G alleles are reported in 99% of individuals according to NCBI ALFA. Although both SNVs (A alleles) were present in homozygosity in all case samples, wild-type G alleles were present in 70% and 30% of control samples in SNVs c.IVS1-661G>A and c.IVS1-68G>A, respectively.

DISCUSSION

We herein report the results of the investigation of samples from Brazilian patients with antibodies against Gerbich antigens and their relatives. All patients and two relatives were serologically

878 Vox Sanguinis

Gene localization	IVS2+489	IVS2+494	IVS2+745	IVS2+912-913	IVS2+958	IVS2+988	IVS2+992
Reference sequence	А	C	G	AG	С	С	А
Control D851	А	С	А	AG	С	С	А
Control D1096	А	С	R	AG	С	С	А
Control D1081	А	С	А	AG	С	С	А
Control D1080	А	С	R	AG	С	С	А
Control D1061	А	С	А	AG	С	С	А
Control D1075	А	С	А	AG	С	С	А
Control D1083	А	С	G	AG	С	С	А
Control D1085	А	С	G	AG	С	С	А
Control D257	А	С	R	AG	С	С	А
GE*0103.02			А	AG			
1st option	А	С	А	AG			
2nd option	А	С					_
Gene localization	IVS3+440	IVS3+445	IVS3+696	IVS3+862	IVS3+907	IVS3+937	IVS3+941
Reference sequence	G	G	А		С	Т	А
Control D851	G	G	А	AG	G	Т	А
Control D1096	G	G	А	AG/	S	Т	А
Control D1081	G	G	А	AG	G	Т	А
Control D1080	G	G	А	AG/	S	Т	А
Control D1061	G	G	А	AG	G	Т	А
Control D1075	G	G	А	AG	G	Т	А
Control D1083	G	G	А		С	Т	А
Control D1085	G	G	А		С	Т	А
Control D257							
GE*0103.02					G	Т	
1st option					G	Т	А
and ontion			Δ	<u>۸</u>	G	т	Α

FIGURE 3 GYPC reference sequence (NG_007479.1) of repeat region 1 is shown in the top frame and the equivalent sequence of repeat region 2 is shown in the bottom frame. Sequences found in control samples were described separately due to the variability of the sequence. Reference wild-type was included, as well as the sequence of *GE**01.-03.02 with deleted sequence in grey. At the bottom of the frame, sequence of case samples is proposed by two options of deletion breakpoints (in grey). All case samples presented the same nucleotides at these positions. Outlined with dotted lines are conserved regions.

characterized with the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype, later confirmed by molecular tests. Our results showed that the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype is prevalent in our population and a specific molecular background was found common to all. This is the first Brazilian study that characterized the molecular basis and structure of the *GYPC* deletion in Brazilian patients.

Gerbich-negative phenotypes are rare worldwide, with the exception of malaria-endemic areas, including the Middle East and Papua New Guinea, where the high frequency of rare Gerbich phenotypes is probably consequence of the presence of *P. falciparum* [4]. Among the rare Gerbich phenotypes, GE:–2,3,4 has

been found in Europeans, in the Middle East and in people from African origin [19]. On the other hand, GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype has been described as rarer, being observed with extreme rarity in Europeans and Africans and sporadically in Iraqis, Native Americans, Japanese and Polynesians [19]. Despite this, our results showed a predominance of GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype in Brazilian patients. It is important to emphasize that our study was carried out with alloimmunized patients and we cannot state that this phenotype is more frequent than GE:-2,3,4 in our population, because the molecular investigation was not performed in the general population and alloimmunization could be a bias. TABLE 3 Polymorphisms with discrepant frequency among NCBI ALFA [18], control samples and case samples.

		NCBI ALFA [18	3]	Control samples (n		= 9) Case samples (
c.IVS1-780G>C	rs2165227	G=0.59	C = 0.41	G=0.3	C = 0.7	${\sf G}={\sf 0}$	C = 1.0
c.IVS1-739G>A	rs501866	G=0.42	A = 0.58	G=0.3	A = 0.7	${\sf G}={\sf 0}$	A = 1.0
c.IVS1-734G>T	rs935021	G=0.44	T=0.56	G=0.3	T=0.7	$\boldsymbol{G}=\boldsymbol{0}$	T = 1.0
c.IVS1-702C>T	rs935022	C = 0.43	T=0.57	C = 0.3	T=0.7	C=0	T = 1.0
c.IVS1-661G>A	rs2077378	G=0.99	A = 0.009	G=0.7	A = 0.3	${\sf G}={\sf 0}$	A = 1.0
c.IVS1-638G>A	rs2019405	G=0.89	A = 0.1	G=0.44	A = 0.56	${\sf G}={\sf 0}$	A = 1.0
c.IVS1-68G>A	rs192963041	G=0.999	A = 0.001	G=0.3	A = 0.7	$\boldsymbol{G}=\boldsymbol{0}$	A = 1.0
c.IVS2+528C>T	rs74499727	C = 0.74	T=0.26	C = 0.61	T = 0.39	C = 1.0	T=0
c.IVS2+745G>A	rs382844	$\mathbf{G}=0.43$	A = 0.57	$\mathbf{G}=0.39$	$\mathbf{A}=0.61$	$\mathbf{G}=0^{\mathbf{b}}$	$A = 1.0^{b}$
c.IVS2+1560C>G	rs13432961	$C=0.79^{\text{a}}$	G=0.2	C = 0.5	G=0.5	-	-
c.IVS3+862insAG	rs1553470184	NR	NR	Wild=0.37	insAG=0.62	$\textbf{Wild} = \textbf{0}^{b}$	$\text{insAG} = \textbf{1.0}^{b}$
c.IVS3+907C>G	rs10174393	$C=0.64^{a}$	$\mathbf{G}=0.36$	C = 0.37	$\mathbf{G}=0.62$	$\mathbf{C}=0$	$\mathbf{G}=1.0$
c.IVS3-748T>C	rs10184704	T=0.75	C=0.25	T = 0.58	C = 0.42	T=O	C = 1.0

Note: Bold values are the SNVs that interfered in deletion breakpoint definition.

Abbreviations: -, sequence deleted; NR, not reported.

^aLatin American C = 1.0.

^bIf not consider deleted region (see Figure 3).

This study clearly showed the high risk of misclassification of the Gerbich phenotype when molecular characterization is not available. Serological characterization of GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype is challenging, as individuals with this phenotype frequently develop anti-Ge2, but do not always produce anti-Ge3. Moreover, serum with anti-Ge3 is scarce. As a consequence, patients can be erroneously classified as GE:-2,3,4, while the correct phenotype is GE:-2,-3,4, as occurred with patients at our institution. Accurate characterization is important for antigen-matched transfusion, considering that patients with the GE:-2,3,4 phenotype can be transfused with RBC units with the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype but not vice versa. Furthermore, this classification is very important for the correct registration of these phenotypes in the rare donor programme. The Brazilian National Rare Blood Registry [20] lists 22 GE:-2,3,4 donors and no GE:-2,-3,4 donors, which is contradictory with the results shown in the present study. The aforementioned difficulty to define Gerbich phenotype comprising the limitation of serological methods and the lack of access to Gerbich genotyping may contribute for these conflicting results.

GYPC has a complex structure due to large regions with high level of homology. These repeat regions show 95% of homology, a fact that hinders the design of molecular protocols for Gerbich genotyping [4]. Well-designed primers, optimized PCRs and careful sequence analysis are needed to avoid misinterpretations of Gerbich genotypes. Gourri et al. [3] described a set of primers very useful for classification of Gerbich alleles and for GYPC investigation. For this study, we selected some primers that allowed us to characterize the deletions, even when they were heterozygous.

Our results show the genetic diversity of *GYPC* in Brazilians, highlighting some SNVs that are much more prevalent in samples with *GE**01-03 allele than previously described in the literature, even when compared with data from Latin America [18]. The genetic diversity

found close to the deletion breakpoints impairs the exact definition of the *GYPC* structure in Brazilians with the rare Gerbich phenotype. Our analysis showed a molecular background similar to the *GE**01-03.02 allele; however, different starting and ending breakpoints are entirely possible, which may allow the recognition of a new allele responsible for the GE:-2, -3, 4 phenotype.

Figure 3 aligns the GYPC homologous repeat region 1 and 2 and contains the nucleotides that differ in both repeat regions to explain the two proposed breakpoints. As described in the literature, for the *GE**01.-03.02 allele, which we consider as the first option, adenine and adenine followed by a guanine (in bold in Figure 3) found in the case samples belonging to IVS2+745 and IVS2+912-913, respectively, being part of the repeat region 1. However, the reference base of IVS2+745 is a guanine and its respective base in the repeat region 2 (IVS3+696) is an adenine, and we found an adenine in all case samples. Furthermore, the presence of IVS2+745G>A SNV in control samples (61% have IVS2+745A, Table 3) allows us to suggest that it is from the repeat region 1. Reinforcing this hypothesis, the next difference between regions 1 and 2 is IVS2+912AG, which are deleted in the repeat region 2 (IVS3+863-864) and all case samples have AG at IVS2+912-913 nucleotides.

On the other hand, in the second option, we consider that the nucleotides IVS2+745 and IVS2+912-913 are part of the deleted sequence because the adenine located in IVS2+745 in the first option (that has guanine as a reference base) could perfectly belong to IVS3+696, which has adenine as a reference base. Furthermore, in the reference *GYPC* sequence, the next point that differs the repeat regions 1 and 2 is the presence of an adenine and a guanine in IVS2+912-913 and their absence in IVS3+863-864 (the respective nucleotides in repeat region 2). In contrast to the reference sequence, IVS3+863-864AG is present at a frequency of 62% in the

879

control samples, thus, we can suggest that the detected AG is from the repeat region 2.

The endpoint of deletion may also be questionable. The fragment deletion described for *GE**01.-03.02 ends at IVS3+937, because the nucleotides differ between the two repeat regions at this point, being a cytosine in IVS2+988 (repeat region 1) and a thymine in IVS3+937 (repeat region 2), as shown in Figure 3. However, in the control samples, 30 bases before IVS3+937, we observed a molecular change (IVS3+907C>G) at a frequency of 61%. This SNV was observed only in the repeat region 2, while the respective base in the repeat region 1 is a conserved cytosine (IVS2+985C). All case samples were homozygous for IVS3+907G, that is, they had the SNV found only in repeat region 2, which strongly suggests that this nucleotide belongs to repeat region 2 and that the deletion ends at nucleotide IVS3+907.

In summary, this study revealed for the first time the genetic diversity of *GYPC* in Brazilian individuals with rare Gerbich-negative phenotypes and showed an unexpected prevalence of the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype. It also demonstrated the importance of using molecular tools in the classification of Gerbich-negative phenotypes for correct selection of variants in antigen-matched transfusions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

C.P.A. performed the research and wrote the manuscript; N.M.S., F.S.S. and R.M.P. performed molecular tests; T.V. performed serological tests at Colsan; M.P.M. and J.M. performed serological tests at Hemocentro - São José do Rio Preto; M.V., E.P.A., L.D. and A.F. performed serological tests at Grupo GSH; A.C. reviewed the paper; F.L. contributed to the paper written and analysed the data; L.C. evaluated the data and reviewed the paper.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest relevant to the manuscript.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Carine Prisco Arnoni https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5270-3953 Tatiane Vendrame https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2812-4238 Marcos Paulo Miola https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9948-5874 Afonso Cortez https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8994-6446 Leandro Dalmazzo https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9617-582X Lilian Castilho https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3104-647X

REFERENCES

- ISBT. Names for GE (ISBT 020) Blood Group Alleles. 2021 [cited 30 Nov 2021]. Available from: https://www.isbtweb.org/resource/ 020ge.html
- Walker PS, Reid ME. The Gerbich blood group system: a review. Immunohematology. 2010;26:60–5.
- Gourri E, Denomme GA, Merki Y, Scharberg EA, Vrignaud C, Frey BM, et al. Genetic background of the rare Yus and Gerbich

blood group phenotypes: homologous regions of the GYPC gene contribute to deletion alleles. Br J Haematol. 2017;177:630-40.

- Daniels G. Human blood groups. 2nd ed. Hoboken, NJ: Blackwell Science Ltd; 2002.
- Le Van KC, Colin Y, Blanchard D, Dahr W, London J, Cartron JP. Gerbich blood group deficiency of the Ge:-1,-2,-3 and Ge:-1,-2,3 types. Immunochemical study and genomic analysis with cDNA probes. Eur J Biochem. 1987;165:571–9.
- High S, Tanner MJ, Macdonald EB, Anstee DJ. Rearrangements of the redcell membrane glycophorin C (sialoglycoprotein beta) gene. A further study of alterations in the glycophorin C gene. Biochem J. 1989;262:47–54.
- Colin Y, Le Van KC, Tsapis A, Clerget M, d'Auriol L, London J, et al. Human erythrocyte glycophorin C. Gene structure and rearrangement in genetic variants. J Biol Chem. 1989;264:3773–80.
- Chang S, Reid ME, Conboy J, Kan YW, Mohandas N. Molecular characterization of erythrocyte glycophorin C variants. Blood. 1991;77:644–8.
- Scott B, Easteal S. A single-step assay for the Gerbich-negative allele of glycophorin C. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2008;41:1–4.
- Telen MJ, Le Van Kim C, Chung A, Cartron JP, Colin Y. Molecular basis for elliptocytosis associated with glycophorin C and D deficiency in the leach phenotype. Blood. 1991;78:1603–6.
- Patel SS, Mehlotra RK, Kastens W, Mgone CS, Kazura JW, Zimmerman PA. The association of the glycophorin C exon 3 deletion with ovalocytosis and malaria susceptibility in the Wosera, Papua New Guinea. Blood. 2001;98:3489–91.
- Mayer DC, Mu JB, Feng X, Su XZ, Miller LH. Polymorphism in a *Plasmodium falciparum* erythrocyte-binding ligand changes its receptor specificity. J Exp Med. 2002;196:1523–8.
- Jaskiewicz E, Peyrard T, Kaczmarek R, Zerka A, Jodlowska M, Czerwinski M. The Gerbich blood group system: old knowledge, new importance. Transfus Med Rev. 2018;32:111–6.
- Levitt RN, Gourri E, Gassner C, Banez-Sese G, Salam A, Denomme GA, et al. Molecular characterization and multidisciplinary management of Gerbich hemolytic disease of the newborn. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2018;65:e27014.
- King MJ, Kosanke J, Reid ME, Poole J, Banks J, Hemming NJ, et al. Co-presence of a point mutation and a deletion of exon 3 in the glycophorin C gene and concomitant production of a Gerbich-related antibody. Transfusion. 1997;37:1027–34.
- Singh RP. Antibodies against high frequency Gerbich 2 antigen (anti-Ge2): a real challenge in cross matching lab. Asian J Transfus Sci. 2013;7:88–9.
- Nance SJ, Arndt P, Garratty G. Predicting the clinical significance of red cell alloantibodies using a monocyte monolayer assay. Transfusion. 1987;27:449–52.
- Phan L, Jin Y, Zhang H, Qiang W, Shekhtman E, Shao D, et al. ALFA: Allele Frequency Aggregator. Bethesda, MD: National Center for Biotechnology Information, U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2020. [cited 2020 Mar 10]. Available from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/snp/ docs/gsr/alfa/
- Gassner C, Scherer V, Zanolin-Purin D, Scharberg EA, Flesch B. Occurrence of rare deletional Yus and Gerbich alleles in Syria and neighbouring countries. Transfus Med Hemother. 2022;49:358–67.
- Ministry of Health. Guide to the National Register of rare blood. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Ministry of Health of Brazil; 2022. Available from: https://bvsms.saude.gov.br/bvs/publicacoes/guia_cadastro_nacional_ sangue_raro.pdf

How to cite this article: Arnoni CP, Silva NM, Silva FS, Parreira RM, Vendrame T, Miola MP, et al. Genetic diversity of Gerbich alleles in Brazilians reveals an unexpected prevalence of the GE:-2,-3,4 phenotype. Vox Sang. 2023;118:873-80. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13509

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Use of computational biology to compare the theoretical tertiary structures of the most common forms of RhCE and RhD

Rocio Trueba-Gómez^{1,2} | Fany Rosenfeld-Mann¹ | Hector A. Baptista-González¹ | María L. Domínguez-López² | Higinio Estrada-Juárez¹

¹Instituto Nacional de Perinatología "Isidro Espinosa de los Reyes", Coordinación de Hematología Perinatal, Mexico City, Mexico

²Posgrado en Ciencias Químico Biológicas, Departamento de Inmunología, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico City, Mexico

Correspondence

Higinio Estrada-Juárez, Coordinación de Hematología, Instituto Nacional de Perinatología "Isidro Espinosa de los Reyes", Montes Urales #800, Lomas Virreyes, Miguel Hidalgo, Mexico City 11000, Mexico. Email: hestradaj@hotmail.com

Funding information

The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Computational biology analyses the theoretical tertiary structure of proteins and identifies the 'topological' differences between RhD and RhCE. Our aim was to identify the theoretical structural differences between the four isoforms of RhCE and RhD using computational biological tools.

Materials and Methods: Physicochemical profile was determined by hydrophobicity and electrostatic potential analysis. Secondary and tertiary structures were generated using computational biology tools. The structures were evaluated and validated using Ramachandran algorithm, which calculates the single score, *p*-value and root mean square deviation (RMSD). Structures were overlaid on local refinement of 'RhAG-RhCE-ANK' (PBDID 7uzq) and RhAG to compare their spatial distribution within the membrane.

Results: All proteins differed in surface area and electrostatic distance due to variations in hydrophobicity and electrostatic potential. The RMSD between RhD and RhCE was 0.46 ± 0.04 Å, and the comparison within RhCE was 0.57 ± 0.08 Å. The percentage of amino acids in the hydrophobic thickness was 50.24% for RhD while for RhCE it ranged between 73.08% and 76.68%. The RHAG hydrophobic thickness was 34.2 Å, and RhCE's hydrophobic thickness was 33.83 Å. We suggest that the C/c antigens differ exofacially at loops L1 and L2. For the E/e antigens, the difference lies in L6. By contrast, L4 is the same for all proteins except Rhce.

Conclusion: The physicochemical properties of Rh proteins made them different, although their genes are homologous. Using computational biology, we model structures with sufficient precision, similar to those obtained experimentally. An amino acid variation alters the folding of the tertiary structure and the interactions with other proteins, modifying the electrostatic environment, the spatial conformations and therefore the antigenic recognition.

Keywords

computational biology, hydrophobicity, RhCE, RhD, tertiary structures

Highlights

• RhD and RhCE/ce each have a different physicochemical profile, based on hydrophobicity analysis, electrostatic potential analysis, secondary structure analysis and comparison of tertiary structures.

- Differences among the five proteins could explain the specific antigen recognition.
- We believe that explaining the differences in these proteins by selectively replacing the model proposed by Wagner and Flegel is not correct because it does not allow us to demonstrate the structural differences between the Rh variants.

INTRODUCTION

The attachment of the cytoskeleton to the plasma membrane determines the flexibility or stiffness of the erythrocyte. Ankyrin-1 is a key element connecting the membrane through Band 3 to the cytoskeleton via Spectrin; this complex contributes to the maintenance of the biconcave shape of erythrocytes [1]. Vallese et al. described that the binding domain between the membrane and ankyrin-1 has three different constitutive elements: transmembrane (RhCE and AQP1), extramembrane (cytosolic band-3 domains) and peripheral adaptors (protein 4.2) [2].

The Rh heterotrimer is the anchor between the cytoskeleton and the membrane through the interaction between the N and C termini of RhCE and the first five ankyrin-1 repeats [3]. Interestingly, in the study by Vallese et al. [2] RhD was not detected within the Rh heterotrimer structure, although they used RhD-positive blood. They only observed multiprotein complexes with RhCE, possibly due to the diversity of the RhAG-Rh complex. Another explanation would be that RhD is not associated with the Band 3 ankyrin complex and is alternatively associated with the 4.1R binding complex as in mice [4].

In the 1990s, analysis of the hydrophobic regions of the RhD amino acid (AA) sequence yielded three models of secondary structure. They describe between 11 and 13 transmembrane domains, but the position of the amino terminus varies [5–9].

One of the most influential studies on the three-dimensional description of the RhD protein is that of Cherif-Zahar et al [6]. The studies that use it to explain the D variants substitute the mutant AA residues in the secondary structure of the protein but do not consider the effects on the tertiary structure and the interaction with the membrane, that is, the hydrophobic thickness [10, 11].

Based on these studies, the notion that only AA changes in the exofacial loops (L) affect tertiary structure, and therefore only these alter antibody recognition, has gained acceptance in transfusion medicine. However, the outcome of any AA substitution should affect the physicochemical properties and functionality of the protein [12].

The role of protein structural prediction has gained importance

Computational biology combines physicochemical, biochemical and molecular biology knowledge with quantum mechanics, allowing us to understand variations in the molecular microenvironment and how small chemical changes in pH, temperature or molarity can affect protein interactions. However, predicting protein structures remains an extremely difficult task. The two main problems are calculating the free energy and finding its global minimum. Depending on whether similar structures are found in the protein data base (PDB) library, protein structure prediction can be divided into template-based modelling and free modelling. Two factors determine the success of structural genomics: determination of experimental structure of optimally selected proteins and efficient computer modelling algorithms [13].

The methods chosen to predict protein structure can be divided into four main classes: first principle without database information; first principle with database information; fold recognition and threading; and comparative modelling and sequence alignment strategies [14].

Conroy et al. proposed one of the first RhD tertiary structures [15]. Recently, some studies have attempted to explain the variations between associations within the RhAG-RhD-RhCE complex [10, 16] and the identification of weak RhD variants by AA substitution [11].

The aim of the present study is to identify the theoretical structural differences between the four forms of RhCE and RhD using computational biological tools.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We used AA sequences Q02094-1 (RhAG), Q02161-1 (RhD) and NP_065231.4 (RHCE*01) as reference. We removed the initial methionine [6] and substituted the residues indicated in The International Society of Blood Transfusion (ISBT) catalogue in the analysed forms.

Primary structure analysis

Hydrophobicity analysis of the aminoacidic sequence was performed with ProtScale from Expasy using the Kyte and Doolittle scale with a window of nine AAs.

Secondary structure analysis

Secondary structural elements were determined using the prediction algorithm of PBDsum structural analyses [17].

Tertiary structure analysis

The comparison consisted of four steps. (i) theoretical construction (modelling, evaluation and validation); (ii) calculation of the electrostatic potential (EP); (iii) structural alignment and (iv) analysis of protein position within the lipid bilayer.

Theoretical construction

The tertiary structural design was done using the server I-Tasser. This protocol combines sequence-based domain parsing, singledomain structure folding, inter-domain structure assembly and structure-based function annotation in a fully automated pipeline [18].

The six structures were evaluated and validated by uploading the PDB files to two servers with different algorithms.

- 1. The PBDsum uses the Ramachandran algorithm, which allows visualizing energetically valid regions for the dihedral angles of the backbone ψ versus φ of AA residues in the protein structure [17].
- ModFOLD8 provides a single score and a *p*-value relating to the predicted quality of a single three-dimensional (3D) model of a protein structure [19].

Calculation of EP

The models were uploaded into the webPIPSA server tool [20], which link between the modifications in EP calculations and the topological properties of the membrane (visual inspection of the EP distribution). The result is a tree-like diagram (epogram) that puts the EP of the query sequence into relation with other proteins for which potential data are available. The analysis identifies both the surface area modifications in each model and the electrostatic distance between structures (Å).

Structural alignment

We align the structures within the 7UZQ model obtained by Vallese using electron microscopy with a resolution of 2.17 Å to verify that the built models were similar to any model obtained experimentally.

To assess the significance of the alignment of sequences and to know the probability that a pair of biologically significant AA residues occupy the same place within the alignment, using the IPBA-webserver, we calculated the global root mean square deviation (RMSD) of atomic positions expressed in Å [21].

The theoretical tertiary structures were compared using an alignment approach and plotted using Geneious 2015 and Pymol.

Analysis of protein position within the lipid bilayer

We determined hydrophobic thickness, transmembrane passages and exofacial loops using OREMPRO [22]. The RhAG structure was used to compare the membrane structure and analyse the coupling sites with the Rh proteins. We plotted the transmembrane passages with Protter using the modifications of the OREMPRO and Geneious algorithms to visualize the distribution of AAs along the membrane.

To compare the space occupied by proteins in the membrane, we plotted the structures in a 'surface' style. The models are irregular structures; therefore, we construct an imaginary trapezoid seen from above the complex and calculate its area by considering as vertices the alpha-carbons of the four exofacial AAs located superficially in L1, L2, L4 and L6 ($Ser_{36}(L1)$, $Pro_{101}(L2)$, $Pro_{230}(L4)$ and $Trp_{352}(L6)$).

RESULTS

Primary structure

The raw data of similar AA frequencies between the five forms reveal an obvious identity. On average, all proteins have 263.4 non-polar or hydrophobic AA, 98.6 polar uncharged, 16 negatively charged and 38 positively charged. The only difference appears to be that RhD has 25% more acidic AA and 25% fewer basic AA than the RhCE isoforms, with 17 AA exchanged for others with a different charge.

However, we must consider that the sequences differ by approximately 8% (34–35 AA). Thus, within the sequence, there are on average nine changes for every 100 AA, the probability of finding a substitution in RhD for RhCE is 1 of 11 (34.5/416), and furthermore, the probability of changing the nature of the AA is on average 0.494. And yet these differences will remain balanced.

Hydrophobicity analysis

The differences in the five hydrophobicity plots can be associated with the 35 substitutions in RhD and RhCE (Figure 1a).

Secondary structure

Features such as type, total number of helices and number of AAs per turn were similar. Although all had two β -sheets at the same positions (Thr₃₁-His₃₂ and Val₁₀₅-Val₁₀₆), the different type of β -turns that each protein has was crucial for the structural variation (Table 1).

If we locate the five significant changes that distinguish the forms of RhCE analysed in this work, we found that the substitutions p.Cys15Trp and p.Ser67Asn do not change the structure of any of the proteins, the side chains are distributed on the outside of the helix. The p.Ile59Leu change cuts the helix in two, but the structure is conserved in all four forms. The substitutions p.Ser102Pro and p.Pro225Ala do not change the structure, probably because they occur within a β -turn (Figure 1b).



FIGURE 1 (a) Hydrophobicity profile of RhD and RhCE proteins. Labelling of each protein is above the graph. (b) Secondary structures of Rh proteins. The shaded areas represent the exofacial loops and the red rectangles represent the structural differences. The arrows indicate the five changes leading to the RhCE forms.

	β-turn						Helix				
	Туре	•					Туре	:			
	I	Ш	IV	VIII	Total β-turn	Mean of distance C α 1 to C α 4 (Å)	н	G	Total of helix	Mean of AA per turn	
RhD	14	2	16	0	32	5.63	17	5	22	3.72	
RhCe	12	1	21	1	35	5.61	16	6	22	3.88	
RhCE	15	1	16	0	32	5.56	17	6	23	3.71	
RhcE	12	1	17	1	31	5.63	17	6	23	3.71	
Rhce	13	2	25	1	41	5.50	17	5	22	3.73	

TABLE 1 Description of the secondary structure of the five forms analysed.

Note: First section: types, quantity and the average length of β-turns. Second section: type and quantity of helix, and average amino acid (AA) per turn.

Seven significant structural differences are observed in the five proteins at residues 33–50, 190–201, 291–317, 345–356, 360–370, 387–402 and 407–416. None of the changes that distinguish the forms of RhCE are found in these regions, but at least 10 residues that distinguish RhD from RhCE are found there (Figure 1b).

Tertiary structure

Theoretical construction of the tertiary structure

Modelling

The tertiary structures of the RhD, RhCE and RhAG proteins were modelled by homology, using the 3hd6A (RhCG) template with an identity greater than 31.36%.

Evaluation and validation

The PBDsum server returns the statistical analysis of the Ramachandran plot. It compares about 118 structures with a resolution of at least 2.0 Å and an *R*-factor of at most 20.0. A good quality model would be expected to have more than 90% in the most favoured regions. We calculated RhD 92.0%, RhCe 91.3%, RhCE 90.7%, RhCE 92.9%, Rhce 91.6% and RhAG 92.3%.

The confidence and *p*-values obtained by ModFOLD8 were lower than p < 0.001 for the six proteins.

Calculation of the EP

Analysis of EP shows that there are differences in charge distribution that alter the surface area in each model, as well as the electrostatic
distance that varies the solubility of the five Rh forms. Figure 2 shows the epogram with the four electrostatic distances. Only RhCE and RhCe have the same distance.

From the tertiary structure, the EP values were calculated. The obtained models were plotted in 'surface' mode because it allows us to contrast the positive (red) and negative (blue) dipoles in a spatial environment (Figure 3).



FIGURE 2 Dendrogram that relates the electrostatic potential of the RhD sequence to other proteins. The distances range from 0.321 to 0.915 Å.

Structural alignment

We compared the three-dimensional shape and conformation of the Rh proteins with the 7UZQ template. The alignment was used to identify the equivalences between the structures based on the information of the three-dimensional conformations of the template, since the method can be applied only to sequences of experimentally obtained structures. The result is a superposition of the atomic coordinate sets. The RhCE proteins aligned on the RhCE and RhD with the RhAG.

The calculation of global RMSD shows the divergences between RhD and RhCE. The average RMSD of the inter-Rh comparison (RhD vs. RhCE) is 0.46 \pm 0.04 Å, and the intra-RhCE comparison gives an average RMSD of 0.57 \pm 0.08 Å (Table 2).

Analysis of protein position within the lipid bilayer

The percentage of transmembrane AA of RhD is 50.24% and RhCE ranges from 73.08% to 76.68%. The exofacial AAs are also different; RhD has 33.89% whereas RhCE has 7.45%-11.3%. However, the amount of cytoplasmic AAs is the same for all five proteins (Table 3). In all cases, the terminal amino and carboxyl groups were cytoplasmic, but they differed in the number of transmembrane steps; only RhCe had 11, while the others had 12.

The percentage of AA in the transmembrane region determines its thickness. The RhAG thickness is 34.2 Å; on average, the four RhCE forms have 33.83 Å. However, in RhD, the membrane is



FIGURE 3 Tertiary structures of Rh proteins. Lateral view, (a) cartoon mode, (b) surface mode (positive [red] and negative [blue] dipoles). (c) Apical view in relation to the erythrocyte membrane. The identification of each protein is found at the bottom.

32.38% thinner (23 Å). The difference in the transmembrane region between RhD and RhAG is 11 Å. In Figure 4, we show the overlap of RhD over RhAG and RhCE over RhAG; this is to show that the thickness of the transmembrane region and AA coupling is more feasible between RhCE/RhAG than RhD/RhAG.

886

TABLE 2 Comparison of the root mean square deviation (RMSD) of the atomic positions in Å, determined using IPBA.

RMSD (Å)						
	RhD	RhcE	Rhce	RhCe	RhCE	
RhD		0.47	0.5	0.46	0.41	
RhcE	0.47		0.62	0.63	0.48	
Rhce	0.5	0.62		0.64	0.62	
RhCe	0.46	0.63	0.64		0.53	
RhCE	0.41	0.48	0.62	0.53		

As suggested by Vallese et al [2], the AA of Rh proteins interacting with RHAG1, RHAG2 and ankyrin-1 is conserved in the five proteins in the transmembrane regions. However, in RhD, residues Phe_{27} and Tyr₂₈ are located in L1 (Figure 4).

From the PBDsum detailed secondary structure assignment, we extracted the structure and number of each residue and calculated the percentage of identity of the five proteins. The percentage between RhcE/RhD was 91.58%, although the AA sequence most similar to RhD was RhCe (Table 3).

Figure 3 shows the orientation of the tertiary structures. The exofacial RhD loops are 3.89 times longer than the RhCE forms (Figure 3a,b). Apically, the exofacial topology is different for the five proteins (Figure 3c).

The perimeter of the trapezium is 89.51 Å in RhD and 97.98 ± 0.78 Å in RhCE. The L1-L4 distance is similar among the five proteins, and L4-L6 is the largest difference (Table 4).

TABLE 3 The first three columns describe the percentage of amino acids in the regions: Transmembrane, exofacial and cytoplasmic. The hydrophobic thickness refers to the calculated thickness of the membrane based on the percentage of amino acids in this region.

				Hvdrophobic	Comparison between the four forms of RhCE and RhD according to their structure (% similarity)		
Protein	%Trans	%Exof	%Cyto	thickness (Å)	1a structure	2a structure	3a structure
RhD	50.24	33.89	15.87	23.0			
RhcE	75.24	8.17	16.59	35.1	91.346	91.587	91.707
Rhce	76.68	7.93	15.38	33.3	91.587	87.981	89.183
RhCe	73.08	11.30	15.63	34.5	92.067	90.144	89.784
RhCE	76.68	7.45	15.87	35.0	91.827	90.505	91.106

Note: % Trans, percentage of transmembrane amino acids. % Exof, percentage of exofacial amino acids; % Cyto, percentage of cytoplasmic amino acids.



FIGURE 4 Alignment of RhD and RhCE on RhAG. Note the difference in thickness of the transmembrane regions between RhD and RhAG. The amino acids involved in the association with RhAG1, RhAG2 and ankyrin-1 are centred in ball and stick. The black circle indicates residues Phe₂₇, Tyr₂₈ in loop 1 of RHD, which make the coupling with RhAG less stable. Membranes are shown in RhAG green, RhD yellow and RhCE orange. Protein identification is at the top of the figure.

The four RhCE antigens differ in the combination of microdomains and secondary structures found in four regions. The difference between the C and c antigens are in L1 (Ser₃₆-Leu₃₇) and L2 (Pro_{101}),

TABLE 4 Distance between the $C\alpha$ of the four exofacial amino acid and perimeter of the trapezoid formed from the five shapes analysed.

	Distance (Å)				
	L2-L6 Pro-Trp 101-352	L1-L2 Ser-Pro 36-101	L4-L1 Pro ^a -Ser 230-36	L6-L4 Trp-Pro ^a 352-230	Perimeter
RhD	33.6	16.42	18.67	20.82	89.51
RhcE	36.71	17.9	18.09	24.54	97.24
RhCE	37.3	18.44	17.77	25.38	98.89
Rhce	36.25	18.91	19.69	23.52	98.37
RhCe	37.44	18.22	17.84	23.92	97.42
Mean	36.26	17.978	18.412	23.636	97.98

Abbreviation: L, loop.

^aIn RhD, Gly replaces Pro in 230.

and between the E and e antigens, it is in L6 (Val₃₅₁-Met₃₅₇). L4 (Arg₂₂₈-Pro₂₃₀) is different only in the Rhce form (Figure 5).

Figure 6 presents a schematic summary of the four structural levels of the five proteins studied, highlighting the exofacial topological differences, transmembrane distribution and similarity of cytoplasmic regions.

DISCUSSION

The scheme of Wagner and Flegel [23] was the cornerstone for revealing the differences between RhD and RhCE. Their figure shows the secondary structure of a single protein and highlights the 35 AA positions that distinguish the forms of RhCE and RhD. This is logical, assuming that the genes they encode are highly homologous. Since then, studies have suggested that transmembrane changes do not affect exofacial loops or that the changes should involve more than one AA. However, altering a single AA affect not only the structure but also the solubility profile of the protein, to the extent that recognition by antibodies is altered. The RHCE*ceRT [24] and RHCE*ceSL02 [25] alleles are examples of how the change of one



FIGURE 5 Apical view of possible antigenic sites. The differences between E/e are in L6, while those of C/c are in L1 and L2. Rhce is the only one with differences in L4. Solid lines identify C (white) and c (purple) antigens. Dashed lines represent E (white) and e (grey).



FIGURE 6 Secondary structures of the RhD and RhCE. Note the difference in the length of the exofacial loops of RhD compared with RhCE proteins. Amino acids interacting with ankyrin-1, RhAG1 and RhAG2 in the transmembrane and cytoplasmic regions are labelled. The colour identification code is within the image.

AA (p.Arg154Thr and p.Ser122Leu, respectively) exposes RhD epitopes usually lacking.

We derived the effects of AA substitutions on the final confirmation of Rh proteins by determining the physicochemical profile of each protein based on analysis of hydrophobicity, EP, secondary structure and comparison of tertiary structures. Then, we created 3D models of RhD and RhCE to compare the protein regions that may explain the antigenic differences.

Homology modelling is a robust approach for comparing structural models, but it is directly associated with the accessibility of related protein templates. The PDBID:3HD6 was used to analyse some RHD variants. Srivastava et al. [26] created a structural model of RhD where they localized the positions of the DAU variants. de Brevern et al. [27] linked the structural changes in Phe223 to the risk of alloimmunization. In contrast to the other proposals, they suggested a specific two-dimensional (2D) structure for each change. Floch et al. [10] used comparative models to obtain 3D structural information about RhD variants associated with anti-D formation. However, like Srivastava, they mapped the positions of the different variants onto the structural model.

Although the sequences of Rh proteins are $91.71 \pm 0.31\%$ similar, they are distributed differently on the membrane because of the hydrophobicity of their AA, such that the hydrophobic thickness of RhCE is greater than RhD, which facilitates interaction with RhAG. The binding between RhD and RhAG would be less spatially stable because two of the AAs would be outside the membrane in the case of RhD. One of

the questions at the forefront of Vallese's study is: why was RhCE only observed in complexes with RhAG? Our results suggest that the hydrophobic region of RHAG (34.2 Å) is very similar to that of the four RhCE forms, which average 33.83 Å. From a stoichiometric viewpoint, the hydrophobic region of RhD is 11 Å narrower; this explains that its exofacial loops are 3.89 times longer than those of the RhCE isoforms, and the coupling with RhAG would be unstable.

Several proteins form the macrocomplex of the erythrocyte membrane, whose quaternary structure results from their interactions. The cytoplasmic and transmembrane regions of the proteins analysed are conserved, possibly because of interactions with RhAG and ankyrin. The exofacial β and γ turns are the only 'free' regions defined by interactions, with the microenvironment being the most variable region of the five forms. In practice, these differences are indeed present because anti-RhD antibodies do not recognize RhCE forms, and there are differences between the latter that make them special.

It is true that the experimentally obtained structures are more accurate. However, it must be taken into account that they were obtained under controlled, even 'artificial' conditions, and the structure is the product of these 'stressed' zones. Even though the data from the computational models may not be as accurate, it is possible to theoretically control these changes. When we compared the RhCE models with the model obtained by Vallese, they were fitted to the RhCE structure, while RhD was fitted to RhAG, indicating that they are different proteins, confirming the models obtained by computational biology.

Vox Sanguinis SST International Society

The structures of RhD and RhCE are different. EP values are specific for each protein, which means that organizes differently in the same solvent. Conformational differences of the loops in length and sequence were to be expected. However, they may also be a consequence of the conformational flexibility of the fully folded polypeptide.

The differences between RhD and RhCE are traditionally explained by changes in five AAs at positions 15, 59, 67, 102 and 225. Two changes stand out, the first at 102 because it is exofacial and distinguishes C/c. The second is 225 because it is the only change in E/e. However, our data suggest that these substitutions are largely transmembrane but have an effect on the exofacial conformation. Thus, when microdomains and secondary structures are analysed, the difference between C and c is in L1 (Ser₃₆-Leu₃₇) and L2 (Pro₁₀₁). The difference between antigens E and e is in L6 (Val₃₅₁-Met₃₅₇). The Rhce is the only one with the difference L4 (Arg₂₂₈-Pro₂₃₀).

It has been suggested that the G antigen is exposed in RhD, RhCe and RhCE, which is caused by the p.Ser102Pro variation. Our results suggest that the structural change is not due to the variant but is a consequence of interaction with other AA, not only with the lateral AA in the primary structure but also through physicochemical interactions with others in the tertiary structure, more so with AA of other proteins in the complex (quaternary structure). We suggest that this change is not necessarily in L2 (Phe₁₀₀-Ser₁₀₂), because the structural microdomains and the secondary structures predicted with IPBA and PBDsum are the same in that region in all five proteins.

When experimental data are not available (as in the case of RhD), it is difficult to validate a computational protein model in a meaningful way because the obtained model does not necessarily have the best geometry and conformational value close to the real model. Therefore, it is very important to balance the tools used to validate the models.

In conclusion, although they are homologous genes, the proteins of the five Rh forms differ because of their particular physicochemical properties. We believe that explaining the differences in these proteins by selectively replacing the model proposed by Wagner and Flegel is not correct because it does not allow us to demonstrate the structural differences between the Rh variants.

Using computational biology, we can model structures sufficiently precise and similar to those obtained experimentally, allowing us to assume the 'topological' differences that an antibody recognizes. The G+, RHCE*ceRT+ and RHCE*ceSL.02+ phenotypes, among others, prove that the variation in the AA sequence (primary structure) conformationally alters the tertiary structure. In addition, the interactions with the other proteins modify the electrostatic environment, which changes the spatial conformations (quaternary structure) and therefore the antigenic recognition.

Our proposal allows us to obtain a unique physicochemical profile that takes into account the theoretical differences and the possible consequences of antigen recognition.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

R.T.-G. and H.E.-J. designed the research study, performed the research, acquired and analysed the data and wrote the paper;

F.R.-M. and M.L.D.-L. wrote the first draft of the manuscript; H.A.B.-G. reviewed the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

All authors of this article declare that they have no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are openly available for RhCe: https://figshare.com/s/07dea47d376261626e16; RhCE: https://figshare.com/s/98ada4cf838e77a96d51; RhcE: https://figs hare.com/s/5f15497e7b018c6c54d0; Rhce: https://figshare.com/s/ 09572b82b5808c403bf4; RhD https://figshare.com/s/17f4142244 6d5cee04eb.

ORCID

Rocio Trueba-Gómez b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4890-8870 Higinio Estrada-Juárez b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5105-8777

REFERENCES

- Satchwell TJ, Bell AJ, Hawley BR, Pellegrin S, Mordue KE, van Deursen CT, et al. Severe ankyrin-R deficiency results in impaired surface retention and lysosomal degradation of RhAG in human erythroblasts. Haematologica. 2016;101:1018–27.
- Vallese F, Kim K, Yen LY, Johnston JD, Noble AJ, Cali T, et al. Architecture of the human erythrocyte ankyrin-1 complex. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2022;29:706–18.
- Nicolas V, Le Van Kim C, Gane P, Birkenmeier C, Cartron JP, Colin Y, et al. Rh-RhAG/ankyrin-R, a new interaction site between the membrane bilayer and the red cell skeleton, is impaired by Rh(null)associated mutation. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:25526–33.
- Salomao M, Zhang X, Yang Y, Lee S, Hartwig JH, Chasis JA, et al. Protein 4.1R-dependent multiprotein complex: new insights into the structural organization of the red blood cell membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:8026–31.
- Avent ND, Ridgwell K, Tanner MJ, Anstee DJ. cDNA cloning of a 30 kDa erythrocyte membrane protein associated with Rh (Rhesus)blood-group-antigen expression. Biochem J. 1990;271:821–5.
- Cherif-Zahar B, Bloy C, Le Van Kim C, Blanchard D, Bailly P, Hermand P, et al. Molecular cloning and protein structure of a human blood group Rh polypeptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1990; 87:6243–7.
- Flegel WA. The genetics of the Rhesus blood group system. Blood Transfus. 2007;5:50–7.
- Arce MA, Thompson ES, Wagner S, Coyne KE, Ferdman BA, Lublin DM. Molecular cloning of RhD cDNA derived from a gene present in RhD-positive, but not RhD-negative individuals. Blood. 1993;82:651–5.
- Le van Kim C, Mouro I, Cherif-Zahar B, Raynal V, Cherrier C, Cartron JP, et al. Molecular cloning and primary structure of the human blood group RhD polypeptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89:10925–9.
- Floch A, Pirenne F, Barrault A, Chami B, Toly-Ndour C, Tournamille C, et al. Insights into anti-D formation in carriers of RhD variants through studies of 3D intraprotein interactions. Transfusion. 2021;61:1286–301.
- Zhang X, Li G, Zhou Z, Shao C, Huang X, Li L, et al. Molecular and computational analysis of 45 samples with a serologic weak D phenotype detected among 132,479 blood donors in Northeast China. J Transl Med. 2019;17:393.
- 12. Meireles MR, Stelmach LH, Bandinelli E, Vieira GF. Unveiling the influence of factor VIII physicochemical properties on hemophilia

A phenotype through an in silico methodology. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2022;219:106768.

- Zhang Y. Progress and challenges in protein structure prediction. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2008;18:342–8.
- 14. Floudas CA. Computational methods in protein structure prediction. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2007;97:207–13.
- Conroy MJ, Bullough PA, Merrick M, Avent ND. Modelling the human rhesus proteins: implications for structure and function. Br J Haematol. 2005;131:543–51.
- Gruswitz F, Chaudhary S, Ho JD, Schlessinger A, Pezeshki B, Ho CM, et al. Function of human Rh based on structure of RhCG at 2.1 A. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:9638–43.
- Laskowski RA, Jablonska J, Pravda L, Varekova RS, Thornton JM. PDBsum: structural summaries of PDB entries. Protein Sci. 2018;27:129–34.
- Zhou X, Zheng W, Li Y, Pearce R, Zhang C, Bell EW, et al. I-TASSER-MTD: a deep-learning-based platform for multi-domain protein structure and function prediction. Nat Protoc. 2022;17:2326–53.
- McGuffin LJ, Aldowsari FMF, Alharbi SMA, Adiyaman R. Mod-FOLD8: accurate global and local quality estimates for 3D protein models. Nucleic Acids Res. 2021;49:W425–30.
- Frishman D, Argos P. Knowledge-based protein secondary structure assignment. Proteins. 1995;23:566–79.
- Gelly JC, Joseph AP, Srinivasan N, de Brevern AG. iPBA: a tool for protein structure comparison using sequence alignment strategies. Nucleic Acids Res. 2011;39:W18–23.
- Postic G, Ghouzam Y, Gelly JC. OREMPRO web server: orientation and assessment of atomistic and coarse-grained structures of membrane proteins. Bioinformatics. 2016;32:2548–50.

- Wagner FF, Gassner C, Muller TH, Schonitzer D, Schunter F, Flegel WA. Molecular basis of weak D phenotypes. Blood. 1999;93: 385-93.
- Wagner FF, Ladewig B, Flegel WA. The RHCE allele ceRT: D epitope 6 expression does not require D-specific amino acids. Transfusion. 2003;43:1248–54.
- Chen Q, Hustinx H, Flegel WA. The RHCE allele ceSL: the second example for D antigen expression without D-specific amino acids. Transfusion. 2006;46:766–72.
- Srivastava K, Polin H, Sheldon SL, Wagner FF, Grabmer C, Gabriel C, et al. The DAU cluster: a comparative analysis of 18 RHD alleles, some forming partial D antigens. Transfusion. 2016;56:2520-31.
- de Brevern AG, Floch A, Barrault A, Martret J, Bodivit G, Djoudi R, et al. Alloimmunization risk associated with amino acid 223 substitution in the RhD protein: analysis in the light of molecular modeling. Transfusion. 2018;58:2683–92.

How to cite this article: Trueba-Gómez R, Rosenfeld-Mann F, Baptista-González HA, Domínguez-López ML, Estrada-Juárez H. Use of computational biology to compare the theoretical tertiary structures of the most common forms

of RhCE and RhD. Vox Sang. 2023;118:881-90.

Revised: 25 July 2023

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13510

SHORT REPORT



Removal of UK-donor deferral for variant Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease: A large donation gain in Australia

Veronica C. Hoad ¹ 💿	
Hamish McManus ² 💿	

Matthew Law² | John Kaldor² | Jain B. Gosbell^{1,3}

Clive R. Seed¹[©] | Philip Kiely¹[©] | Claire E. Styles¹[©] |

¹Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

²Kirby Institute, University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

³School of Medicine, Western Sydney University, Penrith, New South Wales, Australia

Correspondence

Veronica C. Hoad, Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Melbourne, VIC, Australia. Email: vhoad@redcrossblood.org.au

Funding information

National Health and Medical Research Council, Grant/Award Number: APP1151959

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Until 25 July 2022, people who spent more than 6 months in the United Kingdom during the variant Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease (vCJD) risk period 1980-1996 (UK donors) were deferred from blood donation in Australia. Regulatory approval to remove the deferral was underpinned by published mathematical modelling predicting negligible vCJD transmission risk increase with a gain of 58,000 donations.

Materials and Methods: The donor questionnaire retained the UK deferral screening question until a version update effective 12 February 2023, which enabled identification of the newly eligible cohort of UK donors. Their donations were tracked for a 6-month period (25 July 2022-24 January 2023) and compared with baseline Lifeblood donation metrics and predicted gains.

Results: A total of 38,462 UK donors attended to donate 78,762 times in the 6 months. Of these, 32,358 donors (females = 19,456, males = 12,902) successfully donated 67,914 times representing 8.4% of total collections.

Conclusion: Cessation of the UK deferral resulted in donation gains exceeding modelled predictions because of a higher than predicted number of donors who donated at a higher rate. Had these newly eligible donors not donated, overall donation numbers would have been 88% of target rather than the 96% achieved.

Keywords

blood donation, blood safety, donor eligibility, transfusion transmitted infections, vCJD

Highlights

- In Australia, from December 2000 until discontinuation in July 2022, Lifeblood indefinitely deferred people with prior residency in, or extended travel to, the United Kingdom during the variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD) risk period, 1980-1996.
- Removing the vCJD UK geographical deferral has resulted in a large donation gain without any negative vCJD-risk impact to date.
- Other countries with a vCJD UK deferral could consider the risk-benefit of removing the deferral.

INTRODUCTION

Australian Red Cross Lifeblood (Lifeblood) collects a combined total of 1.6 million donations annually from around 515,000 donors [1]. From December 2000 until discontinuation in July 2022. Lifeblood indefinitely deferred people with prior residency in, or extended travel to, the United Kingdom during the variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD) risk period 1980-1996 to mitigate the potential blood safety risk. Regulatory approval to discontinue the deferral was supported by published mathematical modelling that concluded cessation of the deferral would still result in a negligible blood safety risk [2]. The modelling also predicted that the increase in eligible donors associated with ceasing the deferral would result in an estimated 737,112 people in the Australian population becoming eligible to donate, translating into a predicted increase of over 17,000 donors and almost 58,000 donations annually, assuming these newly eligible donors donated at the same rate as the Australian population.

After receipt of the required regulatory and government approvals, the deferral was removed effective 25 July 2022. However, because additional government approvals are required to change the donor questionnaire (DQ), Lifeblood retained the UK-residency screening question until a version update on 12 February 2023. This permitted identification of the newly eligible donor cohort consisting of both returning (lapsed who have not donated in at least 2 years but have donated previously) and entirely new donors allowing metrics of these donors to be tracked and compared with baseline Lifeblood donor metrics and the modelled predictions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Identifying currently deferred and newly eligible donors

Lifeblood's national blood management system, ePROGESA (MAK-SYSTEM, France), has an electronic medical questionnaire used to record donors' responses and deferrals. From December 2000, Lifeblood's DQ Section A contained the following screening question, which is asked of new and lapsed donors only-From 1 January 1980 through to 31 December 1996 inclusive, have you spent (visited or lived) a total time which adds up to 6 months or more in England, Scotland, Wales, Northern Ireland, the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man, or the Falkland Islands? A 'Yes' answer resulted in indefinite deferral. These donors, previously deferred because of a geographical risk factor, are referred to as 'UK donors' in this paper. From 25 July 2022, a system enhancement resulted in no action from the question and donors were permitted to donate if they answered yes.

A report was developed to identify donors who answered 'Yes' to the UK screening question at their first donation during the period following cessation of the deferral, or for previously deferred donors who had a UK deferral. This included therapeutic donors, that is, donors with hereditary haemochromatosis who underwent phlebotomy for discard who were not required to complete Section A.

Donation metrics

From 25 July 2022 until 24 January 2023 (6-month study period), the number of donor attendances, successful donations and donation types from previously deferred (returned donors) and newly eligible (new donors) UK donors was tabulated. The collection success rate (number of successful collections per number of attendances) was calculated as well as the proportional contribution of UK donors to total collections and the deferral/plasma for fractionation restriction rate.

RESULTS

A total of 38.462 UK donors attended to donate 78.762 times: attendances peaked at 14.4% of total in the first week, stabilized at 8.57% after the first 3 weeks then increased slightly to 8.7% in the last week. Of these donors, 32,358 (females = 19,456, males = 12,902) successfully donated 67,914 times during the study period, representing 8.4% of the 804.830 total Lifeblood collections in the period, at an average collection success rate of 86.2%. New donors made up 84.5% of the total newly eligible UK-donor cohort (27,346 of 32,358) compared with 12.4% of total panel donors during 2022. The eligible UK-donor cohort was comparatively older, 51 years compared with 43 years for all donors, and the proportion over 60 was 22.5% versus 17.6% in all donors.

Of the 67,914 total donations (excluding discards and autologous, n = 276), 40,101 were transfusible component donations and 27,537 were plasma donations for further manufacture (Table 1). The trend of weekly donations by newly eligible UK donors showed an initial peak in the first 2 weeks (4020 and 3229 for weeks 1 and 2, respectively) with a subsequent stabilization, maintaining high donation rates with a weekly average of 2866 in the last 2 weeks of the study period (Figure 1).

During the same period, the collection success rate for all donors was 93.1%, higher than the UK donor rate of 86.2%. The most frequent single reasons for deferral or plasma restriction in the UK group (Table 2) were a transfusion in the United Kingdom, medical conditions such as high blood pressure and malignancy, and use of osteoporosis drugs that are associated with age.

TABLE 1 Donation modality by female and male UK	donors.
--	---------

Donation type	Female	Male	Total
Autologous	18	2	20
Clinical apheresis plasma	0	2868	2868
Plateletpheresis collection	0	597	597
Homologous whole blood	21,550	14,137	35,687
Source plasma for fractionation	16,567	10,970	27,537
Therapeutic: discard	72	184	256
Therapeutic: usable	297	652	949
Total	38,504	29,410	67,914

893



FIGURE 1 Weekly attendances and donation totals for the newly eligibly UK donors.

TABLE 2	Unique deferral/plasma restriction counts among UK
donors.	

Deferral/plasma for fractionation restriction reason ^a	Count	Proportion in period among all donors (%)
Transfusion in UK [variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD) risk]	246	0.19
Medical condition under investigation	243	8.6
Untreated high blood pressure	189	1.12
Donor safety assessment required for condition	151	3.71
Veins unsuitable for whole blood	148	0.68
Therapeutic donor awaiting approval	80	1.05
Malignancy	78	0.36
Malaria	73	51.73
Medical Officer deferral	59	0.23
Denosumab	57	0.54
Other	2910	31.80

^aSome reasons (e.g., 'Malaria') are not outright deferrals but a time-based restriction to donation for plasma for fractionation.

DISCUSSION

Cessation of the UK deferral in Australia has resulted in gains over the first 6 months of almost 68,000 donations, substantially exceeding modelled predictions. The additional newly eligible, successful UK donors made a substantial contribution to supporting local blood sufficiency at a time when donations were below Lifeblood's total internal targets due to multiple factors including COVID-19 pandemic impacts. Had these newly eligible donors not donated, total donations would have been 88% of total target in the second half of 2022, rather than the 96% achieved. Based on the donation frequency to date of 2.1 donations in 6 months versus 2.9 per annum for all panel donors,

the cohort of UK donors appears highly committed. The additional 27,537 plasma donations made a valuable contribution towards Australian plasma supply.

The trend of weekly donations by newly eligible UK donors indicates an initial peak in the first 2 weeks with a subsequent stabilization that, importantly, was maintained throughout the study period. The initial high uptake likely reflected several factors, including pre-implementation marketing activity centred on direct invitation to 7000 existing 'deferred' donors, targeted media [3], promotional activity and possibly a higher level of motivation in donors deferred for over 20 years. The media response was unprecedented with over 2000 media stories in the first 2 days of the campaign alone (Lifeblood, unpublished).

A key Lifeblood donation metric is the proportion of successful collections (collection success rate). The average collection success from UK donors was 4.7% lower than the new donor panel (86.2% vs. 90.9%). However, it steadily increased over the study period, from 80% in the first week to 90% in the last week. The lower rate early in the study period probably reflected both a higher rate of first-time donors, who have a lower collection success, as well as a higher proportion of older, lapsed donors who had a higher rate of deferral than the general donor population (Table 2). The deferral for a UK transfusion that remains due to vCJD risk is overrepresented in this cohort. Lifeblood has submitted a request to our regulator to have this deferral removed, as like the geographical deferral it is considered a negligible risk.

There are a number of possible reasons for the underestimation of the predicted number of newly eligible donors. An important model assumption was that the newly eligible population would donate at the same rate as the general population, but our data demonstrate a higher donation rate. Travel data are incomplete because information on accrued durations of short-term travel in individuals was not directly available potentially leading to underestimation of the number of people affected by the UK deferral. People who had in fact spent less than 6 months may have answered 'yes' if they were unsure of the time in the United Kingdom. Blood donation [4] is associated with higher socio-economic status and the UK donor cohort may represent a relatively high socio-economic group of targeted skilled migrants [5]. Another possible contributor is a higher level of initial donation commitment among the substantial proportion who had previously been regular donors and had been unexpectedly subject to a new indefinite deferral, which prematurely halted their eligibility to donate. Finally, other contributing factors likely include the efforts made to directly contact deferred donors and a robust media campaign.

In conclusion, the removal of the UK deferral has had a substantial positive impact on the Lifeblood donor base and contributing significantly to our ability to maintain blood product supply during a challenging period. Furthermore, the additional plasma donations support plasma for fractionation targets aiming to improve self-sufficiency for plasma-derived blood products. Given we previously estimated the post-deferral removal risk of transfusion-transmission of vCJD as less than 1 in 1.4 billion for a clinical case, any residual risk impact is unlikely ever to materialize. Other countries such as the United States have removed the deferral [6] and our demonstrated increase supports that removing this deferral in other countries will increase other countries' self-sufficiency for plasma [7].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Australian governments fund Australian Red Cross Lifeblood for the provision of blood, blood products and services to the Australian community. This study was supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council, Grant/Award Number: APP1151959.

C.R.S. drafted the manuscript. V.C.H. did the data analysis. All authors contributed to manuscript review and finalization.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data not available-participant consent not obtained and aggregated data is presented in paper.

ORCID

Veronica C. Hoad https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7827-3661 Clive R. Seed https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0234-4507 Philip Kiely D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2849-7122 Claire E. Styles D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3840-847X Hamish McManus D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7264-8848

REFERENCES

- Kirby Institute UNSW and Australian Red Cross Lifeblood. Transfusiontransmissible infections in Australia: 2022 Surveillance Report. Available from: https://kirby.unsw.edu.au/report/transfusion-transmissibleinfections-australia-surveillance-report-2022
- McManus H, Seed CR, Hoad VC, Kiely P, Kaldor JM, Styles CE, et al. Risk of variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease transmission by blood transfusion in Australia. Vox Sang. 2022;117:1016–26.
- McManus H, Seed CR, Law M. People who lived in the UK in the 'mad cow disease' years may now be able to give blood. The risk of vCJD is tiny. The Conversation. 2022. Available from: https:// theconversation.com/people-who-lived-in-the-uk-in-the-mad-cowdisease-years-may-now-be-able-to-give-blood-the-risk-of-vcjd-istiny-183521
- Duboz P, Cunéo B. Impact of socioeconomic status on blood donation. Transfus Clin Biol. 2009;16:371–8.
- 5. Sumption M. The Australian points-based system: what is it and what would its impact be in the UK? Oxford: The Migration Observatory, University of Oxford; 2019. Available from: https:// migrationobservatory.ox.ac.uk/resources/reports/the-australian-pointsbased-system-what-is-it-and-what-would-its-impact-be-in-the-uk
- 6. Food and Drug Administration. Recommendations to reduce the possible risk of transfusion of Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease and variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease by blood and blood components; Guidance for Industry. Silver Spring, MD: Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA; 2022 [cited 2023 May 30]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/recommendations-reduce-possible-risk-transmission-creutzfeldt-jakob-disease-and-variant-creutzfeldt
- Thomas S, Roberts B, Domanović D, Kramer K, Klochkov D, Sivasubramaniyam S, et al. Safety profile of plasma for fractionation donated in the United Kingdom, with respect to variantCreutzfeldt-Jakobdisease. Vox Sang. 2023;118:345–53.

How to cite this article: Hoad VC, Seed CR, Kiely P, Styles CE, McManus H, Law M, et al. Removal of UK-donor deferral for variant Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease: A large donation gain in Australia. Vox Sang. 2023;118:891–4. Revised: 11 June 2023

SHORT REPORT



Identification of a novel variant c.761C>T on ABO*B.01 gene in ABO glycosyltransferases associated with B_{weak} phenotype

Hang Lei^{1,2} \square | Hui Zhang^{1,3} | Liujun Guo^{1,2} | Dong Xiang⁴ | Xuefeng Wang^{1,2} | Xi Liu⁴ | Xiaohong Cai^{1,2} \square

¹Department of Laboratory Medicine, Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

²Blood Transfusion Department, Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

³Department of Blood Transfusion, Minhang Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

⁴Blood Group Reference Laboratory, Shanghai Institute of Blood Transfusion, Shanghai Blood Center, Shanghai, China

Correspondence

Xi Liu, Blood Group Reference Laboratory, Shanghai Blood Center, No. 1197 Hongqiao Road, Shanghai 200051, China. Email: 13918205215@163.com

Xiaohong Cai, Blood Transfusion Department, Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, No. 197 Ruijin 2nd Road, Shanghai 200025, China. Email: cxh8407@shsmu.edu.cn

Funding information

National Natural Science Foundation of China, Grant/Award Number: 82000183; WeiGao Science Foundation of Chinese Society of Blood Transfusion, Grant/Award Number: CSBT-WG-2019-01

Abstract

Background and Objectives: ABO antigens are produced from H antigen by the activity of glycosyltransferase enzyme encoded by the *ABO* gene. Variants in the *ABO* gene can produce a weak ABO phenotype. In this study, we identify a novel *ABO*BW* allele and investigate the underlying mechanism leading to the B_{weak} phenotype.

Materials and Methods: The ABO phenotype and genotype of the sample were determined using serological and direct DNA sequencing methods. We assessed the impact of the novel variant by three-dimensional modelling to predict protein stability changes ($\Delta\Delta G$), and carried out an in vitro expression assay. The total glycosyltransferase transfer capacity in the supernatant of transfected cells was also examined.

Results: Serological analysis confirmed the B_{weak} phenotype in the subject, and gene sequencing identified a novel variant c.761C>T (p.A254V) on the ABO*B.01 allele, resulting in a BW-var/O.01.02 genotype. In silico analysis suggested that the p.A254V variant on the B allele may reduce the stability of glycosyltransferase B (GTB), as indicated by the $\Delta\Delta G$ values. In vitro expression studies showed that the variant p.A254V impaired H to B antigen conversion, although it did not affect the expression of GTB.

Conclusion: We identified a novel *BW* allele and demonstrated that the variant c.761C>T (p.A254V) can cause the B_{weak} phenotype by reducing the stability of GTB.

Keywords

ABO, novel allele, subgroup, variant

Highlights

- Mutations in the glycosyltransferases encoded by the ABO gene can result in the weak ABO phenotype.
- A novel BW allele c.761C>T has been identified.
- The novel BW allele could reduce the stability of glycosyltransferase B to cause the B_{weak} phenotype.

Hang Lei and Hui Zhang contributed equally to this study.

INTRODUCTION

The ABO blood system plays a crucial role in transfusion medicine [1]. The ABO gene spans approximately 19.5 kb on chromosome 9q34.1q34.2 and comprises a 1062 -bp coding region with seven exons and several regulatory elements [2]. The last two exons (exons 6 and 7) encode for the catalytic domain of ABO glycosyltransferases (GTs), representing 77% of the GT [3-5]. Most individuals have a standard ABO blood group phenotype, such as A, B, AB and O. Genetic alterations in the ABO gene, such as missense variant, insertions or deletions in coding regions, splicing sites or regulatory elements, can lead to weak expression of A or B antigens [6-8]. To date, more than 300 ABO subgroup alleles have been reported globally, including weak A, weak B, CisAB and B(A) subgroups. ABO subgroups have a low frequency of around 0.015% in China [9].

Weak B subgroups are rare and typically identified by apparent discrepancies between red cell typing and reverse grouping by serum or plasma. However, the molecular mechanism underlying weak B subgroups is still unclear. In this study, we identified a novel variant ABO*B c.761C>T (p.A254V) in a donor with the B_{weak} phenotype and investigated the possible mechanisms underlying this weak subgroup.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects and phenotype

Peripheral venous blood samples were collected from a blood donor. The ABO phenotype was determined using the IH1000 system (Bio-Rad, Roanne, France). On encountering a discrepancy, we followed up with a manual tube method and adsorption-elution test according to AABB technical manual [10]. In the tube method, monoclonal anti-A, anti-B, anti-A1, anti-H and ABO red blood cell kit (SHPBC, Shanghai, China) were used. Samples from 120 Chinese donors were used as normal controls.

ABO gene amplification and sequencing

Genomic DNA was extracted from the blood sample using a blood DNA kit (Tiangen, Beijing, China). All seven exons of the ABO gene were amplified using primers as previously described [11]. The polymerase chain reaction products were purified and sequenced using an ABI 377 sequencer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The haplotypes were confirmed by cloning and sequencing the gel-purified products containing the variant site [5].

Modelling of the three-dimensional structure of GT

The x-ray structure of glycosyltransferase B (GTB; PDB code, 3SXE) was used as the template to construct the initial molecular model. The in silico variant was modelled using Chimera software (version 1.11.2,

University of California, San Francisco, CA) [12]. The structural figures were generated using Chimera or prepared by visual molecular dynamics (VMD) [13].

Predicted protein stability changes in variants

The site directed mutator (SDM) field in DUET was used to calculate the difference in free energy of the variant: ddG ($\Delta\Delta G$) based on the GTB enzymes (PDB code, 3SXE) to examine the effect of the variant on protein stability. The predicted results are expressed as the variation in $\Delta\Delta G$ and the negative values denote destabilizing mutations [14]. The PolyPhen-2 was applied to predict impact of the variant on the structure and function of GTB. Two pairs of datasets. HumDiv and HumVar, were used to train and test PolyPhen-2 prediction models. The outcome can be one of probably damaging, possibly damaging or benign based on the scores.

In vitro expression of GTB variant p.A254V

The full-length ABO*B.01 cDNA was cloned into expression vector pcDNA3.1 containing the 1X FLAG gene. Site-directed mutagenesis (QuikChange mutagenesis kit, Stratagene, Waldbronn, Germany) was used to introduce the variant p.A254V. HeLa cells were transfected with wild-type or variant-type vectors using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The empty expression vector was transfected as a negative control. The total GTB transfer capacity in the supernatant of transfected HeLa cells was determined by standard serologic tube method [8]. To avoid the interference caused by the operation of different technicians, the test was done three times.

Western blot

Transfected cells were lysed, and the proteins in the cell lysates were measured by bicinchoninic acid method. Western blotting was done using rabbit anti-FLAG antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO). The β-actin protein was used as a control. The protein bands were detected using chemiluminescence reagents (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL).

RESULTS

Characterization of blood group phenotype

The serologic results indicated a discrepancy between the forward and reverse typing (Table 1). The subject S777's red blood cells (RBCs) did not react with anti-A and anti-A1, but showed mix-field agglutination with anti-AB and anti-B in the tube tests. However, subject S777's serum strongly agglutinated A1 cells. Consequently, subject S777 was suspected to be B_{weak} subgroup (Table 1).

897

TABLE 1 ABO subgroup phenotype for the blood donor.

	Forward typing				Reverse typing			
No.	Anti-A	Anti-A ₁	Anti-B	Anti-AB	Anti-H	A ₁	В	0
S777	_	_	1 + mf	1 + mf	4+	4+	-	-

Note: A1 indicates red blood cells with A1 phenotype; B indicates red blood cells with B phenotype; O indicates red blood cells with O phenotype. '-' indicates negative reaction.

TABLE 2 The one novel ABO subgroup allele in this study.

No.	Allele	Critical nucleotide change	Corresponding amino acid change	Phenotype	Genotype	GenBank No.
S777	BW-var	c.761C>T	p.A254V	B _{weak}	BW-var/0.01.02	KF751861



FIGURE 1 The DNA sequence of the region around nucleotide position c.761. The top chromatogram reveals a heterozygous status at c.761. The bottom chromatogram reveals the sequences of the isolated variant *B* allele after cloning. The nucleotide in box denotes the variant site.

ABO gene sequence analysis

Sequence analysis identified one novel variant (Table 2), which was not found in 120 random healthy Chinese individuals with common ABO blood groups. This novel variant c.761C>T (p.A254V) was detected in the *B.01* allele in subject S777 (GenBank No. KF751861) and was confirmed through cloning (Figure 1). It has not been found in other parts of the world according to the websites of PubMed, Erythrogene [15] and the International Society of Blood Transfusion (ISBT). We have submitted data on the novel variant to the ISBT for allele designation.

Three-dimensional structural analysis of the variant

The complete structure of the unliganded wild-type GTB and V254 variants was mainly built from the crystal structure 3SXE (Figure 2a,b), which is an unliganded x-ray structure of GTB enzyme. By comparing the static structure of the 3SXE wild-type and V254 variant, the root mean square deviation (RMSD) of the two structures was 0.855 Å, which represents the magnitude of the motion of each atom of the enzyme, indicating no significant change in the overall structure and charge of the proteins between the wild-type and variant. The results of Chimera analysis showed that the hydrogen bond structure around



FIGURE 2 The different conformations in wild-type and variant glycosyltransferase B (GTB). The amino acids were coloured by elements in a ball and sticks method. O, N, C and H atoms represented by red, blue, long silver and short sticks. (a) The overall structure of the wild-type GTB and the side of A254 is coloured in blue. (b) The overall structure of the variant GTB and the side of V254 was coloured in blue. (c) The comparative structural compassion of wild-type and variant GTB. The wild-type was coloured in cyan and the variant was in red. (d) Impact of the variant on the structure and function of GTB. The top result was based on HumDiv, and the bottom was based on HumVar.

the 254 site did not change significantly between the wild-type and variant GTB (Figure 2c). The location of A254 was far away from the substrate binding site, and the variant of this site did not significantly shift or change the structure of helix in the His301-Arg312 region. Consequently, the variant did not have a direct effect on the substrate binding pocket. Thus, the weak phenotype was not caused by changing the local conformation of GTs.

Prediction of the stability of the GTB variant

898

Protein stability is affected by alterations in the number of hydrogen bonds, disruption of salt bridges or other changes in protein folding. Based on the three-dimensional (3D) structure analysis, the hydrogen bonds around the 254 site did not change significantly. Therefore, we hypothesized that GTB stability may be affected by the variant. To evaluate the effect of the variant on GT stability, we calculated the protein thermodynamic stability changes of the variant. We built homology models based on the 3SXE by DUET. The variant from ALA to VAL at position 254 resulted in a $\Delta\Delta G$ of -0.64 kcal/mol, implying that the variant can reduce protein stability. According to the PolyPhen-2 analysis, this variant was predicted to be probably damaging with a score of 0.986 based on HumDiv and possibly damaging with a score of 0.748 based on HumVar (Figure 2d). Thus, the p.A254V variant could impair the stability of GTB.

In vitro expression of GTB and variant p.A254V in HeLa cells

The supernatant from HeLa cells transfected with wild-type GTB showed a high dilution (1:2048) of catalytic ability to convert O type red cells into B type red cells, while the p.A254V variant GTB could only reach 1:16 (Figure 3a). The results of Western Blot showed that the synthesis of GTB protein was not significantly affected by the p.A254V variant (Figure 3b). Thus, the weak B antigen expression on RBCs may be caused by the dysfunction of the variant GTB.

DISCUSSION

The B_{weak} subtype of the B blood group is characterized by a low expression of B antigens on RBCs and is a general term of sub-phenotype to classify variant phenotypes of the B blood

899



FIGURE 3 p.A254V did not affect glycosyltransferase B (GTB) expression but its function. (a) The dots in the plot represent the mean agglutination intensity \pm SD of three independent experiments using a serial dilution of monoclonal anti-B antibody up to 2048-fold. p < 0.01 by a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). (b) Western blot analysis of GTs produced by HeLa cells transfected with wild-type (WT) and variant constructs. β -Actin was used as loading control.

group [16]. According to the ISBT, there are 34 such alleles known [7, 17-20]. In this study, we identified a novel BW allele, containing a variant (c.761C>T, p.A254V) on the ABO*B.01 allele. The variant could result in the Bweak phenotype by impairing stability of the GTB protein and significantly downregulating the expression of B antigens on RBCs.

Subject S777's serologic result showed a mix-field aggregation with anti-B and anti-AB, but a strong aggregation of A1 cells, suggesting a Bweak subgroup. Gene sequencing confirmed the presence of the c.761C>T (p.A254V) variant, which significantly reduced the expression of B antigens on RBCs. However, Western blot analysis revealed that the variant did not affect the synthesis and expression of GTB protein in HeLa cells. Total GTB transfer capacity test showed that the variant GTB had lost most of its capability to convert O type into B type cells. Therefore, the low expression of B antigens on RBCs may be due to the dysfunctional variant GTB protein.

Different amino acids may play different roles in protein structure [21, 22]. Amino acid variants can affect protein structure, stability, substrate binding and specificity [23]. The substitution C>T at nucleotide position 761 has been reported in an Am allele named A112 and this variant could lead to a decrease in the level of serum transferase activity and may be responsible for the serological observations of the Am [5]. We found the same effect of the c.761C>T on the B allele in this study. To gain insights into the potential mechanisms of the protein change caused by the p.A254V variant, we performed 3D structural modelling and analysed the variant changes in the structure of protein. The modelling studies revealed no significant structural changes in the overall protein structure, or charge caused by the variant. However, thermodynamic stability studies showed that the variant from ALA to VAL at position 254 results in a $\Delta\Delta G$ of -0.64 kcal/mol, indicating decreased protein stability. According to the PolyPhen analysis, the effect of the p.A254V variant was harmful to the GTB. These findings suggest that the GTB V254 variant can cause inadequate conversion of H antigen, resulting in a weak phenotype due to impaired stability of GTB.

In conclusion, we identified a novel BW allele with a variant (c.761C>T; p.A254V) on the ABO*B.01 allele, leading to the Bweak

phenotype. The GTB variant p.A254V reduces protein stability, resulting in the Bweak phenotype characterized by reduced expression of B antigens on RBCs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Dr Fang Li in Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Life Sciences and Biotechnology for the support and technical direction of 3D structure modelling and analysis in this study. This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82000183) and WeiGao Science Foundation of Chinese Society of Blood Transfusion (WGSF-CSBT; CSBT-WG-2019-01).

H.L. analysed the data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. H.Z. and L.J.G. performed the research. D.X. and X.F.W. designed the research study. X.L. and X.H.C. supervised the research and reviewed and edited the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Hang Lei D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4105-5342 Xiaohong Cai D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3999-8464

REFERENCES

- 1. Yamamoto F. Molecular genetics of ABO. Vox Sang. 2000;78: 91 - 103
- Yamamoto F, Clausen H, White T, Marken J, Hakomori S. Molecular 2 genetic basis of the histo-blood group ABO system. Nature. 1990; 345:229-33.
- 3. Olsson ML, Irshaid NM, Hosseini-Maaf B, Hellberg A, Moulds MK, Sareneva H, et al. Genomic analysis of clinical samples with serologic ABO blood grouping discrepancies: identification of 15 novel A and B subgroup alleles. Blood. 2001;98:1585-93.
- 4. Liu HM, Chen YJ, Chen PS, Lyou JY, Hu HY, Ho YT, et al. A novel Ael allele derived from a unique 816insG in Exon 7 of the ABO gene. J Formos Med Assoc. 2007;106:969-74.

- Asamura H, Ota M, Takayanagi K, Saito S, Tsukada K, Fukushima H. Molecular genetic analysis of the Am phenotype of the ABO blood group system. Vox Sang. 2002;83:263–7.
- Sano R, Nakajima T, Takahashi K, Kubo R, Kominato Y, Tsukada J, et al. Expression of ABO blood-group genes is dependent upon an erythroid cell-specific regulatory element that is deleted in persons with the B(m) phenotype. Blood. 2012;119:5301–10.
- Cai X, Jin S, Liu X, Fan L, Lu Q, Wang J, et al. Molecular genetic analysis of ABO blood group variations reveals 29 novel ABO subgroup alleles. Transfusion. 2013;53:2910–6.
- Cai X, Qian C, Wu W, Lei H, Ding Q, Zou W, et al. An exonic missense mutation c.28G>A is associated with weak B blood group by affecting RNA splicing of the ABO gene. Transfusion. 2017;57: 2140–9.
- Ying YL, Hong XZ, Xu XG, Chen S, He J, Zhu FM, et al. Molecular basis of ABO variants including identification of 16 novel ABO subgroup alleles in Chinese Han population. Transfus Med Hemother. 2020;47:160-6.
- Fung MK, Eder AF, Spitalnik SL, Westhoff CM. AABB technical manual. 20th ed. Bethesda, MD: American Association of Blood Banks; 2020.
- Cai XH, Jin S, Liu X, Shen W, Lu Q, Wang JL, et al. Molecular genetic analysis for the B subgroup revealing two novel alleles in the ABO gene. Transfusion. 2008;48:2442–7.
- Pettersen EF, Goddard TD, Huang CC, Couch GS, Greenblatt DM, Meng EC, et al. UCSF Chimera—a visualization system for exploratory research and analysis. J Comput Chem. 2004;25:1605–12.
- Humphrey W, Dalke A, Schulten K. VMD-visual molecular dynamics. J Mol Graph. 1996;14:33-8.
- Pires DE, Ascher DB, Blundell TL. DUET: a server for predicting effects of mutations on protein stability using an integrated computational approach. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014;42:W314-9.
- Möller M, Jöud M, Storry JR, Olsson ML. Erythrogene: a database for in-depth analysis of the extensive variation in 36 blood group systems in the 1000 Genomes Project. Blood Adv. 2016;1:240-9.

- Zuo Q, Duan Y, Wang B, Xu H, Wu W, Zhao J, et al. Genomic analysis of blood samples with serologic ABO discrepancy identifies 12 novel alleles in a Chinese Han population. Transfus Med. 2020; 30:308–16.
- Yuan X, Cong H, Sun X. Molecular genetic mechanism analysis and pedigree investigation of rare B(weak) subgroup. Transfus Apher Sci. 2022;61:103509.
- Marraccini C, lotti B, Vanzanelli P, Bedeschi E, Farnetti E, Nicoli D, et al. Mother-newborn ABO group discrepancy caused by a rare BW.17 variant. Transfus Apher Sci. 2022;62:103621.
- Wang F-M, Zhang X, Li J-P. Genetic identification of an individual with A102Bw33 blood group gene subtypes of ABO variant. Zhongguo Shi Yan Xue Ye Xue Za Zhi. 2016;24:225–8.
- Chen J, Yuan W, He B, Zhu S, Lin J. Genetic identification and sequence analysis of three individuals of rare ABO variant Bw subgroup. Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi. 2021;39:1021–4.
- Lei H, Wang Z, Wang Y, Xiang D, Wang X, Cai X. Two novel mutations p. L319V and p. L91P in ABO glycosyltransferases lead to A(el) and B(el) phenotypes. Blood Transfus. 2020;18:471–7.
- 22. Yazer MH, Denomme GA, Rose NL, Palcic MM. Amino-acid substitution in the disordered loop of blood group B-glycosyltransferase enzyme causes weak B phenotype. Transfusion. 2005;45:1178-82.
- Seltsam A, Blasczyk R. Missense mutations outside the catalytic domain of the ABO glycosyltransferase can cause weak blood group A and B phenotypes. Transfusion. 2005;45:1663–9.

How to cite this article: Lei H, Zhang H, Guo L, Xiang D, Wang X, Liu X, et al. Identification of a novel variant c.761C>T on ABO*B.01 gene in ABO glycosyltransferases associated with B_{weak} phenotype. Vox Sang. 2023;118:895–900. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13515

SHORT REPORT



Simulated effects of ferritin screening on C-reactive protein levels in recruited blood donors

Esa Turkulainen 🖻 🕴 Jarkko Ihalainen 🖻 🕴 Mikko Arvas 🗅

Research and Development, Finnish Red Cross Blood Service, Helsinki, Finland

Correspondence

Esa Turkulainen, Biomedicum 1 Haartmaninkatu 8 00290 Helsinki Finland Email: esa.turkulainen@veripalvelu.fi

Funding information VTR funding from the Finnish Government

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Ferritin is commonly measured to evaluate iron stores in the body. Some countries have added or considered adding ferritin lower bounds to donor eligibility criteria. Ferritin is also elevated by inflammation. The main goal of this study is to estimate how different ferritin cut-offs would affect the proportion of donors with a C-reactive protein (CRP) level over 3 mg/L, which is the decision limit of the highest chronic cardiovascular risk.

Materials and Methods: To simulate recruitment of new blood donors, we selected participants from two Finnish general population cohorts, namely FINRISK 1997 (n = 5369) and Health 2000 (n = 3278), that would likely fulfil the selection criteria of blood donation. We then calculated the proportion of individuals with high-sensitivity CRP values above 3 mg/L, over a range of ferritin values.

Results: We found that for several ferritin cut-offs the proportion of potential donors with CRP > 3 mg/L would rise by a statistically significant amount. The trend was significant and similar for all subgroups but weaker for non-menstruating women as well as men.

Conclusion: Our results show that screening a population of potential blood donors with ferritin cut-offs raises the number of people with CRP > 3 mg/L within the blood donor population.

Keywords

CRP, donor health, donor management, ferritin, ferritin screening

Highlights

- We demonstrate the use of well-characterized Finnish general population cohorts (FINRISK 1997 and Health 2000) for simulating the selection of new donors with a ferritin screening policy in addition to regular eligibility criteria.
- In our simulations, filtering the cohort data with rising cut-off ferritin levels results in a proportional increase of C-reactive protein (CRP) within the chronic inflammation range.
- The association between increasing CRP and ferritin levels was most prominent in menstruating females. This finding emphasizes the importance of thorough pre-donation interview and assessment in this group of whole blood donors.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2023 Finnish Red Cross Blood Service. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

INTRODUCTION

Ferritin is an intracellular protein that stores iron, protecting cells from its toxicity. It is found throughout the body and its synthesis and degradation align with cellular iron requirements. The iron-free form of ferritin, apoferritin, consists of H and L-subunits coded by two distinct, but similar genes. Ferritin is also secreted in blood by nonclassical pathways mostly by macrophages [1], where it is composed primarily of iron poor L-subunits. Whether blood ferritin has an active regulatory role or just reflects cellular damage is debated, but it is not thought to have a role in iron uptake or transport [2].

A Cochrane library review recently concluded that there is lowcertainty evidence that plasma or serum ferritin below 30 μ g/L 'is reasonably sensitive and a very specific test for iron deficiency in people presenting for medical care' [3], while WHO recommends <15 μ g/L to detect iron deficiency in apparently healthy adults. In contrast, in regular blood donors where blood ferritin levels are typically found to be below 50 μ g/L and self-estimated health is on average good, no associations between self-estimated health and blood ferritin have been found so far [4, 5]. Some countries have considered adding ferritin lower bounds into donor eligibility criteria; for example, in the Netherlands this practice is already implemented. Although this can help in the management of donor iron stores, it can also introduce new challenges to donor health management and recruitment.

Ferritin levels are elevated in various diseases, from microbial infections to chronic metabolic diseases. This has been suggested to have a role in the modulation of immune responses and iron sequestration [1].

In general, the relationships between diseases and iron status appear to be complex. However, a meta-analysis concluded that ferritin levels are positively associated with metabolic syndrome [6].

C-reactive protein (CRP) is secreted by the liver as part of the acute-phase response to infection and inflammation. CRP has been used as a marker for bacterial infection, with 10 mg/L as a typical decision limit. However, CRP can be temporarily elevated by various environmental irritants and inflammatory responses, making the importance of minor CRP elevation difficult to interpret. Despite its unspecificity, high-sensitivity CRP (hs-CRP) at the levels beyond the acute-phase reaction (≤3 mg/L) has become a clinically useful marker for risk of cardiometabolic disease. A systematic review of 23 publications estimated that the relative risk of incident coronary heart disease was from 1.37 to 1.83 (95% confidence interval [CI]) higher in persons with CRP > 3 mg/L versus persons with CRP < 1 mg/L. The recent CANTOS trial on inflammation reduction using canakinumab provides strong evidence that inflammation, and in particular CRP, is causal for cardiovascular disease. Cardiovascular disease patients whose CRP was lowered by canakinumab to less than 2 mg/L had a hazard ratio of 0.66-0.85 (95% CI) of major adverse cardiovascular events, while those whose CRP was not lowered below 2 mg/L enjoyed no such benefit from the treatment [7].

Danish and Finnish regular blood donors have been found to have similar levels of minor CRP elevation and markedly lower levels than Finnish general population [8, 9]. This is likely due to the healthy donor effect: healthier individuals are selected to be donors and they can maintain the habit for years or even decades. Regardless, even in the healthy blood donor sub-population, low-grade inflammation (defined as a plasma CRP level between 3 and 10 mg/L) has been shown to be associated negatively with physical health-related quality of life [10].

As ferritin is both an iron and an inflammation marker, we hypothesized that adding ferritin lower bounds to blood donor selection policy might increase the level of inflammation in a blood donor population. As a surrogate for inflammation, we used CRP. With the help of Finnish representative general population cohorts, we here attempt to quantify the influence of ferritin cut-off levels to donor recruitment and donor health.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We used data from two different Finnish health survey cohorts: FINRISK 1997 (FR97) and Health 2000 (H2000). Both FR97 and H2000 studies were approved by the Ethics Committee of the National Public Health Institute and carried out according to the recommendations of the Declaration of Helsinki. Permission to use the data for this project was granted by THL biobank (project THLBB2020_19).

Exact laboratory methods have been described previously for serum ferritin in FR97 and H2000 [11] and for serum hs-CRP in FR97 [11] and H2000 [12]. From these cohorts, we included individuals who had both a ferritin measurement and a measurement of hs-CRP. To improve the fit between the population cohorts and potential blood donors, we excluded individuals based on several donor eligibility criteria.

We assigned individuals into subgroups of men, menstruating women and non-menstruating women using their recorded sex and reported status of menstrual bleeding. In the H2000 cohort, women over the age of 55 were not asked about their menstruation status. We categorized these individuals as non-menstruating. The number of individuals in each subgroup for both cohorts is summarized in Table 1, along with the medians and interquartile ranges of CRP and ferritin.

To test whether ferritin filtering has the potential to increase the share of donors with an increase in inflammatory reaction in the otherwise eligible donor population, we examined the proportion of individuals over the commonly used threshold of 3 mg/L of serum hs-CRP for low-grade inflammation within sub-populations filtered using ferritin lower bounds ranging from 0 to 50 μ g/L with a step size of 1 μ g/L. We assign 95% CIs for the bootstrapped estimates (sample size 10,000) using normal approximation. We use these CIs to determine whether the proportion of possibly inflamed potential donors differs between the current eligibility criteria (no ferritin filtering) and an added ferritin lower bound requirement of 15, 30 and 50 μ g/L in a statistically significant manner. The full R code of the analysis is available on Github (https://github.com/FRCBS/CRP_enrichment).

TABLE 1 The number of individuals, along with medians (mds) and interquartile ranges (IQRs) for ferritin and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels across all subgroups within both cohorts.

Vox Sanguinis

903

	Subgroup	N	Ferritin (µg/L) md (IQR)	CRP (mg/L) md (IQR)
FR97	Menstruating women	1912	23.91 (12.38, 42.53)	0.77 (0.39, 1.86)
	Non-menstruating women	876	55.78 (31.27, 92.76)	1.27 (0.61, 2.65)
	Men	2581	112.05 (65.87, 181.79)	0.89 (0.46, 1.89)
H2000	Menstruating women	938	27.9 (15.12, 48.98)	0.62 (0.27, 1.82)
	Non-menstruating women	651	55.9 (32.8, 95.45)	1.04 (0.38, 2.42)
	Men	1689	124.9 (76.6, 194.2)	0.77 (0.35, 1.75)

Abbreviations: FR97, FINRISK 1997; Health 2000, H2000.



FIGURE 1 Scatter plots of C-reactive protein (CRP) and ferritin values in both cohorts and all subgroups. The grey boxes indicate the area where donors are both over 15 µg/L of ferritin and 3 mg/L of CRP. The proportion of people in the sample covered by the box is indicated with a percentage. FR97, FINRISK 1997; Health 2000, H2000.

RESULTS

The general relationship between CRP and ferritin within subgroups in the cohorts is shown as a scatterplot in Figure 1. The linear fits indicate a weak positive correlation between the variables for all subgroups ($R^2 = 0.021$ -0.068, p < 0.001). Figure 2 presents the change in the proportion of people with CRP > 3 mg/L at different ferritin filtering levels. For example, if a ferritin cut-off of 30 were to be applied for menstruating women, the proportion of individuals >3 mg/L CRP among potential blood donors would rise by 2.3-6.3 percentage points based on the FR97 cohort. We find that for menstruating women in both cohorts, the proportion of people with CRP > 3 mg/L is significantly higher at ferritin filter levels of 15, 30 and 50 μ g/L than without filtering. This holds for non-menstruating women



FIGURE 2 Line plots of the change in the proportion of people over 3 mg/L C-reactive protein at different ferritin filtering levels, with 95% confidence intervals. Change is presented in percentage points (pp). FR97, FINRISK 1997; Health 2000, H2000.

also. These differences are all significant in men, but the respective increases in proportions are much smaller.

DISCUSSION

As expected, a weak positive correlation between ferritin and CRP was found in the Finnish representative general population cohorts analysed (Figure 1). This is in line with the hypothesis that ferritin has a role in the modulation of immune responses and iron sequestration during microbial infection. For blood donation, it is important to note that the correlation of CRP and ferritin extends to the lower CRP range of \leq 3 mg/L. Hence, even minor chronic inflammation will affect ferritin measurements.

Our simulation suggests that adding a ferritin threshold to the existing eligibility criteria when selecting blood donors from the general population will increase the percentage of donors with low-grade inflammation. These individuals might be less suited to tolerate the physiological stress of blood donation and to maintain long donation careers. Based on current research, high iron status could also be associated with higher disease risks, further aggravating this effect. Countries such as the Netherlands, where additional ferritin screening policies are in place, are well set to study this hypothesis and whether a ferritin measurement should be accompanied with a hs-CRP measurement to avoid these issues. Our results also provide further information on the effects on different ferritin cut-off levels, thus facilitating the selection of the most appropriate decision limit.

The effect of ferritin cut-off on CRP is highest in menstruating women. This suggests that a significant proportion of donors in this group may have ferritin levels in the expected range not because of adequate iron balance but because of an inflammatory response. Furthermore, ferritin filter levels of 15 and 30 μ g/L exclude around 20% and 60% of otherwise eligible donors within this subgroup, respectively (Supplementary material). These considerations should be taken into account in designing the donor eligibility schemes.

Our approach suffers from the incomplete information available from the participants of the two cohort studies. Some of the people in question may have had conditions that would have been revealed in the pre-donation interview. Additionally, there were too few haemoglobin measurements in the FR97 cohort to include it in the eligibility criteria, while in reality haemoglobin is a very important criterion. However, as the results were similar in both cohorts, we believe that these challenges do not significantly undermine the statistical findings of our study. Of Finnish regular premenopausal female blood donors, 18%–23% were found to have ferritin <15 µg/L in 2015–2017 [4]. The Finnish Red Cross Blood Service reacted to this finding by recommending the young female donors to donate only once a year. They were also informed in educational materials about the risk of iron deficiency by blood donation. The iron replacement policy for them was also revised by doubling the course of daily 50 mg iron tablets from 2 to 4 weeks. Such practices could provide an alternative approach to guarantee iron stores of blood donors to the costly combination of ferritin and CRP measurements.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The data were obtained from THL Biobank (project THLBB2020_19). We thank all study participants for their generous participation at THL Biobank in the FINRISK 1997 and Health 2000 cohorts. We thank Johanna Castrén (FRCBS), Seppo Koskinen (THL) and Satu Männistö (THL) for useful comments on the manuscript and THL Biobank staff for help with the details of the cohorts. This work was partially funded by the VTR funding from the Finnish Government.

E.T. wrote the analysis code, analysed the data and compiled the results; E.T., M.A. and J.I. all wrote and reviewed the manuscript; J.I. instructed the analysis and writing; M.A. and J.I. conducted the literature review and M.A. supervised the research.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data used for the research was obtained from the THL Biobank in Finland. Researchers can apply for access by following the application process outlined at https://thl.fi/en/web/thl-biobank/for-researchers/ application-process. All research code is available for use under GNU General Public License at https://github.com/FRCBS/CRP_enrichment.

ORCID

REFERENCES

- Moreira AC, Mesquita G, Gomes MS. Ferritin: an inflammatory player keeping iron at the core of pathogen-host interactions. Microorganisms. 2020;8:1–20.
- Cullis JO, Fitzsimons EJ, Griffiths WJH, Tsochatzis E, Thomas DW. Investigation and management of a raised serum ferritin. Br J Haematol. 2018;181:331–40.

- Garcia-Casal MN, Peña-Rosas JP, Urrechaga E, Escanero JF, Huo J, Martinez RX, et al. Performance and comparability of laboratory methods for measuring ferritin concentrations in human serum or plasma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2018;13: 1–24.
- Lobier M, Castrén J, Niittymäki P, Palokangas E, Partanen J, Arvas M. The effect of donation activity dwarfs the effect of lifestyle, diet and targeted iron supplementation on blood donor iron stores. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0220862.
- Rigas AS, Pedersen OB, Sørensen CJ, Sørensen E, Kotzé SR, Petersen MS, et al. No association between iron status and selfreported health-related quality of life in 16,375 Danish blood donors: results from the Danish Blood Donor Study. Transfusion. 2015;55: 1752-6.
- Abril-Ulloa V, Flores-Mateo G, Solà-Alberich R, Manuel-Y-Keenoy B, Arija V. Ferritin levels and risk of metabolic syndrome: meta-analysis of observational studies. BMC Public Health. 2014; 14:1–8.
- Liberale L, Montecucco F, Schwarz L, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. Inflammation and cardiovascular diseases: lessons from seminal clinical trials. Cardiovasc Res. 2021;117:411–22.
- Lobier M, Niittymäki P, Nikiforow N, Palokangas E, Larjo A, Mattila P, et al. FinDonor 10 000 study: a cohort to identify iron depletion and factors affecting it in Finnish blood donors. Vox Sang. 2020;115:36-46.
- Sørensen CJ, Pedersen OB, Petersen MS, Sørensen E, Kotzé SR, Thørner LW, et al. Combined oral contraception and obesity are strong predictors of low-grade inflammation in healthy individuals: results from the Danish Blood Donor Study (DBDS). PLoS One. 2014;9:e88196.
- Dinh KM, Kaspersen KA, Mikkelsen S, Pedersen OB, Petersen MS, Thørner LW, et al. Low-grade inflammation is negatively associated with physical Health-Related Quality of Life in healthy individuals: results from The Danish Blood Donor Study (DBDS). PLoS One. 2019;14:e0214468.
- Salomaa V, Havulinna A, Saarela O, Zeller T, Jousilahti P, Jula A, et al. Thirty-one novel biomarkers as predictors for clinically incident diabetes. PLoS One. 2010;5:e10100.
- Konstari S, Sares-Jäske L, Heliövaara M, Rissanen H, Knekt P, Arokoski J, et al. Dietary magnesium intake, serum high sensitivity C-reactive protein and the risk of incident knee osteoarthritis leading to hospitalization—a cohort study of 4,953 Finns. PLoS One. 2019; 14:e0214064.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Turkulainen E, Ihalainen J, Arvas M. Simulated effects of ferritin screening on C-reactive protein levels in recruited blood donors. Vox Sang. 2023;118:901–5. 905

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13506

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Vox Sanguinis

Tetanus antibodies in normal human immunoglobulin preparations

We would like to draw attention to the issue that anti-tetanus immunoglobulin (TIG), that is, human immunoglobulin (IG) with known antibody content against the neurotoxin, is essential medicine (WHO) for post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) and therapy of tetanus [1-3]; yet, TIG is not available in all countries [1] or has been difficult to obtain in recent years [4]. In the absence of TIG, PEP with human IG for intramuscular immunoglobulin (IMIG) or subcutaneous immunoglobulin (SCIG) use is an alternative [4]. For tetanus treatment, intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) at a dose of 200-400 mg/kg is recommended in the United States [1], whereas in the United Kingdom, a fixed dosage with selected IVIG preparations was defined [4]. As IG is not routinely tested for tetanus antibody concentrations, little information is available on lot-to-lot variability and dosage required to administer the recommended 250-500 IU of tetanus antibody for PEP or 3000-10,000 IU for therapy [1-4]. In this context, we received requests on tetanus antibody levels in 10% immunoglobulin for infusion (IGI) from practitioners recently, which reflects the need for further information.

We, therefore, investigated tetanus antibody concentrations of current 10% IGI preparations manufactured in 2021 from plasma collected in the United States and European Union, by apheresis (source plasma) as well as from blood donations (recovered plasma), which can be administered as IVIG (Gammagard Liquid/KIOVIG) as well as SCIG (HyQvia), using the Tetanus IgG enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Virotech Diagnostics GmbH, Rüsselsheim, Germany) and methodology validated according to ICH principles, reporting results against the second WHO International Standard for Anti-Tetanus Immunoglobulin Human (NIBSC code: 13/240).

We determined a mean \pm standard deviation (SD) anti-tetanus potency of 29.2 \pm 2.0 IU/mL for recent IGI, 10% lots (Table 1), where lots fractionated from US plasma had significantly (p < 0.0001) higher tetanus toxin antibody content (30.8 ± 1.2 IU/mL) than lots fractionated from EU plasma (27.5 ± 1.2 IU/mL). The lowest antibody concentration determined in any lot was 26.0 IU/mL (Table 1). There was no relevant difference in tetanus toxin antibody content for IGI lots fractionated from source or recovered plasma. These data were brought into context with tetanus toxin antibody concentrations reported for other IGI preparations by the National Institute for Biological Standards and Control (NIBSC) [4], where a selection for more recent test date (i.e., tested in 2016–2019) was made and values were normalized to 10% protein content. When tetanus toxin antibody concentrations of 39 lots of 13 different commercial IGI products of six different manufacturers [4] were normalized for protein content, a mean potency of 30.5 ± 2.5 IU/mL was calculated (Table 1), very similar to the antibody concentration determined in the current IGI, 10% preparations.

Our investigation showed that normal human IG preparations contain tetanus toxin antibodies at remarkably similar concentrations. This is true for lots of the same manufacturer, as well as for different commercial preparations of several manufacturers (Table 1) [4]. A difference in tetanus potency was seen for the 10% IGI preparations analysed here depending on the origin of plasma that was used for fractionation, that is, higher potency was seen in US plasma-derived IGI than in EU plasma-derived IGI. The geographic difference in tetanus potency was already reported previously and had been related to differences in tetanus toxin antibody content in EU plasma-derived IGI still provides for dosages well within PEP and therapy recommendations (see below), this potential lot-to-lot difference does not appear clinically relevant. A serum tetanus toxin antibody concentration of ≥ 0.1 IU/mL is indicative of immune protection.

TABLE 1 Summary of tetanus anti-toxin potency in recent immunoglobulin for infusion (IGI) preparations, normalized for 10% protein content.

Year of test	Number of different IGI products (number of manufacturers)	Number of lots analysed	Protein content (%)	ELISA IU/mL (mean ± SD) [min]	Reference
2021	2 (1)	36	10	29.2 ± 2.0 [26.0]	n.a.
2016-2019 ^a	13 (6)	39	5, 10, 16, 16.5	30.5 ± 2.5 [24.0]	Lejtenyi and Mazer [5]

Abbreviation: n.a., not applicable.

^aProtein content of IGI preparations prior to normalization to 10%.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2023 Takeda Manufacturing Austria AG. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

The 10% IGI preparations tested here are suitable for subcutaneous as well as intravenous application, making them amendable for tetanus PEP as well as tetanus therapy. With respect to PEP of tetanus, 10–20 mL of 10% IGI should suffice to administer the recommended 250–500 IU of tetanus antibody, assuming the lowest tetanus potency that was determined, that is, 26.0 IU/mL (Table 1). This corresponds well with the recommendation to manage tetanus-prone wounds with 4.5–9 mL of 20% SCIG [4], a product that is manufactured by the same pathway as the 10% IGI lots tested here, with a final adjustment of protein content. For tetanus therapy with 10% IVIG, a person with 80 kg of body weight would receive 4160 IU of tetanus antibodies, assuming treatment with the lowest recommended dosage of 200 mg/kg [1] and the lowest tetanus potency that was determined for a lot here (Table 1), that is, a dosage well within the recommended 3000–10,000 IU for therapy [1–4].

In conclusion, we provide comprehensive evidence that current 10% IGI preparations consistently contain tetanus antibodies at levels that allow for tetanus PEP as well as tetanus therapy, with negligible lot-to-lot variability. Although TIG does have the benefit of smaller volumes being required for treatment, the information of consistent anti-tetanus potency in 10% IGI aids to alleviate concern about the uncertain availability of specific TIGs and opens further options for tetanus PEP and treatment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The contributions of the Global Pathogen Safety/Serology team, most notably Patricia Stangl (ELISA testing) are gratefully acknowledged. This study was funded by Takeda Manufacturing Austria AG.

M.R.F and T.R.K conceived the study; A.S. supervised the study; M.R.F and C.L. analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. All the authors revised the manuscript and contributed significantly to the final version of the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors are employees of Takeda Manufacturing Austria AG, Vienna, Austria. M.R.F and T.R.K have Takeda stock interests.

FUNDING INFORMATION

Takeda Manufacturing Austria AG

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Vox Sanguinis SST International Society

Maria R. Farcet Cornelia Lackner Andreas Schirmer Thomas R. Kreil

Global Pathogen Safety, Takeda Manufacturing Austria AG, Vienna, Austria

Correspondence

Thomas R. Kreil, Global Pathogen Safety, Takeda Manufacturing Austria AG, Takeda, Benatzkygasse 2-6, 1221 Vienna, Austria. Email: thomas.kreil@takeda.com

ORCID

Maria R. Farcet D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2335-8609 Thomas R. Kreil D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9970-0987

REFERENCES

- American Academy of Pediatrics. Tetanus. In: Kimberlin DW, Brady MT, Jackson MA, Long SS, editors. Red book: 2018 report of the Committee on nfectious Diseases. 31st ed. Itasca, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2018. p. 793–8.
- European Medicines Agency. Committee for Medical Products for Human use, Core SPC for Human Tetanus Immunoglobulin for intramuscular use. CPMP/BPWG/3730/02. 2006 [cited 2023 Jul 7]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/core-summary-productcharacteristics-human-tetanus-immunoglobulin-intramuscular-use
- Robert Koch Institute. Tetanus RKI-Ratgeber. 2018 [cited 2023 Jul 7]. Available from: https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/Infekt/EpidBull/ Merkblaetter/Ratgeber_Tetanus.html;jsessionid=390A4F781973A 18F0D42699C65BA4BA4.internet072#doc2398266bodyText10
- Public Health England. Tetanus. Guidance on the management of suspected tetanus cases and on the assessment and management of tetanus-prone wounds. 2019 [cited 2023 Jul 7]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tetanus-advice-forhealth-professionals
- Lejtenyi D, Mazer B. Consistency of protective antibody levels across lots of intravenous immunoglobulin preparations. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;121:254–5.

DIARY OF EVENTS



See also https://www.isbtweb.org/events/hvwebinars.html 18-21 November 2023

ISBT Cape Town 2023

Vox Sanguinis

International Journal of Blood Transfusion

Official Journal of the International Society of Blood Transfusion

Founded 1956 by J. J. van Loghem, L. P. Holländer, J. Dausset, A. Hässig and J. Julliard (formerly Bulletin of the Central Laboratory of the Blood Transfusion Service of the Dutch Red Cross, founded 1951)

Editor-in-Chief

Miquel Lozano, Barcelona, Spain

Section Editors

Blood Component Collection and Production

Denese C. Marks, Sydney, Australia **Cellular Therapy** Zbigniew 'Ziggy' M. Szczepiorkowski, Lebanon, NH, USA **Donors and Donations** Katja van den Hurk, Amsterdam, the Netherlands **Haemovigilance** Claudia Cohn, Minneapolis, MN, USA **Immunohaematology and Immunogenetics** Jill R. Storry, Lund, Sweden

Arwa Al-Riyami, *Muscat*, *Oman* Claire Armour Barrett, *Bloemfontein, South Africa* Thierry Burnouf, *Taipei, Taiwan* Andreas Buser, *Basel, Switzerland* Marcela Contreras, *London, UK* Dana Devine, *Vancouver, Canada* Christian Erikstrup, *Aarhus, Denmark* Helen Faddy, *Petrie, Australia* Hendrik Feys, *Mechelen, Belgium* Ruchika Goel, *Springfield, IL, USA* Salwa Hindawi, *Jeddah, Saudi Arabia* Yanli Ji, *Guangzhou, China* Mickey Koh, *London, UK and Singapore* Linda Larsson, *Stockholm, Sweden*

Scientific/Medical Illustrator

Alison Schroeer, Thompson, CT, USA

Technical Editor Doug Huestis, *Tucson, AZ, USA*

ISBT Standing Committee on Vox Sanguinis

Gwen Clarke, Chairperson, Edmonton, Canada Lin Fung, Brisbane, Australia Eric Jansen, Amsterdam, the Netherlands Diana Teo, Singapore Miquel Lozano, Editor-in-Chief, Barcelona, Spain

Observers

Michael P. Busch, *ISBT President, San Francisco, USA* Jenny White, *ISBT Executive Director, Amsterdam, the Netherlands* Claire Dowbekin, *Publishing Manager, Wiley, Oxford, UK* International Forum Nancy M. Dunbar, *Lebanon, NH, USA* Patient Blood Management Nelson Tsuno, *Tokyo, Japan* Reviews

Zbigniew 'Ziggy' M. Szczepiorkowski, Lebanon, NH, USA Leo van de Watering, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

Transfusion Medicine and New Therapies Pierre Tiberghien, *Paris, France*

Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention Sheila O'Brien, *Ottawa, Canada*

Editorial Board

Bridon M'Baya, Blantyre, Malawi Wolfgang R. Mayr, Vienna, Austria Pieter van der Meer, Amsterdam, the Netherlands Celina Montemayor, Toronto, Canada Shirley Owusu-Ofori, Kumasi, Ghana Luca Pierelli, Rome, Italy France Pirenne, Créteil, France Sandra Ramirez-Arcos, Ottawa, Canada Veera Sekaran Nadarajan, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Ratti Ram Sharma, Chandigarh, India Eilat Shinar, Ramat Gan, Israel Claude Tayou Tagny, Yaounde, Cameroon Vip Viprakasit, Bangkok, Thailand Silvano Wendel, São Paulo, Brazil

Editorial Office

Maria Davie, Edinburgh, UK

Production Editor Ella Mari Polintan, *Manila, the Philippines*

Past Editors-in-Chief

J. J. van Loghem, 1956–1960 W. H. Crosby, 1960–1963 (N. and S. America) L. P. Holländer, 1960–1970 (Europe) F. H. Allen, 1963–1977 (N. and S. America) M. G. Davey, 1970–1980 (Africa, Asia and Australia) N. R. Rose, 1977–1980 (N. and S. America) C. P. Engelfriet, 1977–1996 M. Contreras, 1996–2003 W. R. Mayr, 2003–2011 D. Devine, 2011–2020

Vox Sanguinis

International Journal of Blood Transfusion

Aims and Scope

Vox Sanguinis reports on all issues related to transfusion medicine, from donor vein to recipient vein, including cellular therapies. Comments, reviews, original articles, short reports and international fora are published, grouped into 10 main sections:

- 1. Blood Component Collection and Production: Blood collection methods and devices (including apheresis); blood component preparation; inventory management; collection and storage of tissues; quality management and good manufacturing practice; automation and information technology; plasma fractionation techniques and plasma derivatives;
- 2. Cellular Therapy: Cell-based therapies; CAR T-cell therapies; genetically modified cell therapies; cellular therapy (sources; products; processing and storage); stem cells; cell-based regenerative medicine; cellular immunotherapy; molecular therapy;
- 3. Donors and Donations: Donor recruitment and retention; donor selection; donor health
- 4. Haemovigliance: Adverse events in blood and blood component donors and transfusion recipients; corrective and preventive measures of complications; near-misses and errors in the transfusion chain; evaluation and outcomes of adverse events
- 5. Immunohaematology and Immunogenetics: autoimmunity in haematology; alloimmunity of blood; pre-transfusion testing; complement in immunohaematology; blood
- phenotyping and genotyping; genetic markers of blood cells and serum proteins: polymorphisms and function; parentage testing and forensic immunohaematology; 6. International Forum: Section in which topics related to any aspects of the transfusion chain (from technical to scientific, including socioeconomic and ethical facets) are discussed by invited participants and summarized by guest editors
- 7. Patient Blood Management: Bloodless surgery; preoperative anaemia; minimizing blood loss during surgery; alternatives to blood transfusion;
- 8. Review: Comprehensive reviews or short comments of any aspect related to transfusion medicine;
- 9. Transfusion Medicine: Transfusion indication, transfusion practice, thresholds and audits; transfusion efficacy assessment, clinical trials; therapeutic apheresis;
- 10. Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention: Identification and epidemiology of infectious pathogens transmissible by blood; donor testing for transfusion-transmissible infectious pathogens; bacterial contamination of blood components; pathogen inactivation;

This comprehensive coverage has made the journal essential reading for a wide range of specialists interested in the present state of transfusion research and practice.

Journal Customer Services

For ordering information, claims and any enquiry concerning your journal subscription please go to https://wolsupport.wiley.com/s/contactsupport?tabset-a7d10=2 or contact your nearest office. Americas: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +1 877 762 2974. Europe, Middle East and Africa: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +44 (0) 1865 778315; 0800 1800 536 (Germany). Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Luxembourg, Liechtenstein: cs-germany@wiley.com; Tel: 0800 1800 536 (Germany). Asia Pacific: Email: cs-journals@wiley.com; Tel: +65 3165 0890. Japan: For Japanese-speaking support, Email: cs-japan@wiley.com. Visit our Online Customer Help at https://wolsupport.wiley.com/s/ contactsupport?tabset-a7d10=2.

Information for Subscribers: Vox Sanguinis is published in 12 issues per year. Institutional subscription prices for 2023 are: Print & Online: US\$2262 (US), US\$2637 (Rest of World), €1579 (Europe), £1225 (UK). Prices are exclusive of tax. Asia-Pacific GST, Canadian GST/HST and European VAT will be applied at the appropriate rates. For more information on current tax rates, please go to www. wileyonlinelibrary.com/ tax-vat. The price includes online access to the current and all online backfiles for previous 5 years, where available. For other pricing options, including access information and terms and conditions, please visit https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/library-info/products/price-lists. Terms of use can be found here: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions.

Delivery Terms and Legal Title: Where the subscription price includes print issues and delivery is to the recipient's address, delivery terms are Delivered at Place (DAP); the recipient is responsible for paying any import duty or taxes. Title to all issues transfers Free of Board (FOB) our shipping point, freight prepaid.

Claims for Missing or Damaged Print Issues: Our policy is to replace missing or damaged copies within our reasonable discretion, subject to print issue availability, and subject to the following terms: Title to all issues transfers Freight on Board ("FOB") to the address specified in the order; (1) Freight costs are prepaid by Wiley; and (2) Claims for missing or damaged copies must be submitted by the Customer or Subscription Agent within the claims window, as noted below.

Claims window - General: Claims for missing print issues must be sent to cs-agency@wiley.com (and the Subscription Agent or Customer may be referred to a society) within three months of whichever of these dates is the most recent: date of subscription payment; or date of issue publication.

Claims window - India: Both Subscription Agents and Customers in India have 48 hours after receipt of goods to confirm that all content listed on the packing label has been received. In the event of any discrepancy, SPUR Infosolutions, Wiley's delivery partner in India, needs to be notified within forty-eight (48) hours using this email address: support@spurinfo.com. All claims will be checked against SPUR Infosolutions delivery records before the claim is accepted. The above terms for Wiley's claims policy otherwise apply.

Back Issues: Single issues from current and recent volumes are available at the current single issue price from cs-journals@wiley.com. Earlier issues may be obtained from Periodicals Service Company, 351 Fairview Avenue – Ste 300, Hudson, NY 12534, USA. Tel: +1518822-9300, Fax: +1518822-9305, Email: psc@periodicals.com

Abstracting and Indexing Services: The Journal is indexed by Abstracts in Anthropology (Sage); Abstracts on Hygiene & Communicable Diseases (CABI); Academic Search (EBSCO Publishing); Academic Search Alumni Edition (EBSCO Publishing); Academic Search Premier (EBSCO Publishing); AGRICOLA Database (National Agricultural Library); BIOBASE: Current Awareness in Biological Sciences (Elsevier); Biological Abstracts (Clarivate Analytics); BIOSIS Previews (Clarivate Analytics); CAB Abstracts® (CABI); CABDirer(CABI); CASDirect(CABI); CASDirect); CSA Virology & AIDS Abstracts Service (ACS); CSA Biological Sciences Database (ProQuest); CSA Environmental Sciences & Pollution Management Database (ProQuest); CSA Virology & AIDS Abstracts (ProQuest); Current Contents: Life Sciences (Clarivate Analytics); Embase (Elsevier); Global Health (CABI); HEED: Health Economic Evaluations Database (Wiley-Blackwell); Index Veterinarius (CABI); Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition (Clarivate Analytics); MEDLINE/PubMed (NLM); Nutrition Abstracts & Reviews Series A: Human & Experimental (CABI); Pig News & Information (CABI); ProQuest Central (ProQuest); ProQuest Health & Medical Complete (ProQuest); ProQuest Research Library (ProQuest); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryEntomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryBuplement Subset (NLM); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryEntomology (CABI); ReviewofMedical& VeterinaryBuplement Subset (NLM); ReviewofMedical& Clarivate Analytics); Tropical Diseases Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Science Citation Index Expanded (Clarivate Analytics); Tropical Diseases Bulletin (CABI); Veterinary Bulletin (CABI); Pig News

Copyright and Copying (in any format): Copyright © 2023 International Society of Blood Transfusion. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior permission in writing from the copyright holder. Authorization to copy items for internal and personal use is granted by the copyright holder for libraries and other users registered with their local Reproduction Rights Organisation (RRO), e.g. Copyright Clearance Center (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA (www.copyright.com), provided the appropriate fee is paid directly to the RRO. This consent does not extend to other kinds of copying such as copying for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, for republication, for creating new collective works or for resale. Permissions for such reuse can be obtained using the RightsLink "Request Permissions" link on Wiley Online Library. Special requests should be addressed to: permissions@wiley.com

Open Access: Vox Sanguinis accepts articles for Open Access publication. Please visit https://authorservices.wiley.com/author-resources/Journal-Authors/open-access/hybrid-open-access.html for further information about Open Access.

Copyright Policy: Papers accepted must be licensed for publication in *Vox Sanguinis* and a completed Copyright Transfer Agreement Form must accompany every accepted paper. Authors will be required to license copyright in their paper to John Wiley & Sons Ltd. Upon acceptance of an article, corresponding authors must log into Author Services to complete the licence agreement of their paper.

Wiley's Corporate Citizenship initiative seeks to address the environmental, social, economic, and ethical challenges faced in our business and which are important to our diverse stakeholder groups. Since launching the initiative, we have focused on sharing our content with those in need, enhancing community philanthropy, reducing our carbon impact, creatingglobal guidelines and best practices for paper use, establishing a vendor code of ethics, and engaging our colleagues and other stakeholders in our efforts. Follow our progress at www.wiley.com/go/citizenship. Wiley is a founding member of the UN-backed HINARI, AGORA, and OARE initiatives. They are now collectively known as Research4Life, making online scientific content available free or at nominal cost to researchers in developing countries. Please visit Wiley's Content Access – Corporate Citizenship site: http://www.wiley. com/WileyCDA/Section/id-390082.html. The journal to which you are submitting your manuscript employs a plagiarism detection system. By submitting your manuscript to this journal you accept that your manuscript may be screened for plagiarism against previously published works.

Disclaimer: The Publisher, International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher or the International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors, neither does the publication of advertisements constitute any endorsement by the Publisher or the International Society of Blood Transfusion and Editors divertised.

VOX SANGUINIS (Online ISSN: 1423-0410 Print ISSN: 0042-9007) is published monthly. Postmaster: Send all address changes to VOX SANGUINIS, Wiley Periodicals LLC, C/O The Sheridan Press, PO Box 465, Hanover, PA 17331, USA. For submission instructions, subscription and all other information visit: www.wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/vox. Printed in the UK by Hobbs the Printers Ltd.

118/11/2023

Contents

Review

913 Expansion strategies for umbilical cord blood haematopoietic stem cells in vitro Y. Ren, Y. Cui, Y. Tan, Z. Xu & H. Wang

Original Articles

Donors and Donations

921 'Ironing out the risk': Assessing the effect of plateletpheresis donation frequency on iron stores in South-Asian male donors D. Madkaiker, S. S. Hiregoudar, P. Chavan, S. Ojha, J. Mendes & S. Shastry

Transfusion-transmitted Disease and its Prevention

930 Nutrient supplementation of culture media improves the detection of *Cutibacterium acnes* in platelet components by an automated culture system D. Kumaran & S. Ramirez-Arcos

Transfusion Medicine and New Therapies

- 938 Home transfusions are implemented using diverse approaches in Japan A. Tanaka, H. Fujita, K. Ohashi, A. Tsujikawa, K. Uchiyama, T. Ito, K. Kawashima, R. Kodama, T. Mine, M. Okuda, T. Endoh, Y. Fukuyoshi, J. Kitazawa, E. Sueoka, K. Nagai, A. Ishida, K. Matsuzaki, Y. Kato, K. Takanashi & K. Takahashi
- 947 Exploring the potential harm of varied blood storage on patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery S. Ning, A. Gupta, K. Batarfi, Y. Liu, K. J. Lucier, R. Barty & N. M. Heddle
- 955 Evaluation of a rail logistics transmission system for the transportation of blood components within a medical centre S. Chen, Y. Zang, L. Wang, J. Zheng, H. Deng, M. Li, Y. Li, B. Qian & Y. Lu
- 966 Design and practice of an emergency blood allocation system based on radiofrequency identification technology S. Xie, Y. Cao, X. Shen, C. Tian & M. Wang

Immunohaematology

972 Polymorphisms in the promoter regions of *RHD* and *RHCE* genes in the Chinese Han population L.-N. Shao, Z.-W. Zheng, S.-H. Zhou, S.-T. Zhang, W.-Q. Song, Y.-X. Xia & X.-H. Liang 980 Blood donor genotyping for prediction of blood group antigens: Results from 5 years' experience (2017–2022) K. Rieneck, G. R. Krog, F. B. Clausen, C. Egeberg Hother & M. H. Dziegiel

Short Reports

- 988 A novel allele of FUT2 gene containing a deletion of nine bases (c.461_469delGGACCTTCT) in a Chinese Han blood donor S. Zhou, L. Wang, W. Song, Y. Xia, L. Shao & X. Liang
- 993 Increasing the time-to-freezing for clinical apheresis plasma meets quality specifications K. M. Winter, R. G. Webb, E. Mazur, S. Ismay, D. Marinakis & D. C. Marks

International Forum

- 997 International Forum on Management of Blood Donors with Culture-Positive Platelet Donations: Summary R. Vassallo, H. Kamel, R. Goel, A. Z. Al-Riyami, Z. Al Muharrmi, C. Jacquot, S. Ramirez-Arcos, A. Khandelwal, M. Goldman, K. Hands, L. McLintock, H. Mitchell, S. Wendel, P. Scuracchio, R. Fachini, S. M. Pettersson, J. Bengtsson, S. R. Brailsford, J. Tossell, L. Amorim, M. E. Lopes, M. Pêcego, M. Germain, C. Renaud, S. L. Morley, R. So, M. Townsend, C. Hopkins, L. H. Harritshoej, C. Erikstrup, I. B. Gosbell, M. H. Levin, P. M. Dennington & N. Dunbar
- 1004 International Forum on Management of Blood Donors with Culture-Positive Platelet Donations: Responses R. Vassallo, H. Kamel, R. Goel,
 A. Z. Al-Riyami, Z. Al-Muharrmi, C. Jacquot,
 S. Ramirez-Arcos, A. Khandelwal, M. Goldman,
 K. Hands, L. McLintock, H. Mitchell, S. Wendel,
 P. Scuracchio, R. Fachini, S. M. Pettersson,
 J. Bengtsson, S. R. Brailsford, J. Tossell, L. Amorim,
 M. E. Lopes, M. Pêcego, M. Germain, C. Renaud,
 S. L. Morley, R. So, M. Townsend, C. Hopkins,
 L. H. Harritshoej, C. Erikstrup, I. B. Gosbell,
 M. H. Levin, P. M. Dennington & N. Dunbar
- 1024 Diary of Events



This journal is available online at *Wiley Online Library*. Visit wileyonlinelibrary.com to search the articles and register for table of contents e-mail alerts. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13505

REVIEW



Expansion strategies for umbilical cord blood haematopoietic stem cells in vitro

Revised: 11 May 2023

Yan Ren¹ | Yanni Cui¹ | Yanhong Tan² | Zhifang Xu² | Hongwei Wang^{1,2}

¹The Second Clinical Medical College, Shanxi Medical University, Taiyuan, China

²Department of Hematology, The Second Hospital of Shanxi Medical University, Taiyuan, China

Correspondence

Hongwei Wang, The Second Hospital of Shanxi Medical University, 382 Wuyi Road, Taiyuan, China. Email: wanghw68@hotmail.com

Funding information

Science and Technology Department of Shanxi Province, Grant/Award Number: YDZJSX2021B009: Health Commission of Shanxi Province, Grant/Award Number: 2021XM07

Abstract

Haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is considered an effective treatment for some haematopoietic malignancies, haematopoietic failure and immunodeficiency. Compared with bone marrow and mobilized peripheral blood, cord blood has the advantages of easy access, being harmless to donors and low requirement for HLA matching. In addition, umbilical cord blood transplantation (UCBT) has achieved remarkable clinical success in the past 30 years due to the low recurrence rate of malignancies treated by UCBT, mild degree of chronic graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) and good quality of life for patients after transplantation. However, the number of cells in a single cord blood is too small for rapid bone marrow implantation. We summarize the various factors involved that need to be considered in the expansion of haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in vitro, which all avoid complex operations, such as vector construction and virus transfection. We also found it necessary to identify a new molecule as the carrier of HSCs cultured in vitro, which not only would provide a three-dimensional structure conducive to the self-renewal of HSCs but also prevent their differentiation.

Keywords

cytokines, HSC expansion, in vitro, small molecule compounds, umbilical cord blood

Highlights

- · Compared with bone marrow and mobilized peripheral blood, cord blood has the advantages of easy access, being harmless to donors and having a low requirement for HLA matching.
- This review summarizes the factors that should be considered in developing strategies for effective in vitro expansion of haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs).
- Current tools offer powerful means by which to track how stem cells reconstruct haematopoiesis, which is also of great significance to further explore the molecular mechanism of HSC maintenance and expansion.

INTRODUCTION

Haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are a population of cells in the haematopoietic system that can self-renew and differentiate into various mature blood cells. They are particularly important for maintaining the haematopoietic homeostasis and immune function. At present,

haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is considered an effective treatment for some haematopoietic malignancies, haematopoietic failure and immunodeficiency. Depending on the source of stem cells, HSCT can be classified into bone marrow transplantation (BMT), umbilical cord blood transplantation (CBT) and peripheral blood stem cell transplantation (PBSCT). Compared with bone marrow

and mobilized peripheral blood, cord blood has the advantages of easy access, being harmless to donors and low requirement for HLA matching. In addition, CBT has achieved remarkable clinical success in the past 30 years due to the low recurrence rate of primary malignancies treated with CBT, mild chronic graft-versus-host disease and good quality of life for patients after transplantation. However, a single cord blood contains very few cells, such as total nucleated cells and CD34+ cells. Despite the improvements in transplantation technology, the implantation is still slow and sometimes insufficient to meet the needs of haematopoietic reconstruction. Therefore, effective expansion of HSCs ex vivo is the most direct and effective way to solve this dilemma [1, 2].

Expansion of HSCs increases the total nucleated cells and CD34+ cells, and more importantly, the expanded offspring can stably reconstruct multi-lineage haematopoiesis in the recipient for a long time after transplantation. According to the reconstruction kinetics of HSCs after primary and secondary recipient transplantation. HSCs can be divided into long-term haematopoietic stem cells (LT-HSCs) and short-term ones (ST-HSCs). LT-HSCs are a group of primitive cells in the haematopoietic system in a resting or circulating state, which can produce ST-HSCs, multipotent progenitor cells (MPPs), lineagespecific progenitor cells and terminally differentiated haematopoietic cells [3]. After transplantation of LT-HSCs, recipients showed high donor chimerism in both myeloid and lymphoid cells, reaching the threshold 4 weeks after transplantation, and maintained it for at least 24 weeks. On the other hand, ST-HSCs did not provide lasting chimerism for any lineage after transplantation [4–6]. Therefore, the proportion and absolute number of LT-HSCs in the expanded cell population are very important for the long-term and stable reconstruction of multi-lineage haematopoiesis. Optimal growth conditions are critical to promote self-renewal, maintain the differentiation potential of HSCs and prevent them from differentiating into lineage-specific progenitor cells.

Application of cytokines in maintenance and amplification of HSCs ex vivo

In 1978, Schofield first proposed the concept of bone marrow haematopoietic microenvironment—'niche'. Since then, the exploration of maintenance elements for HSCs has been vigorous. Through the construction of a gene-modified mouse model, researchers confirmed that the microenvironment signal plays an important role in regulating the self-renewal and differentiation of HSCs [7]. The haematopoietic microenvironment is composed of various cells and cytokines, which interact with HSCs to maintain the haematopoietic homeostasis. These cells and factors include mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), osteoblasts, leptin receptor (LEPR)-expressing perivascular stromal cells, CXCL12-abundant reticular (CAR) cells, osteopontin (OPN), thrombopoietin (TPO), granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), stem cell factor (SCF) and CXC chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12 or SDF-1) [7, 8]. In view of this, in order to promote the maintenance and expansion of HSCs, researchers often co-culture HSCs with MSCs or endothelial cells, and add supplement cytokines (such as SCF, TPO, FLT3-ligand [FLT-3L], interleukin [IL]-3, IL-6) to the medium to simulate the haematopoietic microenvironment [9–16].

SCF can activate and promote dormant stem cells to enter the cell cycle and provide favourable growth conditions for stem cells by regulating the haematopoietic microenvironment in vivo. Comazzetto et al. proved that SCF produced by endothelial cells, LEPR+ stromal cells and adipocytes in bone marrow plays an important role in promoting HSCs' proliferation and the haematopoietic reconstitution after transplantation [17]. Interaction between SCF and its receptor (c-kit) mediates rapid expansion of HSCs. At present, SCF is widely used in HSC culture, and it promotes the expansion of HSCs either alone or in combination with other cytokines [11, 12, 18].

TPO is an important growth factor that regulates the production of megakaryocytes and platelets. The blocking of the TPO signalling pathway not only damages megakaryopoiesis but also reduces the generation of erythroid and myeloid progenitor cells, especially pluripotent progenitor cells and functional HSCs. This suggests that TPO may participate in maintaining HSCs or promoting the expansion of HSCs after transplantation. This was verified by assay of colonyforming units (CFUs) and SCID-SRC in 2005 [19]. Wilkinson et al. and Marx-Blümel et al. used SCF and TPO in an in vitro culture experiment and observed significant expansion of HSCs [12, 13].

Like SCF and TPO, the FLT-3L is one of the most commonly used cytokines for in vitro expansion of HSCs. It can promote the proliferation of HSCs and improve the engraftment of recipients [20]. Petzer et al. analysed the role of 16 cytokines in CD34+CD38– cell culture and showed that FLT-3L produced nearly 30-fold amplification of the long-term culture-initiating cells (LTC-IC) within 10 days [21]. However, the transgenic mouse model showed that the persistent overexpression of FLT-3L not only led to expansion of haematopoietic progenitor cells but also promoted their migration to peripheral lymphoid organs and further differentiation, thereby increasing the number of mature lymphocytes and myeloid cells [22].

Leary et al. showed that IL-3 could maintain or even enhance the activity of primitive stem cells [23]. Other reports have pointed out the role of IL-3 in promoting differentiation. These contrasting effects may be related to supplementary substances such as serum or its substitutes in the medium [24]. The activity evaluation of the original HSC after amplification still relies on transplantation experiments in immunodeficient mice. A study by Nitsche et al. suggested that IL-3 enhances short-term haematopoietic reconstruction but does not improve long-term implantation in recipients [15], which indicates that IL-3 is more inclined to promote the proliferation of ST-HSCs (Figure 1).

IL-6 is a non-specific haematopoietic growth factor that can induce HSCs into the cell cycle and promote haematopoietic recovery. Ariyama et al. studied the synergistic effects of SCF in combination with IL-6, IL-11, IL-3, IL-1 α and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) on the expansion of murine haematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs) in a short-term liquid suspension culture. Combinations of SCF with IL-11, IL-6 or IL-1 α markedly increased the numbers of total colony-forming cells (CFCs), mixed-colony forming units (CFU-Mix) and high-proliferative potential



FIGURE 1 Endogenous and exogenous factors that regulate self-renewal, differentiation and homing of haematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow and in culture. BM, bone marrow; FLT3-L, FLT3-ligand; HSA, human serum albumin; HSC, haematopoietic stem cell; IL, interleukin; LEPR, leptin receptor; MSC, mesenchymal stem cell; NAM, nicotinamide; PSC, perivascular stromal cell; PVA, polyvinyl alcohol; SCF, stem cell factor; SR1, StemRegenin 1; TPO, thrombopoietin; VPA, valproate.

colony-forming cells (HPP-CFC). These results indicated that the combination of SCF with either IL-6 or IL-11 expands murine HPCs [25].

The role of small molecular compounds in the expansion of HSCs in vitro

Optimized culture conditions for HSCs (serum-free media supplemented with SCF, TPO, FLT-3L, IL-6 and IL-3) result in robust proliferation accompanied by differentiation, leading to loss of stem cell activity. This differentiation goes along with the loss of the cell-surface proteins CD34 and CD133, which are expressed on HSCs and HPCs [26–28]. Accordingly, to identify molecules that promote HSC expansion, Boitano et al. evaluated the expression of CD34 and CD133 on the surface of cultured HSCs using confocal microscopy, screened a library of 100,000 heterocyclic compounds and ultimately identified a purine derivative (StemRegenin 1 [SR1]), which significantly increased the number of CD34+ cells after 5–7 days [29, 30]. Transcriptional profiling of SR1 revealed two genes that are significantly repressed by SR1 treatment: cytochrome P450 1B1 (CYP1B1) and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor (AHRR). Both genes are transcriptionally regulated by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), which suggested that SR1 may increase the implantation potential of CD34+ cells by antagonizing the AHR signal [31].

Fares et al. screened a library of 5280 low-molecular-weight compounds to evaluate their ability to expand human CD34+CD45RA– cells, enriched with LT-HSCs. They eventually discovered that UM729 helps in actively expanding CD34+CD45RA– cells. UM171 is a newly synthesized UM729 analogue that has 10-20 times the ability of UM729 to stimulate the expansion of CD34+CD45RA– cells [32]. In

TABLE 1 Stu	dy on small molecul	ar compound:	s in the expansion of haem.	atopoietic stem cells in vitro.				
		Pre-clinical s	tudies		Clinical studies			
Cytokine/ molecule	Input cells	Expansion period (days)	Result	Animal experiment	ST-engraftment ANC/platelets (median days)	LT-engraftment	Possible mechanism	Reference
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L, IL-6/	mPB HSC CD34+	21	A 73-fold increase in CD34+ cells	1	ı		Inhibition of the AHR	Boitano et al. (2010) [<mark>30</mark>]
SR1	CB HSC CD34+	35	A 47-fold increase in CD34+ cells	Enhancement of early and late engraftment of human cells in NSG mice				
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L, IL-6/ SR1	HSC CD34+	15	A 330-fold increase in CD34+ cells	1	15/49	The CD15/33 populations in 65% patients and CD3 populations in 35% patients are entirely derived from the manipulated unit	Inhibition of the AHR	Wagner et al. (2016) [47]
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L/UM171	CB HSC CD34+	12	A 60-75-fold increase in CD34+ cells	The capability of LT-HSC to expand was preserved in primary recipients	1		Suppression of transcripts associated with erythroid and megakaryocytic differentiation	Fares et al. (2014) [32]
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L/UM171	CB HSC CD34+	7	A 28.1-fold increase in CD34+ cells	1	18/42	UM171-expanded cord blood unit/a benefit in 12 month transplant-related mortality, progression-free survival and overall survival	Suppression of transcripts associated with enythroid and megakaryocytic differentiation	Cohen et al. (2020) [48]
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L/LSD1 inhibition	CB HSC CD34+	Q	Around 7-fold increase in CD34+ cells	The LT engraftment levels measured 16 weeks after transplantation were very high	1		LSD1 and CoREST are principal targets of UM171-mediated HSC expansion	Subramaniam et al. (2020) [33]
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L, IL-3, IL- 6/Notch ligand	CB HSC CD34+	17-21	A 164-222-fold increase in CD34+ cells	Repopulating ability and SRC frequency was significantly higher in mice	- 16/ -	Contribution almost entirely from the non-manipulated CB unit	Stimulating notch signal and inducing self- renewal	Delaney et al. (2010) [34]
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L, IL-3, IL- 6/Notch ligand	CB HSC CD34+	14-16	A 141-fold increase in CD34+ cells	1	19/35	Cells derived from the expansion product were no longer detected at day 14 in 82% patients	Stimulating Notch signal and inducing self- renewal	Dahlberg et al. (2015) [49]

916 Vox Sanguinis SST International Society of Blood Transfusion.

TABLE 1 (Cc	ontinued)							
		Pre-clinical st	tudies		Clinical studies			
Cytokine/ molecule	Input cells	Expansion period (days)	Result	Animal experiment	ST-engraftment ANC/platelets (median days)	LT-engraftment	Possible mechanism	Reference
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L, IL-3/ VPA	CB HSC CD34+	10	More than 10-fold increase in CD34+ cells	Exposure to valproic acid increased the long-term potential of HSCs	1		Induction histone acetylation as well as DNA demethylation or inhibition of GSK3β	Bug et al. (2005) [37]
TPO, SCF, FLT- 3L, IL-3/ VPA	CB HSC CD34+	7	The degree of expansion was substantially greater	The number of SCID- repopulating cells were increased in primary and secondary immune- deficient recipient mice	1		VPA is a histone deacetylase inhibitor	Chaurasia et al. (2014) [50]
TPO SCF FLT- 3L IL-6/ NAM	CB HSC CD34+	21	An 80-fold increase in CD34+ cells	The homing to murine BM was increased by threefold and the incidence of ST-SRC increased by 7.6-fold compared to cultures without NAM	1		Inhibition of the SIRT1 and differentiation of HSC	Peled et al. (2012) [38]
TPO SCF FLT- 3L IL-6/ NAM	CB HSC CD133+	21	A 72-fold increase in CD34+ cells	1	13/33	An expanded graft is capable of outcompeting an unmanipulated unit and of providing both rapid engraftment and multi-lineage haematopoiesis	Inhibition of the SIRT1 and differentiation of HSC	Horwitz et al. (2014) [51]
Abbreviations: AH long-term haematu ST, short-term; TP	IR, aryl hydrocarbon opoietic stem cell; ml 'O, thrombopoietin; \	receptor; BM, b PB, mobilized p VPA, valproate.	ione marrow; CB, cord blood; eripheral blood; NAM, nicotir	; FLT3-L, FLT3-ligand: HSC, ha namide; NSG, NOD-scid-gamm	ematopoietic stem c ıa; SCF, stem cell fac	ell: IL, interleukin; LSD1, lysin tor; SCID, severe combined ii	e-specific histone demethyl mmune-deficiency mice; SR?	ase 1A; LT-HSC, I, StemRegenin 1;

918 Vox Sanguinis

order to elucidate the mechanism of UM171, RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) and expression profile analysis showed that, in contrast to SR1, UM171 did not down-regulate the AHR target genes such as CYP1B1, CYP1A1 and AhRR. This suggests that the mechanism of UM171 in enhancing the self-renewal of human LT-HSCs may be independent of AHR inhibition. Last year, Subramaniam reported that inhibition of the epigenetic regulator lysine-specific histone demethylase 1A (LSD1) induced a phenotype and molecular characteristics very much like cells treated with UM171. The knockout model constructed by CRISPR/Cas9 suggested that LSD1 might be the target of UM171 [33].

Delanev's laboratory studied the role of the Notch signalling pathway in regulating the expansion of HSPCs in vitro. They used serum-free medium with the immobilized, engineered Notch ligand (delta1ext IgG) to culture CD34+ cells isolated from umbilical cord blood (UCB). This increased the absolute number of HSPCs, including functional HSCs that reconstruct recipient haematopoiesis [34, 35].

Valproate (VPA), a histone deacetylase inhibitor (HDACi), is an epigenetic modifier. Papa et al. found that VPA improved the maintenance of stem cells and the proliferation of CD34+ cells [36]. Cells incubated with VPA also had increased aldehyde dehydrogenase activity and decreased mitochondrial membrane potential, both being functional markers of HSCs. In addition, VPA inhibits glycogen synthase kinase 3β (Gsk 3β) by inducing its phosphorylation on ser9, thereby activating the expression of Wnt and HOXB4 genes, both of which are direct stimulators of self-renewal of HSCs [37].

Nicotinamide (NAM), a water-soluble vitamin B-3, is a wellestablished inhibitor of enzymes that rely on nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) activity, such as SIRT1. Peled et al. demonstrated that NAM increases the proportion of CD34+CD38- cells, inhibits stem cell differentiation and enhances homing and engraftment [38]. Horwitz et al. performed a phase III clinical trial in 125 patients and reported that omidubicel (an expanded UCB product with NAM) shortened the recovery time of neutrophils and platelets by more than 10 days compared with the standard umbilical cord blood transplantation group, and reduced implantation time and hospital stay [39]. In particular, the graft was from a single-unit UCB, which included the CD133+ part amplified by nicotinamide and the CD133- non-cultured fraction containing immunocompetent lymphoid cells.

Some of the above small molecular compounds have achieved remarkable results in clinical trials of UCB amplification. We have summarized them in Table 1.

The role of three-dimensional bone marrow structure in the expansion of haematopoietic stem progenitor cells

In addition to the above soluble factors, the bone marrow microenvironment provides a specific three-dimensional (3D) spatial structure for HSPCs. In order to understand the role of the 3D structure in the maintenance and expansion of HSPCs, many researchers

choose different materials to simulate the spatial structure of the microenvironment in vitro. Compared with common plate culture, 3D culture systems (such as non-woven porous carrier, macroporous collagen carrier and porous microspheres) increase the self-renewal of human HSCs, and this effect is further enhanced by supplementing with cytokines. Among them, 3D scaffolds coated with fibronectin can enhance the expansion of HSCs up to 100-fold [40, 41].

We are inspired by the work of Marx-Blümel et al. and Bai et al. who have shown that the topology of the stem cell niche and the elasticity and surface hydrophobicity of the cell culture matrix are important factors affecting cell differentiation and stem cell potential maintenance [42, 43]. Human serum albumin (HSA) may have multiple functions in the culture of HSCs, its main role being that of a 'carrier molecule'. However, it seems to be the main source of biological pollution in HSC culture, so we must find a substitute for HSA. Wilkinson and colleagues found that polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) was functional and economical in this role, which could expand functional mouse HSCs by 236-899 times in 1 month. The system also supports the survival and expansion of CD34+ cells derived from human UCB ex vivo. However, the expansion of human LT-HSCs is not so sensitive to the amphiphilic molecule PVA [12]. Accordingly, we speculate that there may be better albumin substitutes as carriers for the amplification of human LT-HSCs.

DISCUSSION

The use of cytokines promotes the expansion of HSPCs in vitro, but at the same time differentiation is inevitable and the types and concentrations of cytokines used in different studies are highly heterogeneous. Although small molecular supplements can promote the self-renewal of HSCs and inhibit their differentiation, these expanded cells have less colony-forming activity than untreated cells. Researchers have analysed the haematopoietic reconstitution ability of expanded cells by transplanting fresh or expanded cells into NODscid-gamma (NSG) mice. SR1 treatment seems to impair the proliferative potential of lymphomyeloid HSCs in vivo, because SR1 in a UM171-treated culture slightly impedes the proliferative potential of the expanded cells. Moreover, the activity of AhR inhibitors seems restricted to the production of cells with less durable self-renewal ability. UM171 treatment may produce LT-HSCs with the lymphoid deficiency phenotype [31-33]. We need to develop an HSC expansion system in which various cytokines and small molecules can, to the greatest extent possible, stimulate the expansion of HSCs with multi-lineage differentiation potential. So far, no ideal carrier has been found for this. Such an ideal 'carrier molecule' should not only provide the 3D space structure conducive to the maintenance and selfrenewal of HSCs but also prevent differentiation and facilitate the maintenance of LT-HSCs. In fact, the mainstream view is that the haematopoietic microenvironment is divided into the duality of intra-bone and perivascular, while the new view is that it is divided according to the imaging of living animals after transplantation. Both concepts point out that HSCs are located in the hypoxic part of the

bone marrow [44]. Unlike differentiated progenies, HSCs rely on glycolysis as the major energy source to adapt to the hypnoxic microenvironment. This metabolic balance promotes the maintenance of HSCs by limiting the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). HSCs are exceedingly sensitive to the redox state of cells and show a low level of ROS closely related to cell metabolic activities. The increase of ROS level can damage the function of HSCs, and slight fluctuation may change their fate [3, 45].

In recent years, as the main source of ROS, mitochondria have become one of the main research objects in the expansion of HSCs. Mitochondrial dynamics and quality control are related to the differentiation, self-renewal and regeneration potential of HSCs. LT-HSCs may positively maintain low mitochondrial activity as a part of their intrinsic characteristics [45]. In addition, the mRNA and protein of hypoxia inducible factor-1 (*HIF-1*) are highly expressed in LT-HSCs, which is a crucial transcription factor for cells to adapt to the hypoxic environment. Under hypoxia, the degradation of HIF-1 α is inhibited and it forms heterodimers with HIF-1 β . Then, activated transcription of downstream genes mediates the transition from oxidative metabolism to glycolysis [46]. The ideal 'carrier molecule' serves as a 'redox agent' to maintain and improve the function of HSCs by regulating the level of ROS.

In summary, a variety of factors need to be considered in the expansion of HSCs in vitro, to avoid complex operations such as vector construction and virus transfection. If such factors are combined to develop an optimal system for the expansion of HSCs, the advantages of CBT will benefit more patients. In addition, with the development of single-cell sequencing technology, the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database collects a large quantity of sequencing data about HSCs. The transcriptome-based classification of HSCs and their progenies by scRNA-seq offers a comprehensive yet powerful means to track how stem cells better reconstruct haematopoiesis. This is also of great significance to further explore the molecular mechanism of the maintenance and expansion of HSCs and to improve existing expansion strategy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work is funded by the Science and Technology Department of Shanxi Province (grant no. YDZJSX2021B009) and the Health Commission of Shanxi Province (grant no. 2021XM07).

Y.R. and Y.N.C. performed the research and wrote the first draft of the manuscript, Y.R. and Y.N.C. designed the research study, Y.H.T. contributed essential reagents or tools, Z.F.X. acquired and analysed the data and H.W.W. supervised the research and reviewed and edited the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

 Almici C, Carlo-Stella C, Wagner JE, Mangoni L, Garau D, Re A, et al. Clonogenic capacity and ex vivo expansion potential of umbilical cord blood progenitor cells are not impaired by cryopreservation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 1997;19:1079–84. Migliaccio AR, Baiocchi M, Durand B, Eddleman K, Migliaccio G, Adamson JW. Stem cell factor and the amplification of progenitor cells from CD34+ cord blood cells. Blood Cells. 1994;20:129–39.

- Suda T, Takubo K, Semenza GL. Metabolic regulation of hematopoietic stem cells in the hypoxic niche. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;9:298–310.
- Yamamoto R, Morita Y, Ooehara J, Hamanaka S, Onodera M, Rudolph KL, et al. Clonal analysis unveils self-renewing lineagerestricted progenitors generated directly from hematopoietic stem cells. Cell. 2013;154:1112–26.
- Kent D, Dykstra B, Eaves C. Isolation and assessment of long-term reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells from adult mouse bone marrow. Curr Protoc Stem Cell Biol. 2007;Chapter 2:Unit 2A.4.
- Kent DG, Dykstra BJ, Eaves CJ. Isolation and assessment of single long-term reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells from adult mouse bone marrow. Curr Protoc Stem Cell Biol. 2016;38:2A.4.1–2A.4.24.
- Kumar S, Geiger H. HSC niche biology and HSC expansion ex vivo. Trends Mol Med. 2017;23:799–819.
- Heinz N, Ehrnström B, Schambach A, Schwarzer A, Modlich U, Schiedlmeier B. Comparison of different cytokine conditions reveals resveratrol as a new molecule for ex vivo cultivation of cord bloodderived hematopoietic stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2015;4: 1064–72.
- Branco A, Bucar S, Moura-Sampaio J, Lilaia C, Cabral JMS, Fernandes-Platzgummer A, et al. Tailored cytokine optimization for ex vivo culture platforms targeting the expansion of human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2020;8: 573282.
- Cui L, Moraga I, Lerbs T, Van Neste C, Wilmes S, Tsutsumi N, et al. Tuning MPL signaling to influence hematopoietic stem cell differentiation and inhibit essential thrombocythemia progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2021;118:e2017849118.
- Zhang J, Huang X, Guo B, Cooper S, Capitano ML, Johnson TC, et al. Effects of Eupalinilide E and UM171, alone and in combination on cytokine stimulated ex-vivo expansion of human cord blood hematopoietic stem cells. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2020;84:102457.
- Wilkinson AC, Ishida R, Kikuchi M, Sudo K, Morita M, Crisostomo RV, et al. Long-term ex vivo haematopoietic-stem-cell expansion allows nonconditioned transplantation. Nature. 2019;571: 117-21.
- Marx-Blümel L, Marx C, Weise F, Frey J, Perner B, Schlingloff G, et al. Biomimetic reconstruction of the hematopoietic stem cell niche for in vitro amplification of human hematopoietic stem cells. PLoS One. 2020;15:e0234638.
- Duchez P, Rodriguez L, Chevaleyre J, Lapostolle V, Vlaski M, Brunet de la Grange P, et al. Interleukin-6 enhances the activity of in vivo long-term reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells in "hypoxic-like" expansion cultures ex vivo. Transfusion. 2015;55:2684–91.
- Nitsche A, Junghahn I, Thulke S, Aumann J, Radonić A, Fichtner I, et al. Interleukin-3 promotes proliferation and differentiation of human hematopoietic stem cells but reduces their repopulation potential in NOD/SCID mice. Stem Cells. 2003;21:236–44.
- Zon LI. Intrinsic and extrinsic control of haematopoietic stem-cell self-renewal. Nature. 2008;453:306–13.
- Comazzetto S, Murphy MM, Berto S, Jeffery E, Zhao Z, Morrison SJ. Restricted hematopoietic progenitors and erythropoiesis require SCF from leptin receptor+ niche cells in the bone marrow. Cell Stem Cell. 2019;24:477–86.e6.
- Broudy VC, Lin NL, Priestley GV, Nocka K, Wolf NS. Interaction of stem cell factor and its receptor c-kit mediates lodgment and acute expansion of hematopoietic cells in the murine spleen. Blood. 1996; 88:75–81.
- Xie C, Jia B, Xiang Y, Wang L, Wang G, Huang G, et al. Support of hMSCs transduced with TPO/FL genes to expansion of umbilical cord CD34+ cells in indirect co-culture. Cell Tissue Res. 2006;326: 101–10.

Vox Sanguinis Si International Society 919

- Neipp M, Zorina T, Domenick MA, Exner BG, Ildstad ST. Effect of FLT3 ligand and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor on expansion and mobilization of facilitating cells and hematopoietic stem cells in mice: kinetics and repopulating potential. Blood. 1998;92:3177–88.
- Petzer AL, Zandstra PW, Piret JM, Eaves CJ. Differential cytokine effects on primitive (CD34+CD38-) human hematopoietic cells: novel responses to Flt3-ligand and thrombopoietin. J Exp Med. 1996;183:2551-8.
- Klein F, von Muenchow L, Capoferri G, Heiler S, Alberti-Servera L, Rolink H, et al. Accumulation of multipotent hematopoietic progenitors in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice over-expressing interleukin-7 and Flt3-ligand. Front Immunol. 2018;9:2258.
- Leary AG, Zeng HQ, Clark SC, Ogawa M. Growth factor requirements for survival in G0 and entry into the cell cycle of primitive human hemopoietic progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89: 4013–7.
- Ivanovic Z. Interleukin-3 and ex vivo maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells: facts and controversies. Eur Cytokine Netw. 2004;15:6–13.
- Ariyama Y, Misawa S, Sonoda Y. Synergistic effects of stem cell factor and interleukin 6 or interleukin 11 on the expansion of murine hematopoietic progenitors in liquid suspension culture. Stem Cells. 1995;13:404–13.
- Murray LJ, Young JC, Osborne LJ, Luens KM, Scollay R, Hill BL. Thrombopoietin, flt3, and kit ligands together suppress apoptosis of human mobilized CD34+ cells and recruit primitive CD34+ Thy-1+ cells into rapid division. Exp Hematol. 1999;27:1019–28.
- 27. Ratajczak MZ. Phenotypic and functional characterization of hematopoietic stem cells. Curr Opin Hematol. 2008;15:293–300.
- Yin AH, Miraglia S, Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G, Ogawa M, Leary AG, et al. AC133, a novel marker for human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Blood. 1997;90:5002–12.
- Campbell TB, Hangoc G, Liu Y, Pollok K, Broxmeyer HE. Inhibition of CD26 in human cord blood CD34+ cells enhances their engraftment of nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency mice. Stem Cells Dev. 2007;16:347–54.
- Boitano AE, Wang J, Romeo R, Bouchez LC, Parker AE, Sutton SE, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor antagonists promote the expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. Science. 2010;329:1345–8.
- Ding S, Gray NS, Wu X, Ding Q, Schultz PG. A combinatorial scaffold approach toward kinase-directed heterocycle libraries. J Am Chem Soc. 2002;124:1594–6.
- Fares I, Chagraoui J, Gareau Y, Gingras S, Ruel R, Mayotte N, et al. Cord blood expansion. Pyrimidoindole derivatives are agonists of human hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal. Science. 2014;345: 1509–12.
- Subramaniam A, Žemaitis K, Talkhoncheh MS, Yudovich D, Bäckström A, Debnath S, et al. Lysine-specific demethylase 1A restricts ex vivo propagation of human HSCs and is a target of UM171. Blood. 2020;136:2151–61.
- Delaney C, Heimfeld S, Brashem-Stein C, Voorhies H, Manger RL, Bernstein ID. Notch-mediated expansion of human cord blood progenitor cells capable of rapid myeloid reconstitution. Nat Med. 2010; 16:232–6.
- Milano F, Merriam F, Nicoud I, Li J, Gooley TA, Heimfeld S, et al. Notch-expanded murine hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells mitigate death from lethal radiation and convey immune tolerance in mismatched recipients. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2017;6:566–75.
- Papa L, Djedaini M, Kintali M, Schaniel C, Hoffman R. Ex vivo expansion of adult hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells with valproic acid. Methods Mol Biol. 2021;2185:267–80.

- Bug G, Gül H, Schwarz K, Pfeifer H, Kampfmann M, Zheng X, et al. Valproic acid stimulates proliferation and self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells. Cancer Res. 2005;65:2537–41.
- Peled T, Shoham H, Aschengrau D, Yackoubov D, Frei G, Rosenheimer GN, et al. Nicotinamide, a SIRT1 inhibitor, inhibits differentiation and facilitates expansion of hematopoietic progenitor cells with enhanced bone marrow homing and engraftment. Exp Hematol. 2012;40:342–55.e1.
- Horwitz ME, Stiff PJ, Cutler C, Brunstein C, Hanna R, Maziarz RT, et al. Omidubicel vs standard myeloablative umbilical cord blood transplantation: results of a phase 3 randomized study. Blood. 2021; 138:1429-40.
- Kim HS, Lim JB, Min YH, Lee ST, Lyu CJ, Kim ES, et al. Ex vivo expansion of human umbilical cord blood CD34+ cells in a collagen bead-containing 3-dimensional culture system. Int J Hematol. 2003;78:126–32.
- Prewitz M, Seib FP, Pompe T, Werner C. Polymeric biomaterials for stem cell bioengineering. Macromol Rapid Commun. 2012;33:1420–31.
- Marx-Blümel L, Marx C, Sonnemann J, Weise F, Hampl J, Frey J, et al. Molecular characterization of hematopoietic stem cells after in vitro amplification on biomimetic 3D PDMS cell culture scaffolds. Sci Rep. 2021;11:21163.
- Bai T, Li J, Sinclair A, Imren S, Merriam F, Sun F, et al. Expansion of primitive human hematopoietic stem cells by culture in a zwitterionic hydrogel. Nat Med. 2019;25:1566–75.
- 44. Christodoulou C, Spencer JA, Yeh SA, Turcotte R, Kokkaliaris KD, Panero R, et al. Live-animal imaging of native haematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Nature. 2020;578:278-83.
- Filippi MD, Ghaffari S. Mitochondria in the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells: new perspectives and opportunities. Blood. 2019; 133:1943–52.
- Simsek T, Kocabas F, Zheng J, Deberardinis RJ, Mahmoud AI, Olson EN, et al. The distinct metabolic profile of hematopoietic stem cells reflects their location in a hypoxic niche. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;7: 380–90.
- Wagner JE Jr, Brunstein CG, Boitano AE, DeFor TE, McKenna D, Sumstad D, et al. Phase I/II trial of stemregenin-1 expanded umbilical cord blood hematopoietic stem cells supports testing as a standalone graft. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;18:144–55.
- Cohen S, Roy J, Lachance S, Delisle JS, Marinier A, Busque L, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation using single UM171expanded cord blood: a single-arm, phase 1-2 safety and feasibility study. Lancet Haematol. 2020;7:e134–45.
- Dahlberg A, Woo S, Delaney C, Boyle P, Gnirke A, Bock C, et al. Notch-mediated expansion of cord blood progenitors: maintenance of transcriptional and epigenetic fidelity. Leukemia. 2015;29:1948–51.
- Chaurasia P, Gajzer DC, Schaniel C, D'Souza S, Hoffman R. Epigenetic reprogramming induces the expansion of cord blood stem cells. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:2378–95.
- Horwitz ME, Chao NJ, Rizzieri DA, Long GD, Sullivan KM, Gasparetto C, et al. Umbilical cord blood expansion with nicotinamide provides long-term multilineage engraftment. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:3121–8.

How to cite this article: Ren Y, Cui Y, Tan Y, Xu Z, Wang H. Expansion strategies for umbilical cord blood haematopoietic stem cells in vitro. Vox Sang. 2023;118:913–20. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13525

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Revised: 12 August 2023



'Ironing out the risk': Assessing the effect of plateletpheresis donation frequency on iron stores in South-Asian male donors

Deep Madkaiker^{1,2} | Sumathi S. Hiregoudar² | Preeti Chavan³ | Shashank Ojha² | Jennifer Mendes⁴ | Shamee Shastry¹

¹Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Kasturba Medical College, Manipal, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal, Karnataka, India

²Department of Transfusion Medicine, Advanced Centre for Treatment, Research and Education in Cancer, Tata Memorial Centre, Homi Bhabha National Institute, Navi Mumbai, India

³Composite Laboratory, Advanced Centre for Treatment, Research and Education in Cancer, Tata Memorial Centre, Homi Bhabha National Institute, Navi Mumbai, India

⁴Department of Community Medicine, Kasturba Medical College, Manipal, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal, Karnataka, India

Correspondence

Deep Madkaiker, Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Kasturba Medical College, Manipal, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal, Karnataka 576104, India. Email: deepmadk01@gmail.com

Funding information

International Society of Blood Transfusion-I TRY IT program

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Repeated blood donation is a well-known cause of iron deficiency among donors. However, present scientific literature lacks comprehensive evidence regarding the impact of regular plateletpheresis procedures on body iron reserves. In this study, we aimed to detect and correlate iron deficiency (using iron indices) with the frequency of platelet donations. Additionally, we also analysed the correlation between other iron and haematological indices with serum ferritin to determine cost-effective parameters that may serve as an initial screening approach to determine which donors should be subjected to serum ferritin testing.

Materials and Methods: A total of 180 male participants from our platelet donor registry were enrolled in this observational cross-sectional study. Enrolment questionnaires were administered to eligible donors, and biological samples were collected during plateletpheresis donation. Biological tests such as complete blood count, reticulocyte indices, iron indices, vitamin B12 and folate were performed.

Results: Donors with \geq 12 donations per year showed the highest prevalence of low ferritin (serum ferritin: 15–30 ng/mL) and absent iron stores (serum ferritin <15 ng/mL) (41.3% and 26.7%, respectively). Ferritin showed a significant negative correlation with recent (r = -0.346) and lifetime donations (r = -0.196). The efficacy of other indices for identifying iron depletion was much better using a serum ferritin value <15 ng/mL.

Conclusion: Regular plateletpheresis donations can lead to varying severities of nonanaemic iron deficiency. Blood centres must regularly monitor frequent plateletpheresis donors (especially donors with more than 11 donations in a calendar year) and ideally maintain their serum ferritin above 30 ng/mL.

Keywords

donor, ferritin, frequency, iron deficiency, plateletpheresis

Highlights

- Higher prevalence of low ferritin/absent iron stores is observed with increasing frequency of plateletpheresis.
- Haematological indices of donors were within normal limits, which would allow these individuals to continue donating in the non-anaemic iron deficiency state.
- Plateletpheresis donors may benefit from a lower frequency of donation in order to maintain their body iron reserves.
INTRODUCTION

Donation-induced iron deficiency (ID) is an established phenomenon among blood donors, with a growing recognition in poor resource settings. Published literature confirms that regular blood donors experience a progressive decline in iron reserves as the frequency of donation increases [1, 2]. This results in the depletion of the body ferritin first, followed by red blood cells (RBCs), ultimately resulting in decreased haemoglobin (Hb) only in the last stage of ID. Systematic serum ferritin (SF) measurements can detect iron depletion earlier, resulting in timely prevention of ID and ensuing donor deferral [3]. Furthermore, cut-offs for low Hb or low ferritin (LF) vary across countries, especially with regard to the duration of deferral and repeat testing policy for such donors [4]. Various strategies have been suggested to reduce the risk of ID among blood donors, such as lengthening the inter-donation interval, ferritin testing and iron supplementation [5].

Although much of the ID research is focused on whole blood donors, comprehensive evidence is lacking among regular apheresis donors. Although apheresis donors lose fewer RBCs than whole blood donors, they may be at risk for iron depletion because of the higher donation frequency and chronic, small-volume red cell losses occurring with each procedure [6].

ID is estimated to account for more than 60% of all anaemia globally [7]. India's data from the National Family Health Survey (NFHS) proves that this is of particular importance in developing countries because of the high prevalence of anaemia, which has further increased between NFHS-4 and NFHS-5 from 53% in 2015–2016 to 57% in 2019–2021 among women and from 23% in 2015–2016 to 25% in 2019–2021 among men [8].

The scarcity of data related to body iron status among Asian platelet donors makes this a crucial research avenue in order to ensure donor welfare in this geographic region.

The objective of this study was to investigate the variation in haematological and biochemical parameters among repeat plateletpheresis donors, particularly concerning their iron reserves. Furthermore, we sought to evaluate the correlation between donor iron status and the frequency of donations (recent and lifetime). We compared the different indices using ferritin as a reference standard (which was the best assay available at our institution) to ascertain economical alternatives for identifying iron depletion via receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. Lastly, we wanted to assess other haematinic dietary nutrients, such as vitamin B12 and folate levels, to obtain insight into the nutritional status of donors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This was a single-centre, prospective observational study performed in the Department of Transfusion Medicine, Advanced Centre for Treatment, Research and Education in Cancer, Navi Mumbai. Institutional ethics committee approval and Clinical Trials Registry-India registration were obtained prior to starting the study.

Donor recruitment

A total of 150 repeat donors and 30 first-time donors (FTD) were recruited in the study from our platelet donor registry when they presented for platelet donation. These voluntary donors are recruited exclusively for plateletpheresis donations, and we do not perform RBC apheresis or plasmapheresis at our centre. Donor eligibility criteria in accordance with national regulations were ensured prior to enrolment (minimum Hb >12.5 g/dL, platelet count >150,000/µL, minimum interval between successive platelet donations of 2 weeks and donor health assessment questionnaire). Of the 204 invited eligible donors, 180 consented to participate in the study. The repeat donors were enrolled into two equal groups: repeat infrequent donors (RID; 6-11 platelet donations in last 1 year) and repeat frequent donors (RFD; ≥12 donations in last 1 year). In light of the scarcity of plateletpheresis donors, especially female donors, the study focused exclusively on male participants and utilized a purposive sampling technique to ensure that the recruitment target in each study group was met.

Consent

Informed consent was obtained and a structured enrolment questionnaire was administered to eligible donors, which collected data related to platelet donation history as well as smoking, dietary and medication/supplement history.

Sampling

Blood samples were collected from the integrated sample pouch attached to the apheresis kit during the procedure itself. Complete blood count (CBC), reticulocyte indices, biochemical assays (iron indices: serum iron (Fe), SF, total iron binding capacity (TIBC), vitamin B12 and folate) were performed by the hospital laboratory. Transferrin saturation (TSAT) was calculated as ([Fe/TIBC] \times 100). This laboratory takes part in regular external quality assessment exercises.

Sample logistics

Samples for CBC and reticulocyte indices were maintained at room temperature and analysed within 6 h of collection. The serum samples were centrifuged, separated, appropriately labelled and frozen at -20° C in Eppendorf tubes for batch testing (10–20 samples). Serum samples were thawed and sera were tested for biochemical parameters.

Equipment and assays

Analysis of CBC and reticulocyte indices were performed on the ADVIA haematology analyser according to manufacturer's instructions, while the biochemical assays were performed on a Siemens biochemistry analyser using appropriate reagents and diluents. Study participants were stratified based on their iron status, as depicted in Table 1 [9, 10]. As donors are typically healthy individuals who donate altruistically, we prioritized their safety by opting for an SF cut-off value of 30 ng/mL as the criterion for defining reduced iron stores.

Statistical analyses were carried out using IBM SPSS v22. Descriptive data are presented in the form of means and standard deviation. Chi-square and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests were used for inter-group comparisons, as applicable. Following the one-way ANOVA tests, pair-wise comparison of the means was done using Tukey honestly significant difference post hoc analysis. ROC curve analysis was used to test various haematological and biochemical parameters against SF values (15 and 30 ng/mL) and to derive optimal cut-off values with their sensitivity and specificity. Statistical significance was established at $p \le 0.05$.

RESULTS

Donor demographics

The final enrolment in our study was 180 donors: 30 FTD, 75 RID and 75 RFD. We saw a younger population (18–45 years) enrolled in the FTD and RID groups (86.7% and 74.7%, respectively). However, the majority of the donors in the RFD group were in the 46–60-year age group (54.7%) followed by the 31–45-year age group (36%).

Donor demographics and their relevant medical history are summarized in Table 2.

Donation history and deferrals among repeat donors

Apheresis donation history and deferral data among the repeat donor groups are summarized in Table 3.

The most significant finding was that deferral due to low Hb was higher in the RFD group (29.3%) compared with the RID group (4%). While a majority of the donors in the RFD group had been deferred between 1 and 4 times (17.3%), about 4% of donors had been deferred >10 times, with one donor being deferred as many as 14 times.

TABLE 1 Criteria for stratification of donors based on their iron reserves.

Criteria	Donor strata	Iron status
Hb ≥ 13 g/dL and SF > 30 ng/mL	Donors with iron- replete status	Iron-replete/normal
Hb ≥ 13 g/dL and SF 15-30 ng/ mL	Donors with low ferritin	Negative iron balance/low ferritin
Hb ≥ 13 g/dL and SF < 15 ng/mL	Donors with absent iron stores	Absent iron stores
Hb < 13 g/dL	Donors with iron- deficiency anaemia	Iron-deficiency anaemia

Abbreviations: Hb, haemoglobin; SF, serum ferritin.

Donor stratification based on ferritin levels

SF-based stratification is summarized in Table 4. The proportion of iron-replete donors was highest among FTD (66.7%) and lowest among RFD (21.3%). In contrast, the frequent donor group had the highest proportion of donors with low ferritin (DLF) and donors with absent iron stores (DAIS) (41.3% and 26.7%, respectively). The proportion of DLF and DAIS in the infrequent group was 20% and 12%, respectively, and even among FTD, there were a small proportion of donors who showed LF and absent iron stores (AIS). Of the donors enrolled, 9.4% had iron-deficiency anaemia (IDA) as per the WHO anaemia classification.

_Vox Sanguinis

923

TABLE 2 Donor demographics and medical history.

	FTD (N = 30)	RID (N = 75)	RFD (N = 75)
A. Demographics			
Age (years)			
18-30	8 (26.7)	20 (26.7)	7 (9.3)
31-45	18 (60)	36 (48)	27 (36)
46-60	4 (13.3)	19 (25.3)	41 (54.7)
BMI class (kg/m ²)			
Underweight (<18.5)	0	0	1 (1.3)
Normal weight (18.5–24.9)	9 (30)	27 (36)	21 (28)
Pre-obesity (25-29.9)	14 (46.7)	32 (42.7)	38 (50.7)
Obesity class I (30–34.9)	5 (16.7)	16 (21.3)	13 (17.3)
Obesity class II (35–39.9)	1 (3.3)	0	2 (2.7)
Obesity class III (>40)	1 (3.3)	0	0
Dietary preferences			
Non-vegetarian	17 (56.7)	47 (62.7)	32 (42.7)
Vegetarian	13 (43.3)	28 (37.3)	43 (57.3)
B. Medical history			
Smoking history			
Current smoker	5 (16.7)	23 (30.7)	14 (18.7)
Non-smoker	25 (83.3)	52 (69.3)	61 (81.3)
Acidity symptoms			
Yes	6 (20)	17 (22.7)	5 (6.7)
No	24 (80)	58 (77.3)	70 (93.3)
Acidity medication			
Yes	3 (10)	7 (9.3)	3 (4)
No	27 (90)	68 (90.7)	72 (96)
Iron supplementation			
Yes	0 (0)	1 (1.3)	1 (1.3)
No	30 (100)	74 (98.7)	74 (98.7)
Vitamin supplementation			
Yes	1 (3.3)	6 (8)	5 (6.7)
No	29 (96.7)	69 (92)	70 (93.3)

Note: Data presented as n (%).

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; FTD, first-time donors; RFD, repeat frequent donors; RID, repeat infrequent donors.

TABLE 3 Repeat donor groups: Donation and deferral history.

	RID (N = 75)	RFD (N = 75)
A. Donation history		
Lifetime donations		
1-25	62 (82.7)	20 (26.7)
26-50	7 (9.3)	16 (21.3)
51-150	6 (8)	33 (44)
>150	0	6 (8)
Donations in last 12 n	nonths	
6-11	75 (100)	NA
12-18	NA	52 (69.3)
19-24	NA	23 (30.7)
B. Lifetime deferral histo	ory	
Deferral due to low H	b	
Yes	3 (4)	22 (29.3)
No	72 (96)	53 (70.7)
If yes, number of time	es deferred ^a	
1-4 times	2 (2.7)	13 (17.3)
5-9 times	1 (1.3)	5 (6.7)
>10 times	0	3 (4)
Lowest historical Hb (g/dL) ^a	
11-12	3 (4)	14 (18.7)
12.1-12.5	0	6 (8)
NA	72 (96)	53 (70.7)
Lowest historical Hct	(%) ^a	
33-35	0	1 (1.3)
35.1-37	0	11 (14.7)
37-40	1 (1.3)	8 (10.7)
NA	72 (96)	53 (70.7)

Note: Data presented as *n* (%).

Abbreviations: Hb, haemoglobin; Hct, haematocrit; NA, not applicable; RFD, repeat frequent donors; RID, repeat infrequent donors. ^aMissing values; if yes, number of times deferred, RFD = 1; lowest historical Hb, RFD = 2; lowest historical Hct, RID = 2, RFD = 2.

Dietary intake preferences

The prevalence of LF/AIS/IDA was observed to be $\approx 8\%$ -10% higher in donors who preferred a vegetarian diet, while the prevalence of iron-replete status was higher among non-vegetarians (52.1%) as compared to vegetarians (38.1%) (Table S1).

Distribution of haematological and biochemical parameters

In inter-group comparisons, ferritin, TIBC and TSAT were significantly different between the first-time and frequent donor groups, whereas they were not significantly different between the first-time and infrequent donor groups. Additionally, paired comparisons between the frequent and infrequent donor groups showed significantly higher red

MADKAIKER ET AL.

TABLE 4 Serum-ferritin-based stratification of the donor groups.

Donor stratification						
	N	DIR	DLF	DAIS	DIDA	
FTD	30	20 (66.7)	4 (13.3)	2 (6.7)	4 (13.3)	
RID	75	46 (61.3)	15 (20)	9 (12)	5 (6.7)	
RFD	75	16 (21.3)	31 (41.3)	20 (26.7)	8 (10.7)	
Total	180	82 (45.6)	50 (27.8)	31 (17.2)	17 (9.4)	

Note: Data presented as n (%).

Abbreviations: DAIS, donors with absent iron stores; DIDA, donors with iron-deficiency anaemia; DIR, donors with iron-replete; DLF, donors with low ferritin; FTD, first-time donors; RFD, repeat frequent donors; RID, repeat infrequent donors.

TABLE 5 Pearson correlation coefficients (haematological and iron indices with lifetime and recent donations).

	Lifetime donations		Recent dona (<1 year)	ations
Indices	r	p-value	r	p-value
Haematological				
Hct	-0.204	0.01	-0.208	0.005
RDW	0.149	0.05	0.013 ^a	0.858
PLT	0.115 ^a	0.12	0.162	0.030
CHr	0.077 ^a	0.30	0.171	0.022
CHm	0.093 ^a	0.21	0.203	0.006
Reticulocyte %	-0.042 ^a	0.58	-0.082 ^a	0.275
Iron				
Serum iron	-0.169	0.02	-0.195	0.009
SF	-0.196	0.01	-0.346	0.000
TIBC	0.209	0.01	0.235	0.002
TSAT	-0.225	0.00	-0.265	0.000

Abbreviations: CHm, mature red blood cell cellular haemoglobin content; CHr, mean haemoglobin content—reticulocytes; Hct, haematocrit; PLT, platelet count; SF, serum ferritin; RDW, red cell distribution width; TIBC, total iron binding capacity; TSAT, transferrin saturation. ^aNon-significant results.

cell distribution width and lower Hb, ferritin, iron and TSAT among the frequent donor group (Tables S2–S4).

Correlations between donor indices and donation frequency

The main objective of our study was to examine the relationship between haematological and iron indices with recent donations (within last 12 months), as well as lifetime donations to ascertain their effect on donor indices. In our analysis, ferritin showed a significant negative correlation with recent (r = -0.346) and lifetime donations (r = -0.196). We also evaluated a previously established correlation between platelet count and ferritin but did not find any statistically significant correlation (Table 5).

ROC analysis using ferritin as a reference standard

Table 6 provides a summary of the area under curve values, optimal cut-off values, sensitivity and specificity obtained from the ROC analysis for the different indices. Figures 1 and 2 show the ROC curves for the top-performing parameters at SF levels less than 15 ng/mL.

ROC curve analysis also allowed us to suggest the threshold number of apheresis donations in a year after which individuals might experience iron depletion. We found that donors with more than 11 donations in a calendar year have a higher probability of having a ferritin level below 30 ng/mL, with a sensitivity and specificity of about 62% and 82%, respectively (Figure 3).

Vox Sanguinis

925

TABLE 6 Performance metrics using ferritin as a standard reference: Area under curve (AUC), cut-offs, sensitivity and specificity of different indices tested.

	Ferritin cu	Ferritin cut-off							
	<15 ng/m	<15 ng/mL				<30 ng/mL			
Indices tested	AUC	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	
Hb (g/dL)	0.744	14.1	71.8	73.0	0.693	14.1	53.7	82.4	
Hct (%)	0.732	43.8	66.7	75.9	0.660	45.3	64.2	63.5	
CH (pg)	0.743	27.5	71.8	75.2	0.689	29.4	76.8	51.8	
RDW ^a (%)	0.667	14.6	48.7	79.4	0.644	13.9	66.3	60.0	
%HYPO ^a (%)	0.685	5.6	87.2	45.4	0.646	4.7	81.1	44.7	
Iron (ng/mL)	0.786	76.5	82.1	65.2	0.692	89.5	77.9	50.6	
TSAT (%)	0.862	20.6	94.9	68.8	0.765	20.9	69.5	78.8	
CHr (pg)	0.667	27.3	74.4	63.1	0.590	27.7	58.9	61.2	
CHm (pg)	0.690	25.7	82.1	61.7	0.619	26.1	68.4	60.0	
TIBC ^a (μg/dL)	0.837	392.8	82.1	73.8	0.776	383.6	62.1	83.5	

Note: Youden's index was used for obtaining the optimal cut-off point.

Abbreviations: CH, cellular haemoglobin content; CHm, mature red blood cell cellular haemoglobin content; CHr, mean haemoglobin content-

reticulocytes; Hb, haemoglobin; Hct, haematocrit; TSAT, transferrin saturation.

^aRed cell distribution width (RDW), percentage of hypochromic cells (%HYPO), total iron binding capacity (TIBC) were inversely related to ferritin.



FIGURE 1 Receiver operating characteristic curves for haemoglobin (Hb), haematocrit (Hct), serum iron and transferrin saturation using a serum ferritin cut-off of <15 ng/mL (indices with positive correlation).



FIGURE 2 Receiver operating characteristic curves for percentage of hypochromic cells (%HYPO), red cell distribution width (RDW) and total iron binding capacity (TIBC) using a serum ferritin cut-off of <15 ng/mL (indices with inverse correlation).



FIGURE 3 Receiver operating characteristic curve for the number of recent donations (last 12 months) using a serum ferritin cut-off of <30 ng/mL.

DISCUSSION

Eligibility for blood donation is usually tested using Hb as a marker since it is available as a point-of-care test. However, it has been

established in several studies that Hb is a poor indicator of iron status and may not show a decline till the iron stores have been completely depleted [11–13]. The present minimum Hb requirement of 12.5 g/dL serves to prevent the development of anaemia but, on the contrary,

Vox Sanguinis Solid International Society 927

does not accurately mitigate the development of ID [14]. Additionally, AIS, which is the more common form of ID among repeat donors, may not always progress to IDA [5], and published data suggest several non-specific symptoms among individuals with AIS [15]. Therefore, it is crucial to implement early interventions to prevent the development of ID among altruistic blood donors.

Plateletpheresis donors are eligible to donate up to 24 times/year in several countries like United States and India, since it is thought that the red cell losses were significantly lower than in whole blood donation [3]. Platelet donors could experience an annual whole blood loss of \approx 1900–2400 mL if they are to donate at the maximum allowable frequency, which would be much higher than for a blood donor donating at the maximum frequency allowed for whole blood donation [16].

According to our data, about 53% of total participants showed either low or absent iron stores, with a greater prevalence among repeat donors (especially in the frequent donor group). These findings align with previous studies, which showed that repeated plateletpheresis donations could result in decreased ferritin levels and ID [3, 17]. Another intriguing finding was that there were 16.7% and 10% of donors showing LF and AIS, respectively, among the FTD. This indicates that they already had low iron stores at the start of their donation career although their Hb levels conferred eligibility for donation. Our findings regarding the prevalence of ID depending on the frequency of donation are also consistent with Page et al.'s study [18]. Our study revealed that the frequent donor group had the highest prevalence of LF/AIS, in 88% (59/75) of total participants, while, in contrast, the prevalence within the infrequent group was lower, at 37% (28/75). Overall, we found a higher prevalence of ID compared with previously published data, which probably represented Western donor characteristics. Donors in the study were informed about their SF level if it was <30 ng/mL and were advised dietary changes (ironrich foods) and a physician visit if they wished to consider iron supplementation. We also recommended halting platelet donations for 2-3 months and a re-testing of their ferritin levels before they returned for donation.

The history of deferral for low Hb among our participants was another interesting finding of our study. We found a higher proportion of such donors in the RFD group, with the majority of donors being deferred between 1 and 4 times during their donor career.

Our study found a lower proportion of iron-replete status in vegetarians (32/84), and even non-vegetarians showed some degree of LF and AIS, suggesting that genetic and environmental factors may be a contributory factor for developing ID. This finding is in accordance with established evidence that nutritional anaemias like IDA are inherently more prevalent in the Asian sub-continent [19].

We observed a significant negative correlation of ferritin with both recent and lifetime donations, consistent with other studies reporting increased ID with higher frequency of donation [16, 17]. However, a previous study had reported no increase in likelihood of ID in donors who only donated apheresis components, regardless of frequency [20]. In our study, the correlation between ferritin and

platelet count was insignificant, in contrast to another study that reported a significant negative correlation [16]. Other studies have found that blood donors with ID have a lower prevalence of elevated platelet counts compared to individuals with IDA, suggesting an exaggerated response in anaemic individuals that was probably not replicated to the same extent in individuals with ID [21-23].

Our results from the paired inter-group comparisons were similar to those of previous studies which reported generally lower levels of ferritin and other iron indices among repeat plateletpheresis donors [16, 17]. Lastly, we analysed the haematological, reticulocyte and other iron assays for their efficacy in identifying ID among regular apheresis donors. Using detailed ROC analysis, we derived the optimal cut-off values for different parameters along with their sensitivity and specificity [24]. Since a ferritin-based monitoring strategy for the entire donor pool is prohibitively expensive, these cost-effective assays could be of utility as a screening technique in resource-poor settings for identifying donors who may be benefitted by targeted SF testing.

In the absence of a consensus ferritin level for defining ID and variation in the sensitivity of assays used, we believe that a ferritin level of <30 ng/mL can be considered to maintain the health of altruistic donors. Our study showed that the optimal cut-off values for the tested parameters were achieved at 15 ng/mL, with increased sensitivity and specificity. Similarly, another study had found that a ferritin level of <15 ng/mL has a high likelihood of detecting ID [25]. Our study showed that iron indices such as TSAT have the best diagnostic probability (including higher sensitivity and specificity), followed by serum iron and TIBC. Use of these three parameters may be a costeffective alternative to SF testing given that the combined cost of serum iron and TIBC is much lower (10 times lower than SF at our centre).

A study by Kiss et al. had also performed a similar analysis in blood donors using selective RBC indices. Our findings show the highest sensitivity and specificity using a mean haemoglobin contentreticulocytes (CHr) cut-off of 27.3 pg as compared with the study by Kiss et al. which found better results at a CHr cut-off of 32.6 pg. We hypothesize that this difference in CHr results could be due to the poor availability of dietary iron in our population. Therefore, the concurrent blood losses occurring during frequent plateletpheresis may outpace the body's capacity to adequately replenish the reticulocyte Hb compartment [14]. Another Swiss study also showed good diagnostic probabilities for TSAT, percentage of hypochromic cells (% HYPO) and CHr, consistent with our findings [26].

Lastly, we present ROC analysis that suggests the threshold of apheresis donations in a calendar year which would predispose to iron depletion. We propose that any donor donating >11 times in a given year must be subjected to iron studies to safeguard their health.

The strength of our study is the uniform enrolment of donors based on recent donations, allowing for accurate correlation between iron status and donation frequency. Furthermore, our study shows good evidence that cost-effective tests could be used as an alternative to SF, and we provide the optimal cut-off values for these tests.

928 Vox Sanguinis

Blood centres in resource-poor regions may be benefitted from this data to develop a cost-effective intervention model which could even be extended for blood donors. Additionally, we studied vitamin B12 and folate levels, but they were found to be normal in most donors.

However, the limitations of our study include the donor heterogeneity based on their lifetime donation history and lack of prospective monitoring for further depletion or recovery of iron stores. We were limited by the total pool of registered voluntary platelet donors, which meant that matching between the groups with regard to age, body mass index and medical history was not feasible during study enrolment. Lastly, the unavailability of a centralized blood donor registry in our country made it unfeasible to acquire any whole blood donation history prior to registration as a platelet donor at our centre.

To summarize, repeat plateletpheresis donors may often sustain their Hb, haematocrit and RBC count to remain eligible for donation but are usually unaware of their diminished body iron reserves [17]. Nominal blood loss during mandatory infectious disease testing and in disposable plastic systems, as well as haemolysis during apheresis, seems to be the primary cause of decreased Hb and ferritin levels in apheresis donors [27].

In conclusion, regular apheresis donation can lead to varying severities of ID. As a result, the allowable frequency of donation (24 times/year) may not be able to maintain body iron stores as a result of genetic, environmental and dietary factors in our population. Blood centres must regularly monitor frequent plateletpheresis donors (especially donors with >11 donations in a calendar year) and ideally maintain their SF levels above 30 ng/mL. Feasibility and cost effectiveness of other iron indices need to be assessed further, especially among donors. Larger prospective studies among apheresis donors are recommended to better understand the iron depletion kinetics.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank all the staff in the Department of Transfusion Medicine, ACTREC, who supported us in this research. This study was supported by the International Society of Blood Transfusion (grant to D.M.) under the I TRY IT 2020 Program.

D.M. conceptualized the research study with the help of mentors from the I TRY IT Program and performed the research study (recruitment, data compilation, analysis and manuscript compilation). S.H. sought Ethics Committee approval and supervised budget utilization and participant enrolment. P.C. supervised lab investigations. J.M. performed statistical analysis and assisted in clinical correlation of findings. J.M. and S.S. contributed to analysis, interpretation and compilation of the manuscript. All authors have discussed the results, commented on the manuscript and approved its publication.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Research data are not shared.

ORCID

Deep Madkaiker b https://orcid.org/0009-0009-8774-7599 Shamee Shastry https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9796-2326

REFERENCES

- Fillet A-M, Martinaud C, Malard L, Le Cam S, Hejl C, Chenus F, et al. Iron deficiency among French whole-blood donors: first assessment and identification of predictive factors. Vox Sang. 2021;116:42–52.
- Timmer TC, De Groot R, Rijnhart JJM, Lakerveld J, Brug J, Perenboom CWM, et al. Dietary intake of heme iron is associated with ferritin and hemoglobin levels in Dutch blood donors: results from Donor InSight. Haematologica. 2020;105:2400–6.
- Duggan F, O'Sullivan K, Power JP, Healy M, Murphy WG. Serum ferritin in plateletpheresis and whole blood donors. Transfus Apher Sci. 2016;55:159–63.
- Browne A, Fisher SA, Masconi K, Smith G, Doree C, Chung R, et al. Donor deferral due to low hemoglobin—an updated systematic review. Transfus Med Rev. 2020;34:10–22.
- AABB Donor Iron Deficiency Risk-Based Decision-Making Assessment Report-Supplemental Material. Available from: https://www. aabb.org/docs/default-source/default-document-library/resources/ aabb-donor-iron-deficiency-rbdm-assessment-report-supplementalmaterial.pdf?sfvrsn=1fa7fc3 0. Last accessed 30 May 2023.
- Spencer BR, Simon TL. Chronic effects of blood and plasma donation. Rossi's Principles Transfus Med. 2022;56–64.
- Kassebaum NJ. The global burden of anemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2016;30:247–308.
- International Institute for Population Sciences (IIPS) and ICF. National Family Health Survey (NFHS-5), 2019-21: India: Volume I. Mumbai: IIPS; 2021. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/ pdf/FR375/FR375.pdf. Last accessed 30 May 2023.
- Milman N. Serum ferritin in Danes: studies of iron status from infancy to old age, during blood donation and pregnancy. Int J Hematol. 1996;63:103–35.
- WHO. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity. Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System (WHO/NMH/NHD/MNM/11.1). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/handle/10665/85839/WHO_NMH_NHD_MNM_11.1_eng. pdf. Last accessed 30 May 2023.
- 11. Spencer B. Blood donor iron status: are we bleeding them dry. Curr Opin Hematol. 2013;20:533–9.
- Finch CA, Cook JD, Labbe RF, Culala M. Effect of blood donation on iron stores as evaluated by serum ferritin. Blood. 1977;50:441–7.
- Simon TL, Garry PJ, Hooper EM. Iron stores in blood donors. JAMA. 1981;245:2038-43.
- Kiss JE, Steele WR, Wright DJ, Mast AE, Carey PM, Murphy EL, et al. Laboratory variables for assessing iron deficiency in REDS-II Iron Status Evaluation (RISE) blood donors. Transfusion. 2013;53:2766–75.
- Balendran S, Forsyth C. Non-anaemic iron deficiency. Aust Prescr. 2021;44:193-6.
- Chinigi Sab P, Kaur G, Kaur P, Tahlan A, Bedi RK, Mittal K, et al. Assessment of serum iron stores in regular plateletpheresis donors. Transfus Apher Sci. 2022;61:103291.
- Shao L, Wang J, Zhu S, Lin H. Iron stores in Chinese eligible male plateletpheresis donors. Blood Genom. 2019;3:109–14.
- Page EA, Coppock JE, Harrison JF. Study of iron stores in regular plateletpheresis donors. Transfus Med. 2010;20:22–9.
- Stevens GA, Paciorek CJ, Flores-Urrutia MC, Borghi E, Namaste S, Wirth JP, et al. National, regional, and global estimates of anaemia by severity in women and children for 2000–19: a pooled analysis of population-representative data. Lancet Glob Health. 2022;10:e627–39.

- Salvin HE, Pasricha SR, Marks DC, Speedy J. Iron deficiency in blood donors: a national cross-sectional study. Transfusion. 2014;54: 2434–44.
- 21. Eder AF, Yau YY, West K. The effect of iron balance on platelet counts in blood donors. Transfusion. 2017;57:304–12.
- 22. Kuku I, Kaya E, Yologlu S, Gokdeniz R, Baydin A. Platelet counts in adults with iron deficiency anemia. Platelets. 2009;20:401–5.
- Kadikoylu G, Yavasoglu I, Bolaman Z, Senturk T. Platelet parameters in women with iron deficiency anemia. J Natl Med Assoc. 2006;98: 398–402.
- Nadarajan V, Sthaneshwar P, Eow GI. Use of red blood cell indices for the identification of iron deficiency among blood donors. Transfus Med. 2008;18:184–9.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Ali M, Willan A, McIlroy W, Patterson C. Laboratory diagnosis of iron-deficiency anemia: an overview. J Gen Intern Med. 1992;7:145–53.
- Schuepbach RA, Bestmann L, Béchir M, Fehr J, Bachli EB. High prevalence of iron deficiency among educated hospital employees in Switzerland. Int J Biomed Sci. 2011;7:150–7.

 Bier-Ulrich AM, Haubelt H, Anders C, Nagel D, Schneider S, Siegler KE, et al. The impact of intensive serial plasmapheresis and iron supplementation on iron metabolism and Hb concentration in menstruating women: a prospective randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study. Transfusion. 2003;43:405–10.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Madkaiker D, Hiregoudar SS, Chavan P, Ojha S, Mendes J, Shastry S. 'Ironing out the risk': Assessing the effect of plateletpheresis donation frequency on iron stores in South-Asian male donors. Vox Sang. 2023;118:921–9.

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13529

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Vox Sanguinis Society International Society of Blood Transfusion

Nutrient supplementation of culture media improves the detection of *Cutibacterium acnes* in platelet components by an automated culture system

Dilini Kumaran^{1,2} | Sandra Ramirez-Arcos^{1,2}

Revised: 18 August 2023

¹Innovation & Portfolio Management, Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

²Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Immunology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

Correspondence

Sandra Ramirez-Arcos, Canadian Blood Services, 1800 Alta Vista Dr., Ottawa, ON K1G 4J5, Canada. Email: sandra.ramirez@blood.ca

Funding information Health Canada and Canadian Blood Services

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Platelet concentrates (PCs) contaminated with *Cutibacterium acnes* are often transfused prior to detection by the BACT/ALERT system. Though *C. acnes* is implicated in mild transfusion reactions, delayed clinical effects are unknown. This study assessed the ability to enhance *C. acnes* detection by supplementing culture media with Tween 80 (T80, an oleic acid source) and a commercial nutrient supplement.

Materials and Methods: Anaerobic culture bottles (BPN) were supplemented with T80 or oleic acid. T80-supplemented BPN bottles were inoculated with four *C. acnes* isolates (10 or 100 colony-forming units [CFU]/bottle) or other transfusion-relevant bacteria (10 CFU/bottle). Samples of plasma containing SSP+ (platelet additive solution [PAS]) (PAS-plasma) at different concentrations, plasma-PCs and PAS-PCs, spiked with two *C. acnes* isolates (10 CFU/bottle), were inoculated into T80-supplemented BPN bottles. Furthermore, plasma-PCs were spiked with *C. acnes* and tested in BPN bottles supplemented with the BD Difco Supplement VX (BDVx). Bottles were incubated in the BACT/ALERT system and times to detection (TtoD) were compared (N = 3).

Results: A reduction in TtoD of \leq 3.5 days was observed for *C. acnes* in T80-supplemented BPN, while other species did not show the same effect. However, false positives were observed when T80-supplemented BPN was inoculated with PAS-plasma (except for 70% PAS:30% plasma), plasma-PCs or PAS-PCs. Oleic acid supplementation also resulted in false positives. Interestingly, BDVx-supplemented BPN reduced the TtoD of *C. acnes* in PCs by \leq 1.2 days (p < 0.05), with no false-positive results.

Conclusion: BDVx supplementation for detection of *C. acnes* from PCs could result in timely unit retrieval, preventing the transfusion of contaminated products. In clinical settings, T80 supplementation could significantly enhance *C. acnes* detection from non-blood-derived samples.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2023 The Authors. Vox Sanguinis published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of International Society of Blood Transfusion.

Keywords

automated culture system, culture media supplementation, *Cutibacterium acnes*, platelet concentrates

Highlights

- Cutibacterium acnes can be detected from platelet concentrates up to 1.2 days earlier in the BACT/ALERT system by addition of the BD Difco Supplement VX to anaerobic culture bottles (BPN media).
- Tween 80 can be used to significantly enhance the growth and improve detection of *C. acnes* by up to 3.5 days from non-blood-derived samples; furthermore, the growth of other species is not affected by supplementation of BPN media with Tween 80.
- Plasma and platelet components (likely lipases) trigger false-positive results in the BACT/ ALERT system in BPN media supplemented with Tween 80.

INTRODUCTION

Platelet concentrates (PCs) consist of platelets that are either suspended in plasma or a combination of plasma and platelet additive solution (PAS) and are used to treat individuals experiencing low platelet counts or acute trauma [1]. Bacteria are mainly introduced into donated blood from the donor's skin at the time of venipuncture [2], while donor bacteraemia [3] or sterility breaches during manufacturing contribute to a lesser extent [4]. To mitigate the risk associated with the transfusion of contaminated blood products, Canadian Blood Services have implemented several strategies, which include donor screening, donor skin disinfection, first aliquot diversion and bacterial screening of PCs with both aerobic (BPA) and anaerobic (BPN) culture bottles using the automated BACT/ALERT 3D culture system (bioMérieux, Saint-Laurent, QC, Canada) [5]. Despite these measures, bacterial contamination continues to occur, with Cutibacterium acnes, an anaerobic, aerotolerant member of the skin microflora, accounting for approximately 70% of all bacteria isolated from contaminated PCs [5].

Canadian Blood Services use a large volume, delayed sampling testing algorithm that stipulates that bacterial screening takes place at least 36 h after collection, followed by a minimum 6-h postsampling quarantine period prior to release into inventory [5]. Briefly, sampling is performed by inoculating an 8-10 mL PC sample into a BPA bottle and a BPN bottle respectively, after which the bottles are incubated in the BACT/ALERT 3D system for 7 days at 36 ± 1°C. Data gathered at Canadian Blood Services indicate that approximately 36% of contaminated PCs are issued to hospitals and presumably transfused, and that C. acnes contamination accounts for 95% of these units [5]. One of the major challenges attributed to this trend is the inherent slow-growing nature of C. acnes in culture media, which results in observed detection times ranging from 3 to 7 days in the BACT/ALERT system and the inability to retrieve contaminated PCs in a timely manner [5]. Fortunately, as this anaerobe is incapable of proliferating in the aerobic PC environment [6], C. acnes has only been implicated in a few mild transfusion reactions [7, 8]. It should be noted, however, that very little is known about the long-term impacts of transfusing C. acnescontaminated PCs into vulnerable patients. This is especially pertinent since *C. acnes* has been implicated in serious, slow-developing, chronic infections [9]. Therefore, the early detection of *C. acnes* in the BACT/ALERT system could potentially prevent the transfusion of contaminated PCs into susceptible patients.

Several studies have investigated the nutritional requirements of *C. acnes* in vitro and have shown that its growth requires a host of amino acids and vitamins supplemented into culture media [10], and that it can be enhanced with the addition of oleic acid, a skin sebum component [11]. Furthermore, there have been multiple reports that have used Tween 80 (T80) as a source of oleic acid to enhance the growth of other bacterial species in vitro [12, 13]. In this study, we evaluated the ability of pure oleic acid, T80 and the BD Difco Supplement VX (BDVx) to improve *C. acnes* detection. The BDVx supplement consists of essential growth factors including vitamins and amino acids used to promote the growth of fastidious bacteria. Enhancing the detection of *C. acnes* may prevent the release and transfusion of PCs contaminated with this bacterium.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PC and plasma units

Leukocyte-reduced PC pools were prepared by the buffy coat method and suspended in 100% plasma. PC and plasma units were manufactured according to standard procedures at the Canadian Blood Services netCAD Blood4Research Facility (netCAD, Vancouver, BC, Canada) and were shipped to the Canadian Blood Services Microbiology Laboratory in Ottawa, Canada. For experiments where PCs were re-suspended in PAS, double dose apheresis units were collected according to standard procedures at Canadian Blood Services, and then diluted with PAS SSP+ (Macopharma, Tourcoing, France) to obtain PC samples containing approximately 1.5×10^9 platelets/mL corresponding to the minimum platelet yield requirement for apheresis units. Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Canadian Blood Services Research Ethical Board.

Bacterial strains

Four C. acnes strains, BPNBT-19195, BPNBT-19153, BPNBT-19322 and BPNBT-19422, and one isolate each of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (BPNBT-18090), *Serratia marcescens* (CBS 07/05) and *Staphylococcus saccharolyticus* (BPNBT-20617), isolated from positive culture bottles obtained during routine bacterial screening of PCs at Canadian Blood Services, were used for this study. Enumerated bacterial suspensions corresponding to approximately 1×10^8 colony-forming units (CFU)/ mL were prepared in brain heart infusion (BHI) medium supplemented with 15% (v/v) glycerol and verified by plating serial dilutions on tryptic soy agar supplemented with 5% sheep blood (BA).

Supplements

Pure oleic acid and T80 (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) were assessed in this study. A stock solution consisting of T80 (20%, v/v) in BPN media extricated from BPN bottles was prepared (BPNt). The solution was autoclaved and mixed when warm to produce a homogenous solution and stored at room temperature until use. The BDVx supplement (VWR, Mont-Royal, QC, Canada) was reconstituted and employed as per the manufacturer's recommendations.

Effect of the direct supplementation of oleic acid in BPN media bottles

Pure oleic acid was used to supplement BPN bottles with different final concentrations, 100, 200, 300 and 400 μ g/mL. Each concentration was tested two independent times in the absence of bacterial inoculum or PCs. Briefly, oleic acid was added to 1-mL aliquots of BPN media, vortexed and quickly aspirated into 1-mL syringes, and used to inoculate BPN bottles. An additional 9 mL of BPN media was then added to the BPN bottles to obtain a total inoculum volume of 10 mL. The bottles were incubated in the BACT/ALERT 3D system (36 ± 1°C) for 7 days or until a positive flag was obtained.

Assessment of T80 concentrations used for BPN media supplementation in the BACT/ALERT 3D system

Two bacterial loads of *C. acnes* and five T80 concentrations derived from serial dilutions of BPNt in BPN media were tested in BPN bottles as described in Figure 1. Enumerated stocks of *C. acnes* isolates were serially diluted in unsupplemented BPN media and the spiking suspensions were prepared in the appropriate T80-supplemented BPN or unsupplemented BPN media. BPN



FIGURE 1 Supplementation of BPN media bottles with Tween 80 (T80). BPN bottles were supplemented with T80 to varying final concentrations (0.05%–4%, v/v) and were assessed for their ability to enhance the detection of four *Cutibacterium acnes* platelet concentrate isolates tested at two bacterial loads (10 and 100 colony forming units [CFU]/bottle). Controls included media and media supplemented with T80 in the absence of bacteria, and the comparative control included unsupplemented media inoculated with bacteria. Bottles were incubated for 10 days in the BACT/ALERT 3D system and experiments were performed three independent times. Images created on Biorender.com.

culture bottles were then inoculated with 9 mL of the appropriate media and 1 mL of the spiking suspension. Bottles inoculated with 9 mL of BPN media and 1 mL of spiking suspension prepared in BPN media served as the unsupplemented control. Bottles inoculated with 10 mL of supplemented or unsupplemented BPN served as the unspiked controls. The bottles were incubated in the BACT/ ALERT 3D system (36 \pm 1°C) until a positive flag was obtained for spiked bottles or for a maximum of 10 days. An extended incubation period of 10 days was used since the isolate BPNBT-19195 is a slow grower in media and may not have triggered a positive flag within the 7-day incubation period used for routine bacterial screening of PCs. Each concentration was tested at least three independent times per bacterial isolate and T80 concentration tested.

Impact of T80 supplementation on the growth of C. acnes in media

T80 supplemented (4%, v/v) or unsupplemented BPN media bottles were inoculated with 10 CFU/mL of C. acnes BPNBT-19195 and BPNBT-19153 as previously described. Bottles were incubated for up to 7 days (36 \pm 1°C) in the BACT/ALERT 3D system. Bottles were sampled every 24 h and immediately returned to the BACT/ALERT system. The samples were serially diluted in BPN media and plated on BA to determine bacterial counts. Experiments were repeated three independent times per species.

Effect of T80 supplementation on the detection of other transfusion-relevant bacteria in media

Spiking bacterial suspension of S. saccharolyticus, S. marcescens and S. epidermidis corresponding to 10 CFU/mL was prepared in BPNt or BPN as previously described. BPN media bottles were inoculated with 1 mL of the bacterial suspension (~10 CFU/mL) and 9 mL of either BPN or BPNt. BPN bottles inoculated with media (supplemented and unsupplemented) served as controls. Bottles were incubated in the BACT/ALERT 3D system (36 \pm 1°C) until a positive flag was obtained or for a maximum of 10 days. Each species was tested three independent times.

Effect of T80 and BDVx supplementation on the detection of C. acnes in PCs

BPN media bottles were supplemented to a final concentration of 4% (v/v) of T80 and C. acnes isolates BPNBT-19153 and BPNBT-19195 were chosen for further testing in PCs. These two isolates were selected due to their characteristic slow growth in the BACT/ALERT system, making them ideal model organisms for worst-case scenarios of detection of C. acnes. Before BPN bottles were supplemented with Vox Sanguinis Silver International Society 933

T80, 10 mL of BPN media was aseptically extricated from the bottles, after which 10 mL of PCs containing approximately 10 CFU of bacteria and 10 mL of BPNt were inoculated into the bottles. BDVx supplementation was assessed by inoculating BPN bottles with 9.5 mL of PCs containing 10 CFU of bacteria and 500 µL of reconstituted BDVx. BPN bottles inoculated with an unspiked sample of the same PC unit served as the sterility control, bottles inoculated with PCs containing bacteria served as the unsupplemented control, and supplemented bottles inoculated with PCs in the absence of bacteria served as the unspiked controls. The bottles were then incubated in the BACT/ ALERT 3D system (36 \pm 1°C) until a positive flag was obtained or for a maximum of 10 days. Each supplement was tested with at least three PC units. Furthermore, to assess bacterial growth in PCs, 10 mL of PC samples containing 10 CFU of BPNBT-19195 were inoculated into BPN bottles with or without supplementation with T80 and incubated for 7 days in the BACT/ALERT system at 36 ± 1°C. These bottles were sampled every 24 h and returned to the BACT/ALERT system. Samples were serially diluted and plated for bacterial enumeration. The experiments were repeated three times.

Impact of reducing plasma content in the detection of C. acnes in T80 supplemented bottles

Plasma samples were diluted in SSP+ PAS (PAS-plasma) to obtain a range of suspensions consisting of 100% plasma to 30% plasma in PAS (v/v). BPN media was extricated as described previously, and 10 mL of the plasma suspensions and 10 mL of BPNt were used to inoculate the bottles. Plasma dilutions that did not give rise to false positive with T80 supplementation were used in successive experiments. Bottles were inoculated with BPNt and the appropriate PAS-plasma suspensions or PCs prepared in PAS (PAS-PCs) containing ~10 CFU of C. acnes BPNBT-19153 or BPNBT-19195. Bottles inoculated with PAS-plasma or PAS-PCs suspensions spiked with bacteria served as unsupplemented controls. For all experiments, bottles inoculated with unspiked PASplasma and PAS-PCs, with and without BPNt, served as supplement and sterility controls. The bottles were then incubated in the BACT/ALERT 3D system until a positive flag was obtained or for a maximum of 10 days. Experiments were performed three independent times.

Statistical analyses

Statistical tests were performed to determine the difference of time to detection between supplemented and unsupplemented samples. The time to detection across technical replicates was used to calculate the standard deviation. For growth curve comparisons, the differences in bacterial counts were assessed for each time point tested. p values were determined using the Student's t-test (unpaired, two-tailed, unequal variance) using Excel. Differences were deemed significant if the *p* value obtained was ≤ 0.05 (95% confidence interval).



FIGURE 2 Time to detection of transfusion-relevant bacteria from media in the BACT/ALERT system with Tween 80 (T80)-supplemented BPN bottles. Time to detection of *Cutibacterium acnes* platelet concentrate isolates with varying concentrations of T80 supplementation, compared with unsupplemented BPN media when inoculated with (a) 100 colony-forming units [CFU]/bottle and (b) 10 CFU/bottle. (c) The time to detection of *Staphylococcus saccharolyticus, Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Serratia marcescens* with (red bars), and without (black bars) T80 supplementation (4%, v/v). (d) Comparison of growth curves of *C. acnes* isolates BPNBT-19195 and BPNBT-19153 in the BACT/ALERT system with T80-supplemented (195–purple square, 153–green circle) and -unsupplemented (195–red square, 153–blue circle) BPN bottles. Time to detection in the BACT/ALERT 3D system has been indicated by black stars. Student's t-test analysis, *p value ≤0.05. N = 3.

RESULTS

T80 supplementation of BACT/ALERT BPN media enhances the growth and decreases the time to detection of *C. acnes*

The direct addition of oleic acid to BPN bottles resulted in falsepositive flags in the BACT/ALERT system (data not shown); however, supplementation with BPNt (stock solution of T80 [20%, v/v] in BPN media) did not yield false-positive results and was used in further assessments. Figure 2a,b shows that the slowest detection times in media were observed for isolates BPNBT-19195 (100 CFU/bottle: 6.52 ± 0.19 days, 10 CFU/bottle: 9.15 ± 0.63 days) and BPNBT-19153 (100 CFU/bottle: 5.44 ± 0.49 days, 10 CFU/bottle: 5.79 ± 0.50 days). Two concentrations of T80 (4% and 2%, v/v) reduced detection times in all four isolates at both bacterial loads tested. However, T80 concentrations lower than 1% resulted in delayed detection of isolate BPNBT-19322 at both bacterial loads assessed (Figure 2a,b). Though all concentrations of T80 tested reduced time to detection of isolates BPNBT-19153, BPNBT-195 and BPNBT-19422, significant reductions were observed for C. acnes BPNBT-19195 tested at 10 CFU/bottle with T80 4% (p = 0.015) and 2% (p = 0.049)

(Figure 2b), and at 100 CFU/bottle with T80 2% (p = 0.030). Similarly, significantly lower times to detection were observed for isolate BPNBT-19422 tested at 10 CFU/bottle with T80 4% (p = 0.044), 0.1% (p = 0.007) and 0.05% (p = 0.044) (Figure 2b). All bottles that were not inoculated with bacteria remained negative during the 10-day incubation period in the BACT/ALERT system.

Notably, T80 supplementation (4%, v/v) did not significantly change the time to detection of the other transfusion-relevant bacteria tested, *S. saccharolyticus*, *S. marcescens* and *S. epidermidis* (Figure 2c).

Enhanced time to detection in the BACT/ALERT system was directly related to growth promotion in T80-supplemented media as demonstrated for isolates BPNBT-19195 and BPNBT-19153 (Figure 2d). Increased bacterial loads in supplemented bottles were observed with a maximum difference of $\sim 2.8 \pm 0.23$ Log on day 3 detected for isolates BPNBT-19195 and BPNBT-19195, respectively, after which differences in bacterial load between supplemented and unsupplemented bottles decrease, until on day 7 similar bacterial loads were obtained. At all time points, bacterial counts in T80-supplemented BPN were significantly higher than those obtained in unsupplemented media (p < 0.05), except on day 7 for BPNBT-19153, when the difference was not significant.

Plasma- and platelet-derived factors contribute to the false-positive results obtained with T80 supplementation of BPN bottles

T80 supplementation gave rise to false-positive flags in the BACT/ ALERT 3D system in every instance where PCs or plasma were inoculated into BPN bottles in the absence of bacteria. Times to detection of false-positive results were 1.10 ± 0.28 days and 1.24 ± 0.22 days for unspiked PCs and plasma, respectively. Importantly, supplementation of BPN bottles with T80 did not inhibit the growth of *C. acnes* from samples of spiked PCs as exemplified with isolate BPNBT-19195 (Figure 3). Furthermore, all but one dilution of plasma in PAS (70% PAS + 30% plasma) resulted in false-positive flags. Significant



FIGURE 3 Growth curves of *Cutibacterium acnes* in platelet concentrates (PCs) in the BACT/ALERT system. Comparison of growth curves of *C. acnes* BPNBT-19195 inoculated into PCs in the BACT/ALERT system with Tween 80 (T80) supplemented (purple square) and unsupplemented (195–red square) BPN bottles. N = 3. CFU, colony-forming units.



reduction in times to detection was observed for BPNBT-153 of 2.23 days (p < 0.005) and BPNBT-195 of 1.26 days (p < 0.005) from diluted plasma (70% PAS + 30% plasma) in T80-supplemented BPN bottles (Figure 4a). However, when PCs were prepared in the same plasma to PAS ratios, it led to false positives in the BACT/ALERT system with times to detection of 0.83 ± 0.05 days.

BDVx supplementation reduces the time to detection of *C. acnes* in PCs

Supplementation of BPN media with BDVx supplement resulted in a reduction in the time to detection of the two *C. acnes* isolates tested BPNBT-19153 (0.62 \pm 0.26 days, p = 0.048) and BPNBT-19195 (1.15 \pm 0.29 days, p = 0.030) in PCs suspended in 100% plasma (Figure 4b) with no false-positives results.

DISCUSSION

A major obstacle faced in the transfusion setting that culminates in the transfusion of *C. acnes*-contaminated PCs is the inability to detect *C. acnes* early during bacterial screening. This study aimed at assessing two supplements, T80 and BDVx, to enhance the growth and therefore the detection of *C. acnes* in BPN bottles by the BACT/ALERT system used at Canadian Blood Services.

T80 has been used to enhance the growth of other bacteria like *Lactobacillus casei* [12], *S. aureus* [13] and *Corynebacterium accolens* [14] in vitro. It has been suggested that T80 enhances growth in a species-dependent manner by providing essential nutrients needed for growth, by changing membrane permeability and by enhancing nutrient availability [13]. The work described in this study demonstrates that



FIGURE 4 Time to detection of *Cutibacterium acnes* in platelet concentrates (PCs) in the BACT/ALERT system with Tween 80 (T80)- and nutrient-supplemented BPN bottles. *C. acnes* isolates BPNBT-19153 and BPNBT-19195 were inoculated into BPN bottles at a concentration of 10 colony-forming units/bottle, (a) from PCs prepared in a combination of platelet additive solution (PAS) and plasma (70% PAS, 30% plasma) with T80 (4%, v/v) supplementation; (b) from PCs with BD Difco Supplement VX (BDVx) supplementation. Student's *t*-test analysis, **p* value ≤ 0.05 . *N* = 3.

936 Vox Sanguinis

supplementation of BPN media with T80 (4%, v/v) can also significantly enhance the detection of C. acnes from media in the BACT/ ALERT system. Furthermore, our growth curve analysis indicated that T80 supplementation promoted the growth of C. acnes, resulting in bacterial loads that trigger an earlier positive flag in the BACT/ALERT. Unfortunately, T80 supplementation triggered falsepositive flags when PCs prepared in plasma or PAS were tested. These results indicate that the false-positive triggers are caused by plasma and platelet factors such as plasma- and platelet-derived lipases [15, 16]. The lipases likely degrade T80, releasing oleic acid, which causes changes in the gel of the bottle sensor leading to positive flags. Though this could hinder the detection of C. acnes in blood products, supplementation of BPN media with T80 could potentially be used in the clinical setting for non-blood samples where incubation periods can be long, allowing for timely intervention of C. acnes infections [17]. However, since clinical samples can be derived from various sources, this strategy should be tested to ensure that these samples do not contain factors that may lead to false positives in the presence of T80 supplementation. Importantly, our data indicate that T80 supplementation (4%, v/v) did not hinder the detection of other bacterial species from media as evidenced by similar detection times in supplemented and unsupplemented bottles. Therefore, T80 supplementation (4%, v/v) will not inadvertently prevent or delay the detection of other bacterial contaminants.

Interestingly, the addition of the commercial supplement BDVx resulted in the early detection of C. acnes from contaminated PCs by up to 24 h in the BACT/ALERT system when supplemented at the vendor's recommended concentrations. The BDVx supplement is used in clinical laboratories to enhance the growth and isolation of Haemophilus and Neisseria species by providing growth-promoting factors including vitamins and cofactors like nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide essential for bacterial metabolism and enzymatic processes [18]. It is possible that C. acnes growth is promoted in a similar fashion although the exact component of the BDVx supplement involved in the observed enhanced detection of C. acnes requires further investigation.

Our study involved supplementation of commercial BPN bottles, providing a proof of principle, that could serve as a basis for the development of enhanced media by vendors for application in blood product screening with automated culture systems. Although our study could be complemented by testing more C. acnes isolates, we have provided strong evidence that growth and detection of C. acnes can be improved during PC screening with the BACT/ALERT system. Reduction in detection times by 24 h could provide blood suppliers with the ability to recall C. acnes-contaminated products before they are transfused into vulnerable patients, thereby improving the safety of the blood supply.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank volunteer blood donors and staff at the netCAD Blood4Research Facility in Vancouver (British Columbia, Canada) for PC production. Dr. Lori Daane (Sr. Director Scientific Affairs,

bioMérieux) provided insights for the experimental design of the study. This work was supported by Canadian Blood Services and Health Canada.

D.K. and S.R.-A. designed the study. D.K. performed the experimental work and data analyses, and wrote the manuscript, which was reviewed by S.R.-A.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Sandra Ramirez-Arcos D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0705-4987

REFERENCES

- 1. Callum J, Yeh C, Petrosoniak A, McVey M, Cope S, Thompson T, et al. A regional massive hemorrhage protocol developed through a modified Delphi technique. CMAJ Open. 2019;7:E546-61.
- 2. Gibson T, Norris W. Skin fragments removed by injection needles. Lancet. 1958;272:983-5.
- Tipple M, Bland L, Murphy J, Arduino M, Panlilio A, Farmer J III, et al. 3 Sepsis associated with transfusion of red cells contaminated with Yersinia enterocolitica. Transfusion, 1990:30:207-13.
- Gammon R. Reik R. Stern M. Vassallo R. Waxman D. Young P. et al. 4. Acquired platelet storage container leaks and contamination with environmental bacteria: a preventable cause of bacterial sepsis. Transfusion. 2022;62:641-50.
- Ramirez-Arcos S, Evans S, McIntyre T, Pang C, Yi Q, DiFranco C, 5 et al. Extension of platelet shelf life with an improved bacterial testing algorithm. Transfusion. 2020;60:2918-28.
- Störmer M, Kleesiek K, Dreier J. Propionibacterium acnes lacks the capability to proliferate in platelet concentrates. Vox Sang. 2008;94: 193-201.
- Walther-Wenke G, Schrezenmeier H, Deitenbeck R, Geis G, 7. Burkhart J, Höchsmann B, et al. Screening of platelet concentrates for bacterial contamination: spectrum of bacteria detected, proportion of transfused units, and clinical follow-up. Ann Hematol. 2010; 89:83-91.
- Freudenburg-de Graaf W, Spelmink S, Heijnen J, de Korte D. Transfusion transmitted bacterial infections (TTBI) involving contaminated platelet concentrates: residual risk despite intervention strategies. Ann Blood. 2022;7:21-6.
- Lodhi SH, Abbasi A, Ahmed T, Chan A. Acne on the valve: two intriguing cases of Cutibacterium acnes endocarditis. Cureus. 2020; 12:e8532.
- Ferguson DA Jr, Cummins CS. Nutritional requirements of anaerobic 10. coryneforms. J Bacteriol. 1978;135:858-67.
- 11. Puhvel SM, Reisner RM. Effect of fatty acids on the growth of Corynebacterium acnes in vitro. J Invest Dermatol. 1970;54:48-52.
- 12. Tan W, Budinich M, Ward R, Broadbent J, Steele JL. Optimal growth of Lactobacillus casei in a Cheddar cheese ripening model system requires exogenous fatty acids. J Dairy Sci. 2012;95: 1680-9.
- Nielsen CK, Kjems J, Mygind T, Snabe T, Meyer RL. Effects of Tween 13. 80 on growth and biofilm formation in laboratory media. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1878.
- 14. Menberu MA, Hayes AJ, Liu S, Psaltis AJ, Wormald PJ, Vreugde S. Tween 80 and its derivative oleic acid promote the growth of

Corynebacterium accolens and inhibit *Staphylococcus aureus* clinical isolates. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2021;11:810–3.

- Hameed AM, Lam VW, Pleass HC. Significant elevations of serum lipase not caused by pancreatitis: a systematic review. HPB. 2015; 17:99–112.
- Goeritzer M, Schlager S, Kuentzel KB, Vujić N, Korbelius M, Rainer S, et al. Adipose triglyceride lipase deficiency attenuates in vitro thrombus formation without affecting platelet activation and bleeding In vivo. Cell. 2022;11:850.
- Abdulmassih R, Makadia J, Como J, Paulson M, Min Z, Bhanot N. Propionibacterium acnes: time-to-positivity in standard bacterial culture from different anatomical sites. J Clin Med Res. 2016;8: 916–8.
- Lee H, Edgar RJ, Lichtenstein IJ, Velarde JJ, Korotkova N, Wessels MR. *Streptococcus pyogenes* can support or inhibit growth of *Haemophilus influenzae* by supplying or restricting extracellular NAD+. PloS One. 2022;17:e0270697.

How to cite this article: Kumaran D, Ramirez-Arcos S. Nutrient supplementation of culture media improves the detection of *Cutibacterium acnes* in platelet components by an automated culture system. Vox Sang. 2023;118:930–7. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13518

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Home transfusions are implemented using diverse approaches in Japan

Asashi Tanaka ¹ Hiroshi Fujita ² Kota Ohashi ³ Akihito Tsujikawa ⁴
Kanami Uchiyama ⁵ Tatsuya Ito ⁶ Koichiro Kawashima ⁷ Reiko Kodama ⁷
Takashi Mine ⁸ Makoto Okuda ⁹ Teruo Endoh ¹⁰ Youko Fukuyoshi ¹¹
Junichi Kitazawa ¹² Eisaburo Sueoka ¹³ Kazuhiro Nagai ¹⁴ Akaru Ishida ¹⁵
Koji Matsuzaki ¹⁶ Yoko Kato ¹⁷ Kazuo Takanashi ¹⁸ Koki Takahashi ¹⁸

¹Department of Clinical Laboratory Medicine and Department of Transfusion Medicine, Tokyo Medical University Hachioji Medical Center, Tokyo, Japan ²Department of Transfusion Medicine, Tokyo Metropolitan Bokutoh Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

Revised: 4 July 2023

- ¹⁰Department of Clinical Laboratory Science, School of Medical Technology, Health Sciences University of Hokkaido, Hokkaido, Japan
- ¹¹Department of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy, Kumamoto University Hospital, Kumamoto, Japan
- ¹²Division of Clinical Laboratory, Aomori Prefectural Central Hospital, Aomori, Japan
- ¹³Department of Laboratory Medicine, Saga University Hospital, Saga, Japan
- ¹⁴Transfusion and Cell Therapy Unit, Nagasaki University Hospital, Nagasaki, Japan
- ¹⁵Division of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Transplantation, Saitama Medical University International Medical Center, Saitama, Japan
- ¹⁶Japanese Red Cross Fukuoka Blood Center, Fukuoka, Japan
- ¹⁷Department of Transfusion Medicine, The Jikei University Daisan Hospital, Tokyo, Japan
- ¹⁸Blood Service Headquarters, Japanese Red Cross Society, Tokyo, Japan

Correspondence

Asashi Tanaka, Department of Clinical Laboratory Medicine and Department of Transfusion Medicine, Tokyo Medical University Hachioji Medical Center, 1163 Tatemachi, Hachioji-shi, Tokyo, Japan. Email: asashi-t@tokyo-med.ac.jp

Funding information Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Japan's ageing society has increased the need for home healthcare, including home transfusions. We hence aimed to elucidate the purpose and utilization of home transfusions in Japan, which has not been clarified to date.

Materials and Methods: Clinics throughout Japan that provide home care and have experience in performing blood transfusions were surveyed. The study period was February to December 2019, and information of patients receiving home red blood cell transfusions, including patient background, pre-transfusion laboratory data and the purpose of the transfusions, was collected.

Results: Haematological malignancies and solid tumours accounted for 70% of the patients' underlying diseases, with the former being significantly more common in urban areas. Regarding the purpose of the home transfusions, haematologists

³TOTUS Home Care Clinic, Hemato-Homecare Network, Tokyo, Japan

⁴Tsujikawa Home Clinic, Saitama, Japan

⁵Iwata Home Care Clinic, Shizuoka, Japan

⁶Nishiosu Ito Internal Medicine and Department of Hematology, Hemato-Homecare Network, Aichi, Japan

⁷Sendai Home Care Clinic, Miyagi, Japan

⁸Donated Blood Distribution Foundation, Tokyo, Japan

⁹Division of Blood Transfusion, Toho University Omori Medical Center, Tokyo, Japan

focused on symptom improvement, whereas gastroenterology surgeons focused on life support. Furthermore, maintenance of life was more likely to be the aim in the group of patients with the lowest level of activities of daily living. The main items that were significantly associated with a low haemoglobin level before transfusion included age \geq 90 years and a gastroenterologist being the physician in charge.

Conclusion: Home transfusions were found to be performed in a restrictive and diverse manner in Japan. Life support is the second most common purpose of home transfusion in Japan, and optimizing effective home transfusion remains a challenge.

Keywords

Hb level, home transfusion, specialty, transfusion purpose

Highlights

- In urban areas, haematological malignancies were the more common underlying diseases of patients receiving home transfusions.
- 'Maintenance of life' was the second most common purpose of home transfusions and was particularly emphasized by gastrointestinal surgeons.
- The haemoglobin concentration threshold was lower in patients aged ≥90 years and in those with a gastroenterologist as the physician in charge.

INTRODUCTION

In Japan, the number of home transfusions has not increased substantially in the previous 8 years, owing to problems with the implementation of multidisciplinary cooperation and safety concerns regarding the management of transfusion reactions [1]. We previously investigated the safety and availability of home transfusions in Japan; in the present study, we focus on the purpose and utilization of home transfusions in Japan. There is a Japanese government policy to provide patients with medical care that they desire, and at the time of their choice. Therefore, home transfusions should be designed to complement outpatient care, depending on each patient's wishes and the local healthcare system. Although in Japan it is not appropriate for hospitals to provide home transfusions owing to the way the roles of facilities are divided, it is important for hospitals and clinics to cooperate in pre-transfusion testing and in making decisions on indications.

The system of home transfusion services in Japan differs in many aspects from those of Western countries. First, doctors in clinics must manage the entire home transfusion process. Second, clinics usually only have doctors and nurses as medical personnel, and pre-transfusion testing is outsourced to a registered laboratory. Third, blood centres are mainly in charge of blood collection as well as the production and supply of blood products. Finally, transfusion specialists are rarely involved in home transfusions because they work in hospitals.

As the system of the family physician as a specialist was not established in Japan until 2018, clinic physicians have a variety of specialties. Traditionally, approximately 30% of physicians switched from hospital-based specialists to clinic physicians in the middle of their careers [2]. Therefore, it can be inferred that their expertise and backgrounds affected their awareness of home transfusions. In Japan, there is still a substantial controversy regarding home transfusions, and regional and inter-clinic differences in home transfusion practices are observed. Unlike the general practitioner clinic system in the United Kingdom and other countries, there is no close collaboration between hospitals and clinics in Japan because of the free accessibility of medical care. Furthermore, primary care has not been traditionally emphasized in Japan, and hence the quality of primary care is not standardized. In addition, the availability and implementation of home transfusions is dependent on the policy of each clinic physician.

The Japanese guidelines named 'Red Blood Cell Transfusion at Home' was released in 2017. These guidelines focused on patient safety. Target diseases were limited to end-stage chronic diseases, and the conditions of implementation were also strict. The conditions included the following: the patient must be awake and cooperative; the patient must have a history of blood transfusions and no history of serious transfusion reactions; and the patient must be accompanied by an attendant. In a previous paper, we reported that nurses are involved in 83% of all transfusions as attendants monitoring transfusion reactions, while family members were involved in 77% of them [1]. Of those, multiple attendants were involved in 61% of all transfusions. Regarding the observation period, 10% of patients were observed for 30 min or less, 37% were observed until the end of the transfusion and 41% were observed until the next morning. Thus, we conducted a survey of home transfusions in Japan to analyse the characteristics of patients undergoing home transfusion, including the purpose of the transfusion, regional differences of patient characteristics and factors associated with haemoglobin (Hb) trigger levels. By analysing these items, we aimed to clarify the differences between home transfusion in Japan and Western countries, and to facilitate future improvements.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study background

This study was conducted as a part of the 2019 Health and Labour Science Research Project, entitled 'Comprehensive management system of blood transfusions in the community'. The study group consisted of transfusion specialists from teaching hospitals and clinics, experts from blood centres and the director of a public health centre. The survey and questionnaire were designed and reviewed by these experts to clarify the problems and to improve the efficacy of home transfusion in the local healthcare setting.

ABLE 2 Activities of daily living scale.

ADL level	Physical status
J	Has some disabilities, but is nearly independent in ADL and can go out alone
A	Nearly independent in indoor activities, but cannot go out without assistance
В	Needs some assistance with indoor life, mostly remains bed during the daytime, but can maintain a seated position when required
С	Stays in bed all day, and needs assistance for hygiene, eating and changing clothes

Abbreviation: ADL, activities of daily living.

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the patients in the different region types of Japan.

Item	Urban regions (n = 79)	Satellite and rural regions ($n = 65$)	Total ^a (n = 150)	p-Value
Underlying disease ^b				
Blood disease (benign)	22 (28%)	11 (17%)	37 (25%)	0.1415
Blood disease (malignant)	35 (44%)	15 (23%)	51 (34%)	0.0107
Solid tumour	23 (29%)	32 (49%)	56 (37%)	0.0103
Other diseases	2 (3%)	8 (12%)	10 (7%)	0.0197
Primary reason for home transfusion ^c				
Anaemia caused by underlying disease	65 (82%)	42 (65%)	111 (74%)	0.016
Bleeding from tumour lesion	9 (11%)	14 (22%)	24 (16%)	0.098
Gastrointestinal bleeding	6 (8%)	8 (12%)	14 (9%)	0.296
Renal anaemia	2 (3%)	6 (9%)	9 (6%)	0.081
Anaemia of chronic inflammation	3 (4%)	4 (6%)	7 (5%)	0.513
Others	3 (4%)	7 (11%)	10 (7%)	0.200
Age group				
≥90 years	10 (13%)	11 (17%)	22 (15%)	0.471
80-89 years	30 (38%)	19 (29%)	51 (34%)	0.270
70-79 years	22 (28%)	19 (29%)	44 (29%)	0.855
60-69 years	11 (14%)	10 (15%)	21 (14%)	0.805
<60 years	6 (8%)	6 (9%)	12 (8%)	0.724
Specialty of the physician in charge of the patient				
Haematologist	42 (53%)	7 (11%)	49 (33%)	<0.001
Cardiologist	6 (8%)	9 (14%)	21 (14%)	0.245
Gastroenterologist	14 (18%)	16 (25%)	35 (23%)	0.354
Gastroenterology surgeon	26 (33%)	35 (54%)	66 (44%)	0.017
Number of home transfusions				
1-2 times	40 (51%)	46 (71%)	89 (59%)	0.023
3-5 times	8 (10%)	10 (15%)	18 (12%)	0.376
6 times or more	31 (39%)	9 (14%)	43 (29%)	<0.001
Reason for home transfusion				
Referral from an acute care hospital	52 (66%)	24 (37%)	77 (51%)	<0.001
Deterioration of disease condition in the outpatient clinic	16 (20%)	14 (22%)	34 (23%)	0.842
Referral of patient in home care	4 (5%)	21 (32%)	25 (17%)	<0.001

Note: Data for one patient was missing for activities of daily living level, haemoglobin level and age group, and data for two patients were missing for the reason for home transfusions. There were a significant number of patients with more than one specialist as their primary physician. ^aThere were six patients with an unknown geographic location.

^bThree patients in the urban regions and one patient in satellite and rural regions had multiple underlying diseases.

^cTwenty patients had multiple reasons.

A total of 856 clinics were selected from the database of the Japanese Red Cross Society, which is the sole manufacturer of blood products in Japan. The database did not include information on whether the clinics performed transfusions on an outpatient basis or at home. Therefore, clinics that provide home healthcare were determined from the clinics' websites. Clinics in all 47 prefectures of Japan were included in the survev.

This survey was conducted from February to November 2019, using the same method as a previously reported study [1]. Red blood cells (RBCs) were the only target blood product. The survey forms were sent out prior to the survey period to enable the respondents to prepare for the questions. The full text of the survey is shown in the Supplementary Data (https://figshare.com/s/77a1537dfcd20f32c9d8). Survey items were created based on the Japanese transfusion guidelines, a literature review and background factors of transfusion practice in Japan. The survey was prepared in a systematic manner. The primary evaluation item was factors associated with the purpose of transfusion. Secondary evaluation items were the percentage of each underlying disease and variables affecting Hb trigger levels. The survey consisted of sections A and B. In this study, data from section B, which contained the patients' characteristics (such as age group, underlying diseases, reasons for transfusion and physical condition), the specialty of the physician in charge, the purpose of the transfusion, the number of transfusions received and the process of home transfusions, were analysed. We focused on these section B data to analyse regional differences in patient background, factors affecting transfusion objectives and Hb trigger levels.

Ethics statement

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Tokyo Medical University (study approval no.: T2018-0048).

Statistical analysis

Numerical data were analysed using the Mann-Whitney U test, and categorical data were analysed by the Fisher exact test and the chisquare test. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference between groups. SPSS Statistics 28 software (IBM Corporation) was used for statistical analyses.

RESULTS

A total of 290 clinics responded to the questionnaire, resulting in a response rate of 33.9%. Of these, 51 clinics answered that they provided a home transfusion service. Detailed information on 150 patients receiving home transfusions was obtained. The total number of home transfusions was approximately 435, and the median number of transfusions in individual patients was 2.

Patient characteristics by region

The surveyed areas of Japan were classified into three regions, namely urban regions (4 large prefectures, i.e., Tokyo, Aichi, Osaka and Fukuoka), satellite regions (7 prefectures neighbouring the prefectures containing large cities, i.e., Saitama, Chiba, Kanagawa, Gifu, Shizuoka, Kyoto and Hyogo) and rural regions (the 36 other prefectures). The most common underlying diseases were solid tumours (39%), haematological malignancies (34%) and benign haematological diseases (25%) (Table 1). Patients from urban regions had a significantly higher frequency of haematological malignancies, whereas patients from satellite and rural regions had a higher frequency of solid tumours. The most common reason for transfusion was anaemia caused by the underlying disease (74%), followed by chronic bleeding, such as bleeding from a tumour lesion or gastrointestinal bleeding (25%). Regarding patient age, 78% of the patients were older than 70 years. The classification of activities of daily living (ADL) levels is shown in Table 2 [3]. In urban regions, haematologists were significantly more likely to be the patient's primary physician, whereas in satellite and rural areas, gastroenterological surgeons were significantly more likely to be the patient's primary physician. In terms of the process leading to home transfusions, urban areas had significantly more referrals from acute care hospitals, whereas satellite and rural areas had significantly more referrals of patients already receiving home healthcare.

Purpose of transfusion

The most common purposes of home blood transfusions were, in descending order, 'improvement of symptoms' (85%), 'maintenance of life' (53%) and 'maintenance of quality of life (QOL)' (49%). The common combinations of objectives are summarized in Table 3. The items that showed significant differences between 'maintenance of life' and 'improvement of symptoms' are shown in Table 4. The items that showed significant differences both between the above objectives and between 'maintenance of life' and 'maintenance of

TABLE 3 Purpose of home transfusion of the patients.

Item	Number of patients ^a (total: 150)	Percentage
1. Maintenance of life	80 (17)	53.3
2. Maintenance of the quality of life	73 (4)	48.7
3. Improvement of physical function	12 (0)	8.0
4. Improvement of symptoms	128 (38)	85.3
Main combinations of the above items		
1 + 2 + 4	41	27.3
2 + 4	27	18.0
1 + 4	22	14.7

Note: Numbers in parentheses indicate the number of patients who chose only that item.

^aMultiple choices were allowed for items 1-4.

TABLE 4 Patient profiles by purpose of transfusion.

ltem	Maintenance of life only $(n = 17)$	Maintenance of life and maintenance of QOL and/ or improvement of symptoms $(n = 63)$	n-Value	Improvement of symptoms only $(n = 38)$	n-Value	Other $n = 32$	Total* (n = 150)
		symptoms (n = oby	pvalue		p value	purpose (ii = 02)	(1 = 150)
Blood disease (benign)	1 (23%)	15 (24%)	0.081	8 (21%)	0.837	10 (31%)	37 (25%)
Blood disease (berlign)	4 (23%)	13 (24%)	0.701	10 (47%)	0.007	0 (31%) 9 (25%)	51 (21%)
Solid tumour	4 (23%)	21 (33%)	0.312	10 (47 %) 0 (24%)	0.075	8 (23%) 15 (47%)	54 (27%)
Drimany reason for home transfu	vion ^a	23 (37 %)	0.220	7 (2470)	0.055	15 (4776)	50 (57 78)
Anopmia caused by	9 (52%)	16 (73%)	0 1 1 3	30 (79%)	0.049	26 (81%)	111 (74%)
underlying disease	7 (3378)	40 (7376)	0.115	50 (7778)	0.047	20 (01/6)	111 (7470)
Bleeding from tumour lesion	6 (35%)	10 (16%)	0.076	3 (8%)	0.011	5 (16%)	24 (16%)
Gastrointestinal bleeding	4 (24%)	7 (11%)	0.187	1 (3%)	0.013	2 (6%)	14 (9%)
Activity of daily living level							
Level J	2 (12%)	7 (11%)	0.974	6 (16%)	0.696	5 (16%)	20 (13%)
Level A	4 (23%)	19 (30%)	0.542	19 (50%)	0.066	15 (47%)	57 (38%)
Level B	1 (6%)	26 (41%)	0.005	5 (13%)	0.424	8 (25%)	40 (27%)
Level C	10 (59%)	10 (16%)	<0.001	8 (21%)	0.006	4 (12%)	32 (21%)
Haemoglobin level							
9.0 g/dL or more	0	3 (5%)	0.351	3 (8%)	0.233	2 (6%)	8 (5%)
8.0-8.9 g/dL	3 (18%)	2 (3%)	0.032	4 (11%)	0.464	3 (9%)	12 (8%)
7.0-7.9 g/dL	2 (12%)	16 (25%)	0.211	15 (39%)	0.040	11 (34%)	44 (29%)
6.0-6.9 g/dL	3 (18%)	17 (27%)	0.393	9 (24%)	0.616	8 (25%)	37 (25%)
Less than 5.9 g/dL	9 (53%)	23 (37%)	0.259	7 (18%)	0.009	8 (25%)	47 (31%)
Specialty of the physician in char	rge of the patient						
Haematologist	0	14 (22%)	0.016	25 (66%)	<0.001	10 (31%)	49 (33%)
Cardiologist	0	16 (25%)	0.020	4 (11%)	0.165	1 (3%)	21 (14%)
Gastroenterologist	6 (35%)	11 (17%)	0.111	4 (11%)	0.028	14 (44%)	35 (23%)
Gastroenterology surgeon	15 (88%)	38 (60%)	0.031	5 (13%)	<0.001	8 (25%)	66 (44%)
Number of home transfusions							
1-2 times	14 (82%)	37 (59%)	0.072	20 (53%)	0.036	19 (59%)	90 (60%)
3-5 times	1 (6%)	7 (11%)	0.524	7 (18%)	0.219	3 (9%)	18 (12%)
6 times or more	2 (12%)	19 (30%)	0.126	11 (29%)	0.166	10 (31%)	42 (28%)
Reason for home transfusions							
Referral from an acute care hospital	4 (24%)	26 (41%)	0.152	30 (79%)	<0.001	17 (53%)	77 (51%)
Deterioration of disease condition in the outpatient clinic	13 (76%)	15 (24%)	<0.001	3 (8%)	<0.001	3 (9%)	34 (23%)
Referral of patient in home care	0	14 (22%)	0.029	1 (3%)	0.500	10 (31%)	25 (17%)

Note: Analysis of statistical significance was performed between the maintenance-of-life-only group and the maintenance of life and maintenance of quality of life (QOL) and/or improvement of symptoms group, as well as between the former and the improvement-of-symptoms-only group. There were a significant number of patients with more than one specialist as their primary physician.

*Significant differences.

^aThree patients in the maintenance-of-life-only group and one patient in the other-purpose group had multiple primary reasons.

life and maintenance of QOL and/or improvement of symptoms' were the following: ADL level C, a haematologist or gastroenterological surgeon being the physician in charge and the process to home blood transfusion was deterioration of the disease condition in outpatients at the clinic. Even when the target was limited to solid tumours, the trend remained the same, with haematologists emphasizing symptom improvement and gastroenterological surgeons emphasizing sustaining life. TABLE 5 Factors associated with a low pre-transfusion haemoglobin level.

Factor	Hb level (≤6.9 g/dL)	Hb level (≥7.0 g/dL)	Total	p-Value
Age (≥90 years old)	18	4	22	0.009
ADL level A	24	33	57	0.002
Blood disease (malignant)	16	34	50	<0.001
Solid tumour	39	16	55	0.008
Anaemia caused by underlying disease	56	54	110	0.015
Anaemia caused by chronic bleeding	24	9	33	0.036
Transfusion performed by a haematologist	21	28	49	0.016
Transfusion performed by a gastroenterologist	27	8	35	0.005
Maintenance of life	52	26	78	0.010
Two transfusions or less	59	30	89	0.003
Referral from an acute care hospital	31	45	76	<0.001
Deterioration of disease condition in the outpatient clinic	26	8	34	0.007

943

Note: Numbers in the table represent the number of patients.

Abbreviations: ADL, activities of daily living; Hb, haemoglobin.



patients







FIGURE 1 Frequency distribution of various parameters in patients with different haemoglobin (Hb) levels. Distribution of age group (a) and underlying diseases (b) in patients with different Hb levels. Patients over 90 years of age tended to have low Hb levels. On the other hand, patients with malignant blood diseases tended to have high Hb levels.

Factors associated with pre-transfusion Hb level

The most common pre-transfusion Hb level of the 150 patients who received home transfusions was in the 7 g/dL range, followed by the 6 and 5 g/dL ranges.

To identify factors associated with a low pre-transfusion Hb level ($\leq 6.9 \text{ g/dL}$), we performed the chi-square test. Significant factors were age ≥ 90 years, a gastroenterologist being the physician in charge and the purpose of transfusion being maintenance of life and others, as shown in Table 5. The frequency distributions of patient Hb levels by age group and underlying disease are shown in Figure 1.

DISCUSSION

This study was conducted as a Health and Labor Science Study, and the survey forms were distributed prior to the survey period with the purpose of future utilization. Therefore, this cohort was considered to be representative of the actual situation of home blood transfusion in Japan. In addition, the response rate for this survey was 34%, and hence the actual number of home transfusion patients may be approximately three times higher than the reported number of patients.

Patient characteristics by region

In our previous paper, we reported that in rural areas, there is a lack of close cooperation between hospitals and clinics, resulting in an insufficient monitoring system of transfusion reactions, compared with urban areas. Therefore, we assumed that there would be regional differences in patient characteristics as well. Blood diseases and solid tumours were found to be the common underlying diseases in the transfusion patients, as reported previously [4]. Haematological malignancies were significantly more common in urban areas, most likely associated with the larger number of haematologists. Advanced treatments for haematologic diseases, such as haematopoietic stem cell transplantation, are often performed in urban areas, resulting in the uneven distribution of haematologists [5]. Furthermore, there were some physicians among haematologists in urban areas who actively performed home transfusions [6]. On the other hand, the fact that there were more gastrointestinal surgeons performing transfusions in satellite and rural areas may be associated with their previous experience of transfusions. With persistent concerns about the safety of home transfusions in Japan, gastrointestinal surgeons were assumed to be the main physicians performing home transfusions in satellite and rural areas, for two possible reasons: Firstly, gastrointestinal surgeons may often be confident in their own responses, and secondly, they may often underestimate transfusion reactions (because of their limited experience with serious reactions).

Patient background by purpose of transfusion

The survey revealed that maintenance of life is one of the primary purposes of home transfusions in Japan. According to the Japanese

Guidelines for the use of RBCs, the use of RBCs in terminally ill patients is classified as inappropriate [7]. Therefore, it is assumed that the indication for home transfusions is carefully evaluated, taking into account the minimum transfusions required based on the patient's physical condition. This is supported by the data that in the group in which the only purpose of transfusion was for life support, many patients had Hb levels below 5.9 g/dL, ADL level C or less than two transfusions. However, the above guidelines state that 'The opinion that providing life support against the patient's wishes should be avoided is becoming increasingly accepted', and hence not all transfusions in the terminal phase are inappropriate as long as the patient's wishes are respected. It may hence be necessary to distinguish the stage of impending death from situations in which some period of survival can be expected, without uniformly interpreting the terminal phase. In addition, the Hb level that should be maintained for life support is not clear [8, 9]. The purpose of home transfusions in patients near the terminal stages should be clearly defined in the above guidelines to help physicians in their decision making.

Factors associated with pre-transfusion Hb level

Recently, many studies on RBC transfusion with high evidence levels have been published, leading to restrictive transfusions, with a Hb concentration threshold of 7-8 g/dL becoming the mainstream [10-12]. However, the subjects in these previous reports were acutely ill inpatients with stable haemodynamics, and whether this threshold can also be applied to chronically ill older patients being treated outside hospital environments is unclear. In a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials on individuals aged ≥ 65 years [13], the mortality rate was significantly higher in the restrictive transfusion group than in the liberal transfusion group. Another randomized study of frail patients with femoral neck fracture living in elderly care facilities also showed similar results [14]. These findings suggest that liberal transfusion leads to a more favourable prognosis in older individuals [15]. The lower threshold for Hb concentration in the older patients in our survey could be explained by differences in patient backgrounds and adherence to Japanese guidelines [7].

The preferred threshold pre-transfusion Hb level of patients receiving palliative care is 8.0–10.0 g/dL, as previously reported [16–18]. Another small randomized controlled study performed in 38 outpatients with myelodysplastic syndromes indicated that clinically significant improvements were observed in the physical functions and QOL of patients in the liberal transfusion group [19]. Furthermore, although evidence is not clearly presented, the threshold Hb level for transfusion in palliative care patients may be more liberal than in other patients [20, 21]. On the other hand, determining a transfusion Hb threshold level for life support in palliative care is even more difficult. There was a recommendation that RBC transfusions should be considered for patients with Hb levels of less than 5 g/dL for the management of chronic anaemia owing to occult blood loss [22]; however, the threshold should be carefully determined depending on the patient's background.

Patients receiving palliative care are considered to have various complications, physical frailties, as well as personal values, and hence it is crucial to individualize the indications for transfusion. For this purpose, for home transfusions, it is necessary to establish an assessment system for post-transfusion effects, including QOL and symptom improvement, as part of the standard practice of transfusion therapy [23].

Strengths and limitations

The strength of this study is that it is the first in-depth study of home transfusions in Japan. We believe that the findings of this study will be useful for promoting clinical research and revising the guidelines for home transfusions. However, it is a retrospective study with a small number of patients, and its weakness is that the objective of the transfusions is determined based on the subjectivity of the physicians. The key uncertainties are the clinical heterogeneity of the patients as well as of the transfusion method.

The advantages of home transfusion are that it reduces the physical and emotional burden on the patient and family and helps to maintain the patient's QOL. The disadvantages are the risk of potentially serious complications occurring as a result of the reduced availability of emergency care and transfusion testing and the increased burden on healthcare providers. Therefore, the implementation of home transfusion should be considered after careful review of the balance of these factors. The negative aspects of home transfusions have been highlighted, and there is concern that actual transfusions are limited to a minimum owing to the fact that only patients in the terminal phase are indicated for home transfusions in the guidelines in Japan. Moreover, approaches to maximize the efficacy of blood transfusions are still lacking. The shortcomings of Japan's healthcare policy, which has not emphasized the development of family physicians, may be a reason for this situation. Therefore, the ideal home transfusion system for each type of region in Japan should be investigated and improved according to the medical resources available.

Whereas it is possible to choose not to perform home transfusions and to perform transfusions only in the hospital or on an outpatient basis, it is desirable to promote the development of home transfusion providers in the future. To improve home transfusion, it is necessary to revise its guidelines, promote clinical research and improve the cooperation between hospitals and clinics according to the local healthcare setting.

In conclusion, home transfusions are found to be performed in a restrictive and diverse manner in Japan. Further accumulation of data is necessary to provide more effective transfusion therapies in Japan together with safety assurance.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The following collaborators and facilities participated in this study (some are facilities without the doctor's name): Dr. Shinichi Okamura: Okamura Clinic, Nishinomiya; Dr. Ryuichi Suemitsu: White Kamitsu Clinic, Fukuoka; Dr. Masashi Niikuni: Niikuni Clinic, Kobe;

945 Dr. Hiroyuki Fujisawa: Seishokai Clinic Kounan, Nagao Home Care Clinic, Konan; Dr. Atsuro Iwasaku: Iwasaku Clinic, Yosa; Dr. Fumihiko Muta: Muta Hotomeki Clinic, Kurume; Dr. Kunio Nitta: Nitta Clinic, Kunitachi; Dr. Mami Ito: Hananotani Clinic, Minamiboso; Dr. Ryoji Shimazaki: City Tower Clinic, Gifu; Dr. Norihiro Moriyama: Musashino General Clinic, Kiyose; Dr. Kinro Ito: Ito Clinic, Hiroshima; Dr. Takamitsu Nin: Nin Clinic, Nagoya; Dr. Shinji Matsumoto: Matsumoto Clinic, Yao; Dr. Susumu Suzuki: Rumoi Central Clinic, Rumoi; Dr. Hirotaka Yamashita: Yamashita Digestive Surgery, Matsuyama; Dr. Takahiro Miyata: Ikeda Clinic, Ibusuki; Dr. Hiroyasu Hamaya: Ai Clinic, Tama; Dr. Tetsuaki Sano: Sano Internal Medicine Clinic, Osaka; Dr. Shinya Yakabe: Yakabe Clinic, Saga: Dr. Osamu Yasukawa: Yasukawa Clinic, Iwade; Dr. Masayoshi Shimizu: Shimizu Medical Clinic, Akashi; Dr. Takaaki Taniwa: Taniwa Clinic, Sakai: Dr. Toru Okura: Yamaoto

Home Care Clinic Osaki, Osaki; Dr. Takeshi Toya: Home Care Clinic for Children Aozora Sumida, Tokyo; Dr. Takayuki Miyagawa: Miyagawa Home Care Clinic, Okazaki, Ibaraki Clinic Hitachi, Hitachi, Ibaraki Clinic Tokai, Naka, Ibaraki Clinic Mito, Mito, Yamato Clinic Hiyoshi, Yokohama, Second Nagisa Clinic, Hannan, Hiramatsu Clinic, Ogi, Hachinohe Home Care Clinic, Hachinohe. This study was supported by a grantin-aid from the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan.

All authors were involved in the study design. H.F., K.O., A.T., K.U., T.I., K.K., T.M., T.E., Y.F., J.K., E.S., K.N., A.I. and K.M. acquired and analysed the data, Ka.T. and Ko.T. supervised the research.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Research data are not shared.

ORCID

Asashi Tanaka 🕒 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6950-8457

REFERENCES

- Tanaka A, Fujita H, Ohashi K, Tsujikawa A, Uchiyama K, Ito T, et al. Management system of home transfusion in Japan: a nationwide survey in 2019. Vox Sang. 2023;118:59–67.
- Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Summary of statistics on physicians, dentists, and pharmacists in 2020. [cited 2023 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/ishi/ 20/dl/R02_1gaikyo.pdf (in Japanese).
- The approach of translation of "The degree of independent living for disabled elderly". [cited 2023 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www. jstage.jst.go.jp/article/biophilia/2008/0/2008_0_18/_pdf/-char/ja (in Japanese).
- García D, Aguilera A, Antolín F, Arroyo JL, Lozano M, Sanroma P, et al. Home transfusion: three decades of practice at a tertiary care hospital. Transfusion. 2018;58:2309–19.
- Japan Marrow Donor Program. Number of transplants and collections by accredited facility. 2022 [cited 2023 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www.jmdp.or.jp/documents/file/08_data/hospital_ichiran.pdf (in Japanese).
- Miyashita N, Ohashi K, Fujita M, Hosoda T, Kawasaki Y, Takimoto M, et al. Prognostic factors in patients in the terminal phase of haematological malignancies who are receiving home medical care. Br J Haematol. 2023;201:290–301.

- Implementation guidelines for blood transfusion therapy. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. 2020 [cited 2023 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/content/11127000/000619338. pdf (in Japanese).
- Shander A, Javidroozi M, Naqvi S, Aregbeyen O, Caylan M, Demir S, et al. An update on mortality and morbidity in patients with very low postoperative hemoglobin levels who decline blood transfusion (CME). Transfusion. 2014;54:2688–95; quiz 7.
- Guinn NR, Cooter ML, Villalpando C, Weiskopf RB. Severe anemia associated with increased risk of death and myocardial ischemia in patients declining blood transfusion. Transfusion. 2018;58:2290–6.
- Carson JL, Stanworth SJ, Alexander JH, Roubinian N, Fergusson DA, Triulzi DJ, et al. Clinical trials evaluating red blood cell transfusion thresholds: an updated systematic review and with additional focus on patients with cardiovascular disease. Am Heart J. 2018;200: 96–101.
- 11. Hovaguimian F, Myles PS. Restrictive versus liberal transfusion strategy in the perioperative and acute care settings: a context-specific systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesthesiology. 2016;125:46-61.
- Mazer CD, Whitlock RP, Fergusson DA, Hall J, Belley-Cote E, Connolly K, et al. Restrictive or liberal red-cell transfusion for cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:2133–44.
- Simon GI, Craswell A, Thom O, Fung YL. Outcomes of restrictive versus liberal transfusion strategies in older adults from nine randomised controlled trials: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Haematol. 2017;4:e465–74.
- Gregersen M, Borris LC, Damsgaard EM. Postoperative blood transfusion strategy in frail, anemic elderly patients with hip fracture: the TRIFE randomized controlled trial. Acta Orthop. 2015; 86:363–72.
- Mueller MM, Van Remoortel H, Meybohm P, Aranko K, Aubron C, Burger R, et al. Patient blood management: recommendations from the 2018 Frankfurt Consensus Conference. JAMA. 2019;321: 983–97.
- Brown E, Bennett M. Survey of blood transfusion practice for palliative care patients in Yorkshire: implications for clinical care. J Palliat Med. 2007;10:919–22.

- Laird BJ, Whyte G, Laird JH, Soutar RL, Welsh J, Fallon MT. Letter to editor: an observational study of red cell transfusion in specialist palliative care. Palliat Med. 2008;22:874–5.
- Mercadante S, Ferrera P, Villari P, David F, Giarratano A, Riina S. Effects of red blood cell transfusion on anemia-related symptoms in patients with cancer. J Palliat Med. 2009;12:60–3.
- Stanworth SJ, Killick S, McQuilten ZK, Karakantza M, Weinkove R, Smethurst H, et al. Red cell transfusion in outpatients with myelodysplastic syndromes: a feasibility and exploratory randomised trial. Br J Haematol. 2020;189:279–90.
- Gu Y, Estcourt LJ, Doree C, Hopewell S, Vyas P. Comparison of a restrictive versus liberal red cell transfusion policy for patients with myelodysplasia, aplastic anaemia, and other congenital bone marrow failure disorders. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;2015:CD011577.
- 21. Tonino RPB, Schipperus MR, Zwaginga JJ. Clinical practice for outpatients that are chronically red cell dependent: a survey in the Netherlands. Vox Sang. 2022;117:526–34.
- 22. Montoro M, Cucala M, Lanas Á, Villanueva C, Hervás AJ, Alcedo J, et al. Indications and hemoglobin thresholds for red blood cell transfusion and iron replacement in adults with gastrointestinal bleeding: an algorithm proposed by gastroenterologists and patient blood management experts. Front Med (Lausanne). 2022;9:903739.
- 23. To THM, LeBlanc TW, Eastman P, Neoh K, Agar MR, To LB, et al. The prospective evaluation of the net effect of red blood cell transfusions in routine provision of palliative care. J Palliat Med. 2017;20:1152–7.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Tanaka A, Fujita H, Ohashi K, Tsujikawa A, Uchiyama K, Ito T, et al. Home transfusions are implemented using diverse approaches in Japan. Vox Sang. 2023;118:938–46. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13526

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Exploring the potential harm of varied blood storage on patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery

Shuoyan Ning^{1,2,3,4} | Akash Gupta^{3,5} | Khalid Batarfi⁴ | Yang Liu² | Kayla J. Lucier² | Rebecca Barty² | Nancy M. Heddle^{1,2,6}

¹Department of Medicine, Michael G. DeGroote School of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

²Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

³Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathobiology, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

⁴Michael G. DeGroote Centre for Transfusion Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

⁵Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

⁶Centre for Innovation, Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

Correspondence

Shuoyan Ning, Department of Medicine, 1280 Main Street West, HSC-3H50, Hamilton, ON L8S 4K1, Canada. Email: ningsh@mcmaster.ca

Funding information Canadian Blood Services

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Debate exists surrounding the optimal duration of red blood cell (RBC) storage. A hypothesis emerging from previous research suggests that exposure to fresh blood may be harmful to patients undergoing cardiac surgery. This study uses a large transfusion medicine database to explore the association between in-hospital mortality and red cell storage duration.

Materials and Methods: This is an exploratory retrospective cohort study of all adult patients at Hamilton, Canada, over a 14-year period that received at least one allogeneic red cell transfusion during their hospitalization for cardiac surgery requiring bypass. The primary outcome for the study was in-hospital death. Analysis was performed using multivariate Cox regression modelling with time-dependent and time-independent covariates and stratification variables. Five models with varying definitions for short, intermediate and prolonged duration of RBC storage were tested.

Results: From March 2004 to December 2017, 11,205 patients met the inclusion criteria and were included in the regression analyses. No significant effect of short-duration red storage on patient mortality was observed in all statistical models, with the red cells stored for the longest duration as the reference group. When patients who received exclusively fresh (hazard ratio [HR] 1.040, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.588–1.841, *p*-value = 0.893) and older aged (HR 1.038, 95% CI 0.769–1.1.402, *p*-value = 0.0801) RBCs were compared with those who received exclusively mid-age red cells as the reference, statistical significance was similarly not reached.

Conclusion: Red cells stored for the shortest duration are not associated with increased risk of mortality among cardiac surgery patients.

Keywords

blood donors, blood transfusion, cardiac surgery, red blood cells, storage

Highlights

- Previous research suggests that exposure to fresh red blood cell concentrates (RBCCs) may be harmful to patients undergoing cardiac surgery.
- We have explored the effect of storage of RBCCs in a retrospective cohort study where 11,205 patients were included.

Shuoyan Ning and Akash Gupta contributed equally to the development of the manuscript and share co-first authorship.

Vox Sanguinis. 2023;118:947-954.

The identification of progressive structural, biochemical and functional changes in red blood cells (RBCs) during storage has led to the hypothesis that longer duration of RBC storage before transfusion is potentially harmful. Over the past 20 years, this hypothesis has resulted in observational studies and randomized controlled trials (RCTs) designed to determine whether RBCs stored for a shorter period of time improve patient clinical outcomes compared with RBCs stored for longer duration. In a meta-analysis published in 2018 [1], which included 16 RCTs (randomizing a total of 31,359 patients), the authors concluded that transfusion of fresher, compared with RBCs stored for longer durations. was not associated with a lower risk of death (relative risk 1.04, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.98-1.09). However, a trend towards increased mortality when patients were exposed to fresh blood has also been observed-although one limitation to this literature is the variable definitions of fresh (less than 3 days-less than 21 days) versus old $(21 \pm 4 \text{ days}-\text{standard issue})$ between studies [1]. The three largest RCTs [2-4] using mortality as an outcome all had a trend of higher mortality in patients receiving fresher RBCs, a finding that was not statistically significant but was reflected in the overall results of the 16 study meta-analysis. It has also been suggested that the freshest and oldest RBCs may both be harmful to patients [5] compared with mid-aged RBCs, but to the authors' knowledge, this has never been studied.

In a subgroup analysis of cardiac surgery patients from the INFORM study, there was a trend of increased mortality with the transfusion of blood stored for shorter duration compared with longer duration of storage (odds ratio 1.13; 95% CI 0.99–1.29; p = 0.07); this trend was not observed in subgroups of intensive care and haematology/oncology patients [3]. This trend, as well as the complex pro-inflammatory state of cardiovascular surgery patients [6], led us to hypothesize that exposure to fresh blood may be harmful to patients undergoing cardiac surgery.

In this study, we used the Transfusion Research, Utilization, Surveillance and Tracking (TRUST) database to undertake an exploratory retrospective cohort study to address the research question: for patients requiring at least one allogeneic RBC transfusion during their hospitalization for cardiac surgery requiring bypass, is there an association between in-hospital mortality and RBCs stored for a short-duration when compared with RBCs of intermediate or prolonged storage duration?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and participants

This was a retrospective exploratory cohort study spanning a 14-year period from March 2004 to December 2017. Patients were eligible

for inclusion if they met the following criteria: adults (≥18 years); undergoing cardiac surgery requiring bypass (using Canadian Classification of Health Interventions [CCI] codes 1.LZ.37.GP-GB and 1.LZ.37.LA-GB); and receiving at least one allogeneic RBC transfusion during their hospitalization. Patients were excluded if they received autologous or directed donations; these patient populations were excluded to account for the inherent differences in transfusion indication/thresholds, and potential inflammatory effects of transfusion (with autologous from self and directed often from relatives) between this population and those receiving allogeneic transfusions. Only data from a patient's first admission for cardiac surgery during the study period were included in the analysis to allow for independent data to be used. The study was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (no. 4212).

Clinical and laboratory data were extracted from the TRUST database, developed by the Michael DeGroot Centre for Transfusion Research that captures demographic, clinical, laboratory and blood product information from medical records and the laboratory information system [7]. The following information was extracted on all eligible patients at Hamilton hospitals: demographic information (age, sex, ABO blood group, admission category and diagnosis); duration of hospital stay, daily haemoglobin and creatinine values, and information on transfused RBCs, platelets, plasma and cryoprecipitate including number of units, date of transfusion and blood product ABO group. Information pertaining to relevant donor and product information for each transfused RBC unit, including the collection and donation date, the processing method, and the product manufacturing and processing times, were obtained from the blood supplier. The transfusions may have occurred in the pre-operative, intraoperative or post-operative setting. The processing method refers to the method by which red cells are manufactured in Canada (buffy coat collection or whole blood filtration); buffy coat collection was introduced by the blood supplier during the time frame of this study.

Duration of maximum red cell storage was 42 days throughout the study period. International Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision (ICD-10-CA) codes were used to extract data from the TRUST database for the following patient comorbidities: diabetes, peripheral arterial disease, ischaemic heart disease, heart failure, pulmonary hypertension, endocarditis and sepsis.

Statistical analysis

The primary outcome was in-hospital death. The observation period started at the time of the first RBC transfusion and ended at the time of hospital discharge or death. Statistical analysis was based on multivariate Cox regression analysis with fixed covariates, timedependent and time-independent covariates, and stratification

NING ET AL.

variables. Exposure groups were updated with each transfused RBC unit. Fixed covariates included patient age, ABO blood group and the pre-specified comorbidities (diabetes, peripheral arterial disease, ischaemic heart disease, heart failure, pulmonary hypertension and endocarditis). The time-dependent covariates included: whether the patient received ABO non-identical RBCs (yes or no); daily haemoglobin and creatinine results and whether the patient received additional blood products (platelets, plasma and/or cryoprecipitate) over their hospital stay. Variables that did not satisfy the proportional hazards assumption were used as stratification variables. Fixed stratification variables were year of hospital admission, patient sex and admission category (urgent or elective). Time-dependent stratification variables were cumulative number of RBCs transfused and processing method of RBC units. Timedependent variables were updated daily in the analysis as new information became available (e.g., additional RBCs transfused or new haemoglobin or creatinine test result).

In the first four models, individual patient exposure to short-term stored RBCs was defined by the minimum age of RBCs transfused and summarized in four different ways: age of transfused RBCs as a continuous variable (Model 1); age of transfused RBCs categorized by weeks of storage (1 week: 1-7 days, 2 weeks: 8-14 days and so on) (Model 2); categorizing age of transfused RBCs using quartiles of the overall distribution as cut points (Model 3); and categorizing age of transfused RBCs into three groups: fresh (1-7 days), mid-age (8-35 days) and old (36-42 days) (Model 4a), with other varying three group cut-offs (Models 4b-c). The category representing the transfused RBCs stored for the longest duration was the reference group for Models 2 through 4 and compared against RBCs of short as well as intermediate storage ages.

An additional model (Model 5) categorized the age of transfused RBCs by four mutual exclusive exposure groups: fresh, exclusive mid-age only, old and a combination of fresh and old; with fresh defined as either 1-7 days, 1-10 days or 1-14 days; and old defined as either 36-42 days, 33-42 days or 29-42 days (Models 5a, 5b and 5c, respectively). The 'fresh' exposure group was defined by exposure to fresh RBCs with permissible exposure to mid-age RBCs; the 'exclusive mid-age' group defined exposures to only mid-age RBCs; the 'old' RBC group was defined by exposure to old RBCs, with permissible exposure to mid-age RBCs; and, the 'fresh and old' group defined exposures to both fresh and old blood, with permissible exposure to mid-age RBCs. Exposures are dynamic, and thus a patient can move exposure groups during their hospital stay (e.g., from exclusive mid-age to fresh as they receive more RBC transfusions). These models were designed to evaluate whether there was a relationship between patient mortality based on exposure to short-term and longterm stored products compared with the reference group of products stored in the mid-age group.

All approaches for summarizing exposure to short-term stored RBCs were defined a priori. A single post hoc analysis was run on Schoenfeld residuals and associated tests of the proportional hazard assumptions were conducted for all models. All analyses were done using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC).

RESULTS

Patient characteristics and outcomes

During the study period, 19,684 adult patients underwent cardiac surgery requiring bypass. Of these patients, 11,364 received at least one allogeneic RBC transfusion during their hospital stay. Patients with missing data (haemoglobin or creatinine values, or donation information) were excluded from the regression analysis (n = 159), leaving 11,205 patients who were included in the analyses (Figure 1).

In this study, 4356 (38.9%) of the patients were female, the median age was 72 years (interquartile range [IQR] 64-78), the median duration of hospital stay was 10 days (IQR 8-15) and the median number of RBCs transfused per patient was 3 units (IOR 2-5). There were 607 (5.4%) patients who died in hospital: mortality was 3.2% in patients who received 1-9 RBC units and 28.5% in patients who received ≥10 RBC units. The documented comorbidities included ischaemic heart disease (49.0%), sepsis (12.4%), diabetes (11.1%) and heart failure (9.3%) (Table 1). In addition to RBC transfusions. 52.4% of patients received a platelet transfusion, 47.0% received a plasma transfusion and 12.3% received cryoprecipitate.



FIGURE 1 Flow chart demonstrating patient inclusion and exclusion. ^aBypass surgery ICD-10 codes: CCI 1.LZ.37.GP-GB and 1. LZ.37.LA-GB. RBCs, red blood cells.

4230410, 2023, 11, Downl-

TABLE 1 Patient characteristics and blood product information.

Variables	Patients included in regression analysis ($n = 11,205$)		
Female, n (%)	4356 (38.9)		
Age (years), mean/SD; median (Q1, Q3) (min, max)	69.9/11.0; 72 (64, 78) (18, 97)		
Blood group, n (%)			
A	4503 (40.2)		
AB	489 (4.4)		
В	1265 (11.3)		
0	4948 (44.2)		
Admission category			
Elective	6580 (58.7)		
Urgent	4625 (41.3)		
Haemoglobin (g/L) at first transfusion, mean/SD; median (Q1, Q3)	75.6/9.2; 75 (70, 81)		
Creatinine (μ mol/L) at first transfusion, mean/SD; median (Q1, Q3)	106.1/83.0; 84 (68, 111)		
Diabetes, n (%)	1239 (11.1)		
Peripheral arterial disease, n (%)	270 (2.4)		
Ischaemic heart disease, n (%)	5496 (49.0)		
Heart failure, n (%)	1045 (9.3)		
Pulmonary hypertension, n (%)	88 (0.8)		
Endocarditis, n (%)	63 (0.6)		
Sepsis ^a , n (%)	1386 (12.4)		
Duration of hospital stay (days), mean/SD; median (Q1, Q3)	14.1/13.7; 10 (8, 15)		
Number of RBC transfusions, mean/SD; median (Q1, Q3)	4.3/4.7; 3 (2, 5)		
In-hospital death, n (%)	607 (5.4)		
Patients receiving 1-9 RBC units, n (%)	32 5 (3.2)		
Patients receiving \geq 10 RBC units, <i>n</i> (%)	282 (28.5)		
Storage duration of freshest RBC unit, mean/SD; median (Q1, Q3)	19.7/8.2; 19 (14, 25)		
Storage duration of oldest RBC unit, mean/SD; median (Q1, Q3)	25.2/9.0; 25 (18, 34)		
Patients receiving			
Platelet transfusion, n (%)	5870 (52.4)		
Plasma transfusion, n (%)	5262 (47.0)		
Cryoprecipitate transfusion, n (%)	1378 (12.3)		

Abbreviation: RBC, red blood cell.

^aIncluding diagnose type of most responsible diagnosis, secondary diagnosis and post-admit comorbidity. Sepsis codes using ICD-10 codes listed by Joelley et al.⁸

Association between in-hospital mortality and RBC storage duration

The hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% CIs for Models 1–4 are shown in Figure 2. There were no statistically significant associations noted between red cell storage duration and in-hospital mortality observed in any of the models.

In Model 5, the use of patient categories who received fresh or old and a combination of fresh and old RBCs was compared against patients who received exclusively mid-aged blood. Model 5a compares RBCs stored at 1–7 days, 8–35 days and 36–42 days; Model 5b compares RBCs stored at 1–10 days, 11–33 days and 34–42 days; and Model 5c compares RBCs stored at 1–14 days, 15–28 days and 28–42 days. This analysis did not yield statistically significant results. Compared with the reference group of mid-age storage red cells, the use of fresher (HR 1.040, 95% CI 0.588–1.841, p-value = 0.893) and older (HR 1.038, 95% CI 0.769–1.1.402, p-value = 0.0801) aged RBCs did yield numerically higher HRs for mortality, but statistical significance was not reached. Figure 3 shows the HRs of the three models where the cut-off markers represented mutual exclusive exposure categories. As the inclusivity criteria for age that define the fresh and old groups were extended, the total number of patients in the mid-aged group decreased, yielding similar numbers in all three groups (see Appendix).

DISCUSSION

This is a retrospective exploratory cohort study of more than 11,200 adult patients in Hamilton, who had received at least one allogeneic

/10.1111/vox.13526 by Cornell

Wiley Online I

ibrary on [24/02/2025]. See the

ç

ythe



Hazard ratio

FIGURE 2 Hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for the comparisons in Models 1-4.

RBC transfusion during their hospitalization for cardiac surgery requiring bypass over a 14-year period (March 2004 to December 2017). In this study, there was no evidence of statistically significant harm or benefit with the use of fresher blood compared with mid-aged or older blood seen across a variety of regression models. When comparing exposure to fresh, middle-aged or older RBCs exclusively, the results were not statistically significant.

Many clinical settings require the use of RBCs for transfusion, including invasive surgical procedures, bleeding due to trauma, obstetrical haemorrhage and in bleeding patients with critically low haemoglobin levels. This results in approximately 112.5 million RBC units collected annually, according to the World Health Organization [9]. The potential impact of RBC storage duration on recipient morbidity and mortality is a question to which clinicians have long sought an answer. The usual concerns pertain to the biological impacts of storage lesions within a product over time [10]. An international pragmatic RCT of 20,858 in-patient adults, the INFORM trial, showed no difference between standard issue versus short-term storage RBCs as did the results of several other RCTs [2-4, 11]-effectively putting an end to the debate of the superiority of short-term RBCs [3]. Other large studies have explored the clinical impact of RBC storage age in various patient populations, including neonates, children, intensive care patients and cardiac surgery patients [3, 4, 11-20]. These studies have also

shown no significant statistical difference in morbidity/mortality of fresher versus older blood. However, studies on blood storage have unexpectedly raised the question of potential harm of short-term stored blood [7, 21]. Questions around the potential for harm with blood stored for 36–42 days remain, as this storage duration was not adequately represented in the studies published to date [22–25]. Furthermore, definitions of fresh and old have varied significantly between published studies complicating this question, particularly as red cells are dynamic immunologic products transfused into an equally dynamic recipient; in our study, we evaluated various cut-offs of fresh, mid-age and old products to help detect meaningful patterns in a real-life setting.

Cardiac surgery and the use of extracorporeal circulation often require blood product support in the form of RBC transfusion. The impact of exposure of blood to contact surfaces, increased mechanical shear stress and changes in temperature triggers a cascade of sequences that have been linked to increased hospital stay, post-operative infections, myocardial, hepatic and renal dysfunction, and increased mortality [26]. The hypothesized mechanism that leads to these poor outcomes is the development of an inflammatory state that leads to increased production of reactive oxygen species and further production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [6]. The impact of the duration of red cells storage on this hyperinflammatory state seen in cardiac surgery is unclear. Previous studies have reported that transfusion of RBCs that

951



FIGURE 3 Hazard ratios (HRs) comparing three exclusive exposure groups: Model 5a: fresh red blood cells (RBCs) stored 1–7 days, midrange 8–35 days and old 36–42 days; Model 5b: fresh RBCs stored 1–10 days, mid-range 11–32 days and old 33–42 days; Model 5c: fresh RBCs stored 1–14 days, mid-range 15–28 days and old 29–42 days. The heights of the three grey bars represent in each graph the number (%) of patient days spent in each exposure group. The widths represent storage duration ranges of the exposure groups. The small black squares and the vertical black lines represent HR and 95% confidence interval (CI) of two exposure groups compared with the reference group (mid-aged group).

have been stored for more than 2 weeks are associated with an increased risk of post-operative complications after cardiac surgery [5]. In this study, we found no statistically significant associations between short-duration red cell storage and mortality risks among cardiac surgery patients.

In our analysis (Model 5) where exclusively mid-age red cells were used as the reference, the use of fresher and older aged RBCs did yield numerically higher HRs for mortality, but statistical significance was not reached. A number of biological mediators may account for this observation. For red cell stored for prolonged durations, storage lesions (reviewed extensively in previous publications) may lead to impairment of oxygen transport and an increase in haemolysis and acidosis [27]. Other potential contributors include extracellular vesicles (EVs) [28, 29], which can (1) increase the procoagulant effect [30], (2) up-regulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and (3) lead to increased rates of immune-mediated transfusion reactions, such as transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI) [31, 32]. Red cell-derived EVs tend to increase with storage, and is further influenced by numerous factors, including the storage conditions, the additive solutions utilized, the method of leukoreduction and the donors themselves [33]. For red cells stored for short durations, EVs produced from

white cells and platelets can be identified in blood products stored for shorter durations, with the amounts related directly to the processing method [34]. Like red cell-derived EVs, their impact on the immune system has been shown to be potentially stimulatory and suppressive [31, 35–37]. The age of the RBC unit has a direct impact on the measurable quantity of cell-free DNA (cfDNA), which can activate the coagulation cascade and promote thrombosis [38]. Whole-blood-filtered, fresh RBCs have been shown to have more cfDNA than red cell filtered, old RBCs [39]. Fresh RBCs may also contain platelets as well as cfDNA [38]. In addition, despite universal leukoreduction, fresh RBCs contain residual leukocytes, which may get activated post-transfusion and stimulate the recruitment of additional pro-inflammatory cytokines.

The strengths of this paper include the length of study (14 years) and subsequently large patient population providing a robust data set. Patient groups were well defined with clear inclusion and exclusion criteria: a nearly equal number of male and female patients; the use of complex analytical approaches that controlled for covariates and confounders; and inclusion of models that used a variety of product age cut-offs were other strengths of this study.

The design of the study has some limitations including: the limited number of transfused RBC units in the fresh groups (e.g., 1-7 days) when compared proportionally with other older groups; not accounting for the effects introduced by the underlying reason for bleeding; the potential implication of different medical decisions; the severity of illness for an individual patient; the risk of using anticoagulants in this cohort, including the potential of trauma-induced emergency cardiac surgeries and its effect on mortality; the number of other blood products transfused; the impact of varying numbers of RBCs transfused at once; and the unequal proportionally transfused ABO blood groups. Haemoglobin was also used as one of the time-dependent covariates, which can be affected by bleeding or transfusion. Due to the nature of the data set, only in-hospital mortality was captured. We also did not assess outcomes such as nosocomial infection, which may be associated with transfusion of red cells stored for shorter durations [2]. ICD-10 codes for infection and sepsis are coded only at the end of the hospital admission, whether or not outcomes might have occurred prior to or following blood transfusion. As such we felt that infection could not be reliably assessed in our study due to an inability to establish temporality.

In conclusion, red cell storage duration was not significantly associated with in-hospital mortality among adult cardiac surgery patients in this retrospective cohort study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research received funding support from Canadian Blood Services, funded by the federal government (Health Canada) and the provincial and territorial ministries of health. The views herein do not necessarily reflect the views of Canadian Blood Services or the federal, provincial or territorial governments of Canada.

S.N., N.M.H. and R.B. conceptualized and designed, Y.L. interpreted the data and performed the statistical analysis, S.N., A.G. and K.B. created the first draft of the manuscript and N.H. supervised the research. All authors reviewed and edited the final manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to privacy or ethical restrictions.

ORCID

Akash Gupta D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6838-2576 Nancy M. Heddle D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9671-3501

REFERENCES

- McQuilten ZK, French CJ, Nichol A, Higgins A, Cooper DJ. Effect of age of red cells for transfusion on patient outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Transfus Med Rev. 2018; 32:77–88.
- Cooper DJ, McQuilten ZK, Nichol A, Ady B, Aubron C, Bailey M, et al. Age of red cells for transfusion and outcomes in critically ill adults. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1858–67.

- Heddle NM, Cook RJ, Arnold DM, Liu Y, Barty R, Crowther MA, et al. Effect of short-term vs. long-term blood storage on mortality after transfusion. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1937–45.
- Lacroix J, Hebert PC, Fergusson D, Tinmouth A, Capellier G, Tiberghien P, et al. The ABLE study: a randomized controlled trial on the efficacy of fresh red cell units to improve the outcome of transfused critically ill adults. Transfus Clin Biol. 2015;22: 107-11.
- Koch CG, Li L, Sessler DI, Figueroa P, Hoeltge GA, Mihaljevic T, et al. Duration of red-cell storage and complications after cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1229–39.
- Elahi MM, Yii M, Matata BM. Significance of oxidants and inflammatory mediators in blood of patients undergoing cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2008;22:455–67.
- Ning S, Heddle NM, Acker JP. Exploring donor and product factors and their impact on red cell post-transfusion outcomes. Transfus Med Rev. 2018;32:28–35.
- Joelley RJ, Sawka KJ, Yergens DW, Quan H, Jette N, Doig CJ. Validity of administrative data in recording sepsis: a systematic review. Crit Care. 2015;19:139.
- 9. World Health Organization. Global status report on blood safety and availability. Geneva: WHO; 2017. p. 2–36.
- D'Alessandro A, Nemkov T, Hansen KC, Szczepiorkowski ZM, Dumont LJ. Red blood cell storage in additive solution-7 preserves energy and redox metabolism: a metabolomics approach. Transfusion. 2015;55:2955–66.
- Steiner ME, Ness PM, Assmann SF, Triulzi DJ, Sloan SR, Delaney M, et al. Effects of red-cell storage duration on patients undergoing cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1419–29.
- Aubron C, Syres G, Nichol A, Bailey M, Board J, Magrin G, et al. A pilot feasibility trial of allocation of freshest available red blood cells versus standard care in critically ill patients. Transfusion. 2012;52: 1196–202.
- Bennett-Guerrero E, Stafford-Smith M, Waweru PM, Bredehoeft SJ, Campbell ML, Haley NR, et al. A prospective, double-blind, randomized clinical feasibility trial of controlling the storage age of red blood cells for transfusion in cardiac surgical patients. Transfusion. 2009; 49:1375–83.
- Dhabangi A, Ainomugisha B, Cserti-Gazdewich C, Ddungu H, Kyeyune D, Musisi E, et al. Effect of transfusion of red blood cells with longer vs shorter storage duration on elevated blood lactate levels in children with severe anemia: the total randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2015;314:2514–23.
- Dhabangi A, Mworozi E, Lubega IR, Cserti-Gazdewich CM, Maganda A, Dzik WH. The effect of blood storage age on treatment of lactic acidosis by transfusion in children with severe malarial anaemia: a pilot, randomized, controlled trial. Malar J. 2013;12:55.
- Fergusson DA, Hebert P, Hogan DL, LeBel L, Rouvinez-Bouali N, Smyth JA, et al. Effect of fresh red blood cell transfusions on clinical outcomes in premature, very low-birth-weight infants: the ARIPI randomized trial. JAMA. 2012;308:1443–51.
- Hebert PC, Chin-Yee I, Fergusson D, Blajchman M, Martineau R, Clinch J, et al. A pilot trial evaluating the clinical effects of prolonged storage of red cells. Anesth Analg. 2005;100:1433–58.
- Heddle NM, Cook RJ, Arnold DM, Crowther MA, Warkentin TE, Webert KE, et al. The effect of blood storage duration on in-hospital mortality: a randomized controlled pilot feasibility trial. Transfusion. 2012;52:1203–12.
- Kor DJ, Kashyap R, Weiskopf RB, Wilson GA, van Buskirk CM, Winters JL, et al. Fresh red blood cell transfusion and short-term pulmonary, immunologic, and coagulation status: a randomized clinical trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;185:842–50.
- 20. Schulman CI, Nathe K, Brown M, Cohn SM. Impact of age of transfused blood in the trauma patient. J Trauma. 2002;52:1224-5.

953

254 Vox Sanguinis

- Chai-Adisaksopha C, Alexander PE, Guyatt G, Crowther MA, Heddle NM, Devereaux PJ, et al. Mortality outcomes in patients transfused with fresher versus older red blood cells: a meta-analysis. Vox Sang. 2017;112:268–78.
- 22. Hod EA, Brittenham GM, Billote GB, Francis RO, Ginzburg YZ, Hendrickson JE, et al. Transfusion of human volunteers with older, stored red blood cells produces extravascular hemolysis and circulating non-transferrin-bound iron. Blood. 2011;118: 6675-82.
- 23. Tobian AA, Ness PM. Red cells aging gracefully in the blood bank. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1995–7.
- Tinmouth A, Fergusson D, Yee IC, Hebert PC, Investigators A, Canadian Critical Care Trials G. Clinical consequences of red cell storage in the critically ill. Transfusion. 2006;46:2014–27.
- Goel R, Johnson DJ, Scott AV, Tobian AA, Ness PM, Nagababu E, et al. Red blood cells stored 35 days or more are associated with adverse outcomes in high-risk patients. Transfusion. 2016;56: 1690–8.
- Plomondon ME, Cleveland JC Jr, Ludwig ST, Grunwald GK, Kiefe Cl, Grover FL, et al. Off-pump coronary artery bypass is associated with improved risk-adjusted outcomes. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;72:114–9.
- Berezina TL, Zaets SB, Morgan C, Spillert CR, Kamiyama M, Spolarics Z, et al. Influence of storage on red blood cell rheological properties. J Surg Res. 2002;102:6–12.
- Antonelou MH, Seghatchian J. Update on extracellular vesicles inside red blood cell storage units: adjust the sails closer to the new wind. Transfus Apher Sci. 2016;55:92–104.
- Putter JS, Seghatchian J. Cumulative erythrocyte damage in blood storage and relevance to massive transfusions: selective insights into serial morphological and biochemical findings. Blood Transfus. 2017; 15:348–56.
- Aleshnick M, Foley JH, Keating FK, Butenas S. Procoagulant activity in stored units of red blood cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2016;474:680–5.
- Danesh A, Inglis HC, Jackman RP, Wu S, Deng X, Muench MO, et al. Exosomes from red blood cell units bind to monocytes and induce proinflammatory cytokines, boosting T-cell responses in vitro. Blood. 2014;123:687–96.
- Cardo LJ, Wilder D, Salata J. Neutrophil priming, caused by cell membranes and microvesicles in packed red blood cell units, is abrogated

by leukocyte depletion at collection. Transfus Apher Sci. 2008;38: 117-25.

- Wannez A, Devalet B, Chatelain B, Chatelain C, Dogne JM, Mullier F. Extracellular vesicles in red blood cell concentrates: an overview. Transfus Med Rev. 2019;33:125–30.
- Bicalho B, Pereira AS, Acker JP. Buffy coat (top/bottom)- and wholeblood filtration (top/top)-produced red cell concentrates differ in size of extracellular vesicles. Vox Sang. 2015;109:214–20.
- Belizaire RM, Prakash PS, Richter JR, Robinson BR, Edwards MJ, Caldwell CC, et al. Microparticles from stored red blood cells activate neutrophils and cause lung injury after hemorrhage and resuscitation. J Am Coll Surg. 2012;214:648–55; discussion 56-7.
- Huber LC, Jungel A, Distler JH, Moritz F, Gay RE, Michel BA, et al. The role of membrane lipids in the induction of macrophage apoptosis by microparticles. Apoptosis. 2007;12:363–74.
- Ren Y, Yang J, Xie R, Gao L, Yang Y, Fan H, et al. Exosomal-like vesicles with immune-modulatory features are present in human plasma and can induce CD4+ T-cell apoptosis in vitro. Transfusion. 2011; 51:1002–11.
- Gould TJ, Vu TT, Swystun LL, Dwivedi DJ, Mai SH, Weitz JI, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps promote thrombin generation through platelet-dependent and platelet-independent mechanisms. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34:1977–84.
- Shih AW, Bhagirath VC, Heddle NM, Acker JP, Liu Y, Eikelboom JW, et al. Quantification of cell-free DNA in red blood cell units in different whole blood processing methods. J Blood Transfus. 2016;2016: 9316385.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Ning S, Gupta A, Batarfi K, Liu Y, Lucier KJ, Barty R, et al. Exploring the potential harm of varied blood storage on patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery. Vox Sang. 2023;118:947–54. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13527

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Revised: 14 August 2023



Evaluation of a rail logistics transmission system for the transportation of blood components within a medical centre

Shaoheng Chen¹ | Yan Zang² | Lili Wang¹ | Jun Zheng¹ | Huimin Deng¹ | Meiting Li¹ | Yaohua Li² | Baohua Qian³ | Yuanshan Lu¹

¹Department of Blood Transfusion, Shanghai General Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

²Department of Blood Transfusion, The First Affiliated Hospital of Naval Medical University, Shanghai, China

³Department of Laboratory Medicine, Shanghai General Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

Correspondence

Yuanshan Lu, Department of Transfusion Medicine, Shanghai General Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, 3rd Floor, No. 12 Building, 100# Haining Road, Shanghai 200080, China. Email: luyuanshan@sjtu.edu.cn

Baohua Qian, Department of Transfusion Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Naval Medical University, Shanghai 200433, China. Email: qianbh1963@163.com

Funding information

The authors have received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Rail logistics transmission systems (RLTSs) are commonly used for the transportation of blood samples, pathological specimens and other medical materials in many hospitals, as they are rapid, secure, cost-effective and intelligent. However, few studies have evaluated blood component transportation from blood banks to the patient care areas of hospitals using RLTS. In this study, we evaluate the RLTS used for the transportation of blood components within a medical centre.

Materials and Methods: The dispatch of blood components, including packed red blood cells (pRBCs), fresh frozen plasma (FFP), cryoprecipitate and platelet units, from a blood bank to critical care areas or general wards was done using RLTS. Parameters such as the delivery time, temperature, physical integrity and blood component quality were evaluated via analytical testing using specimens obtained before and after transportation by RLTS.

Results: The turnaround time and temperature of all tested blood units via RLTS transportation were able to meet the clinical demands of blood component delivery (median time: 323 s [118–668 s]; temperature variation: 4.5–8.9°C for pRBCs and FFP and 21.5–23.5°C for cryoprecipitate and platelet units). Furthermore, parameters of pRBC quality, including the haemolysis index and potassium and lactate dehydrogenase levels in plasma, were not significantly different before and after transportation through RLTS. Similarly, RLTS transportation affected neither the basic coagulation test results in FFP and cryoprecipitate specimens nor platelet aggregation and activation markers in apheresis platelet specimens.

Conclusion: Hospital-wide delivery of blood components via RLTS seems to be safe, reliable and cost-effective and does not have any negative impact on blood quality. Therefore, the establishment of standard criteria, protocols and guidelines based on further studies is needed.

Keywords

blood components, blood transfusion, guidelines, quality assessment, rail logistics transmission system, transportation

Highlights

- This study is the first to report a feasibility study of blood component distribution via a rail logistics transmission system (RLTS) within our medical centre, which primarily focused on delivery time, temperature, stability and reliability for system operation.
- The effect of mechanical forces and temperature on blood quality before and after RLTS transportation was assessed, including haemolysis, coagulation indices and platelet function.
- This study is an attempt to formulate a workflow for transporting blood components and then determine preliminary criteria for quality control.

INTRODUCTION

Blood transfusion is an important means to save lives, and its therapeutic efficacy depends on the timeliness of blood component transfusion. The transportation of all types of blood components from blood banks to the patient care areas of hospitals has long depended primarily on the use of traditional hospital porters, which is laborious, time consuming and inefficient.

Automated transportation solutions in the hospital setting seem to present an alternative for the transportation of blood components and are known to be a rapid, simple, secure, reliable and intelligent method for transporting medical material such as blood samples, pathological specimens and imaging findings in medical centres. Pneumatic tube systems (PTS) are one of the most widely used systems for transporting various types of medical materials, including blood samples [1-3], biopsy samples [4], urine samples [5], cerebrospinal fluid samples [6] and even blood components [2, 7–11]. However, based on the available literature, PTS have adverse effects on test results obtained from diagnostic samples [12, 13]. Because of the combined effects of rapid acceleration, deceleration, radial gravity forces and vibration, blood samples show increase in the levels of markers, including lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), potassium (K+), haemolysis index (HI), basic coagulation test results (activated partial thromboplastin time [APTT], prothrombin time [PT]) and platelet (PLT) activation markers (CD62P, CD63) after transportation via PTS [13-17]. As a result, PTSs were found to cause a variety of impairments that compromise blood quality and pose a potential risk to transfusion safety concerning the delivery of blood components to patients.

Unlike the PTS, the rail logistics transmission system (RLTS) operates smoothly with reduced vibrations and minimal acceleration forces, thereby having only a limited influence on the stability of cellular components. To date, RLTS is employed in various medical centres in China and has been found to be especially promising as a candidate product for hospital-wide blood component distribution. So far, little research has focused on the use of RLTS for the transportation of blood components in medical centres. In particular, the effect of vibration and acceleration forces on blood component quality remains to be defined.

The aim of our study was to evaluate the delivery time, temperature, physical integrity and quality of blood components distributed by RLTS to assess the feasibility of transporting blood components via RLTS. Then, a protocol and management guidelines were developed to advance this work for practical use.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

System description

As a Class A tertiary general hospital, our hospital occupies a land area of 303,333 m², has 2580 beds that are actually used and consists of 48 departments and 53 wards. There are seven buildings comprising clinical departments, medical technology departments and supporting departments, the largest of which is 18 floors above the ground and 2 floors below ground. The RLTS (Telelift Gmbh Ltd, Germany) used in our medical centre comprises 92 launch and collection stations connected by a network of UniCars (Figure S1A). Furthermore, the UniCar trolleys have a payload of 10–15 kg and a speed of 0.6 m/s during transportation involving horizontal running and 0.4 m/s during vertical climbing. A balancing device is used to prevent slipping or dumping of cargo due to collision of UniCars with each other or during vertical climbing (Figure S1B,C). The entire RLTS is controlled by a central computer system to allot each transmission task and monitor the whole process (Figure S1D).

UniCar modifications

The results of preliminary experiments showed that UniCars manufactured by Telelift Gmbh Ltd. do not possess the capacity to provide heat-preservation conditions for blood unit storage during transport (Figures S1C and 1c). A specially designed niche made of ethylene-vinylacetate copolymer (EVA) materials was processed and sculpted to suit the UniCar structure and construction, which enabled both thermal insulation and vibration absorption. Furthermore, special ice packs could be placed in the interlayer of the niche in a non-contact manner to provide the red blood cell (RBC) components with a low-temperature environment for a long time during long-distance transport. The structure and internal layout of the niche are shown in Figure 1a,b.

Transaction time

Transaction time is defined as the time between the launch of the car from the blood bank to receipt by the clinical stations that have demand for blood components. The overall transaction time comprises



(b)








the time required for blood component loading, transmission and receipt, including delays due to busy and crowded stations.

Transaction temperature

The temperature of blood units was limited to within the range 1–10°C for packed RBCs (pRBCs) and fresh frozen plasma (FFP) and 20–24°C for cryoprecipitate and PLTs during transportation to the destination. An equipment monitoring system (EMS) comprising continuous temperature monitoring devices (Thermochron iButton, DS1925-F5#, Wdsen Electronic) was used to measure and record the temperature deviations of all blood components throughout the whole process. In brief, a series of sensors were placed in the middle of two-bag blood units, forming a 'sandwich'. The temperatures of the blood storage environment during transport were recorded automatically every minute.

Blood components

Sample preparation

The pRBCs, FFP, cryoprecipitate and apheresis PLTs from the Shanghai Blood Center were used as test samples in this study. The FFP and cryoprecipitate units used in this study were stored in a freezer at -30° C for 74.4 ± 11.3 and 99.3 ± 12.0 days, respectively. Then, all samples tested were thawed at 37° C using a special waterbath box for 15 min and kept in the blood refrigerator of the hospital at $2-6^{\circ}$ C until use. The apheresis PLTs were stored at $20-24^{\circ}$ C with horizontal vibration for an average of 3.3 ± 0.4 days.

Transport via RLTS

The blood units for testing were packed into sealed ziplock plastic bags, and subsequently placed into a dedicated niche as described above (Figure 1a,b). The transaction temperature was measured and recorded continuously by several temperature monitoring devices placed inside the niche to ensure that all blood units are in the acceptable temperature range.

Furthermore, UniCar trolleys loaded with the niches were transported from the blood bank to the destination site at a constant speed, as described above. A 10-mL aliquot each was removed from the blood unit before and after RLTS transportation under sterile conditions.

Physical integrity

A visual assessment was made before and after RLTS transportation to evaluate the physical integrity and leakage/breakage of the blood component bags. A range of indexes involving the results of the visual inspection of the blood components were evaluated.

Parameters used to evaluate the blood components

A range of parameters of blood component quality were evaluated via analytical testing on the specimens before and after RLTS transport. Haemoglobin (Hb), haematocrit (HCT), PLT count and mean PLT volume (MPV) were measured by an automated haematology analyser (XN-9000, Sysmex, Kobe, Japan). To assess haemolysis of the RBCs, a 10-mL aliquot each was removed from the pRBCs unit before and after RLTS transportation. Subsequently, the supernatant was extracted through centrifugation at 3000g for 10 min. Later, free Hb in the supernatant of pRBCs was tested using a clinical chemistry analyser (Architect c16000, Abbott, IL). The percentage of haemolysis was calculated based on the following formula: percent haemolysis (%) = $[(100 - HCT) \times$ plasma Hb concentration (in g/dL)]/total Hb concentration in the unit (in g/dL). In addition, the levels of K^+ and LDH in the supernatant were measured by a Beckman Coulter AU5800 analyser (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA). To assess the influence of delivery via RLTS on FFP and cryoprecipitate, PT, prothrombin time-international normalized ratio (PT-INR), APTT, thrombin time (TT), Factor VIII (FVIII) and plasma fibrinogen (FIB) concentration and FVIII activity were assessed by a Sysmex CS 5100 coagulation analyser (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, Erlangen, Germany). For PLT units, pH was assessed by a routine blood gas equipment (GEM Premier 3500, Werfen, Lexington, MA).

Regarding PLT isolation and preparation, washed PLTs were obtained by centrifugation of the PLT sample at 280g for 5 min and then gently resuspended in Tyrode buffer (134 mM NaCl, 2.9 mM KCl, 340 μ M Na₂HPO₄·12H₂O, 12 mM NaHCO₃, 20 mM HEPES, 1 mM MgCl₂ and 5 mM glucose, pH 7.35, 37°C) to a suitable concentration for the following assay. Furthermore, the levels of P-selectin (CD62P), CD63 and PAC-1 on the surface of the cell membrane were measured by flow cytometry (Accuri C6, BD Biosciences, CA).

FIGURE 1 UniCar modifications and validation of thermal insulation performance. (a) Exterior profile of designed ethylene-vinylacetate copolymer (EVA) container. (b) Interior structure and lay-outs of the designed EVA container. Thermal insulation performance of the EVA container is evaluated in (c) and (d). (c) The temperature change curve of blood products over time. '*' indicates a significant difference at *p* 0.05 between the UniCar group and the UniCar + Niche (ice packs) group after 15 min; '\$' indicates a significant difference at *p* <0.05 between the UniCar group and UniCar + Niche group after 25 min; '&' indicates a significant difference at *p* <0.05 between UniCar + Niche group after 25 min. (d) Average time required for the temperature of blood products to reach 10°C. Significant differences are denoted with asterisks: *****p* < 0.0001; statistical analyses were performed using repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. The number of repeated tests for each group was 10. Two blood units were transported via rail logistics transmission system per dispatch, with a total of 50 blood units (26 packed red blood cells [RBCs] + 24 platelet [PLT]).

Briefly, the PLTs obtained by centrifugation described above were then resuspended in Tyrode's buffer at a concentration of 5×10^8 PLTs/mL. For PLT activation, a final concentration of 0.05 U thrombin as an agonist was incubated with sample aliquots for 10 min at 37°C. Then, the washed PLTs were stained with phycoerythrin (PE)conjugated CD63 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) monoclonal antibodies and fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated CD62P (BioLegend) or APC-conjugated PAC-1 monoclonal antibodies (BioLegend) and protected from light at room temperature for 15 min. The percentages of positive events and the results were quantified by flow cytometry as previously described. PLT aggregation function response was assessed via multiple-electrode aggregometry (MEA) (Multiplate, Roche, Mannheim, Germany) and light transmission aggregometry (LTA) (Model 700, Chrono-Log, Havertown, PA).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism 9.0 (GraphPad Software Inc). Continuous variables are presented as the mean and SD or median and interguartile range, according to their distribution assessed by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Two groups were compared using the Student's t-test (normally distributed variables) or the Mann-Whitney test (non-normally distributed variables). For comparisons among multiple groups, one- or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for data analysis. Results with p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

RLTS preparations and configurations

The RLTS connects each department of the hospital with transport tracks through launch and collection stations and carries out the transfer of materials between each department through carriage cars (UniCars). In this study, a range of complex transport scenarios were used to simulate the transport of blood components, including short and long distances and horizontal and vertical running (Figure S1A).

Transaction time

The time taken for blood component delivery depends on the distance and spatial layout of the path between the transfusion department and destination, trolley busyness and unexpected system failure. In this study, in non-emergency situations, the median transit time was 323 s (118-668 s). Furthermore, under the circumstances of emergent transfusion requirements, the median transaction time could be shortened to 179 s (169-182 s) from the blood bank to the patient care areas of hospitals, such as the emergency department, intensive care units and operating theatres.

Transaction temperature

Container modifications

In detail, as shown in Figure 1a,b, the structure and layout of this EVA container had the capacity to provide an independent space for a single blood unit (pRBCs or FFP) and ice packs to maintain cooling. Furthermore, several independent and adjustable spaces were fully formed with distinct segmentation, which was desirable to prevent the movement and dumping of blood units during UniCar operation. With this design, the extent of damage to the blood quality, such as haemolysis and PLT activation, was likely to be alleviated due to the prevention of repeated friction and collision between the blood units and container. A series of sensors were placed inside the EVA container to measure and record the internal temperature in real time. Once the temperature exceeds the normal range, an alarm warning and alarm system are activated and any information regarding abnormal conditions is sent to the system managers.

Temperature validation

To assess the feasibility of EVA containers used to load blood components, a performance test on the thermal insulation performance of the containers loaded with blood components was conducted.

For the transport of pRBCs and FFP, the results showed that the temperature of the units tested started to increase rapidly in the UniCar group, unlike the temperature in the UniCar + Niche group or in the UniCar + Niche (ice packs) group. The slowly increasing temperature of the units tested over 60 min was in the UniCar loaded with a niche. Moreover, the ice packs further seemed to enhance the thermal insulation of this special niche, with a mean increase in temperature of $1.4 \pm 0.7^{\circ}$ C from the beginning of blood unit transport up to 60 min (Figure 1c).

To further test the effect of thermal insulation, the time required to reach 10°C (the upper limit of temperature per regulatory requirements) was recorded. Not surprisingly, the time required for this temperature change was 78.8 ± 4.8 min, which could be further prolonged to up to 145.7 ± 9.2 min in the presence of ice packs. However, the time taken was 44.5 ± 5.1 min in the absence of EVA containers (Figure 1d).

In addition, for cryoprecipitate and PLT units transport, the transaction temperature was stable in the range of 20-24°C during their delivery (Figure 1c).

Quality validation of blood components

To accurately simulate blood component transportation via RLTS used in extreme conditions, a range of complex and rigorous scenarios including long horizontal distances (>500 m) and vertical heights (>60 m) between different buildings were considered. However, the time span of delivery was limited to 20 ± 0.7 min to guarantee good comparability among the different tested groups.

Vox Sanguinis Si international Society

Before

Physical integrity

Based on visual inspection, all blood units consistently maintained their original positions without inverting or shaking violently during RLTS transportation. Furthermore, neither leakage/breakage nor any discernable abnormal changes (such as clots, small aggregates, cloudiness, abnormal colour, protein precipitate or air bubbles) were found in the blood unit bags.

Packed RBCs

(a)

A total of 20 pRBC units were clustered into two groups: the 'fresh RBCs' group (stored for <21 days), and the 'old RBCs' group (stored for >21 days), which were randomly chosen for transportation via RLTS. The average age of fresh RBCs was 16.5 ± 0.9 days and that of old RBCs was 28 ± 1.5 days. Two randomly selected pRBC units were tested for each shipment. And, a total of 10 units in each group were transported through five dispatch experiments.

In the fresh RBC group, the levels of HCT, Hb, free Hb, HI and LDH and K+ levels were not significantly different before and after transport

(b)

(Figure 2). But, the HI was higher in the old RBC group before RLTS transport than in the fresh RBC group (0.130 \pm 0.014 vs. 0.063 \pm 0.010), regardless of whether they were transported by the RLTS (Figure 2d). However, there was no significant difference between the pre- and post-transport values when transport was performed via RLTS, regardless of the pRBC storage period. Similarly, in addition to the increase in plasma free Hb levels being greater in the old RBC group, the storage of pRBCs caused a significant elevation of K+ and LDH levels (26.6 \pm 2.8 vs. 21.5 \pm 1.5 and 1517.4 \pm 326.1 vs. 847.5 \pm 50.4, respectively), but the level of these markers did not continue to increase significantly after RLTS transport (Figure 2e,f).

FFP and cryoprecipitate

Regarding the delivery of FFP, 2 units were transported via RLTS per dispatch, and 10 units were tested (a total of five dispatches). There were no significant differences in the values of routine haematology and coagulation parameters, including PT, PT-INR, APTT, TT and FIB, between the specimens tested before and after RLTS transport (Figure 3a–e).

(C)



transportation. A series of test parameters of pRBCs before and after RLTS delivery for 'old pRBCs' or 'fresh pRBCs' were examined and calculated, including (a) haematocrit (HCT), (b) haemoglobin (Hb), (c) free Hb, (d) haemolysis ratio, (e) plasma potassium (K⁺) and (f) lactic dehydrogenase (LDH). Data are mean \pm SEM, n = 10 (10 test samples were sourced from the aliquot and removed from the blood unit before and after RLTS transportation). Statistical analyses were performed using repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001 compared with 'fresh RBCs before RLTS delivery' group; ${}^{\&}p < 0.05$, ${}^{\&\&}p < 0.001$, ${}^{\&\&\&}p < 0.001$, ${}^{\&\&\&}p < 0.001$, compared with 'fresh RBCs before RLTS delivery' group; ${}^{\&}p < 0.05$, ${}^{\&}p < 0.01$,



FIGURE 3 Comparison of fresh frozen plasma (FFP) parameters and pre-pooled cryoprecipitate parameters before and after rail logistics transmission system (RLTS) transportation. A series of test parameters of FFP and cryoprecipitate before and after RLTS delivery were examined and calculated, including (a) prothrombin time (PT), (b) prothrombin time-international normalized ratio, (c) activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT), (d) thrombin time (TT), (e) fibrinogen (FIB) and (f) Factor VIII activity (FVIII). Data are presented as mean ± SEM, n = 10 (10 test samples were sourced from each aliquot which was removed from the blood unit before and after RLTS transportation).

In addition to the routine coagulation parameters described above, the FVIII activity assay was considered for evaluating the haemostatic properties of FFP and cryoprecipitate in this study. Not surprisingly, no significant impact of RLTS transport was seen on FVIII activity (Figure 3f).

PLT concentrates

Five dispatches of PLT units via RLTS were performed, totalling 10 units of PLT evaluated (2 units per dispatch). A quantitative assessment of metabolism, activation and PLT function in vitro after RLTS transport was performed. The results are shown in Table 1. There was no statistically significant difference in the pH (p = 0.093), PLT (p = 0.626) count or MPV (p = 0.473) between the two groups. The PLT aggregation function response to agonists was assessed using MEA and LTA in this study. However, the data showed no statistically significant differences in percentage maximum aggregation for LTA (adenosine diphosphate [ADP]: p = 0.425; U46619: p = 0.485) and area under the curve (AUC) values for MEA (ADP: p = 0.851; U46619: p = 0.423) between the pre- and post-RLTS samples (Table 1). Then, the expression changes in the activation markers CD62P, CD63 and PAC-1 did not differ in samples between the two

groups, either during the resting state or after PLT activation stimulated by thrombin (0.05 U) (Table 1).

DISCUSSION

In the case of blood component delivery, replacing traditional hospital porters with automated transportation solutions will become an inevitable trend to accommodate the growing demands for blood and those of an expanding medical centre, characterized by long distribution distance and the presence of more buildings and clinical departments. With the widespread application of RLTS in recent years, since 2018, approximately 80% of the materials in our institution are transported automatically with RLTS systems. To ensure system safety and the maintenance of quality, system validation of RLTS for the transportation of blood components is key. A sequence of different transport scenarios, including horizontal running, vertical climbing and flipping and long distances, was considered and arranged in this study with the aim of sufficiently mimicking the real environment of blood component delivery by RLTS.

Reducing the delivery times of blood components can shorten the wait for a rapid replenishment of blood components and
 TABLE 1
 Comparison of platelet concentrate parameters before and after rail logistics transmission system (RLTS) transportation.

	Before RLTS ^a		After RLTS ^a		
Parameter	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)	p-Value
Platelet count (×10 ⁹ /L)	940 (86.1)	946 (73.0)	920 (87.6)	908 (96.0)	0.626 ^a
MPV variation (fL)	9.10 (0.15)	9.09 (0.24)	9.07 (0.19)	9.10 (0.21)	0.473 ^a
PDW	16.20 (0.39)	16.25 (0.57)	16.21 (0.35)	16.25 (0.52)	0.685ª
pH variation	7.4 (0.1)	7.4 (0.1)	7.4 (0.1)	7.4 (0.2)	0.093ª
Activation markers					
%CD62P+ (resting)	5.78 (1.70)	6.0 (3.20)	6.06 (1.71)	6.2 (2.7)	0.732 ^a
%CD62P+ (activated)	93.31 (3.12)	92.6 (3.70)	93.20 (2.83)	93.1 (3.01)	0.938 ^a
%CD63+ (resting)	5.87 (2.42)	6.9 (4.60)	6.15 (1.86)	6.3 (1.71)	0.787 ^b
%CD63+ (activated)	90.95 (5.52)	93.7 (7.30)	91.64 (4.83)	94.0 (7.82)	0.781 ^b
%PAC-1+ (resting)	22.57 (8.80)	23.50 (12.97)	22.46 (8.32)	23.10 (10.57)	0.918 ^b
%PAC-1+ (activated)	88.32 (3.95)	89.0 (6.10)	89.85 (2.78)	90.1 (1.40)	0.355 ^a
MEA					
ADP (AUC)	10.9 (3.6)	9.1 (4.2)	9.7 (3.9)	8.7 (4.8)	0.851 ^a
AA (AUC)	9.1 (3.5)	9.6 (4.3)	9.4 (4.3)	9.1 (5.3)	0.423ª
LTA					
ADP-induced MAR (%)	29.52 (2.29)	30.13 (3.00)	31.25 (2.68)	32.08 (3.11)	0.425 ^a
U46619-induced MAR (%)	40.34 (3.11)	40.75 (4.23)	39.51 (3.14)	41.50 (4.22)	0.485 ^a

Note: N = 10. For multiple-electrode aggregometry (MEA) or light transmission aggregometry (LTA), the following agonists were tested: adenosine diphosphate (ADP) (10 μ M), U46619 (0.5 μ M), arachidonic acid (AA) (0.5 mM). Platelet activation stimulated by thrombin (0.05 U) for flow cytometry analysis.

Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; IQR, interquartile range; MAR, maximum aggregation rate; MPV, mean platelet volume; PAC-1, platelet activation complex-1; PDW, platelet distribution width.

^aPaired Student's *t*-test.

^bWilcoxon signed-rank test.

correction of coagulation dysfunction and haemostatic disorders. In this study, a range of additional measures were taken, including the use of priority dispatch, preferential pass and arriving stations, to minimize the delivery time by setting the UniCar logistics system depending on the specific clinical demand. In addition to transaction time, another concern is the temperature of the blood units during transport by the RLTS. Accordingly, maintaining the acceptable temperature range needed to meet the storage demands of different blood components during transport is an important prerequisite to ensure blood quality. Therefore, a series of improvements were applied to UniCars in this study, including the use of thermal insulation devices and ice packs. In addition, many sensors were provided on the interior surface of the niches, which were used in real-time monitoring and recording of the temperature of the blood components. In addition to maintain the temperature, the materials that the niche is made of can have specific strengths, including the ability to absorb vibrations and prevent leakage, and great plasticity to enable adaptation to different containers. Overall, these improvement initiatives provide a guarantee for physical integrity, quality and biosecurity during blood component transportation.

Prior to the formal clinical application of blood component transportation by RLTS, caution should still be exercised. Although there were numerous strengths, we still focused on whether RLTS would have a negative effect on blood quality. Previously, PTS are widely used to transport various clinical specimens (blood, urine, cerebrospinal fluid, etc.) to diagnostic laboratories, including blood components. Thus, several factors that have adverse impacts on blood quality, for example, rapid accelerations, vibrations and formation of air bubbles during the course of PTS, had to be considered in this study.

Past investigations suggest that rapid accelerations (multiples of gravitational force) in PTS are significantly positively correlated with the degree of haemolysis [18]. Mullins et al. [19] demonstrated that a longer duration of forceful acceleration tended to increase the HI and plasma LDH in blood samples after they were transported by PTS routes. Thus, in 2021, the 'Updated AABB Guide to Pneumatic Tube Delivery System Validation' focused on blood component quality by addressing 'vibration that can cause haemolysis, which is detrimental to integrity'. Promisingly, our results in the present study showed that RLTS transport, with features of low velocity and smooth operation, seems to result in no bubbles in blood bags and has limited effect on the haematological parameters of pRBCs (Figure 2 and Table S1), such as Hb levels, HCT, HI and LDH and K⁺ levels in plasma. As is well known, pRBC samples stored in blood bank conditions undergo a progressive series of physical and biochemical alterations known as RBC storage lesions [20, 21]. There is no doubt that a variety of factors, for example, vibrations, pressure and rapid accelerations,

963

collectively exacerbate the aggravation of the structure, cell viability and microcirculatory flow of aged RBCs [22]. Our results showed that aged RBCs transported by RLTS do not exhibit a significant increase in the HI or LDH and K^+ levels in plasma (Figure 2).

Earlier studies have suggested that PTS used for the delivery of patient samples were likely to affect the results of routine haematology and coagulation tests. Le Quellec et al. [16] found a statistically significant shortening of the APTT and an increase in D-dimer levels after blood sample transport by the PTS. In addition, Slavík et al. [18] showed that, despite no obvious effect on basic coagulation test results, PTS transportation with a speed of 6 m/s, to some extent, resulted in a statistically significant difference in the use of the thrombin generation test (TGT) as a sensitive monitoring method. However, our results showed that for the delivery of FFP or cryoprecipitate, there was no significant difference in the value of routine haematology and coagulation parameters, including PT, PT-INR, APTT, TT and FIB, between the specimens tested before and after RLTS transport. In addition, several labile coagulation factors, such as FVIII and FV, have half-lives that are sensitive to PTS transportation conditions [23]. In contrast, our results showed no significant impact of RLTS transport on FVIII activity results.





Л

Receiving and Handoff

- Checking and verification (issuing port)
- Checking and verification (receiving port) .
- Achieving consensus both side
- Blood units return based on digital video . forensics and a consensus

Emergency Blood Transfusion

Setting the priority and sequence Instant feedback of transport information .

Set up and perfect the management system •

06 Management and Training

• Periodical training and assessment process

Sterilization of equipment and facility

Quality monitoring of sterilization

FIGURE 4 Schematic of workflow and quality control procedures for considering rail logistics transmission system (RLTS) for blood component distribution. (a) Flow diagram shows the node times for blood component transportation via the RLTS, which consist of several parts: issue procedure, transport preparation, UniCar running and receiving procedure. (b) The quality control approach for blood component transportation via RLTS consists of six steps: (1) stability and reliability of RLTS; (2) receiving and handing over; (3) emergency blood transfusion; (4) monitoring and warning; (5) biosecurity; (6) management and training.

CONTROL

Ŧ

As the smallest tangible blood cells in peripheral blood, PLTs in vitro show a set of morphological changes and functional responses when exposed to environmental conditions such as shear stress, temperature and pressure [24]. Similarly, PTS used to transport samples had a negative influence on the test results of PLT function assays, including LTA [25, 26], MEA [15, 27, 28] and thrombelastogram [29]. However, our flow cytometry data showed that there was no statistically significant difference in activation marker expression within the PLT population resulting from RLTS transport and non-RLTS transport. Additionally, RLTS transport had no impact on the results of PLT aggregation assessment via LTA or MEA.

As a preliminary validation, we carried out a feasibility study of blood component distribution by RLTS that primarily focused on time consumption, temperature maintenance and blood quality. The parameters of tested samples from all blood units after delivery via RLTS met the requirements specified by the criteria that were used (Table S1). As early as 2005, to ensure product safety and the maintenance of quality, the American Association of Blood Banks (AABB) released guidelines for validating PTS for blood components to provide direction when pneumatic tube technology can be considered for blood component distribution. Thus, based on the knowledge gained through this study, we attempted to formulate a workflow for transporting blood components and then formulated preliminary criteria for quality control that addressed the stability and reliability of RLTS, receiving and handing over of samples, emergency blood transfusion, monitoring and warning, biosecurity and management and training (Figure 4).

There are several limitations associated with this study. As a preliminary validation, the first limitation is the limited number of tested samples. The experimental sample size will be further increased in our following implementation study. In addition to the blood products tested, whole blood, washed or irradiated RBCs will be considered in follow-up studies. Additionally, only a small number of blood products of a single type were transport by RLTS during each test. For massively bleeding patients, massive transfusion protocols (MTPs) will be promptly activated in response to emergency blood request. RLTS transportation of all blood component types in a single travel, including RBC, plasma, cryoprecipitate and PLT units, will require further study. Because of the occurrence of public health emergencies and the need for prompt emergency treatment, efficacy, safety and feasibility of blood units transported via RLTS remain to be assessed. Altogether, there is still much to assess before RLTS can be routinely used in medical centres.

In conclusion, our study preliminarily verified the feasibility of RLTS for blood component distribution. Although PTS are regarded as a promising candidate, some deteriorative impacts on blood quality transport by PTS must be revisited. In contrast to many PTS, RLTS transport does not have a significant influence on the quality of different blood components, according to our results. To our knowledge, no published study has yet validated RLTS transport as a method for blood component distribution. Thus, the results of this study are expected to provide assistance and suggestions for developing guide-lines to validate and use RLTS to transport blood components.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank experts from Shanghai Medical Association for blood transfusion, consultation and advice. S.C. and Y.Z. contributed equally to this work, S.C. designed and conceived this project, Y.L. and J.Z. performed experiments and generated data, H.D., Y.Z. and L.M. analysed and interpreted the data, L.W. made suggestions for this project, S.C. wrote the draft and Y.L. and B.Q. revised and finalized the manuscript. All authors contributed to and approved the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no competing interests.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Yuanshan Lu D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1669-4003

REFERENCES

- Pupek A, Matthewson B, Whitman E, Fullarton R, Chen Y. Comparison of pneumatic tube system with manual transport for routine chemistry, hematology, coagulation and blood gas tests. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2017;55:1537–44.
- Farnsworth CW, Webber DM, Krekeler JA, Budelier MM, Bartlett NL, Gronowski AM. Parameters for validating a hospital pneumatic tube system. Clin Chem. 2019;65:694–702.
- Gils C, Broell F, Vinholt PJ, Nielsen C, Nybo M. Use of clinical data and acceleration profiles to validate pneumatic transportation systems. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2020;58:560–8.
- Guibourg B, Marcorelles P, Uguen A. Validation of a pneumatic tube system to transport surgical pathology biopsy samples. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2018;56:e99–e100.
- Andersen ES, Brandslund I. Pneumatic tube transportation of urine samples. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2021;59:905–11.
- Broz P, Rajdl D, Racek J, Zenkova J, Petrikova V. Influence of pneumatic tube system transport on routinely assessed and spectrophotometric cerebrospinal fluid parameters. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2017;55:47–52.
- Dhar S, Basu S, Chakraborty S, Sinha S. Evaluation of the pneumatic tube system for transportation of packed red cell units. Asian J Transfus Sci. 2015;9:195–8.
- Kriegshäuser G, Wagner C, Mangge H, Halwachs-Baumann G, Enko D. Impact of pneumatic tube system transport of whole blood samples on free DNA concentration in human plasma. Clin Chem. 2016;62:1672–3.
- Chay J, Kim JH, Taha NSBM, Chiew SH, Chin KW, Lim SH, et al. Urgent delivery – validation and operational implementation of urgent blood delivery by modern high speed hospital pneumatic tube system to support bleeding emergencies within a hospital massive transfusion protocol. Lab Med. 2019;50:e59–69.
- Kok J, Lam C, Lee M. Reducing delivery times of emergency blood products through pneumatic tube systems. Asian J Transfus Sci. 2019;13:3–9.
- Garcia LO, Speransa DMR, Rodrigues CB, Benites RM, Garcia MT, Sekine L, et al. Validation of blood components transport through a pneumatic tube system. Hematol Transfus Cell Ther. 2022;44:519–25.
- Tiwari AK, Pandey P, Dixit S, Raina V. Speed of sample transportation by a pneumatic tube system can influence the degree of hemolysis. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2011;50:471–4.

- Mullins GR, Bruns DE. Air bubbles and hemolysis of blood samples during transport by pneumatic tube systems. Clin Chim Acta. 2017; 473:9–13.
- Streichert T, Otto B, Schnabel C, Nordholt G, Haddad M, Maric M, et al. Determination of hemolysis thresholds by the use of data loggers in pneumatic tube systems. Clin Chem. 2011;57: 1390–7.
- Thalén S, Forsling I, Eintrei J, Söderblom L, Antovic JP. Pneumatic tube transport affects platelet function measured by multiplate electrode aggregometry. Thromb Res. 2013;132:77–80.
- Le Quellec S, Paris M, Nougier C, Sobas F, Rugeri L, Girard S, et al. Pre-analytical effects of pneumatic tube system transport on routine haematology and coagulation tests, global coagulation assays and platelet function assays. Thromb Res. 2017;153:7–13.
- Lebreton A, Casini A, Bulla O, Fontana P. Impact of pneumatic tube system transport for the monitoring of heparin therapy. Thromb Res. 2017;158:35–7.
- Slavík L, Úlehlová J, Bradáčová P, Chasáková K, Hluší A, Palová M, et al. The modern pneumatic tube system transports with reduced speed does not affect special coagulation tests. J Med Syst. 2020; 44:142.
- Mullins GR, Harrison JH, Bruns DE. Smartphone monitoring of pneumatic tube system-induced sample hemolysis. Clin Chim Acta. 2016;462:1–5.
- García-Roa M, Del Carmen V-AM, Bobes AM, Pedraza AC, González-Fernández A, Martín MP, et al. Red blood cell storage time and transfusion: current practice, concerns and future perspectives. Blood Transfus. 2017;15:222–31.
- Tzounakas VL, Kriebardis AG, Seghatchian J, Papassideri IS, Antonelou MH. Unraveling the Gordian knot: red blood cell storage lesion and transfusion outcomes. Blood Transfus. 2017; 15:126–30.
- Choi YJ, Huh H, Bae GE, Ko EJ, Choi S, Park S, et al. Effect of varying external pneumatic pressure on hemolysis and red blood cell elongation index in fresh and aged blood: randomized laboratory research. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97:e11460.

- Wang H, Wang L, Liang H, Wei J, Wu Y, Wang X, et al. Falsely decreased FVIII activity following pneumatic tube transport. Int J Lab Hematol. 2021;43:305–10.
- 24. Estevez B, Du X. New concepts and mechanisms of platelet activation signaling. Physiology. 2017;32:162–77.
- Lancé MD, Marcus MAE, van Oerle R, Theunissen HMS, Henskens YMC. Platelet concentrate transport in pneumatic tube systems – does it work? Vox Sang. 2012;103:79–82.
- 26. Kicken C, Van Poucke S, Marcus AE, Lancé MD, Henskens Y. Response of platelet concentrates to pressure and temperature changes without impairment of the in vitro function. Thromb Res. 2015;135:679–83.
- Shams Hakimi C, Hesse C, Wallén H, Boulund F, Grahn A, Jeppsson A. In vitro assessment of platelet concentrates with multiple electrode aggregometry. Platelets. 2015;26:132–7.
- Böhmert S, Kübel S, Müller MM, Weber CF, Adam EH, Dröse S, et al. The effect of the interruption of agitation, temporary cooling, and pneumatic tube transportation on platelet quality during storage for transfusion. Transfusion. 2021;61:1258–65.
- Lorenzen H, Frøstrup AB, Larsen AS, Fenger MS, Dahdouh S, Zoel Ghina R, et al. Pneumatic tube transport of blood samples affects global hemostasis and platelet function assays. Int J Lab Hematol. 2021;43:1207–15.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Chen S, Zang Y, Wang L, Zheng J, Deng H, Li M, et al. Evaluation of a rail logistics transmission system for the transportation of blood components within a medical centre. Vox Sang. 2023;118:955–65. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13531

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Revised: 16 August 2023



Design and practice of an emergency blood allocation system based on radiofrequency identification technology

Shuhong Xie ¹	Yan Cao ²	Xixi Shen ³	Chuan Tian ⁴		Mingyuan Wang ¹
--------------------------	----------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	--	----------------------------

¹Transfusion Research Laboratory, Suzhou Blood Center, Suzhou, China

²Department of Blood Distribution, Suzhou Blood Center, Suzhou, China

³Department of Blood Distribution, Wu Jiang Blood Branch Station, Wu Jiang, China

⁴Research and Development Department, Beijing Honor Trends Technology Company Limited, Beijing, China

Correspondence

Mingyuan Wang, Suzhou Blood Center, Shizhi Street 355, Suzhou, China. Email: mingyuan98@aliyun.com

Funding information

Suzhou Medical Key Discipline Funding Project, Grant/Award Number: SZXK202118

Abstract

Background and Objectives: Currently, blood allocation is solely done by scanning barcode labels for each bag of blood, with low efficiency. However, the rapid allocation of emergency blood is required owing to the rapid increase in blood consumption during unconventional emergencies. This study aimed to design and apply radiofrequency identification (RFID) technology for the rapid allocation of blood in batches with advantages in time, efficiency and accuracy.

Materials and Methods: A blood emergency allocation system based on RFID technology was designed using a multi-label anti-collision algorithm and tested with automatic information check, a comparative study of scanning speed and accuracy, data analysis and other methods.

Results: The optimal packing quantities of suspended red blood cells and fresh frozen plasma were 40 and 50 bags per box, respectively. The application of rapid batch allocation of blood using RFID technology was performed, and the data sent and received by RFID scanning and barcode scanning were compared.

Conclusion: The designed RFID blood emergency allocation system could effectively achieve the rapid and batch allocation of emergency blood and has the advantages of stability, efficiency and accuracy in blood emergency allocation and management.

Keywords

design, emergency blood allocation, practice, radiofrequency identification technology

Highlights

- Currently, blood allocation is solely done by scanning barcode labels, which in situations of emergency with high demand can be unacceptably slow.
- A blood emergency allocation system based on radiofrequency identification (RFID) technology was designed.
- The RFID blood emergency allocation system could effectively achieve rapid and batch allocation of blood.

INTRODUCTION

Radiofrequency identification (RFID) is a non-contact, automatic identification technology. It uses radiofrequency to carry out non-contact two-way communication to exchange data for identification purposes. It can simultaneously identify multiple target objects and is fast and convenient to operate [1]. During World War II, RFID technology was first used by the British Royal Air Force to identify domestic aircraft [2]. Blood collection and supply management began in Germany in 2003, when RFID technology was used to track blood products [3]. In 2009, the Blood Center of

Vox Sanguinis

4230410, 2023, 11, Downloaded from https

wiley

com/doi/10.11111/vox.13531 by Cornell University E-Resources & Serials

s Dep

ment, Wiley Online I

ibrary on [24/02/2025]. See the Terms

and Conditie

on Wiley Online 1

Library for rules

of use; OA articles

governed by the applicable Creative Commons

Wisconsin in the United States adopted RFID to replace barcodes for the management of blood product libraries. After a comprehensive evaluation, they found that RFID could help overcome many common challenges in the identification and tracking of blood products, such as process inefficiency [4]. The International Society for Blood Transfusion Working Party on Information Technology established a Task Force on RFID in 2006 to study the status quo of RFID development and drafted guidelines for the medical application of RFID in blood transfusions [2].

The continuous development of RFID technology in the field of blood management has effectively improved blood quality and management. The Suzhou Blood Center introduced RFID technology to achieve automatic identification, batch handover and accurate positioning of blood in blood establishments, which led to the development of the Jiangsu provincial local standard 'DB32/T 4413-2022 Specifications for the radiofrequency identification (RFID) technology application of qualified blood in blood establishment' [5]. It greatly improved the levels of intelligent management of blood inventory. At present, the application of RFID technology in blood management is mostly for security monitoring from blood collection to distribution in blood stations; however, the technology has not been applied to blood allocation management in different institutions and regions. Blood allocation is still limited to the method of scanning barcode labels for each bag of blood, which has low efficiency. However, during some emergencies, blood consumption increases sharply over a short period. Hospitals or blood stations must allocate blood urgently, and methods have been proposed for the rapid allocation of emergency blood. On 27 October 2021, 'WS/T 789-2021 Label and identification codes for blood products' [6] was issued by the National Health Commission of China to unify domestic blood coding standards and facilitate crossregional allocation of blood.

Presently, no relevant application design or practice exists for using RFID technology to improve the efficiency and ability of rapid blood batch allocation. Therefore, we propose an RFID-based blood emergency allocation system to allow blood information sharing and rapid allocation, which has advantages in terms of time, efficiency and accuracy and provides a new mode for allowing emergency blood supply and guarantee.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

Our study looks at the research and design of an emergency blood allocation system based on RFID technology for rapid blood allocation. This includes research on multi-label anti-collision algorithm, optimal number of blood transport boxes, automatic information checks and other difficult problems.

Methods

Rapid writing of RFID chip blood information

The radiofrequency printer was equipped with a radio frequency writing function. In the process of printing finished blood labels,

information such as the blood donation code and product code is written into the electronic product code (EPC) area of the chip in accordance with the 'WS/T 789-2021 Standard for Label and Identification Code of Blood Products'. When the read-write device scans the chip, the information in the chip is obtained by analysing the EPC. and complete blood information is searched for and matched in the information system for verification.

Use of ultra-high frequency RFID tags

Ultra-high frequency (UHF) (820-960 MHz) RFID tags have the largest reading range and speed with strong environmental adaptability and anti-interference ability and are not affected by ultra-low temperature and deformation, and thus are very suitable for blood management. Studies have shown that the use of UHF RFID tags does not affect the preservation quality of red blood cells, platelets or frozen plasma [7-9]. To this end, we followed the ISO18000-6C and ISBT128 standards and used a UHF RFID blood bag tag [2, 10, 11].

RFID system multi-label anti-collision algorithm

We propose a multi-tag anti-collision algorithm for an UHF RFID identification system. Based on the time-slot ALOHA algorithm in an RFID system, this algorithm makes full use of the information collected by the read-write device in the previous frame, retains the information of the frame before tagging as prior information, estimates the number of tags based on the H function and dynamically adjusts the frame length. This algorithm is more accurate in estimating the number of labels, improving the throughput of the system and accelerating the recognition speed of the labels (ALOHA algorithm is a kind of random access algorithm; when the tag wants to send data information, it can randomly send information at any time, and then the communication between the tag and the read-write device begins). In addition, the algorithm solves the problem of the ALOHA algorithm in which the number of tags increases too much or the required time slots grow slowly for a large number of tags. Based on the hash function as the allocation principle, the time slot allocation of labels is performed to reduce the number of labels in a collision. Based on the relationship between the average value and proportion of collision time slots and proportion of idle time slots in the collision time slots, the error rate generated by the estimation method was small [10, 12]. The frame length time slot number can be set as 1.6 times the label, and label recognition rate can be controlled at 500 µs. The average recognition time for each tag is approximately 600 µs. Therefore, the prediction algorithm is based on continuous, free time slots; that is, the hash function algorithm is simple, uniform and has a constructed library that can accelerate the skipping of invalid time slots. Under large-scale tags, it can maintain a high throughput and is stable at 63%. This multi-label anti-collision algorithm has significant advantages in improving the algorithm throughput, transmission cost and delay [13].

Automatic information check

Rapid blood allocation was performed using the RFID blood allocation system. Based on emergency blood allocation requirements, the information system generates blood allocation tasks, the blood sender system generates blood outbound information and the blood receiver system generates blood inbound information. The read-write device of the blood sending side quickly scans the outgoing blood in batches and automatically checks the outgoing information in the RFID blood allocation system. After the check is found correct, blood is collected and transported. After the blood reaches the receiving side, the readwrite device quickly scans the blood in batches and confirms that the blood information is in one-to-one correspondence with the stored information in the allocation system to automatically check the blood information. This process is illustrated in Figure 1.

In the traditional blood allocation process, scanning the blood barcode bag by bag and manually checking the label information of the blood bag with receipt information are necessary. The process (shown in detail in Figure 2) is more time consuming, laborious and prone to errors. The RFID blood rapid allocation system can achieve rapid batch scanning of blood allocation out and into the warehouse; it no longer relies on manual blood bag scanning and information checks, and thereby not only reduces the allocation workload and allocation time but also greatly improves the efficiency and accuracy of blood allocation.

Comparative study on the scanning speed and accuracy of RFID and barcode

The suspended red blood cells and fresh frozen plasma were placed in batches of 20, 40 and 60 bags/20, 40 and 50 bags, respectively, in the blood transport box. The RFID read-write device was placed 10 cm above the blood, and the required time and readings were recorded







(the amount of blood component prepared by separating from 200 mL whole blood is 1 unit. In this paper, one bag of suspended red blood cells is 1 unit, and one bag of fresh frozen plasma is 1 unit) [5]. Each group was tested 10 times to determine the optimal packing quantity. RFID and bar code were used to scan at a distance of 10 cm above the box containing 40 bags of red blood cells or 50 bags of fresh frozen plasma, and the scanning accuracy and time were compared 10 times.

Influence of transportation on the speed and accuracy of RFID scanning

We compared the accuracy and time of RFID scanning before and after transportation, which was about 26 km.

Statistical analysis

SPSS 26 software was used for statistical analysis. The measurement data were expressed as mean \pm SD ($x \pm s$), and the *t*-test was used for comparison between groups. $p \le 0.05$ was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Determining the optimal packing quantity

A multi-label anti-collision algorithm was used to determine the optimal amount of blood per box for the RFID system. The suspended red blood cells were placed in 20, 40 and 60 bags per box based on the blood placement rules and scanned in sequence from top to bottom, left to right. The scanning accuracy of 20 bags per box was 100%, 40 bags per box was 100% and 60 bags per box was 98.33%. Therefore, the optimal packing quantity of the suspended erythrocytes was determined to be 40 bags per box.

Fresh frozen plasma was placed in 20, 40 and 50 bags per box based on the blood placement rules and scanned in sequence from top to bottom, left to right. The scanning accuracy of 20 bags per box was 100%, 40 bags per box was 100% and 50 bags per box was 100%, as shown in Table 1. Therefore, the optimal packing quantity of the fresh frozen plasma was determined to be 50 bags per box.

Application of RFID technology for rapid batch blood allocation

To ensure efficient blood supply, emergency blood allocation is often required in Suzhou City and its districts. The Wu Jiang Branch Station has adopted the same RFID technology as the Suzhou Blood Center for blood stock management and blood delivery. The Suzhou Blood Centre and Wu Jiang Branch Station are approximately 26 km apart.

TABLE 1Packing unit number and scanning accuracy(radiofrequency identification).

Variety	Units/box	Scanning accuracy
Red blood cells	20	100%
	40	100%
	60	98.33%
Fresh frozen plasma	20	100%
	40	100%
	50	100%

969

Note: Referring to the box size, the length is 565° cm $\times 335^{\circ}$ cm $\times 275^{\circ}$ cm. One unit of suspended red blood cells is one bag, and 1 unit of fresh frozen plasma is one bag.

Blood transportation is in accordance with 'WS/T 400-2012 Blood Transportation Requirements' [14]. (Blood components for transporting red blood cells should be maintained at 2–10°C. Transport of frozen plasma should be done under frozen conditions). Five boxes (200 bags) containing suspended red blood cells and six boxes (300 bags) containing freshly frozen plasma were transported. On the ChangTai Expressway, the average speed was 43.33 km/h, taking an average of 36 min. Before and after blood delivery, RFID scanning/barcode scanning was conducted at the Suzhou Blood Centre and Wu Jiang Branch Station, respectively, for sending and receiving data, and the data were compared [15], as shown in Tables 2–4.

DISCUSSION

Blood is an important medical resource necessary to support medical emergencies. In emergency planning and mass casualty events, blood consumption increases in a short period, and hospitals may not have a large quantity of stored of blood. Local blood collection and supply institutions are often unable to meet emergency blood supply demands for accident rescue, and they also need to transfer blood from other locations. Therefore, rapid trans-regional blood allocation is an important part of the blood emergency guarantee. A randomized controlled trial involving massive transfusion (MT) at 12 Level-I trauma centres showed that, independent of the product ratios, every 'minute' delay from the time of MT protocol activation to the time of initial cooler arrival increased the odds of mortality by 5% [16]. A recent SHOT report described 133 cases of blood transfusion delays that could have resulted in death, including logistical issues [17]. During the explosion accident at Kunshan Factory in 2014, 1.61 million millilitres of frozen plasma and 847 units of red blood cells were transferred to Suzhou Blood Centre from blood banks in the outer regions during 2-10 August, and the highest number of frozen plasma units transferred in a day was 12,700 (about 1.27 million millilitres) [18]. Rapid distribution of blood is essential for treating patients in hospitals. Routine blood collection and supply work uses barcodes for bag-by-bag blood storage and distribution, which involves a large workload and has poor efficiency and cannot meet the requirements of rapid batch blood storage and distribution.

ABLE 2	Comparison of scar	nning data of suspende	ed red blood cells and free	sh frozen plasma
--------	--------------------	------------------------	-----------------------------	------------------

970 Vox Sanguinis

Variety	Units/box	Number of scans	Barcode scanning(s)	RFID scanning(s)
Red blood cells	40	10	182.30 ± 29.22	3.70 ± 0.675
Fresh frozen plasma	50	10	338.00 ± 26.73	2.00 ± 0.00

Note: Compared with barcode group, p < 0.05. One unit of suspended red blood cells is one bag, and 1 unit of fresh frozen plasma is one bag. Abbreviation: RFID, radiofrequency identification.

TABLE 3 Comparison of scanning data of suspended red blood cells and fresh frozen plasma after rapid storage after transportation (approximately 26 km: Wu Jiang branch station).

Variety	Units/box	Number of scans	Barcode scanning(s)	RFID scanning(s)
Red blood cells	40	10	181.90 ± 13.09	3.70 ± 0.95
Fresh frozen plasma	50	10	340.80 ± 21.31	2.00 ± 0.00

Note: Compared with barcode group, p < 0.05. One unit of suspended red blood cells is one bag, and 1 unit of fresh frozen plasma is one bag. Abbreviation: RFID, radiofrequency identification.

TABLE 4 Comparison of outgoing and incoming scanning before and after transportation of radiofrequency identification (RFID) group.

Variety	Units/box	Number of scans	Barcode scanning(s)	RFID scanning(s)
Red blood cells	40	10	100%	100%
Fresh frozen plasma	50	10	100%	100%

Note: One unit of suspended red blood cells is one bag, and 1 unit of fresh frozen plasma is one bag. 100% means all red blood cells packed in 40 units/box were detected and all fresh frozen plasma packed into 50 units/box were detected.

Therefore, rapid batch blood storage and distribution is a key and challenging problem in emergency blood supply for blood collection and supply institutions.

RFID technology is superior to the traditional barcode recognition in several aspects. RFID does not require visualization, allows multiple labels to be read simultaneously, stores more information on the chip, includes status monitoring sensors (such as for time and temperature) and supports automatic identification and data acquisition [4]. Therefore, RFID may be used for blood transfusion service [19]. Transfusion medicine is in the early stages of adopting RFID technology to support blood collection, processing, labelling, inventory and distribution of blood products [2]. We designed and applied RFID technology to a blood emergency allocation system. Research has shown that the blood emergency allocation system using RFID technology plays a significant role in the speeding up of emergency blood transfers. The application of RFID technology to the rapid allocation of blood indeed reflects that RFID tags store blood information efficiently, conveniently and easily, and can be quickly and accurately docked with the information system. Research has shown that RFID tags of different frequencies have different performances in actual operations. In April 2010, ISBT published guidelines for the use of RFID technology in transfusion medicine, recommending ISO/IEC18000-3 Mode 1 high frequency (HF) 13.56 MHz RFID tags, taking into account international standardization and harmonization issues [2]. However, in terms of read and write times, distance, number of targets, environmental adaptability and anti-interference ability, UHF (820-960 MHz) RFID tags are better than low-frequency and HF RFID labels, more suitable for applications in the management of blood and also the direction for future development [7]. This study shows that UHF RFID tags

perform well in the rapid allocation of emergency blood in the case of transportation and various environmental interferences, and their accuracy and recognition speed are very good.

The UHF RFID tag itself has some limitations and restrictive factors, such as follows: the RFID system communication broadband cannot be expanded infinitely; the characteristics of message transmission are limited; labels do not have a carrier monitoring function; and labels cannot communicate with each other. In addition, in the practical application of RFID, electronic tags are in a mobile dynamic working environment, and new tags may enter or exceed the scope of reading and writing at any time during communication. Multiple tags communicate with the read-write device through competition. Therefore, a collision occurs, and the anticollision algorithm completes the smooth communication of the labels. To this end, we designed the multi-tag anti-collision algorithm in the UHF RFID identification system, and proposed an anti-collision algorithm based on hash function, thereby overcoming the collision caused by the communication between multiple tags and read-write devices in the dynamic working environment of UHF RFID tags. This study shows that this algorithm can indeed complete the smooth communication of tags and can well be applied to the environment of rapid allocation of emergency blood.

Finally, the determination of the optimal packing quantity was carried out. Scanning accuracy is affected by the penetration of the RFID read-write device and the number of blood bags inside the blood box [5]. In the experiment, 40 bags of suspended red blood cells and 50 bags of fresh frozen plasma were loaded into cardboard boxes and placed in an open environment. The read-write device was placed within 10 cm above the blood sample,

XIE ET AL.

which guaranteed 100% accuracy during scanning. After transportation, the label did not appear damaged or fall off, the time of scanning record in and out of storage did not change compared with before departure and the chip performance remained stable. The RFID blood emergency allocation system can be used for rapid exit and batch entry and automatic information comparison, which not only saves time and effort but also has higher accuracy compared with the traditional exit and manual one-by-one checking, thus effectively realizing the rapid batch allocation of emergency blood.

Life is precious, and in an emergency every minute counts. Therefore, shortening the time spent in the whole chain of blood transfusion is necessary. As proved through this study, the RFID blood emergency allocation system can safely, stably, accurately and efficiently meet the requirements of rapid blood allocation inside and outside a warehouse, which has unique advantages. Of course, there are some limitations in this study: the sample size was limited, and the blood components transported were limited to red blood cells and plasma. In future research, the size and other blood components will be further expanded. With the continuous development and improvement in RFID technology, an RFID blood emergency allocation system will realize a wider application range, higher application efficiency and better application effects.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Suzhou Medical Key Discipline Funding Project (no. SZXK202118).

S.X. and Y.C. performed the research and wrote the first draft of the manuscript, X.S. and C.T. acquired and analysed the data, and M.W. designed the research study, supervised the research and reviewed and edited the manuscript. All the authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Shuhong Xie D https://orcid.org/0009-0002-4335-7985

REFERENCES

- Dusseljee-Peute LW, Van der Togt R, Jansen B, Jaspers MW. The value of radio frequency identification in quality management of the blood transfusion chain in an academic hospital setting. JMIR Med Inform. 2019;7:e9510.
- Knels R, Ashford P, Bidet F, Bocker W, Briggs L, Gutierrez A, et al. Guidelines for the use of RFID technology in transfusion medicine. Vox Sang. 2010;98:1–24.
- Hohberger C, Davis R, Briggs L, Bocker W, Briggs L, Bruce P, et al. Applying radio-frequency identification (RFID) technology in transfusion medicine. Biologicals. 2012;40:209–13.

- Davis R, Geiger B, Gutierrez A, Heaser J, Veeramani D. Tracking blood products in blood centres using radio frequency identification: a comprehensive assessment. Vox Sang. 2009;97:50–60.
- DB32/T 4413-2022. Specifications for the radio frequency identification (RFID) technology application of qualified blood in blood establishment. [cited 2023 Jun 19]. Available from: https://std.samr.gov.cn/ db/search/stdDBDetailed?id=F21F6F72F84FADC3E05397BE0A0A2A12.
- WS/T 789-2021. Label and identification codes for blood products. [cited 2023 Jun 19]. Available from: https://std.samr.gov.cn/hb/search/ stdHBDetailed?id=D03F7D15FA64152EE05397BE0A0AE1E9.
- Wang QL, Wang XW, Zhuo HL, Shao CY, Wang J, Wang HP, et al. Impact on storage quality of red blood cells and platelets by ultrahigh-frequency radiofrequency identification tags. Transfusion. 2013;53:868–71.
- Rogowska A, Chabowska AM, Lipska A, Barbara Boczkowska-Radziwon B, Bujno M, Rusak T, et al. High-frequency (13.56-MHz) and ultrahigh-frequency (915-MHz) radio identification systems do not affect platelet activation and functions. Transfusion. 2016;56: 1148-52.
- Uysal I, Hohberger C, Rasmussen RS, Ulrich DA, Emond JP, Gutierrez A. Effects of radio frequency identification-related radiation on in vitro biologics. PDA J Pharm Sci Technol. 2012;66: 333–45.
- Tian C, Yin ZW. Passive UHF label antenna engineering design case study. Beijing: Tsinghua University Press; 2019.
- Qiao J, Hao M, Guo M. Design of meat product safety information chain traceability system based on UHF RFID. Sensors (Basel). 2023; 23:3372.
- Zhou YC, Dong YF, Hou YC, Dong YF, Zhang J, Gu JH. Anti-collision algorithm of dynamic frame slotted ALOHA based on hash grouping. Comput Eng Des. 2016;37:540–4.
- Tian C, Ye XJ, Wang ZJ, Li X. Blood management RFID multi-tag identification collision avoidance method. J Tsinghua Univ Sci Technol. 2017;57:1121-6.
- WS-T 400-2012. Requirements for blood transportation. [cited 2023 Jun 19]. Available from: https://std.samr.gov.cn/hb/search/ stdHBDetailed?id=8B1827F1D4ECBB19E05397BE0A0AB44A.
- Qi Q, Zhu PY, Yan JM, Wang W, Lian JF. Research on the application of radio frequency identification technology in blood management under field conditions. Mil Med J South China. 2021;23:328–30.
- Meyer DE, Vincent LE, Fox EE, O'Keeffe T, Inaba K, Bulger E, et al. Every minute counts: time to delivery of initial massive transfusion cooler and its impact on mortality. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2017; 83:19–24.
- Narayan S; on behalf of the Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT) Steering GroupThe 2020 Annual SHOT Report. 2021. [cited 2023 Jun 19]. Available from: https://www.shotuk.org/wp-content/ uploads/myimages/SHOT-REPORT-2021-FINAL-bookmarked-V3-November.pdf.
- Xu J, Song HD, Yan Y. Practice and experience of blood emergency support in emergencies. Chin J Blood Transfus. 2014;27:1091–2.
- Coustasse A, Cunningham B, Deslich S, Willson E, Meadows P. Benefits and barriers of implementation and utilization of radio-frequency identification (RFID) systems in transfusion medicine. Perspect Health Inf Manag. 2015;12:1d.

How to cite this article: Xie S, Cao Y, Shen X, Tian C, Wang M. Design and practice of an emergency blood allocation system based on radiofrequency identification technology. Vox Sang. 2023;118:966–71.

Vox Sanguinis Si International Society 971

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13522

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Revised: 29 July 2023



Polymorphisms in the promoter regions of *RHD* and *RHCE* genes in the Chinese Han population

Lin-Nan Shao¹ | Zi-Wei Zheng² | Shi-Hang Zhou¹ | Shu-Ting Zhang¹ | Wen-Qian Song¹ | Yue-Xin Xia¹ | Xiao-Hua Liang¹

¹Dalian Blood Center, Dalian, Liaoning, China ²College of Medical Laboratory, Dalian Medical University, Dalian, Liaoning, China

Correspondence

Xiao-Hua Liang and Shi-Hang Zhou, Dalian Blood Center, Dalian, Liaoning 116001, China. Email: liangxiaohua1968@126.com and zshsail@163.com

Funding information

Science and Technology Plan Project of Liaoning Province, Grant/Award Number: 2022-MS-447

Abstract

Background and Objectives: The Rh blood group system is the most polymorphic human blood group system. Previous studies have investigated variants in the *RHD* and *RHCE* promoter. The relevance of these variants to the Chinese Han population is further clarified in this study.

Materials and Methods: In total, 317 donors (223 Rh D-positive [D+], including 20 Del and 94 Rh D-negative [D-]) were randomly selected. The promoter regions and exon 1 of *RHD* and *RHCE* were amplified through polymerase chain reaction (PCR) whose products were directly sequenced using forward and reverse primers.

Results: Expected PCR products of the *RHD* promoter and exon 1 were amplified in 223 D+ individuals, including 20 Del individuals, and were absent in 81 of 94 D- individuals. Expected PCR products of *RHCE* were observed in all donors. Two single nucleotide variants (SNVs) were observed in the *RHD* promoter region. Moreover, 11 SNVs were observed in the promoter and exon 1 of *RHCE*. rs4649082, rs2375313, rs2281179, rs2072933, rs2072932, rs2072931 and rs586178 with strong linkage disequilibria were significantly different between the D+ and D- groups. [A;C] was the most common haplotype in the *RHD* promoter (NC_000001.11:g.[-1033A>G;-831C>T]). [G;T;T;A;T;A;C;G;A;C;G] was the most predominant haplotype in both total and D- groups. In D+ individuals, [A;C;T;G; C;G;C;G;C;C] was the most frequent haplotype in the *RHCE* promoter (NC_000001.11:g.[-1080A>G;-958C>T;-390T>C;-378G>A;-369C>T;-296G>A; -144C>G;-132G>A;-122C>A;28C>T;48C>G]).

Conclusion: We speculate that the SNVs/haplotypes found in this article cannot significantly affect gene expression. The present study findings should help elucidate the molecular basis of the polymorphic expression of *RHD* and *RHCE* promoter regions.

Keywords

gene, polymorphism, promoter, RHCE, RHD

Lin-Nan Shao and Zi-Wei Zheng contributed equally to this work.

Highlights

- This is the first study investigating the polymorphisms in the *RHD* and *RHCE* promoter regions by using the sequencing method in Chinese Han population.
- rs4649082, rs2375313, rs2281179, rs2072933, rs2072932, rs2072931 and rs586178 with strong linkage disequilibria were significantly different between the D+ and D- groups.
- The present study findings should help elucidate the molecular basis of the polymorphic expression of *RHD* and *RHCE* promoter regions.

INTRODUCTION

The Rh blood group system is the most polymorphic human blood group system with RhD and RhCE polypeptides encoded by the genes RHD and RHCE [1, 2]. These two genes are approximately 30 kb apart, have opposite orientations and exhibit 93.8% homology over all introns and coding exons [3]. Depending on the CcEe phenotype, RhD and RhCE proteins differ by 32-35 amino acids [4]. Individuals are classified as Rh D-positive (D+) and Rh D-negative (D-) according to the presence or absence of the D antigen on the red blood cell surface. The incidence of the D+ phenotype is \sim 85% in Caucasians, ~95% in sub-Saharan Africans and >99.5% in eastern Asians [5]. Furthermore, the Rh system plays a pivotal role in the field of blood transfusion and severe haemolytic disease of fetus/ newborn because of its high polymorphism and strong immunogenicity [6, 7]. Numerous RHD and RHCE variants derived from hybrid genes or nucleotide polymorphisms exist [8, 9]. These variants are categorized as partial and/or weak antigens [10] and present challenges to blood transfusion service. Knowledge about RH variants in blood donors and patients is necessary to make blood transfusion safer [11, 12].

A promoter is a sequence located upstream of the 5'-flanking region of a gene. It is a significant player in the highly efficient expression and regulation of target genes at the transcriptional level. Promoter variants affect gene expression and regulation. GATA motifs, which are binding sites for the erythroid-specific transcription factor GATA-1, have been shown to play a role in gene expression [13]. In the Duffy blood group system, a mutation in the GATA-1 binding site of the Duffy gene's promoter region results in the Duffy-null phenotype that prevents gene transcription in erythroid cells [14]. Most studies have investigated the exon and intron regions of RHD and RHCE but relatively few studies exist on their promoters. Fennell et al. found that variants in the GATA-1 binding site at 5' UTR-115C of RHD and 5' UTR-83T of RHCE showed a significant reduction in RH gene expression [13]. Denomme et al. [15] investigated the 1246 bp 5'-flanking regions of the RHD and RHCE promoter, and found that the proximal cis-regulatory region of the RHD/RHCE promoter is 105 bp with binding motifs for Sp1, GATA-1 and E2F transcription factors and a 55-bp core devoid of known binding motifs. The aim of this study was to characterize the polymorphisms of the \sim 1.3 kb 5'-flanking regions of the RHD and RHCE promoters in the Chinese Han population to evaluate their impact

on gene expression and to deliver more systematic populationspecific data.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and samples

The study participants were restricted to healthy, unrelated Chinese Han blood donors. In total, 317 donors were randomly selected. All participants provided informed consent for sequence analysis. All procedures were performed in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national). The Declaration of Helsinki approval for this study was granted by the local ethics committee.

Serological tests

We performed D phenotyping by using standard monoclonal antisera (Shanghai Hemo-Pharmaceutical & Biological Co., Ltd.) and read the tests for agglutination in tubes. Moreover, samples were typed as D– for the D-elute (Del) phenotype through an adsorption–elution test in tubes. If the result was positive, the sample was determined to belong to the Del phenotype; otherwise, it was determined to be a truly D– phenotype.

DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from proteinase K-treated peripheral whole blood samples by using a commercially available DNA isolation kit on a MagCore automated nucleic acid extractor (RBCBioscience, Taipei, Taiwan, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Genotyping

The promoter regions and exon 1 of *RHD* and *RHCE* genes were amplified through polymerase chain reaction (PCR). *RHD*- and *RHCE*specific forward primers used were 5'-TCCACTTTCCACCTCCCTGC-3' and 5'-TCCACCTTCCACTTCCCTGT-3', respectively. The reverse

974 Vox Sanguinis Soliety of Bood Translusion

TABLE 1 Genotype/allele frequencies in the promoter and exon 1 of *RHD* and *RHCE*.

-144 G

48 (7.5)

33 (7.4)

15 (8.0)

C		Constants on allala	Total		Rh D+		Rh D-		a
Gene	SINV	Genotype or allele	N (%)	p ^b	N (%)	p ^b	N (%)	p ^b	p-
RHD ^c	rs191568964	-1033 AA	232 (98.3)	<0.05	219 (98.2)	<0.001	13 (100.0)	NA	0.888
		-1033 AG	3 (1.3)		3 (1.3)		0		
		-1033 GG	1 (0.4)		1 (0.4)		0		
		-1033 A	467 (98.9)		441 (98.9)		26 (100.0)		1.000
		-1033 G	5 (1.1)		5 (1.1)		0		
RHD ^c	rs557082901	-831 CC	229 (97.0)	<0.05	216 (96.9)	<0.001	13 (100.0)	NA	0.810
		-831 CT	6 (2.5)		6 (2.7)		0		
		-831 TT	1 (0.4)		1 (0.4)		0		
		-831 C	464 (98.3)		438 (98.2)		26 (100.0)		1.000
		-831 T	8 (1.7)		8 (1.8)		0		
RHCE	rs4649082	-1080 AA	105 (33.1)	<0.05	98 (43.9)	0.743	7 (7.4)	0.126	<0.05
		-1080 AG	125 (39.4)		98 (43.9)		27 (27.8)		
		-1080 GG	87 (27.4)		27 (12.1)		60 (63.8)		
		-1080 A	335 (52.8)		294 (65.9)		41 (21.8)		<0.05
		-1080 G	299 (47.1)		152 (34.1)		147 (78.2)		
RHCE	rs2375313	-958 CC	105 (33.1)	<0.05	98 (43.9)	0.743	7 (7.4)	0.126	<0.05
		-958 CT	125 (39.4)		98 (43.9)		27 (27.8)		
		-958 TT	87 (27.4)		27 (12.1)		60 (63.8)		
		-958 C	335 (52.8)		294 (65.9)		41 (21.8)		<0.05
		-958 T	299 (47.1)		152 (34.1)		147 (78.2)		
RHCE	rs591570	-390 TT	316 (99.6)	0.978	222 (99.6)	0.973	94 (100.0)	NA	1.000
		-390 CT	1 (0.3)		1 (0.4)		0		
		-390 CC	0		0		0		
		-390 T	633 (99.8)		445 (99.8)		188 (100.0)		1.000
		-390 C	1 (0.1)		1 (0.2)		0		
RHCE	rs2281179	-378 GG	105 (33.1)	<0.05	98 (43.9)	0.743	7 (7.4)	0.126	<0.05
		-378 AG	125 (39.4)		98 (43.9)		27 (27.8)		
		-378 AA	87 (27.4)		27 (12.1)		60 (63.8)		
		–378 G	335 (52.8)		294 (65.9)		41 (21.8)		<0.05
		-378 A	299 (47.1)		152 (34.1)		147 (78.2)		
RHCE	rs2072933	-369 CC	105 (33.1)	<0.05	98 (43.9)	0.743	7 (7.4)	0.126	<0.05
		-369 CT	125 (39.4)		98 (43.9)		27 (27.8)		
		-369 TT	87 (27.4)		27 (12.1)		60 (63.8)		
		-369 C	335 (52.8)		294 (65.9)		41 (21.8)		<0.05
		−369 T	299 (47.1)		152 (34.1)		147 (78.2)		
RHCE	rs2072932	-296 GG	105 (33.1)	<0.05	98 (43.9)	0.743	7 (7.4)	0.126	<0.05
		-296 AG	125 (39.4)		98 (43.9)		27 (27.8)		
		-296 AA	87 (27.4)		27 (12.1)		60 (63.8)		
		–296 G	335 (52.8)		294 (65.9)		41 (21.8)		<0.05
		-296 A	299 (47.1)		152 (34.1)		147 (78.2)		
RHCE	rs201048836	-144 CC	275 (86.7)	<0.05	193 (86.5)	0.082	82 (87.2)	<0.05	0.457
		-144 CG	36 (11.3)		27 (12.1)		9 (9.6)		
		-144 GG	6 (1.8)		3 (1.3)		3 (3.2)		
		-144 C	586 (92.4)		413 (92.6)		173 (92.0)		0.870

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Vox Sanguinis

ciety sion	975
01011	

Gene	SNV	Genotype or allele	Total		Rh D+		Rh D-		n ^a
Gene	5111	Genotype of ancie	N (%)	p ^b	N (%)	pb	N (%)	p ^b	Ρ
RHCE	rs771559205	-132 GG	312 (98.4)	0.887	218 (97.8)	0.866	94 (100.0)	NA	0.327
		-132 AG	5 (1.5)		5 (2.2)		0		
		-132 AA	0		0		0		
		-132 G	629 (99.2)		441 (98.9)		188 (100.0)		0.329
		-132 A	5 (0.7)		5 (1.1)		0		
RHCE	rs2072931	-122 CC	106 (33.4)	<0.05	99 (44.4)	0.816	7 (7.4)	0.126	<0.05
		-122 AC	125 (39.4)		98 (43.9)		27 (28.7)		
		-122 AA	86 (27.1)		26 (11.7)		60 (63.8)		
		-122 C	337 (53.1)		296 (66.4)		41 (21.8)		<0.05
		-122 A	297 (46.8)		150 (33.6)		147 (78.2)		
RHCE	rs749601047	+28 CC	316 (99.6)	0.978	222 (99.6)	0.973	94 (100.0)	NA	1.000
		+28 CT	1 (0.3)		1 (0.4)		0		
		+28 TT	0		0		0		
		+28 C	633 (99.8)		445 (99.8)		188 (100.0)		1.000
		+28 T	1 (0.1)		1 (0.2)		0		
RHCE	rs586178	+48 CC	105 (33.1)	<0.05	98 (43.9)	0.602	7 (7.4)	0.126	<0.05
		+48 CG	124 (39.1)		97 (43.5)		27 (28.7)		
		+48 GG	88 (27.7)		28 (12.6)		60 (63.8)		
		+48 C	334 (52.6)		293 (65.7)		41 (21.8)		<0.05
		+48G	300 (47.3)		153 (34.3)		147 (78.2)		

^aBetween Rh D+ and Rh D- groups.

^bp-values are of Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium.

^cExpected PCR products of the *RHD* promoter and exon 1 were amplified in 223 D+, including 20 Del individuals, and were absent in 81 of 94 Rh D-individuals.

primers for RHD and RHCE were the same, that is, 5'-CTTGATAG-GATGCCACGAGCC-3'. The final reaction volume of 25 µL PCR mixtures included 1 µL of purified genomic DNA (ca. 50-200 ng), 1 µL of forward and reverse primers (20 µM), 12.5 µL of AmpliTaq Gold 360 Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA), 2 µL of 360 GC Enhancer and 7.5 µL of distilled water. The PCR procedure was as follows: 95°C for 10 min, followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 s, 63°C for 30 s and 72°C for 2 min, and a final extension step at 72°C for 7 min. The amplification products were 1286 and 1290 bp for RHD and RHCE, respectively. These products were analysed through electrophoresis on ethidium bromide-stained 1% agarose gel. Samples with negative results needed to be reconfirmed with an internal control (GAPDH gene). The PCR products were directly sequenced using the forward and reverse primers in an ABI 3730 XL DNA sequencer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's manual. The sequencing results were analysed using DNAstar software.

Statistical analysis

Allelic, genotypic and haplotypic data were analysed using the χ^2 test or Fisher's exact test. The relative risk estimate was evaluated based

on the odds ratio at the 95% confidence interval. The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) test for genotypic data was conducted using the χ^2 test. When several dependent or independent statistical tests were performed simultaneously on a single dataset, Bonferroni-corrected *p*-value (*pc*) adjustment was made to the *p* values. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 21.0. Haplotype constructions were generated from the observed genotypes by using SHEsis Online Version [16, 17]. Standardized linkage disequilibrium values (r^2) were measured using Haploview 4.2 (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA).

RESULTS

Gene polymorphisms

Expected PCR products of the *RHD* promoter and exon 1 were amplified in 223 D+, including 20 Del individuals, and were absent in 81 of 94 D– individuals. Expected PCR products of *RHCE* were observed in all 317 donors. The genotype distributions and the genotype/allele frequencies of the single nucleotide variants (SNVs) in the promoter region and exon 1 of *RHD* and *RHCE* (ignoring hemizygotes) are presented in Table 1. In the *RHD* promoter region, two SNVs,

976 Vox Sanguinis

TABLE 2 Haplotype frequencies in the promoter and exon 1 of *RHD* and *RHCE* genes.

Gene	Haplotypes	N (%) Rh D+	N (%) Rh D–	N (%) Del	OR (95% CI)	p ^a	рс
RHD	[A;C]	433 (97.1)	26.00 (100.0)	40.00 (100.0)	0.971 (0.955–0.987)	1.000	
	[A;T]	8.00 (1.8)	0	0	0.982 (0.970-0.994)	1.000	
	[G;C]	5.00 (1.1)	0	0	0.989 (0.979-0.999)	1.000	
RHCE	[G;T;T;A;T;A;C;G;A;C;G]	149.03 (33.4)	147.00 (78.2)	15.00 (37.5)	0.140 (0.094-0.208)	<0.001	< 0.001
	[A;C;T;G;C;G;C;G;C;C;C]	261.85 (58.7)	26.00 (13.8)	24.00 (60.0)	8.872 (5.629-13.984)	<0.001	<0.001
	[A;C;T;G;C;G;G;G;C;C;C]	29.12 (6.5)	15.00 (8.0)	1.00 (2.5)	0.802 (0.420-1.533)	0.498	
	[G;T;T;A;T;A;G;A;C;C;G]	2.00 (0.4)	0	0	0.996 (0.989-1.002)	1.000	
	[A;C;T;G;C;G;C;A;C;C;C]	1.13 (0.3)	0	0	0.998 (0.993-1.002)	1.000	
	[A;C;C;G;C;G;G;A;C;C;G]	1.00 (0.2)	0	0	0.998 (0.993-1.002)	1.000	
	[A;C;T;G;C;G;G;A;C;C;C]	0.87 (0.2)	0	0	0.998 (0.993-1.002)	1.000	
	[A;C;T;G;C;G;C;G;C;T;C]	0.03 (0.0)	0	0	1.000 (1.000-1.000)	1.000	
	[G;T;T;A;T;A;C;G;A;T;G]	0.97 (0.2)	0	0	0.998 (0.993-1.002)	1.000	

Note: Haplotypes in RHD and RHCE genes represent NC_000001.11:g.[-1033A>G;-831C>T] and NC_000001.11:g.

[-1080A>G;-958C>T;-390T>C;-378G>A;-369C>T;-296G>A;-144C>G;-132G>A;-122C>A;28C>T;48C>G] (e.g., following SNVs for rs191568964, rs557082901 and rs4649082, rs2375313, rs591570, rs2281179, rs2072933, rs2072932, rs201048836, rs771559205, rs2072931, rs749601047, rs586178, respectively).

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; pc, Bonferroni-corrected p-value; OR, odds ratio.

^aBetween Rh D+ and Rh D- groups.

namely rs191568964:A>G and rs557082901:C>T, were observed in four and seven donors, respectively. Moreover, 11 SNVs were observed in the promoter and exon 1 of *RHCE*. The variant rs749601047 in *RHCE*, that is, c.28C>T (p.Arg10Trp), was found in a 28-year-old female with the phenotype CcEe. To our knowledge, it is found in Asia for the first time. Figure S1 shows the sequencing results. Some SNVs, namely rs191568964, rs557082901, rs4649082:A>G, rs2375313:C>T, rs2281179:G>A, rs2072933: C>T, rs2072932:G>A, rs201048836:C>G, rs2072931:C>A and rs586178:C>G, were not in HWE. Nevertheless, rs4649082, rs2375313, rs2281179, rs2072933, rs2072932, rs2072931 and rs586178 were in accordance with HWE after all the donors were divided into D+ and D- groups. In addition, the frequencies of these seven SNVs were significantly different between the D+ and D- groups (*p* <0.001).

Distribution of haplotypes

Table 2 presents the haplotypes of *RHD* and *RHCE* (ignoring hemizygotes). Three haplotypes (NC_000001.11:g.[-1033A>G;-831C>T]) were found in the *RHD* promoter. [A;C] was found to be the most common haplotype in all three groups. Ten haplotypes (NC_000001.11:g. [-1080A>G;-958C>T;-390T>C;-378G>A;-369C>T;-296G>A;-144-C>G;-132G>A;-122C>A;28C>T;48C>G]) were found in the *RHCE* promoter. [G;T;T;A;T;A;C;G;A;C;G] was the most dominant haplotype in D- groups (78.2%); however, [A;C;T;G;C;G;C;G;C;C;C] was the most frequent haplotype in both D+ and Del individuals (58.7% and 60.0%, respectively). The distributions of these two haplotypes were significantly different between the D+ and D- groups (*pc* <0.001).

Linkage disequilibrium

In the *RHD* promoter, linkage disequilibrium (LD) with a pairwise r^2 of 0 was observed between rs191568964 and rs557082901 for the D+, D- and total groups. The LD results for the promoter and exon 1 regions of *RHCE* are presented in Figure 1. Strong LD with a pairwise r^2 of at least 0.98 was observed among rs4649082, rs2375313, rs2281179, rs2072933, rs2072932, rs2072931 and rs586178.

DISCUSSION

RHD and *RHCE* molecular polymorphisms have been observed in exons and introns among various populations [18–22] but knowledge about promoter region polymorphisms is limited. Promoters can be positively or negatively regulated by various transcription factors and other transcription-specific protein effectors. Studying the promoter region is important for analysing the transcription factor binding motifs and gene expression mechanisms, providing basic data for future research. Here we investigated promoter polymorphisms in *RHD* and *RHCE* in the Chinese Han population.

Among the 94 D- individuals, 81 individuals lacked exon 1 of *RHD*, while promoter deletion was also observed. This result is in agreement with previous studies reporting that more than 70% of the D- phenotypes in the Chinese Han population are explained by the entire *RHD* deletion mechanism [23, 24], but confirmatory genotyping would need to be performed. The remaining 13 individuals exhibited D- phenotypes, but exon 1 and promoter regions were not missing. This indicated the presence of other D- mechanisms in these individuals.



FIGURE 1 Linkage disequilibrium (LD) analysis of 11 SNVs in *RHCE* promoter and exon 1 regions. The figure was generated using Haploview 4.2 software. The numbers in the squares (0– 99) refer to the pairwise LD measured as r^2 . The red squares without numbers represent complete LD. Eleven SNVs include rs586178, rs749601047, rs2072931, rs771559205, rs201048836, rs2072932, rs2072933, rs2281179, rs591570, rs2375313 and rs4649082. (a) LD analysis of the *RHCE* promoter and exon 1 regions of the total group. (b) LD analysis of the *RHCE* promoter and exon 1 regions of the D+ group. (c) LD analysis of the *RHCE* promoter and exon 1 regions of the D- group.

4230410, 2023, 11, Downloaded from https

//onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/vox.13522 by Cornell University E-Resources & Serials

Department, Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Terms

and Condit

) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles

are governed by the applicable Creative Commo

All D+ individuals including 20 Del individuals possessed *RHD* promoter regions. Our data indicated no essential difference in the *RHD* promoter region between the Del and D+ individuals. We found nine and two SNVs in the *RHCE* and *RHD* promoter regions, respectively. Moreover, the wild-type genotypic frequencies of the two SNVs were >97%. Although *RHD* is formed by a duplication of *RHCE*, These two genes are 93.8% identical to each other [10, 25]. According to our results, the *RHD* promoter seems to be more conservative than the *RHCE* promoter.

Of note, in the RHD promoter region, [A;C] was the most common haplotype found in the D+ and D- groups. It means that this haplotype has no association with D antigen expression. In the RHCE promoter region, the allelic distributions of rs4649082, rs2375313, rs2281179, rs2072933, rs2072932 and rs2072931 were inverted and significantly different between the D+ and Dgroups. Moreover, these six SNVs were in accordance with HWE in both D+ and D- groups but exhibited bias in the total group. This is because the proportion of D- individuals we selected (29.65%) far exceeded the actual number in the Chinese Han population (ca. 0.3%). Haplotype analysis can clarify how alleles are organized along the chromosome and can potentially capture *cis* interactions between two or more causal variants [26]. In the haplotype analysis, the aforementioned six SNVs exhibited very strong LD with r^2 > 0.98. An interesting study by Denomme et al. [15] found that there was no statistical difference in promoter activity between RHD and RHCE from -1163 to promoter region 3' and that there was no significant positive or negative effect on the promoter activity from -1163 to -138. Moreover, it is noteworthy that the proximal cis-regulatory region of the RHD/RHCE promoter is 105 bp. The SNVs/haplotypes we found in the promoters of the Chinese Han population are not in this key region, so we speculate that these SNVs/haplotypes cannot significantly affect gene expression. In the Chinese population, C antigen is predominant in D+ individuals and c antigen is most common in D- individuals [22, 27-29]. Moreover, despite the presence of false-positive results, the polymorphism of rs586178 is closely related to Rh C/c [30, 31]. The haplotypes [A;C; T;G;C;G;C;C;C] and [G;T;T;A;T;A;C;G;A;C;G] (containing rs586178 and with strong LD) have significant differences in D+ and Dgroups, which may be due to these two haplotypes being actually related to Rh C or c.

On sequencing the *RHCE* promoter region of 30 Japanese individuals, Tanaka et al. [32] found only three nucleoside substitutions at positions -292, -283 and -210 (corresponding to rs2281179, rs2072933 and rs2072932, respectively), which were associated with the C/c phenotype. By contrast, our data revealed that in the Chinese Han population, one more SNV, rs2072931, located closer to *RHCE* exon 1 had strong LD with these three SNVs. In addition, our study has the advantages of having more participants, a longer sequencing length of the promoter region and discovering more SNVs. The limitation of this study is the small sample size of the donors, especially for D– and Del individuals. Therefore, further studies enrolling a larger sample size are warranted. Compared with more comprehensive studies on the exon and intron regions of *RHD* and *RHCE*, relatively few studies have investigated their promoter regions. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the polymorphisms in the *RHD* and *RHCE* promoter regions by using the sequencing method in Chinese Han population. We found that the *RHD* promoter was more conservative than the *RHCE* promoter. Moreover, in the *RHCE* promoter region, the allelic distributions of rs4649082, rs2375313, rs2281179, rs2072933, rs2072932 and rs2072931, which exhibited very strong or even complete LD, were significantly different between the D+ and D- groups. We speculate that these SNVs/haplotypes found in this study cannot significantly affect gene expression. Taken together, the present study findings should be beneficial in elucidating the molecular basis of the polymorphic expression of Rh antigens.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Science and Technology Plan Project of Liaoning Province (2022-MS-447).

Z.S.H. and L.X.H. conceptualized the study; S.L.N. and Z.Z.W. investigated the data; Z.S.T. and S.W.Q. analysed the data; X.Y.X. provided resources; S.L.N. wrote the draft.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

REFERENCES

- Silvy M, Chapel-Fernandes S, Callebaut I, Beley S, Durousseau C, Simon S, et al. Characterization of novel *RHD* alleles: relationship between phenotype, genotype, and trimeric architecture. Transfusion. 2012;52:2020–9.
- Daniels G, Poole J, de Silva M, Callaghan T, MacLennan S, Smith N. The clinical significance of blood group antibodies. Transfus Med. 2002;12:287–95.
- Wagner FF, Frohmajer A, Flegel WA. RHD positive haplotypes in D negative Europeans. BMC Genet. 2001;2:10.
- 4. Daniels G. The molecular genetics of blood group polymorphism. Hum Genet. 2009;126:729-42.
- Daniels G. Human blood groups. 3rd ed. Oxford, UK: Wiley Blackwell; 2013.
- Dinardo CL, Kelly S, Dezan MR, Ribeiro IH, Castilho SL, Schimidt LC, et al. Diversity of *RH* and transfusion support in Brazilian sickle cell disease patients with unexplained Rh antibodies. Transfusion. 2019; 59:3228–35.
- Flegel WA. Molecular genetics and clinical applications for RH. Transfus Apher Sci. 2011;44:81–91.
- Avent ND, Reid ME. The Rh blood group system: a review. Blood. 2000;95:375–87.
- Daniels G. Variants of RhD current testing and clinical consequences. Br J Haematol. 2013;161:461–70.

- Granier T, Beley S, Chiaroni J, Bailly P, Silvy M. A comprehensive survey of both *RHD* and *RHCE* allele frequencies in sub-Saharan Africa. Transfusion. 2013;53:3009–17.
- Campbell-Lee SA, Gvozdjan K, Choi KM, Chen YF, Saraf SL, Hsu LL, et al. Red blood cell alloimmunization in sickle cell disease: assessment of transfusion protocols during two time periods. Transfusion. 2018;58:1588–96.
- Moreira-Júnior G, Bordin JO, Kuroda A, Kerbauy J. Red blood cell alloimmunization in sickle cell disease: the influence of racial and antigenic pattern differences between donors and recipients in Brazil. Am J Hematol. 1996;52:197–200.
- Fennell K, Hoffman R, Yoshida K, Iwamoto S, Govender L, Vather K, et al. Effect on gene expression of three allelic variants in GATA motifs of ABO, RHD, and RHCE regulatory elements. Transfusion. 2017;57:2804–8.
- Tournamille C, Colin Y, Cartron JP, Le Van Kim C. Disruption of a GATA motif in the Duffy gene promoter abolishes erythroid gene expression in Duffy-negative individuals. Nat Genet. 1995;10: 224-8.
- Denomme GA, Wang D, Matheson KA, Titolo D. The proximal cisregulatory region of the *RHD/RHCE* promoter is 105 bp and contains a 55-bp core devoid of known binding motifs but necessary for transcription. Transfusion. 2009;49:1361–9.
- Shi Y, He L. SHEsis, a powerful software platform for analyses of linkage disequilibrium, haplotype construction, and genetic association at polymorphism loci. Cell Res. 2005;15:97–8.
- Li Z, Zhang Z, He Z, Tang W, Li T, Zeng Z, et al. A partition-ligationcombination-subdivision EM algorithm for haplotype inference with multiallelic markers: update of the SHEsis (http://analysis.bio-x.cn). Cell Res. 2009;19:519–23.
- Khosroshahi BN, Oodi A, Namjou S, Gholamali T, Amirizadeh N. RHD genotyping by molecular analysis of hybrid Rhesus box in RhDnegative blood donors from Iran. Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus. 2019;35:119–24.
- Moussa H, Tsochandaridis M, Chakroun T, Jridi S, Abdelneji B, Hmida S, et al. Molecular background of D negative phenotype in the Tunisian population. Transfus Med. 2012;22:192–8.
- Okuda H, Suganuma H, Kamesaki T, Kumada M, Tsudo N, Omi T, et al. The analysis of nucleotide substitutions, gaps, and recombination events between *RHD* and *RHCE* genes through complete sequencing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000;274:670–83.
- Singleton BK, Green CA, Avent ND, Martin PG, Smart E, Daka A, et al. The presence of an *RHD* pseudogene containing a 37 base pair duplication and a nonsense mutation in Africans with the Rh D-negative blood group phenotype. Blood. 2000;95: 12-8.
- 22. Ye SH, Wu DZ, Wang MN, Wu XY, Xu HG, Xu H, et al. A comprehensive investigation of *RHD* polymorphisms in the Chinese Han population in Xi'an. Blood Transfus. 2014;12:396–404.
- Yin Q, Flegel WA. DEL in China: the D antigen among serologic RhDnegative individuals. J Transl Med. 2021;19:439.
- 24. Wagner FF, Moulds JM, Flegel WA. Genetic mechanisms of *Rhesus* box variation. Transfusion. 2005;45:338–44.
- Wagner FF, Flegel WA. RHCE represents the ancestral RH position, while RHD is the duplicated gene. Blood. 2002;99:2272–3.
- Liu N, Zhang K, Zhao H. Haplotype-association analysis. Adv Genet. 2008;60:335–405.
- Shao CP, Zhao CJ, Wu CL, Xu H, Wang XD, Wu XY, et al. Rhmatched transfusion through molecular typing for β-thalassemia patients is required and feasible in Chinese. Transfus Med Hemother. 2018;45:252–7.
- Ji YL, Luo H, Wen JZ, Haer-Wigman L, Veldhuisen B, Wei L, et al. *RHD* genotype and zygosity analysis in the Chinese Southern Han D +, D- and D variant donors using the multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification assay. Vox Sang. 2017;112:660–70.

- Ye L, Yue D, Wo D, Ding X, Guo S, Li Q, et al. Molecular bases of unexpressed *RHD* alleles in Chinese D–persons. Transfusion. 2009; 49:1655–60.
- Zhou HY, Zhang YZ, Meng QB, Bai XH, Wang CR, Cao Q, et al. Comparison between genotyping and serological phenotyping in RhCE blood group. Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi. 2008;25:66–9.
- 31. Tax MG, van der Schoot CE, van Doorn R, Douglas-Berger L, van Rhenen DJ, Maaskant-vanWijk PA. *RHC* and *RHc* genotyping in different ethnic groups. Transfusion. 2002;42:634–44.
- 32. Tanaka M, Yamashita N, Takahashi J, Hirayama F, Kajii E, Tani Y. *RHC/c* genotyping based on polymorphism in the promoter region of the *RHCE* gene. Leg Med. 2001;3:205–12.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Shao L-N, Zheng Z-W, Zhou S-H, Zhang S-T, Song W-Q, Xia Y-X, et al. Polymorphisms in the promoter regions of *RHD* and *RHCE* genes in the Chinese Han population. Vox Sang. 2023;118:972–9. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13524

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Blood donor genotyping for prediction of blood group antigens: Results from 5 years' experience (2017–2022)

Klaus Rieneck¹ | Grethe Risum Krog¹ | Frederik Banch Clausen¹ | Christoffer Egeberg Hother¹ | Morten Hanefeld Dziegiel^{1,2}

¹Department of Clinical Immunology, Section 2034, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

²Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

Correspondence

Klaus Rieneck, Department of Clinical Immunology, Laboratory of Blood Genetics, Rigshospitalet, Blegdamsvej 9, DK-2100 Copenhagen, Denmark. Email: klaus.rieneck@regionh.dk

Funding information

The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: For 5 years, routine genotyping has been performed for selected blood groups of blood donors in the Copenhagen Capital Region, Denmark. The result is summarized in the following.

Materials and Methods: Genotyping was carried out by an external service provider using the competitive allele specific PCR (KASP) technology. The genotypes were returned to the blood bank and translated into phenotypes by a proprietary IT application.

Results: In total, 65 alleles from 16 blood group systems (ABO, MNS, Rh, Lutheran, Kell, Duffy, Kidd, Diego, Yt, Dombrock, Colton, Landsteiner-Wiener, Cromer, Knops, Vel, secretor status) and the HPA1, HPA5 and HPA15 antigens were interrogated. After translation, phenotypes were imported into the laboratory information management system of the blood bank. The results from 31,538 genotyped blood donors were used to calculate the allele frequencies for a Danish blood donor population. *ABO* genotyping was done for sample ID purposes. Determination of the 1061delC single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) (NM_020469.2), most frequently characteristic of *ABO*A2*, was validated against a series of 1287 samples with *Dolichos biflorus* lectin determination of the A1 phenotype.

Conclusion: We report allele frequencies and phenotype frequencies for 16 blood groups from a total of 31,538 genotyped blood donors. Blood products were supplied from a total of 64,312 active blood donors, and of these active blood donors 25,396 (39.5%) were genotyped. These donors represent a valuable resource for patient treatment. This genotyping has enabled the provision of rare genotyped donor blood for patients with alloantibodies and rare reagent cells for serology.

Keywords

blood donor, genotyping, transfusion

Highlights

- Determination of blood groups from blood donors is performed by classical serotyping or by genotyping.
- We describe here a collection of 31,538 genotyped blood donors for 15 blood groups.
- The genotyping system has proved very satisfactory, cost-efficient and reliable, with a reproducibility of over 99%.

INTRODUCTION

Blood transfusion is an established life-saving treatment. Currently, 45 different blood groups are recognized by the International Society of Blood Transfusion (ISBT) [1]. In routine settings, usually, only groups ABO and RhD are considered. When a recipient has irregular blood group antibodies, it is essential to select donor blood that is antigen-negative for the corresponding antibodies in cases where antigen incompatibility is known to potentially cause adverse effects. If prevention of the development of alloantibodies is desired, choosing the appropriate antigen-negative blood products is important. This is particularly crucial if the patient is expected to receive multiple blood transfusions.

Determination of blood groups from blood donors can be achieved in several ways. The two predominant methods are classical serotyping, which requires that antibody reagents are obtainable, or by genotyping, which requires that the molecular genetic basis of the blood group is known. Several genotyping systems have been described, and some are commercially available [2-8].

In healthcare systems, there is an incentive to continuously optimize the use of resources.

We, therefore, sought more cost-efficient ways of acquiring blood donor typing information than possible with traditional serotyping using current instrumentation. This prompted us to design a cost-effective modular genotyping system where additional blood alleles could be quickly entered into the current selection if so desired.

We designed a proprietary screening system of blood donor genotyping for selected blood groups replacing the previous serotyping except for ABO and RhD. The system was validated and described earlier [9]. Genotyping was performed by an external service provider and thus did not require investments in instrumentation or workforce.

It is rare in the health sciences that technological progress replace old methods and at the same time give even more information at lower costs. But the reported blood donor genotyping system is one example that does both.

Before issuing blood for transfusion to a patient, a confirmatory serotyping is performed in cases of known alloantibodies in the recipient. Thus, an erroneous genotype can be detected, and a transfusion reaction in the recipient is avoided. For dispensing antigen-negative blood for the prevention of immunization, however, one has to solely rely upon the genotyping result.

This paper aims to assess the results of a multi-year blood donor genotyping effort and reports the huge resource these data represent.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The data in the present study were generated from 35,305 blood donor samples collected from 31,538 individuals at the Department of Clinical Immunology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark, from 2017 to 2022.

The blood donor genotyping system was described earlier [9]. Briefly, blood was obtained from voluntary blood donors according to

routine procedures; within 2 weeks of storage at 4°C, 200 µL blood from each donor was pipetted in a single well of a resealable deep-well microtitre plate compatible with robotic handling by the genotyping robots. Dedicated software and a robot (NEO Immucor analyser) were used for pipetting. The software is designed to take 100 μ L from both the top and bottom parts of a tube to ensure that the haematocrit (the proportion of red blood cells to the total blood volume) reflects the authentic value. Re-suspending the blood in all tubes is thus not needed. Microtitre plates are produced as needed, and optimal use of resources is ensured by waiting until sufficient number of samples is available to fill a full plate. The microtitre plates are heat-sealed and stored at -20° C until shipped on dry ice to the contract research organization (CRO) for genotyping in batches of eight plates (Figure 1). The genotyping is performed in batches of eight deep-well microtitre plates, and in one plate in each batch six different known donor blood samples are pipetted as a batch control of the clinically most important genotypes. These control donor samples are kept frozen in aliquots of 2 mL. Also, two wells in each microtitre plate are left empty for technical controls. One batch of eight microtitre plates thus has 746 wells available for samples.

A sample is taken for genotyping from a blood donor the third time the donor donates blood, indicating the intention of the donor to return for future donations. Blood donors are not intentionally genotyped more than once unless more than four 'no calls' are returned, in which case the donor is flagged for one extra genotype attempt at the next donation.

As the genotyping data get accumulated, the genotypes are entered into a compiled spreadsheet that enables direct searching among the genotypes. This spreadsheet is maintained to enable direct searches among genotypes, and the data quality is protected in several ways. Our laboratory management information system (LIMS) allows the storage of genotypes but does not give access to direct searches based on genotypes. All data presented in this paper were extracted from this compiled dataset and from existing phenotyping data in the LIMS.

Upon receipt of the genotypes from the CRO, they are translated into virtual phenotypes by a proprietary, validated translation table of the canonical blood groups using Labware. Subsequently, the predicted phenotypes are imported into LIMS to become available for search for donors with a given desired phenotype. A number of quality control (QC) steps are included to continuously monitor the reliability of the genotyping data and address safety concerns [9].

The ABO*A1 phenotyping was done by Dolichos biflorus according to standard procedures. In this report, we give the rs numbers of the variants interrogated and the cumulative number of the different alleles typed, as well as some internal discrepancies and 'no calls' of the different assays. We do not in this report attempt to resolve any inconsistencies by sequencing or other methods.

To evaluate reproducibility, we sifted through the data and found 7213 samples encompassing donors who had been tested more than once. Some of these repeat samples were due to our >4 'no calls' rule, which required a sample to be repeated once if >4 'no calls' were found, but most were due to inadvertently repeating a genotype.

Procedure, timeline overview



FIGURE 1 Schematic depiction of organization of one cycle of the genotyping. About 1 month from blood draw to return of genotyping results. About 7000 donors were genotyped annually. CRO, contract research organization; LIMS, laboratory management information system.

The repeat samples, however, represent an opportunity to evaluate the data for reproducibility. Repeat genotypes from the same donor with four or less 'no calls' in all repeat genotypes were compared in a spreadsheet. The reproducibility calculations were done as follows: in case of a genotype result of 'no call' or other non-base calls, or discrepant base calls of two samples from the same donor, both sample determinations were labelled as wrong and only a genotype result with bases called consistently was labelled as correct, even though the true genotype of the sample was not known. The number of times a consistent, presumed-correct base call was found was divided by all determinations of that primer set, and a percentage is calculated.

Ethics statement

In this paper we exclusively address anonymized data collected as part of routine genotyping of blood donors.

RESULTS

A total of 35,305 blood donor samples were genotyped, with an average of about 7000 blood donor samples genotyped every year. For some donors, one or more primer sets failed to call the genotypes, but only a total of 101 samples (0.285%) had >4 'no calls' including otherwise unusable results. Samples with >4 'no calls' result in an incomplete phenotype and could also indicate that the DNA was of insufficient amount or quality. For these samples, the genotyping results were not transferred to the LIMS, and the donor was genotyped again at the next blood donation.

From the 31,538 blood donors genotyped, there were 25,396 active blood donors at the time of this survey of historically acquired data. 'Active' was defined as having given blood at least once within the last 3 years from the date of this investigation.

The blood group genes, the rs numbers interrogated, the calculated allele frequencies and the predicted phenotypes are shown in Table 1.

Apart from blood groups where one allele was very rare and the homozygote was found less than five times, Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium was found for all blood group alleles except for Fy^a/Fy^b and $Fy^{ab}/Fynull$, M/N and LU^*A/LU^*B . Despite the large number of genotypes, for some blood groups the rarer allele was found only in 2–53 instances, except for the Lu blood group. The number of 'no calls' for the Lu primer set was not larger than for the other primer sets, indicating that the Lu competitive allele specific PCR (KASP) assay worked as well as the other primer sets. No additional attempt was made to resolve the 'no calls' for the other blood group systems which ranged between 79 and 526 with an average of 169 (0.48%) 'no calls' from about 35,000 determinations of each of the 51 KASP assays, totalling 1,785,000 individual genotypes.

The calculated and predicted phenotype frequencies were in good accordance with the phenotype frequency from the literature [10]. The donor population is skewed towards more group O donors, reflecting deliberate recruiting efforts.

A few alleles were not detected in the homozygous form but detected only in the heterozygous form. Thus, all the primer sets are expected to function technically.

The ABO determinations were used for sample ID control purposes and were not imported to the LIMS, except for the ABO*A2 determination from those ABO*A2 groups based on the c.1061delC. This information is used to select platelets from homozygous ABO*A2 donors or ABO*O/ABO*A2 heterozygous donors, which are for practical purposes used as group O donor platelets as no A antigen is expressed on these platelets [11]. The c.1061delC is also found in some Aweak alleles including some ABO*A3 types and in ABO*O.01.22 O22. Of the 1287 donors genotyped as ABO*A2 either ABO*A2/ABO*O.01, ABO*A2/ABO*O.02, ABO*A2/ABO*A2 or ABO*A2/ABO*B for the c.1061delC, 1282 were phenotyped as A1 negative and 5 (0.389%) were designated as A1 positive, giving very good concordance between the serological phenotyping of A1 and genotyping of ABO*A2. Genotyping has been shown to find more ABO*A2 types than lectin typing [12].

Blood group ar PLT genes	ld Gene	Allele (ref. allele in bold)	rs number	SNPa	Frequency of minor allele	Antigen	% Occurence ^b	% Published occurence ^c	Antigen	% Occurence ^b	% Published occurence ^c
1	ABO	ABO*A1.01/ABO*O.01	rs8176719	261delG	See ABO in Tables	2 and 3					
		ABO*A1.01/ABO*B or ABO*O.02	rs7853989	526C>G							
		ABO*A1.01 /ABO*B	rs8176741	657C>T							
		ABO*A1.01 /ABO*A2	rs56392308	1061delC							
2	GYPA	GYPA*01/GYPA*02	rs7682260	59C>T	0.467	Σ	77	78	z	71	72
	GYPB	GYPB*03/GYPB*04	rs7683365	143C>T	0.300	S	51	55	S	91	89
4	RH	RHD*01/RHD*01N	RHD specific	RHD exon 5	0.452	D	79	85	D_	21	15
		RHD*01/RHD*01N		RHD exon 7	0.451	D	80		D_	20	
		RHCE*C +/-	RHCE intron 2	i2-3031 In109 ^d	0.598	υ	64	68	- C	36	32
		RHCE*01 (RHCE*c)	rs676785	307C	0.423	с <mark>е</mark>	82	80	- C	18	20
		RHCE*E/ RHCE*e	rs609320	676G>C	0.154	Ш	28	29	e	98	98
		RHCE*01/RHCE*02.08	rs138268848	122A>G	0.016	Š	2.9	2	Cw-	97	98
5	BCAM	LU*01/LU*02	rs28399653	230G>A	0.044	Lu ^a	8.0	ω	Ļu,	99.9	100
6	KEL	KEL*01.01/ KEL*02	rs8176058	578C>T	0.039	¥	7.3	6	×	99.8	100
		KEL*02/KEL*01M.01	rs8176058	578C>G	0.002	na			Kweak	0.0032	Rare
		KEL*02.03/ KEL*02.04	rs8176059	841C>T	0.013	Кр ^а	2.2	2	Кр ^f	100	100
		KEL*02.06/ KEL*0.07	rs8176038	1790T>C	0.000	Jsa	0.054	<0.01	Jsf	100	100
8	ACKR1	FY*01/FY*02	rs12075	125G>A	0.432	F٧	68	66	Fy	81	83
See also Duffy	in Table 5	FY*wt/FY*01N.01/FY*02N.01	rs2814778	-67T>C	0.006	See also L	uffy in Table 5				
		FY*wt /FY*01/02W	rs34599082	265C>T	0.012						
6	SLC14A1	JK*01 /JK*02	rs1058396	838G>A	0.480	<mark>ء</mark> ×ر	77	77	۶۲	73	74
10	SLC4A1	DI*01/DI*02	rs2285644	2561C>T	0.002	Dia	0.070	0	Dit	100	100
		DI*02.03/DI*02	rs75731670	1972G>A	0.000	Wr ^a	0.048	<0.01	Wr ^f	100	100
11	ACHE	YT*01 /YT*02	rs1799805	1057C>A	0.041	Υt ^a	99.8	>99.8	Υť	7.8	ω
14	ART4	DO*01/DO*02	rs11276	793G>A	0.372	Do ^a	62	67	Do	85	82
15	AQP1	CO*01.01/CO*02	rs28362692	134C>T	0.047	C0ª	99.8	99.5	Co	8.8	10
16	ICAM4	LW*05/LW*07	rs77493670	299A>G	0.007	۲wa	100	100	۲Ŵ	1.0	<1
18	FUT2	FUT2*01/FUT2*01N.02	rs601338	461G>A	0.443	See also se	ecretor in Table 2				
21	CD 55	CROM*01/CROM*-01	rs60822373	679G>C	0.002	Cra+	100	100	Cra-	0.0064	na
22	CR1	KN*01/KN*02	rs41274768	4681G>A	0.038	Kn ^a	6.66	95	Kn ^f	7.2	3.5
34	SMIM1	VEL*01 /VEL*01N.01	rs566629828	64_80delAGCCTAGGGGGCTGTGTC	0.023	Vel+	100		Vel-	0.041	
PLT	ITGB3	ITGB3*001/ITGB3*002	rs5918	176T>C	0.168	HPA-1a	67	98	HPA-1b	30	28
PLT	ITGA2	IGTB2*001/IGTB*002	rs1801106	1600G>A	0.079	HPA-5a	66	100	HPA-5b	15	21
РLТ	CD109	CD109*001/CD109*002	rs10455097	2108C>A	0.496	HPA-15a	74	77	HPA-15b	76	65

TABLE 2 ABO genotypes, 34,745 total called results of all ABO SNPs.

Number				%		
ABO genotype		Non-secretor	Secretor	Non-secretor	Secretor	
0.01/0.01	13,058	2606	10,452	20	80	
A1/0.01	7168	1424	5744	20	80	
A2/O.01	2712	541	2171	20	80	
B/O.01	3078	593	2485	19	81	
0.02/0.01	686	135	551	20	80	
A1/A1	1196	236	960	20	80	
A1/A2	824	171	653	21	79	
A1/B	1010	193	817	19	81	
A1/0.02	186	37	149	20	80	
A2/A2	138	31	107	22	78	
A2/B	381	84	297	22	78	
A2/O.02	65	14	51	22	78	
B/B	196	40	156	20	80	
B/O.02	84	17	67	20	80	
0.02/0.02	13	3	10	23	77	
Total	30,795	6125	24,670	20	80	

Note: ABO and secretor frequencies show that secretor status is independent of ABO blood group.

TABLE 3 ABO groups with called genotype but fall outside the conventional ABO algorithm.

	Assay name						
Number of samples	ABO_O1 rs72238104 ^a	ABO_B_O2 rs7853989	ABO_B rs8176741	ABO_A2 rs56392308 ^b	Comment	Serotype	
11	_/_	C/C	C/C	C/- ^c	Unknown	0	
1	-/- ^c	C/C	C/C	C/-	Unknown	А	
8	_/_	C/G	C/C	C/C	0.01/0.03 or 0.48 or 0.49 or 0.50	0	
42	_/_	C/C	C/T	C/C	0.10/0.01	0	
1	-/- ^c	C/G	C/T	C/C	Unknown	В	
3	_/_	C/G	C/T	C/C	0.01/0.24	0	
1	G/-	C/G ^c	C/C	C/-	Unknown	А	
2	G/-	C/C	C/T ^c	C/C	Unknown	В	
10 ^d	G/-	C/C	C/T ^c	C/C	Unknown	А	
1	G/-	C/C	T/T ^c	C/C	Unknown	А	
3 ^e	G/-	C/G	T/T ^c	C/C	Unknown	В	
1	G/- ^c	G/G	T/T	C/C	Unknown	В	
2	G/-	C/C	C/T ^c	C/-	Unknown	A1-	
2	G/-	C/C	C/T ^c	C/-	Unknown	А	
1	G/-	C/G	T/C	C/- ^c	Unknown	В	
1	G/G	C/C ^c	T/C	C/-	Unknown	AB	

Note: ABO variants. ABO genotyping is used for ID control purposes except for ABO*A2 results where homozygous A2 or heterozygous A2O predicted donors are used as universal platelet donors.

^a– Synonymous with c.261delG.

 $^{\rm b}-$ Synonymous with c.1061delC.

^cResults that may be erroneous or resulting in an unknown ABO genotype.

^dThis result was confirmed for one donor.

^eThis result was confirmed for three donors.

TABLE 4 Comparison of C and c determinations (there were no phenotypes available for all donors).

	Assay name					
No. of samples	RHD RHD_exon 5	RHD RHD_exon7	RHC RHCE_C_intron2	RHc rs676785	Phenotype	
Presumed erroneous RHC genotype determinations						
1	MINUS/PLUS ^a	?	MINUS/PLUS ^a	C/C	D-C-e-c+E+	
1	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/PLUS ^a	C/C	D-	
10	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/PLUS ^a	C/C	$D{-}C{-}e{-}c{+}E{+}$	
Presumed erroneous RHc genotype determinations						
1	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/MINUS	T/C ^a	D-C-E-c+e+	
3	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/MINUS	MINUS/MINUS	T/C ^a	D-	

Note: Inconsistencies in RhCc determination. The conflicting genotype results of homozygous c and heterozygous C in the same person will not be transferred to the laboratory management information system. In all cases in the table but two, phenotype data were available, and phenotypes confirmed the c homozygous genotype. Due to homology between *RHD* and *RHCE* genes, the assays for RHD and RHC are performed in a MINUS/PLUS format. ^aResults that may be erroneous.

TABLE 5 Duffy variants.

	Assay name					
Sample	Duffy_Fya/a rs2814778	Duffy rs12075	Duffy_Fyx rs34599082	Explanation	Expected phenotype	Serotype
1	T/C	G/G	C/C	FY*01N.01 [14]	FY(a+b-)	na
2	T/C	G/G	C/C			na
4	T/T	G/G	C/T	FY*01W [15]	Fy(a+b-)	na
5	T/T	G/G	C/T			na
7	T/C	A/A	C/T	FY*02N.01/FY*02W	Fy(a-b-)	Fy(a-b-)
8	T/C	A/A	C/T			Fy(a-b-)

Note: Rare combinations of variants found in the Duffy genotyping are shown. Abbreviation: na, not available.

Secretor status (FUT2) was independent of the ABO blood group (Table 2).

For the ABO blood group, determinations are based on several primer sets, and a number of instances were noted where all primer sets were called but where the translation table did not allow prediction of a phenotype (Table 3) by a simple conventional translation. As ABO serotype determinations existed for all blood donors, it was possible to compare the genotyping results from these instances. These discrepancies indicated that it would be possible to modify the translation to include at least some of the ABO determinations where all primer sets are called but translation to a phenotype is not possible with our current translation table. But as previously noted, the ABO translations are for donor ID purposes only, except for the *ABO*A2* predictions.

The *RHD* determinations were used to screen for the DEL type. Therefore, discrepancies between phenotype and genotype were investigated with an extended *RHD* genotyping.

Some inconsistencies were noted for RHCE. Of 6338 samples found homozygous for RHc, 6197 samples were found RHC negative, 13 samples were RHC positive and 128 were 'no call' for *RHC*. In the

13 samples where we found a positive RHC genotype, together with a homozygous RHc positive genotype, a phenotype was performed on 11 of these samples which turned out to be C-c+ (Table 4). These C-negative samples were D negative as expected.

985

The genotyping for the Fy antigen was based on three primer sets interrogating rs12075 (Fya/Fyb), rs2814778 (Fy^{ab}/Fynull) and rs34599082 (Fy^{ab}/Fy^{ab}weak). Some rare combinations are shown in Table 5. It appears that Duffy determinations are not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium: there are too many of the two homozygotes and/or too few of the heterozygotes.

For assessment of the reproducibility, the repeat genotyping results on independently drawn blood samples were examined. The 7213 repeat samples from all the 35,305 blood samples genotyped were found as follows: 3175 donors were genotyped twice, 234 donors were genotyped in triplicate, 27 donors in tetraplicate, 7 donors in pentaplicate and 3 donors in hexaplicate. Altogether, 3767 genotypes were unnecessarily repeated. The reproducibility was assessed as excellent and based on the batch controls and on the duplicate genotype determinations only. If a duplicate genotype was discrepant, both genotypes for this allele were scored as wrong when, in fact, most likely, one would be correct. The average reproducibility estimated in this conservative way of all results over all primer sets investigated was 98.76%; assuming only one of the two duplicates is erroneously determined, the correct score would reach 99.38%. When samples with >4 'no calls' (a total of 70 samples) were removed from the calculation, the overall reproducibility was 99.15% on average for all primer sets. The lowest percentage was for the MN determinations, only 94.83%, and the highest percentage was for Duffy, 99.65%.

The reproducibility results are summarized in Table S2, which also includes an assessment of reproducibility based on the 51 genotype batch controls.

We addressed the question of reliability of base determination from bases called in samples with >4 'no calls' by estimating the frequency of discrepant results from bases actually called in the duplicate sample in the >4 'no call' samples between the two duplicate samples and compared with the ≤4 'no call' samples irrespective of primer set. For the samples with>4 'no call', there were 0.892 discrepant base calls per sample (calculation based on 28 data points) compared with the duplicate sample from the same donor, and for the ≤4 'no call' samples, there were 0.061 discrepant base calls per sample (calculation based on 3147 data points) compared with the duplicate sample from the same donor.

DISCUSSION

We report allele frequencies and the frequency of the homozygous and the heterozygous genotypes of 16 blood groups as determined from our genotyping of 31,538 individual donors (i.e., from 35,305 samples minus those samples tested more than once). The data are from the largest genotyped Danish donor cohort so far, based on dedicated blood group genotyping.

We currently use the genotype results for finding blood donors suitable for blood donation to patients with alloantibodies or predicted antigen-negative donors to antigen-negative recipients to prevent alloimmunization. Also, *ABO* genotype determinations are made for ID control purposes except for the *ABO***A2* genotype used for selecting donor blood.

Overall, this blood donor genotyping system has proven very useful and enabled the procurement of rare blood [13]. The reproducibility is high, the workload minimal and the throughput virtually unlimited; only the capacity of the CRO sets the limit and fresh blood from rare donors is often available. Only a LIMS, a pipetting robot and a heat sealer are the necessary investments locally; most blood banks would already have this equipment.

As the ABO*0.01 deletion is upstream of the ABO*B and ABO*A.02 specific sequences, the phenotype will be O unless another one base insertion is present downstream of the c.261delG, reconstituting the reading frame. Two exceptions, however, were found (Table 3); perhaps a genotyping error in the ABO*O.01 determination is the basis. The samples were not sequenced.

The *RHD* genotyping is used in conjunction with other analyses to detect the DEL types.

We have developed our blood donor genotyping system as a very economical blood donor genotyping system encompassing the most common blood groups of clinical relevance including three platelet groups as well as some selected blood groups of rarer clinical relevance.

Occasionally, a result was not called, and out of the 35,305 blood donor samples, only 101 samples had four or more 'no calls'. As a precautionary measure, from samples with >4 'no calls', no other results were translated into phenotypes, as it was surmised that the DNA quality of that sample was poor. Thus, the other results from that sample which were called were assumed to be less reliable. By this single step, incorrect genotyping results were reduced by 56% [9]. Robustness of the genotyping was indicated by the relatively few >4 'no calls' as well as the low number of 'no calls' for each genotype assay (Table S1).

Currently, we use six selected donors with known genotypes that are included separately in each batch of eight plates to serve as controls. Instead of this approach, it is possible to clone all polymerase chain reaction products for all alleles in a few plasmids and use the linearized plasmids as positive controls; alternatively, we can have all the relevant sequences with all allotypes synthesized and cloned into a plasmid that can be linearized and used as a positive control for all reactions. This would necessitate only one well per batch as genotype control and leave five more wells for blood donor samples and remain a positive control of all allotype reactions.

The observed discrepancy between the RHC genotype and C phenotype (Table 4) can either be due to a genotyping error or to the occurrence of the RHC-specific insertion in other RH alleles. Possibly the C intron assay, albeit better than an assay for the C SNP rs586178, could still be improved.

The rare combinations found with the GATA box and the c.265C>T variant on the FY^*A allele have been previously described [14, 15]. Also, two donors had a combination of the $FY^*02N.01$ and FY^*02W alleles (Table 5). Twenty-four donors were found as homozy-gous $FY^*02N.01$ and thus possibly with benign ethnic neutropenia; this was not investigated further.

We have no good explanation for the seeming lack of Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium for Fy^a/Fy^b .

Explanations for the other deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (MN and Lu) are also somewhat enigmatic, but perhaps a slight suboptimal function of the primers or even the emigration of many years is now reflected in these findings. The reproducibility was judged from both repeat genotyping of donors and the genotyping of the controls included in every batch as batch controls, and the reproducibility was deemed as good, although we know of no formal QC criteria to evaluate the results against. The assessment rendered further evidence for the internal rule of not entering results from samples with >4 'no calls' into the LIMS, as these samples had a slightly lower reproducibility percentage. Because of the way the data were deemed acceptable, the assessment is rather stringent. Also, the finding of more discrepant base calls in the >4 'no call' sample results than among the ≤4 'no call' samples lends support to our internal rule of not entering >4 'no call' sample results into the LIMS but retesting them once.

The many replicates were surprising but are most likely largely due to a delay of entering genotyping information into the LIMS. An awaited IT solution should circumvent this excess testing.

The costs for the complete genotyping of one sample yielding the prediction of 51 antigens is about half of that of phenotyping with determination of 11 antigens—and some phenotypes are impossible to perform due to lack of reagents—making genotyping the only option. Turnaround time for genotyping varied slightly and was about 1 month from shipment of samples to digital receipt of the genotypes by secure ftp. The genotyping was performed with primer sequences that were designed in proprietary software.

In some instances, a CE-marked commercial genotyping kit was used for genotyping patients in whom serotyping could not be used due to recent massive blood transfusion.

In conclusion, the genotyping system has proven very satisfactory, cost-efficient and reliable with a reproducibility of over 99% using the described calculation, and the genotyped donors represent a valuable resource that on several occasions has enabled the timely issuing of rare antigen-negative blood to patients with alloantibodies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the scientists of the biomedical laboratory at the blood bank of Rigshospitalet for their excellent performance in the in-house part of the genotyping process.

K.R. contributed to conception of this genotyping, design of assays and analysis of data and made the first draft of the manuscript; G.R.K. contributed to the design of assays, analysis of data and writing the manuscript; F.B.C. and C.E.H. contributed to writing the draft manuscript and data analysis; M.H.D. contributed to writing the draft manuscript and conceived the topics to be included in the manuscript. All authors contributed to the revision of the manuscript, approved the final version and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Research data are not shared.

ORCID

Klaus Rieneck b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7251-5754 Grethe Risum Krog https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9663-8476

REFERENCES

- Gassner C, Castilho L, Chen Q, Clausen FB, Denomme GA, Flegel WA, et al. International Society of Blood Transfusion Working Party on Red Cell Immunogenetics and Blood Group Terminology Report of Basel and three virtual business meetings: update on blood group systems. Vox Sang. 2022;117:1332–44.
- Lopez M, Apraiz I, Rubia M, Piedrabuena M, Azkarate M, Veldhuisen B, et al. Performance evaluation study of ID CORE XT, a high throughput blood group genotyping platform. Blood Transfus. 2018;16:193–9.

- Meyer S, Trost N, Frey BM, Gassner C. Parallel donor genotyping for 46 selected blood group and 4 human platelet antigens using highthroughput MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Methods Mol Biol. 2015;1310:51–70.
- Gassner C, Meyer S, Frey BM, Vollmert C. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation, time-of-flight mass spectrometry-based blood group genotyping – the alternative approach. Transfus Med Rev. 2013;27:2–9.
- Flegel WA, Gottschall JL, Denomme GA. Implementing mass-scale red cell genotyping at a blood center. Transfusion. 2015;55:2610–5; quiz 09.
- Paccapelo CTF, Antonietta Villa M, Revelli N, Marconi M. HEA BeadChip[™] technology in immunohematology. Immunohematology. 2015;31:81–90.
- Gleadall NS, Veldhuisen B, Gollub J, Butterworth AS, Ord J, Penkett CJ, et al. Development and validation of a universal blood donor genotyping platform: a multinational prospective study. Blood Adv. 2020;4:3495–506.
- Lane WJ, Vege S, Mah HH, Lomas-Francis C, Aguad M, Smeland-Wagman R, et al. Automated typing of red blood cell and platelet antigens from whole exome sequences. Transfusion. 2019;59: 3253-63.
- Krog GR, Rieneck K, Clausen FB, Steffensen R, Dziegiel MH. Blood group genotyping of blood donors: validation of a highly accurate routine method. Transfusion. 2019;59:3264–74.
- 10. Reid ME, Lomas-Francis C, Olsson ML. The blood group antigen FactsBook. 3rd ed. London, UK: Academic Press; 2012.
- Julmy F, Ammann RA, Taleghani BM, Fontana S, Hirt A, Leibundgut K. Transfusion efficacy of ABO major-mismatched platelets (PLTs) in children is inferior to that of ABO-identical PLTs. Transfusion. 2009;49:21–33.
- Joseph A, Murray CJ, Novikov ND, Velliquette RW, Vege S, Halls JBL, et al. ABO genotyping finds more A(2) to B kidney transplant opportunities than lectin-based subtyping. Am J Transplant. 2023;23:512–9.
- Kielsen K, Scharff BFSS, Hansen AT, Madsen LM, Clausen NE, Rieneck K, et al. Genotyping of blood donors for timely procurement of rare antigen-negative blood: a case story of acute HTR and anti-Coa. J Blood Disord Transfus. 2023;14:1–4.
- Zimmerman PA, Woolley I, Masinde GL, Miller SM, McNamara DT, Hazlett F, et al. Emergence of FY*A(null) in a *Plasmodium vivax*endemic region of Papua New Guinea. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:13973-7.
- Lopez GH, Condon JA, Wilson B, Martin JR, Liew YW, Flower RL, et al. A novel FY*A allele with the 265T and 298A SNPs formerly associated exclusively with the FY*B allele and weak Fy(b) antigen expression: implication for genotyping interpretative algorithms. Vox Sang. 2015;108:52–7.
- Curtis BR, McFarland JG. Human platelet antigens 2013. Vox Sang. 2014;106:93–102.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Rieneck K, Krog GR, Clausen FB, Egeberg Hother C, Dziegiel MH. Blood donor genotyping for prediction of blood group antigens: Results from 5 years' experience (2017–2022). Vox Sang. 2023;118:980–7.

SHORT REPORT



A novel allele of FUT2 gene containing a deletion of nine bases (c.461_469delGGACCTTCT) in a Chinese Han blood donor

Shihang Zhou¹ | Living Wang² | Wengian Song¹ | Yuexin Xia¹ | Linnan Shao¹ | Xiaohua Liang¹

¹Dalian Blood Center, Dalian, China ²College of Laboratory Medicine, Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China

Correspondence Xiaohua Liang, Dalian Blood Center, Dalian, China Email: liangxiaohua1968@126.com

Funding information The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Abstract

Background and Objectives: The FUT2 gene is responsible for the synthesis of the H antigen in body secretions. It is highly polymorphic and population specific. We investigated the FUT2 gene polymorphism in Chinese blood donors and found a novel deletion mutation in one non-secretor individual. This study aimed to identify mutation(s) responsible for a non-secretor phenotype.

Materials and Methods: The Lewis blood group of a Chinese Han blood donor was typed using the standard serological technique and the FUT2 gene of the sample was analysed by Sanger sequencing. Clone sequencing was performed for determining the haplotype of the FUT2 gene. Bioinformatics tools were used for predicting the effect of the deletion on the FUT2 gene.

Results: A novel nine-base deletion (c.461_469delGGACCTTCT) in the FUT2 gene was identified in a Chinese Han blood donor. Two haplotypes Se^{390,418} and se^{204,249,461_469del,772,993} were determined by clone sequencing. According to the prediction of bioinformatics tools, the mutation at c.461_469delGGACCTTCT might not influence the activity of the Se enzyme.

Conclusion: We identified a new FUT2 mutation, the deletion of nine bases (c.461_469delGGACCTTCT), in a Chinese Han blood donor. This deletion was reported for the first time.

Keywords

deletion, FUT2, SNP

Highlights

- The FUT2 gene is responsible for the synthesis of the H antigen in body secretions.
- It is highly polymorphic and population specific.
- We report here a new FUT2 mutation, the deletion of nine bases (c.461_469delGGACCTTCT), in a Chinese Han blood donor.

INTRODUCTION

H blood group system consists of a single antigen, the H antigen, which serves as a crucial precursor for the A and B antigens. The expression of the H antigen is controlled by two genes: FUT1 and FUT2. The FUT1

Shihang Zhou and Liying Wang contributed equally to this work.

gene governs the H antigen on red blood cells (RBCs), while the FUT2 gene regulates the H antigen in body secretions, excluding the cerebrospinal fluid. The FUT2 gene encodes the secretor-type $\alpha(1,2)$ -fucosyltransferase (Se enzyme) that adds a fucose to the type I oligosaccharide chain, producing the H antigen [1]. The FUT2 gene, located on chromosome 19, consists of two exons and encodes a 343-amino acid protein, the Se enzyme. Individuals who carry at least one active FUT2 allele (Se) are secretors and possess H antigens in their body secretions. Non-secretors carry homozygotes for the inactive FUT2 allele (se) and lack the H antigen [2]. Additionally, weak secretors express lower levels of H antigens compared with secretors. Weak secretors can be either homozygotes (Se^w/Se^w) for the weak-secretor allele or heterozygotes (Se^w/se). Moreover, the FUT2 gene also influences the Lewis phenotypes, while the FUT3 gene controls the expression of the Lewis antigens. Individuals with homozygotes for non-functional FUT3 alleles exhibit the Lewis-negative phenotype (Le(a-b-)) regardless of their secretor status. Conversely, individuals with at least one functional FUT3 allele can have three different Lewis-positive phenotypes depending on the secretor status. Secretors display the Le(a-b+) phenotype, non-secretors have the Le(a+b-)phenotype and weak secretors possess the Le(a+b+) phenotype [1].

Since 1995, the *FUT2* gene has been cloned and separated [2], and numerous *FUT2* alleles resulting from single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), deletion-based mutations and non-allelic homologous recombination have been identified [3]. *FUT2*01N.02* (c.461G>A) is most common in Caucasian and African with a frequency of approximately 20%. Conversely, the *FUT2*01W.02.01* (c.418A>T) is specific to East and Southeast Asian populations including Chinese, Japanese and Vietnamese with a frequency of around 50%. The synonymous variant c.390C>T is found in various populations, containing Chinese. Considering the genetic diversity and ethnicity-specificity of the *FUT2* gene, we analysed its polymorphism in Chinese blood donors. An allele with a new deletion (c.461_469delGGACCTTCT) was discovered in a non-secretor donor. Our objective was to characterize this allele and investigate its association with the non-secretor phenotype.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample collection and Lewis typing

The peripheral blood sample was collected with informed consent from a Han nationality blood donor in Dalian who is blood group O and RhD positive. The ethical procedures were taken and approved by the Ethics Committee of Dalian Blood Center. For evaluating the secretor status, Lewis typing was performed using a standard tube agglutination test with monoclonal anti-Le^a and anti-Le^b antibodies (Rapid Labs Ltd, Colchester, UK).

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and DNA sequencing

Genomic DNA was extracted from ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) anti-coagulated blood using an Automated Nucleic

_____Vox Sanguinis

TABLE 1 Primer sequences used in this study.

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
FUT2_Amp_F	TGCCAAGTATTTACACACCTGAAG
FUT2_Amp_R	GATTTCTGTTACTTGCAGCCCA
FUT2_F1_R	AGTCGTTCAGGTGGTAGTTCTGC
FUT2_F2_F	TGTACGCCCTGGCCAAGA
FUT2_F3_F	CCATGTCATGCCAAAAGTGTG

Note: FUT2_Amp_F and FUT2_Amp_R were used for PCR amplification. FUT2_F1_R, FUT2_F2_F and FUT2_F3_F were used for Sanger sequencing.

Acid Extractor (RBC Bioscience Corporation, Taiwan) following the manufacturer's instruction. The entire coding region of *FUT2* was amplified in a 50 μ L reaction of 25 μ L AmpliTaq Gold[®] 360 Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Lithuania), 1 μ L 360 EC Enhancer, 1 μ L forward primer, 1 μ L reverse primer (final concentration 0.4 μ M each) and 150 ng DNA. The temperature profile was 94°C for 1 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturing at 92°C for 30 s, annealing at 55°C for 50 s, extension at 72°C for 40 s and a final extension at 72°C for 1 min. Subsequently, the PCR amplicons were sequenced by BGI Tech Solutions (Beijing, China). The primer sequences used (Table 1) were obtained from a previous literature [4]. For determining the *FUT2* gene haplotypes, the PCR amplicon containing the novel mutation was cloned into a plasmid and sequenced by General Biol (Chuzhou, China).

In silico analysis

We utilized Mutation Taster (http://mutationtaster.org/) and MutPred-Indel (http://mutpred.mutdb.org/) to predict the possible impact of the new deletion on Se enzyme function and the pathogenicity of this deletion, respectively. Swiss Model (http://www. swissmodel.expasy.org/) was then used for predicting 3D structures for both wild-type Se enzyme and variant caused by the c.461_ 469delGGACCTTCT mutation. Subsequently, Swiss-Pdb Viewer 4.0.1 was performed for marking specific amino acid sites on the generated 3D protein structures. In addition, the long coding region of the *FUT2* gene (1032 bp:343 amino acid) was used for numbering the nucleotide positions.

RESULTS

Lewis typing

Based on the serological test results, the Lewis blood group of the subject was determined as Le(a+b-). Specifically, the subject's RBC exhibited 2+ strength of the agglutination with monoclonal anti-Le^a and no agglutination with monoclonal anti-Le^b. Therefore, it can be speculated that the subject is a non-secretor.

989

FUT2 genotyping and haplotype analysis

In this study, we identified a deletion site and six SNPs at the FUT2 locus in the donor. Of them, the c.461 469delGGACCTTCT is a ninebase deletion, while c.204A>G (rs492602), c.249C>T (rs681343), c.390C>T (rs281377) and c.993A>G (rs485186) are synonymous mutations and c.418A>T (rs1047781) and c.772G>A (rs602662) are missense mutations. All of these variants were found to be heterozygous. The deletion site c.461_469delGGACCTTCT led to a change in four amino acids at positions 154-157, which were encoded by the coding region sequence of FUT2 at positions 460-471. Due to the deletion of nine bases at positions 461–469, the remaining three bases recombined to form a new codon, which encoded the amino acid tyrosine (Tyr) at position 154 in the variant Se enzyme sequence (Figure 1). This new amino acid in the variant sequence was identical to the amino acid present at position 157 in the wild-type sequence. Consequently, compared with the wild type, the variant lacked three amino acids, namely, p.154delW, p.155delT and p.156delF. The amino acids following position 157 remained unchanged, but their positions

14230410, 2023, 11, Downloaded from https nelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/vox.13528 by Cornell University E-Resources & Serials Department, Wiley Online Library on [24/02/2025]. See the Term) on Wiley Online Library for rules OA articles governed by the applicable Creative Commo

have shifted forward by three positions. As a result, the length of the amino acid sequence has changed from 343 amino acids to 340 amino acids.

Then, we determined two haplotypes, which were identified as allele $Se^{390,418}$ and allele $se^{204,249,461_{-}469del,772,993}$ (Figure 2). The allele carrying the novel deletion c.461_469delGGACCTTCT represents a new variant of the *FUT2* gene observed in a Chinese blood donor.

In silico analysis

The mutation at c.461_469delGGACCTTCT was predicted as a 'polymorphism' by Mutation Taster, suggesting that it might not influence the activity of the Se enzyme, and the deletion with a MutPred-Indel score of 0.55889, indicating that the deletion has some potential to be pathogenic, but it is not strongly predicted to be so. Furthermore, the 3D structures obtained through the Swiss Model demonstrated that the amino acid sequence of the Se enzyme with



FIGURE 1 The c.461-469delGGACCTTCT deletion in the *FUT2* gene caused a change in the amino acid sequence of the Se enzyme. (a) In the wild-type *FUT2* gene, the bases at positions 460-471 encode four amino acids. (b) In the variant *FUT2* gene carrying the c.461-469delGGACCTTCT deletion, the bases at positions 460-471 encode only one amino acid. The '-' indicates a base deletion. The amino acids in images included tryptophan (Trp), threonine (Thr), phenylalanine (Phe) and tyrosine (Tyr).



FIGURE 2 Two haplotypes obtained by Clone sequencing in the *FUT2* gene of a Chinese donor. (a) Se^{390,418} haplotype and (b) se^{204,249,461-469del,772,993} haplotype.



FIGURE 3 (a) 3D structure of the wild-type *FUT2* enzyme, with a focus on a selected region. The amino acids at positions 151–153, 154–156 and 157–159 were represented by the colours blue, green and red, respectively. (b) 3D structure of the variant *FUT2* enzyme resulting from the c.461_469del GGACCTTCT mutation, with a specific section enlarged. The amino acids at positions 151–153 and 154–156 were represented by the colours blue and red, respectively. (b) cysteine (Cys), serine (Ser), tryptophan (Trp), threonine (Thr), phenylalanine (Phe), tyrosine (Tyr) and histidine (His).

the c.461_469delGGACCTTCT mutation lost three amino acids at positions 154, 155 and 156 (Figure 3). Interestingly, it appeared that the amino acid at position 153 in the wild-type sequence was directly connected to the amino acid tyrosine (Tyr) at position 157. Coincidentally, in the variant Se enzyme with the c.461_469delGGACCTTCT mutation, the amino acid at position 154 was also tyrosine (Tyr).

DISCUSSION

In our study, we identified a deletion at c.461_469delGGACCTTCT and six SNPs at c.204A>G, c.249C>T, c.390C>T, c.418A>T, c.772G>A and c.993A>G by Sanger sequencing and two haplotypes Se^{390,418} and se^{204,249,461_469del,772,993} by clone sequencing in the *FUT2* gene of a Chinese donor. The six SNPs have been reported previously [5]. However, the c.461_469delGGACCTTCT deletion site is a novel discovery.

Previous studies have indicated that the SNP c.390C>T does not influence the activity of the Se enzyme. However, the SNP c.418A>T has been found to reduce or even eliminate the expression of the Se enzyme, resulting in a weak-secretor or non-secretor phenotype. This can lead to the Lewis(a+b+) or Lewis(a+b-) phenotype, respectively [6]. Thus, the allele Se^{390,418} can cause weak-secretor or non-secretor status. Moreover, the Se^{390,418} allele is prevalent and restricted to East and Southeast Asian populations [7]. On the other hand, the deletion at c.461_469delGGACCTTCT was found to be linked with four SNPs at c.204A>G, c.249C>T, c.772G>A and c.993A>G, forming a new allele se^{204,249,461_469del,772,993} in our study. It is important to note that these four SNPs are most accompanied by the c.461G>A mutation. The se^{204,249,461,772,993} allele has been previously reported in African, Peruvian and Chinese populations, and this

allele can cause a non-secretor phenotype [5, 8, 9]. Based on the prediction from the Lewis phenotype, the donor may be a non-secretor lacking H antigen in body secretions. However, the mechanism for the non-secretor phenotype related to the new allele se^{204,249,461-469del,772,993} remains undetermined in our study. The synonymous SNPs c.204A>G, c.249C>T and c.993A>G do not lead to non-secretor phenotype [2]. For the c.772G>A, a study suggested that c.772G>A is responsible for some non-secretor cases [10], while another study demonstrated that the allele with c.772G>A encoded an efficient Se enzyme [11]. Consequently, the relationship between c.772G>A and the non-secretor phenotype remains uncertain. Thus, the allele se^{204,249,461-469del,772,993} mav be relevant to the non-secretor status due to the c.461_469delG-GACCTTCT. However, it is essential to note that the bioinformatics tools predicted that the c.461_469delGGACCTTCT may not affect the function of Se enzyme. Further investigations are necessary to determine the exact influence of this allele on secretor status. Additionally, strong linkage disequilibrium was observed between several SNPs in the intron and the coding region of FUT2 [12], suggesting a potential influence of the non-coding region on the secretor status.

Excepting the SNPs, various types of deletions have been identified in the human *FUT2* gene, such as the *FUT2*0N.03* (Fusion gene 1 between *FUT2* and *Sec1*) is predominantly found in Japanese populations with a frequency of about 5%-9% [7]. Non-allelic homologous recombination events mediated by log terminal repeat have been observed in the *FUT2* gene of Peruvian [8]. These deletions both involve the loss of coding regions within the *FUT2* gene, causing the absence of H antigen expression in body secretions. Furthermore, several deletions, such as c.811delC and c.721_723delGTC in the *FUT2* gene, have been associated with non-secretor alleles [6, 9]. In our study, we identified a novel nine-base deletion at c.461_469delGGACCTTCT within the *FUT2* gene. In silico analysis suggested that this deletion might not affect the function of the Se enzyme. Additionally, the bioinformatics tools are greatly valuable for predicting the effect of amino acid substitutions on enzyme function. However, the results are only prediction and cannot ensure 100% accuracy. Therefore, further experimental investigations are needed to verify the actual impact of this mutation on the Se enzyme function.

In summary, we discovered a novel allele carrying the c.461_469delGGACCTTCT deletion in the *FUT2* gene of a Chinese Han blood donor. This deletion was first reported, and this deletion site may not affect the Se enzyme function.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

X.L. designed the study; S.Z. and L.W. performed serological testing, PCR amplification and in silico analysis; S.Z., L.W., W.S., Y.X. and L.S. analysed and interpreted the data; S.Z. and L.W. drafted the manuscript; all authors reviewed and edited the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors have no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author, upon reasonable request.

ORCID

992

Shihang Zhou ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9295-7747 Linnan Shao ^D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9025-4957

REFERENCES

- Clausen H, Hakomori S-i. ABH and related histo-blood group antigens; immunochemical differences in carrier isotypes and their distribution. Vox Sang. 1989;56:1–20.
- Kelly RJ, Rouquier S, Giorgi D, Lennon GG, Lowe JB. Sequence and expression of a candidate for the human secretor blood group alpha(1,2)fucosyltransferase gene (FUT2). Homozygosity for an enzyme-inactivating nonsense mutation commonly correlates with the non-secretor phenotype. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:4640–9.

- Ferrer-Admetlla A, Sikora M, Laayouni H, Esteve A, Roubinet F, Blancher A, et al. A natural history of FUT2 polymorphism in humans. Mol Biol Evol. 2009;26:1993–2003.
- 4. Matzhold EM, Helmberg W, Wagner T, Drexler C, Ulrich S, Winkler A, et al. Identification of 14 new alleles at the fucosyltransferase 1, 2, and 3 loci in Styrian blood donors, Austria. Transfusion. 2009;49:2097–108.
- Yip SP, Lai SK, Wong ML. Systematic sequence analysis of the human fucosyltransferase 2 (FUT2) gene identifies novel sequence variations and alleles. Transfusion. 2007;47:1369–80.
- Peng CT, Tsai CH, Lin TP, Perng LI, Kao MC, Yang TY, et al. Molecular characterization of secretor type α(1,2)-fucosyltransferase gene deficiency in the Philippine population. Ann Hematol. 1999;78:463–7.
- Soejima M, Koda Y. Estimation of Lewis blood group status by fluorescence melting curve analysis in simultaneous genotyping of c.385A>T and fusion gene in FUT2 and c.59T>G and c.314C>T in FUT3. Diagnostics (Basel). 2023;13:931.
- Soejima M, Koda Y. Genetic variation of FUT2 in a Peruvian population: identification of a novel LTR-mediated deletion and characterization of 4 nonsynonymous single-nucleotide polymorphisms. Transfusion. 2019;59:2415–21.
- Soejima M, Pang H, Koda Y. Genetic variation of FUT2 in a Ghanaian population: identification of four novel mutations and inference of balancing selection. Ann Hematol. 2007;86:199–204.
- Serpa J, Mendes N, Reis CA, Santos Silva LF, Almeida R, Le Pendu J, et al. Two new FUT2 (fucosyltransferase 2 gene) missense polymorphisms, 739G→A and 839T→C, are partly responsible for nonsecretor status in a Caucasian population from Northern Portugal. Biochem J. 2004;383:469–74.
- Silva LM, Carvalho AS, Guillon P, Seixas S, Azevedo M, Almeida R, et al. Infection-associated FUT2 (fucosyltransferase 2) genetic variation and impact on functionality assessed by in vivo studies. Glycoconj J. 2010;27:61–8.
- Williams JE, McGuire MK, Meehan CL, McGuire MA, Brooker SL, Kamau-Mbuthia EW, et al. Key genetic variants associated with variation of milk oligosaccharides from diverse human populations. Genomics. 2021;113:1867–75.

How to cite this article: Zhou S, Wang L, Song W, Xia Y, Shao L, Liang X. A novel allele of *FUT2* gene containing a deletion of nine bases (c.461_469delGGACCTTCT) in a Chinese Han blood donor. Vox Sang. 2023;118:988–92.

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13532

SHORT REPORT



Increasing the time-to-freezing for clinical apheresis plasma meets quality specifications

Dimitra Marinakis³

Kelly M. Winter¹ | Rachel G. Webb¹ | Eugenia Mazur¹ | Sue Ismay² | Denese C. Marks^{1,4}

¹Research and Development, Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Alexandria, New South Wales, Australia

²Manufacturing and Logistics, Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Alexandria, New South Wales, Australia

³Manufacturing and Logistics, Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, West Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

⁴Sydney Medical School. The University of Sydney, Camperdown, New South Wales, Australia

Correspondence

Kelly M. Winter, Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, 17 O'Riordan Street, Alexandria, NSW 2015, Australia. Email: kwinter@redcrossblood.org.au

Funding information Australian Government

Abstract

Background and Objectives: In Australia, the vast distances between blood collection centres and processing facilities make it challenging to align supply with demand. Increasing the time to freezing for clinical plasma beyond 6 h would alleviate supply issues. This study aimed to determine the quality of clinical apheresis plasma frozen within 12 h of collection.

Materials and Methods: Apheresis plasma (n = 20) collected at donor centres was immediately transported to a blood processing facility, stored at 26°C and sampled aseptically at 6, 8 and 12 h post collection. Frozen samples were thawed, and coagulation factors (F) II, V, VII, VIII and XIII, von Willebrand factor (vWF) and fibrinogen were measured using a coagulation analyser.

Results: FVIII concentrations declined in plasma frozen at 6, 8 and 12 h post collection $(1.22 \pm 0.27, 1.21 \pm 0.25$ and 1.16 ± 0.24 IU/mL, respectively) but not significantly (p = 0.3338). Importantly, all components met the FVIII specification (>0.7 IU/mL) for clinical plasma. Fibrinogen concentrations were stable from 6 to 12 h (p = 0.3100), as were vWF concentrations (p = 0.1281). Coagulation factors II, V, VII and XIII were not significantly different (p > 0.05 for all factors).

Conclusion: Clinical apheresis plasma can be frozen within 12 h of collection, allowing collections from donor centres further from processing centres and increasing supply.

Keywords

apheresis plasma, coagulation factor VIII, time to freeze

Highlights

- Coagulation factor VIII concentrations decreased in plasma frozen at 12 h post collection but were not significantly different from those in plasma frozen at 6 h.
- · Fibrinogen and von Willebrand factor antigen concentrations were maintained in plasma frozen at 12 h post collection compared with plasma frozen 6 h post collection.
- Immunoglobulin G was stable in plasma frozen 6, 8 and 12 h post collection.

INTRODUCTION

Plasma demand continues to grow; in 2021-2022 the demand for plasma-derived products increased by 13% in Australia

(internal communication). Clinical fresh frozen plasma (cFFP) is primarily transfused to correct deficiencies of clotting factors, for which a specific concentrate is not available, in patients with active bleeding or at risk of bleeding [1]; as a replacement fluid in
thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura; and for clotting factor replacement in congenital or acquired bleeding diseases [2]. The exponential growth in fractionated plasma products such as intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) is also putting pressure on supply.

In Australia, there are vast distances between blood collection centres and blood processing facilities, making it challenging to align clinical plasma supply with demand, especially for AB plasma. Australia is mandated to follow the Council of Europe (CoE)'s *Guide to the preparation*, *use and quality assurance of blood components*. Historically, apheresis plasma was required to be frozen within 6 h of collection. However, in the 19th Edition of the CoE guidelines, the requirement for apheresis plasma has been updated to 'Freezing must commence either within 6 hours of collection or within a timeframe validated to result in a component meeting specification' [3]. As such, the time to freeze apheresis plasma could be extended if the quality is acceptable.

The stability of plasma frozen at various temperatures $(-18^{\circ}C, -25^{\circ}C, -65^{\circ}C)$, for different periods (1, 3, 7 years), and the stability of thawed plasma up to 5 days have been previously examined [4, 5]. There are also studies examining the time to separation and freezing of plasma derived from whole blood (<8 h, 18–24 h) [2, 6, 7], but limited studies have investigated the time to freezing for apheresis plasma. Given the limited data, the aim of this study was to compare the quality of clinical apheresis plasma frozen within 6, 8 and 12 h of collection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This project was approved by the Australian Red Cross Lifeblood Ethics Committee.

Apheresis plasma suitable for clinical use was collected according to standard procedures using the Aurora plasmapheresis platform (Fresenius Kabi, Bad Homburg, Germany), with end-saline infusion (n = 20; 10 group O and 10 non-group O). Plasma was packed and transported to a manufacturing facility within 2 h of collection. Upon arrival, plasma was incubated (Labec, Marrickville, NSW, Australia) at 26 ± 1°C (worst case scenario for blood shipping in Australia) for up to 12 h. Sample segments were prepared aseptically at 5.5, 7.5 and 11.5 h post collection and frozen in a rapid plasma freezer (RPF; Arrowsmith and Grant Refrigeration, Dandenong South, VIC, Australia) and stored below -25° C until tested. The remaining apheresis plasma collections were split into two to three components, depending on volume, and then frozen in an RPF and stored below -25° C.

Plasma segments were thawed in a 37°C water bath, and then visually inspected for turbidity, clots, fibrin strands, red cell or haemoglobin contamination or any other discolouration before being aliquoted for testing. Plasma was tested immediately for coagulation factors VIII and XIII, fibrinogen, von Willebrand factor antigen (vWF:Ag), activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) and



FIGURE 1 Coagulation factors in apheresis plasma that was frozen 6, 8 and 12 h post collection. (a) Coagulation factor VIII (FVIII), (b) von Willebrand factor antigen (vWF:Ag), and (c) fibrinogen were measured using a coagulation analyser. (d) Immunoglobulin G (IgG) was measured in plasma using a biochemistry analyser. Data points represent individual components; the horizontal lines represent the mean, and the error bars represent SD (n = 20). The horizontal dashed line is the minimum quality control specification for FVIII. *p*-Values were obtained using repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance.

antithrombin III (ATIII). Aliquots were frozen at -80°C for subsequent testing of prothrombin time (PT), coagulation factors II, V and VII, protein C, complement components C3a and C5a and immunoglobulin G (IgG).

Coagulation assays including PT, APTT, coagulation factors (FII, FV, FVII, FVIII, FXIII), protein C, fibrinogen, ATIII and vWF:Ag were performed using an automated coagulation analyser (STACompact; Diagnostica Stago Ltd., Asnieres, France). These factors were tested using one-stage clotting assays according to the manufacturer's instructions using STA reagents and standardized using reference plasma.

Complement components, C3a and C5a, were measured using a solid-phase sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. IgG was measured using a biochemistry analyser (Architect c8000, Abbott Diagnostics. Abbott Park. IL) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using MS Excel and GraphPad Prism version 7.03. Mean and SDs were calculated. Comparisons of 6-, 8- and 12-h data were made using a repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance. For all analyses, p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The mean apheresis plasma volume was 819 ± 30 mL. The temperature during shipping ranged from 23.0 to 27.9°C. The mean temperature of the apheresis plasma during incubation was 25.9 ± 0.5°C. Although the aim was to freeze plasma after 6, 8 and 12 h, the actual times at which the plasma entered the RPF were 5:45 ± 0:25, 7:41 ± 0:28 and 12:14 ± 0:34 h:min post collection, and the freezing cycle took a further 25 min to complete.

TABLE 1 Apheresis plasma quality indicators over the extended time to freeze, 6, 8 and 12 h (mean \pm SD, n = 20).

Parameter	6 h	8 h	12 h	p-Value ^a
ATIII (IU/mL)	1.05 ± 0.10	1.06 ± 0.10	1.05 ± 0.10	0.7819
APTT (s)	30.5 ± 2.2	30.4 ± 2.3	30.6 ± 2.1	0.1166
PT (s)	12.9 ± 0.9	12.9 ± 0.9	13.0 ± 0.9	0.0735
FII (IU/mL)	0.86 ± 0.12	0.86 ± 0.13	0.85 ± 0.12	0.4857
FV (IU/mL)	0.95 ± 0.25	0.94 ± 0.26	0.93 ± 0.23	0.6969
FVII (IU/mL)	0.96 ± 0.24	0.96 ± 0.26	0.94 ± 0.23	0.3108
FXIII (IU/mL)	1.42 ± 0.37	1.33 ± 0.34	1.38 ± 0.32	0.0676
Protein C (IU/mL)	0.98 ± 0.16	0.97 ± 0.16	0.96 ± 0.16	0.1877
C3a (µg/mL)	4.9 ± 1.0	4.8 ± 1.0	4.8 ± 1.0	0.5815
C5a (µg/mL)	57.5 ± 12.3	56.2 ± 11.4	56.4 ± 11.0	0.2123

Abbreviations: APTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; ATIII, antithrombin III; C, complement component; F, factor; PT. prothrombin time.

^ap-Value determined using repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance.

The only quality control specification for apheresis plasma is FVIII (≥0.70 IU/mL). The mean FVIII concentration after a 12-h post-collection hold prior to freezing was 1.16 ± 0.24 IU/mL (Figure 1a). However, apheresis plasma is also manufactured into cryoprecipitate, for which vWF:Ag and fibrinogen are also quality control requirements (Figure 1b,c). There was no significant differences in vWF:Ag (p = 0.1281) or fibrinogen

Additional coagulation parameters, namely PT, APTT, FII, FV, FVII, FXIII, ATIII and protein C, were maintained during the 12-h hold of apheresis plasma (Table 1). There was no significant difference in complement activation during the 12-h hold, as determined by C3a or C5a measurements (Table 1). IgG concentrations were also stable (Figure 1d).

(p = 0.3100) concentrations after a 12-h hold post collection.

DISCUSSION

Plasma demand is continually growing, and one way to expand clinical supply is to extend the time to freezing for clinical apheresis plasma. This enables clinical collections to be made at collection centres further from the processing facility and allows for unexpected transport delays. This study evaluated the quality of apheresis plasma after an extended hold at worst case scenario blood shipping temperatures (26°C) for 6, 8 and 12 h post collection, and found that the quality was not significantly affected by the increased time-to-freezing. The quality of the apheresis plasma, particularly for FVIII, vWF and fibrinogen, aligned with that reported in the literature [8].

FVIII is the most labile coagulation factor in plasma and therefore used as a quality indicator for plasma components [9, 10]. FVIII is known to degrade with time, especially when plasma is stored at room temperature [10]; however, there needs to be a balance between the feasibility of processing and quality. Although there were no significant differences in FVIII concentrations in apheresis plasma frozen 6, 8 and 12 h post collection, one component failed to meet the minimum specification (≥0.70 IU/mL) when frozen 12 h post collection. This component was from a group O positive donor. Blood groups contribute to the levels of some coagulation factors. In particular, group O donors have the lowest FVIII plasma levels [6, 9]. The CoE guidelines require the average FVIII concentration to be ≥0.70 IU/mL, and a minimum of 90% of the units tested must meet this value [3]. Therefore, the plasma in this study would meet this specification (mean FVIII in plasma frozen 12 h post collection was 1.16 ± 0.24 IU/mL with a pass rate of 95%).

vWF plays a major role in blood coagulation; its primary functions are binding to other proteins and in platelet adhesion to wound sites [11]. The vWF antigen concentrations were not significantly different in apheresis plasma frozen 12 h post collection (p = 0.1281). One plasma component had a much higher concentration (1.88-1.94 IU/mL), which was above the normal reference range (0.50-1.60 IU/mL). This component could be considered an outlier, but even if it were excluded from this study, it would not affect the outcome, and therefore the data were not excluded from the analyses.

Fibrinogen plays a crucial role in haemostasis, as it is the substrate for fibrin clot formation. The fibrinogen concentrations did not change

995

996 Vox Sanguinis

in apheresis plasma that was frozen 12 h post collection (p = 0.3100). One plasma component had a fibrinogen concentration above the normal range (2–4 g/L), which was outside two SDs of the mean and could also be considered an outlier.

Due to growing demand for IgG components, there is a strong interest in IgG levels in plasma for fractionation, and it has become a commonly used quality indicator for plasmapheresis collections [12]. There were no significant differences in IgG concentrations in apheresis plasma frozen 12 h post collection (p = 0.5106).

The main limitation of the study was that the samples at each time point were from a segment and not from a routine apheresis-split component. Although segments are used for routine quality control testing, there can be some discrepancies compared to the blood pack due to differing rates of freezing and thawing. As a segment would freeze faster, better preservation of coagulation factors would be expected. However, the segment would also thaw faster and may be exposed to higher temperatures, thus potentially degrading the coagulation factors. To use apheresis-split components at each time point, 3 times as many plasma components would be required, and because of the high demand in plasma, this was not feasible at the time of the study.

In conclusion, there were no significant differences in the quality of apheresis-derived plasma that was frozen 6, 8 and 12 h post collection while being maintained at a temperature of 26°C. The recommendation based on the data presented here is that the time-to-freezing apheresis clinical plasma could be extended from 6 to 12 h post collection. This allows collections from more donor centres further from blood processing centres, and for unexpected transport delays from closer donor centres, thereby increasing supply to meet the growing demand for plasma. The findings from this study have been confirmed in a manufacturing validation, and the data has been submitted to our regulatory authority for review.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge Australian Red Cross Lifeblood donors for their valuable donations and the Sydney Processing Team for their assistance in obtaining these donations. Australian governments fund Australian Red Cross Lifeblood to provide blood, blood products and services to the Australian community.

K.M.W., D.C.M. and S.I. designed the research study, K.M.W., R.G.W., E.M. and D.M. performed the research, and collected and analysed the data and K.M.W. wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed and edited the manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

D.C.M. has received research funding from Macopharma and Cryogenics Holdings in the past 2 years. The other authors have no conflict of interests to declare.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Research data are not shared.

ORCID

Kelly M. Winter b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8423-3618 Denese C. Marks b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3674-6934

REFERENCES

- Liumbruno G, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, Piccoli P, Rossetti G. Recommendations for the transfusion of plasma and platelets. Blood Transfus. 2009;7:132–50.
- Alhumaidan H, Cheves T, Holme S, Sweeney J. Stability of coagulation factors in plasma prepared after a 24-hour room temperature hold. Transfusion. 2010;50:1934–42.
- 3. Guide to the preparation, use and quality assurance of blood components. 19th ed. Strasbourg: Council of Europe; 2017.
- Sheffield WP, Bhakta V, Mastronardi C, Ramirez-Arcos S, Howe D, Jenkins C. Changes in coagulation factor activity and content of di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate in frozen plasma units during refrigerated storage for up to five days after thawing. Transfusion. 2012;52: 493–502.
- Rijnhout TWH, Noorman F, Kort BD, Zoodsma M, Hoencamp R. Prolonged (post-thaw) shelf life of -80°C frozen AB apheresis plasma. Transfusion. 2020;60:1846-55.
- Wang Z, Du X, Li C, Ma L, Sun P, Cao H, et al. Coagulation factors and inhibitors in thawed plasma stored at 1–6°C for 5 days in China. Transfus Apher Sci. 2014;50:274–80.
- Dumont LJ, Cancelas JA, Maes LA, Rugg N, Whitley P, Herschel L, et al. The bioequivalence of frozen plasma prepared from whole blood held overnight at room temperature compared to fresh-frozen plasma prepared within eight hours of collection. Transfusion. 2015; 55:476–84.
- Burnouf T, Kappelsberger C, Frank K, Burkhardt T. Protein composition and activation markers in plasma collected by three apheresis procedures. Transfusion. 2003;43:1223–9.
- Lawrie AS, Cardigan RA, Williamson LM, Machin SJ, Mackie IJ. The dynamics of clot formation in fresh-frozen plasma. Vox Sang. 2008; 94:306–14.
- Swärd-Nilsson A-M, Persson P-O, Johnson U, Lethagen S. Factors influencing factor VIII activity in frozen plasma. Vox Sang. 2006;90: 33–9.
- 11. Franchini M, Capra F, Targher G, Montagnana M, Lippi G. Relationship between ABO blood group and von Willebrand factor levels: from biology to clinical implications. Thromb J. 2007;5:14.
- Burkhardt T, Rothe R, Moog R. Immunoglobulin G levels during collection of large volume plasma for fractionation. Transfus Apher Sci. 2017;56:417–20.

How to cite this article: Winter KM, Webb RG, Mazur E, Ismay S, Marinakis D, Marks DC. Increasing the time-tofreezing for clinical apheresis plasma meets quality specifications. Vox Sang. 2023;118:993–6. DOI: 10.1111/vox.13519

INTERNATIONAL FORUM

International Forum on Management of Blood Donors with Culture-Positive Platelet Donations: Summary

Ralph Vassallo | Hany Kamel | Ruchika Goel | Arwa Z. Al-Riyami | Zakariya Al Muharrmi | Cyril Jacquot | Sandra Ramirez-Arcos | Aditi Khandelwal | Mindy Goldman | Katie Hands | Lorna McLintock | Heather Mitchell | Silvano Wendel | Patrícia Scuracchio | Roberta Fachini | Sandra M. Pettersson | Jesper Bengtsson | Susan R. Brailsford | Joanne Tossell | Luiz Amorim | Maria Esther Lopes | Margarida Pêcego | Marc Germain | Christian Renaud | Sarah L. Morley | Ronald So | Mary Townsend | [Courtney Hopkins | Lene H. Harritshoej | Christian Erikstrup | Iain B. Gosbell | Melanie H. Levin | Peta M. Dennington | Nancy Dunbar

INTRODUCTION

Bacterial contamination of platelets (Plts) stored at room temperature represents the highest risk for infection and fatality of any transfusable blood component. Contamination mitigation procedures include optimization of arm disinfection, sample diversion of initially collected blood, shorter dating or pathogen inactivation to avoid or prevent log-phase bacterial growth as well as detection of bacteria through immunoassay for bacterial antigens, assays for bacterial metabolic activity or bacterial culture [1]. Point-of-care assays are operationally challenging for transfusion services, which often prefer that the blood collection establishments (BCEs) employ enhanced culture strategies or provide pathogen-reduced Plt products.

The aim of this International Forum was to understand not only how Plt bacterial culture strategies are being employed by blood collectors internationally but, more specifically, how culture results impact donor management and ongoing donation eligibility. Using a proposed consensus definition of bottle and unit culture results following an automated sample incubator alarm [2], we desired to catalogue BCE procedures and donor work-ups as well as evaluation strategies for various scenarios, ranging from machine false-positive alarms to potentially bacteremic blood donors.

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES

Participants

An invitation to participate in this International Forum was sent to 19 BCEs either routinely employing Plt bacterial culture or with extensive Plt culture quality control programs. Of these, 14 (74%) respondents provided program demographics and summarized their culture practices. The Brazil–Hospital Centre data were not included in this summary as that centre only produces pathogen-reduced Plts, with 1% cultured at outdate for quality control purposes. Here we describe responses from the remaining 13 BCEs.

We provided a rubric for respondents categorizing four levels of suspicion for Plt unit contamination with organisms of varying pathogenicity and environmental, skin or bloodstream mechanisms for bag entry (Table 1). Participants described their evaluation strategies for each of five scenarios, selecting from within the same 12 options to investigate the equipment used in the collection, observe phlebotomy and culture inoculation techniques, address various aspects of donor health and make decisions about future donor eligibility. Respondents were provided the opportunity to provide additional details if there were additional considerations or actions important in investigation of the various scenarios. The five scenarios included definite or likely

TABLE 1 Rubrics for alarm investigation outcomes.

Alarm investigation definitions	Confirmed positive	Unconfirmed positive (inoculation contamination or unit self-sterilization)	Indeterminate	False positive (machine error)	False negative (confirmed septic reaction, visually abnormal or point-of-care test-positive and culture-positive)
Culture instrument alarm	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Instrument bottle culture	Pos	Pos	Pos/ND	Neg	ND
Single or split Plt unit culture	Pos	Neg	Neg/ND	Neg/ND	Pos (unit-only or unit and patient)
Any additional Plt unit culture(s)	Pos/Neg/ND	Neg	ND	Neg/ND	Pos/Neg/ND

Note: Organism definitions: Low-pathogenicity skin organisms: Cutibacteria; Pathogenic skin organisms: Staphylococcus epidermidis/Staphylococcus aureus; Unusual environmental opportunistic pathogens: Acinetobacter/Serratia species; Common pathogens: dental (Streptococcus viridans), ENT/respiratory (Streptococcus pneumoniae) and GI/GU (coliforms) organisms; Common pathogens with specific disease associations: Streptococcus bovis group, nutritionally-deficient Streptococci. Levels of suspicion for unit contamination: Definite: any confirmed positive or false negative; Likely: unconfirmed positive/indeterminate with a common pathogen or bottle positive and unit associated with a transfusion reaction; Possible but unlikely: unconfirmed positive/indeterminate with any skin organism or indeterminate with an environmental pathogen; Unlikely: false positive or indeterminate with any skin or environmental organism and units uneventfully transfused.

Abbreviations: ENT, ear, nose and throat; GI, gastrointestinal; GU, genitourinary; ND, not done; Neg, negative; Plt, platelet; Pos, positive.

unit contamination with three different types of organisms (common pathogens, environmental opportunistic pathogens and skin bacteria), possible but unlikely unit contamination in settings often considered inoculation contamination, and machine false-positive alarms.

Participants were also asked to describe specific evaluation practices around process monitoring, transfusion service-reported contamination, multi-donor investigations of pools associated with culture alarms and the approach to donors associated with more than one alarm.

BCE demographics and culture strategies

A broad range of collectors participated, from small hospital-based programs to large national services providing hundreds of thousands of Plt doses annually (Table 2, reported alphabetically by country names). All but one collector culture all their apheresis collections or whole blood-derived (WBD) Plt pools prior to distribution. The Brazil—Regional Centre cultures 20% of units prior to distribution for quality control purposes. Each employs a slightly different strategy and offers different Plt products suspended in either 100% plasma or \sim 65% platelet additive solution (PAS)/ \sim 35% plasma.

Ten of the 13 centres use the BacT/ALERT (bioMérieux, Inc.; Marcy-l'Étoile, France) automated culture platform, while the remainder culture using a Bactec device (Becton, Dickinson & Co.; Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). One BacT centre and all three Bactec centres perform only aerobic cultures, with the balance equally inoculating Plt samples into both aerobic and anaerobic bottles. There was a neareven split between sampling of the apheresis mother bag (6 of 13) versus sampling each split unit daughter bag (7 of 13). All but one centre inoculates 8–10 mL into each bottle, with one collector (Oman) culturing 3 mL in aerobic paediatric Bactec bottles. A 12–24-h sampling delay was associated with a 5-day outdate (excepting one U.S. centre employing a WBD Plt pooling set approved for only 5-day storage, inoculating at least 36 h after collection). Most of the remaining centres inoculate beginning 36–48 h after collection and have 7-day Plt dating, although two with 7-day dating noted sampling some time on the day after collection. Four centres (31%) send Plt units into the labelling and distribution process directly after sampling, while three (23%) wait 6 h for the sample to register in their product database and the balance (6, 46%) wait 12 h before releasing to afford additional time for early-alarming units not to be distributed. Five participants published their culture protocols and provided references [3–13].

Written procedures

All 13 (100%) centres have procedures governing overall management of bacterial culture alarms and policies specifying immediate actions after alarms sound. Differences between responding centres are summarized in Table 3 (sorted by annual Plt distributions). All but one centre (12, 92%) specifies timeframes for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components. The majority (11, 85%) state within their procedures when blood collector physician involvement is required to adjudicate result interpretations and make donor eligibility decisions, while only 8 (62%) procedurally require donor healthcare provider (HCP) assessments to assist in eligibility determination after selected alarm events. Of 11 centres producing WBD Plt pools, 6 (55%) specify how to resolve potential contamination to the individual donor level and have procedures governing the work-up of donors involved in positive pools.

Despite a broad array of bottle and product culture result scenarios, only 10 (77%) prescribe elements of some investigations, to include equipment, staff and donor assessments. Just over one-third (5, 38%) prescribed donor communications for specific confirmed pathogens, though only 1 of 13 centres (Australia) specify tests required to continue donating after sentinel pathogens are identified (e.g., endoscopy for *Streptococcus bovis*). More than half (7, 54%) can identify donors associated with prior alarm investigations.

Country	Australia	Brazil	Canada-1	Canada-2	Denmark	New Zealand	Oman	Sweden	UK-England	UK-Scotland	USA-1	USA-2	USA-3
Service type (100% culture, except as noted)	National	Regional (20% QC	National)	Regional	National	National	Hospital- based	Regional	National	National	National	Community	Hospital- based
Annual Plt doses distributed	>120,000	<20,000	>120,000	20,000- 120,000	20,000- 120,000	<20,000	<20,000	<20,000	>120,000	20,000- 120,000	>120,000	20,000- 120,000	<20,000
Products offered Apheresis Pl (suspension	ts PAS 7d	Plasma 5d	Plasma 7d	Plasma 7d	PAS and Plasma 7c	PAS 7d	Plasma 5d	PAS 7d	Plasma 7d	PAS and Plasma 7d	Plasma 7d	Plasma 7d	Plasma 7d
medium and Buffy coat V expiration) Plt pool.	VBD PAS 7d	N/A	Plasma 7d	N/A	PAS 7d	PAS 7d	Plasma 5d	N/A	Plasma 7d	PAS 7d	N/A	N/A	N/A
PRP WBD Plt pool	N/A	Plasma 5d	N/A	Plasma 7d	N/A	N/A	Plasma 5d	PAS 7d	N/A	N/A	N/A	Plasma 5d	N/A
Culture instrument used	BacT/ALERT VIRTUO	Bactec FX Adult bottle	BacT/ALER 3D	T BacT/ALERT 3D	BacT/ALERT 3D	BacT/ALERT 3D	Bactec FX Paediatric bottle	Bactec FX Adult bottle	BacT/ALERT 3D	BacT/ALERT 3D	BacT/ ALERT 3D and VIRTUO	BacT/ALERT 3D	BacT/ALERT VIRTUO
Apheresis sample source	Daughter ba	gs Mother bag	Daughter bags	Mother bag	Mother bag	Mother bag	Mother bag	Daughter bags	Daughter bags	Mother bag	Daughter bags	Daughter bags	Daughter bags
WBD Plt pool sample source	Pooling bag	Pooling bag	Pooling bag	Pooling bag	Pooling bag	Pooling bag	Pool of 3–1 ml unit samples	L Pooling bag	Pooling bag	Pooling bag	N/A	Pooling bag	N/A
Culture inoculation volume	8-10 mL eac	th 8 mL	10 mL each	8-10 mL each	א 8–10 mL	8 mL each	3 mL	10 mL	8 mL each	8 mL each	8 mL each	8 mL each	8 mL each
	BPA/BPN	Aerobic	BPA/BPN	BPA/BPN	BPA	BPA/BPN	Aerobic	Aerobic	BPA/BPN	BPA/BPN	BPA/BPN	BPA/BPN	BPA/BPN
Inoculation timing after collection (hours)	≥36	≥24	≥36	≥48	≥Day 1	≥36	Apheresis: ≥12	: ≥Day 1	≥36	≥36	≥48	Apheresis: ≥48	≥48
							WBD Plts: ≥16					WBD Plts: ≥36	
Hold time before product release (hours)	None	12	6	12	None	None	12	None	6	Q	12	12	12
Implementation year	2021	2015	2017	2015	2012	2009	2013	2016	2011	2007	2021	2021	2021
Abbreviations: BPA, BacT/ALERT .	aerobic bottle; BP	N, BacT/ALERT	anaerobic bot	tle; N/A, not ap	plicable; PAS, pl	atelet additive	solution; Plt, pla	atelet; PRP, plate	let-rich plasma;	QC, quality conti	rol; WBD, whole bl	ood-derived.	

TABLE 2 Participant demographics and summary of culture practices.

Country	Australia	Canada-1	UK-England	USA-1	USA-2	Canada-2	Denmark	UK-Scotland	Brazil	New Zealand	Oman	Sweden	USA-3	%
Annual Plt distributions	≥120,000				20,000-3	120,000			<20,00	0				
Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	92
When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×		×	85
Required investigation elements by each combination of bottle/product culture results	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×			[2
Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation	×	×	×	×		×		×			×		×	62
Mechanisms to identify/notify suspected source among donors associated with contaminated pools	×		×	N/A				×	×	×	×		N/A	55
Mechanisms to identify donors associated with any/some type of past alarm event		Some	Some	Any	Any	Any		Any			Any			54
Prescribed donor communications for various confirmed- positive organisms	×	×	×	×									×	38
Specific donor procedures/tests mandated for specific organisms	×													8

Blood collection establishment procedures for donor and product management related to incubator alarms.

ო

ABLE

Abbreviations: N/A, not applicable; Plt, platelet

Of the 10 potential procedural elements queried, high-volume collectors (\geq 120,000 units per year) noted they had written procedures for 80%–90% these, while all others reported <7 of 10. The Scandinavian centres reported the fewest written procedures at 3 or 4 of 10. All high-volume BCEs prescribe donor communications for certain organisms, while only one of the nine lower volume BCEs do so.

Alarm evaluation requirements

We provided five scenarios to blood collectors, requesting that they identify important elements of investigations for each (Table 1). We described (1) generally non-contaminant, common pathogens isolated from Plt components or only in alarming bottles; (2) unusual environmental opportunistic pathogens isolated from Plt components or only in alarming bottles but associated with a transfusion reaction; (3) low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organisms isolated from Plt components or only in alarming bottles but associated with a transfusion reaction; (4) skin or environmental pathogens in alarming bottles, but not in products or associated with a transfusion reaction and (5) machine error false positives.

There was some disagreement with assignment of various bacterial species to the rubric categories, which likely prompted a few evaluators to pursue investigations more or less aggressively. For example, as specified in some free text comments in responses, a few centres felt that some organisms classified as environmental could also be considered common pathogens (such as *Acinetobacter* or *Serratia* species) and that not all skin organisms are as easily relegated to a 'pathogenic skin organism' category, as they may be common pathogens (*Staphylococcus aureus*) or even bacteremic in the right setting (coagulase-negative *Staphylococci*).

Figure 1 summarizes elements felt to be important within each type of investigation. Agreement was high that blood collector physician oversight and involvement are key for definite and likely contamination events with potentially bacteremic organisms (both common pathogens and some environmental organisms). Almost 40% of centres (5 of 13) required donor HCP referral and evaluation in the setting of confirmed or likely contamination with a unit containing a dental, ear, nose and throat (ENT)/respiratory or gastrointestinal (GI)/ genitourinary (GU) pathogen. Two of these five centres also require specific testing for donors to continue donating. At least three other collectors not among the five stating the need for referral in this setting noted that they did have procedures for HCP referral. One centre not requesting donors be specifically evaluated by their HCP mentioned that blood centre staff often conduct a phone interview that determines additional donor actions. Although it is sometimes difficult to know if community HCPs have conducted a thorough search for a source of intermittent bacteraemia, blood collector physician involvement in decision making about donor eligibility may underlie some of these answers, particularly if donors are deferred during investigations of certain organisms. In less than half of centres, a surveillance flag is placed in donors' records in the setting of definite/likely contamination



FIGURE 1 Important elements within various types (inset) of investigations. A: Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation. B: Blood collector physician calls donor to take complete medical history & provide preliminary donor advice. C: Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.). D: Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique. E: Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique. F: Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm. G: Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation. H: Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination. I: Specific testing is required for approval to continue to donate. J: Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure.

should they be associated with another alarm, but permanent deferral of identified donors was not reported by any participant under any of the five presented scenarios. Concerns that might determine donor deferral are discussed later under 'Considerations in Determination of Future Donor Eligibility'.

For any type of identified organism, for units definitely/likely to be contaminated, approximately half the time (6–8 of 13, 46%–62%) sterility chain review and observation of associated phlebotomy and culture inoculation technicians were considered standard. Since environmental or skin organisms may be introduced by defective supplies or suboptimal technique during phlebotomy or inoculation, it is noteworthy that fewer respondents felt these were critical investigations for skin isolates. Free text comments, however, suggest that routine quality audits of technique, environmental monitoring and supply inspection may be considered sufficient to identify staff or other issues. Still others noted that staff investigation should be triggered for individuals involved in multiple potential contaminations (i.e., not machine falsepositive results). One might also predict that lesser emphasis be placed upon staff technique evaluations for organisms likely to have been introduced during transient donor bacteraemia (i.e., common dental, ENT/respiratory and GI/GU pathogens), but changing accepted routines may require more effort to individualize management than is justifiable.

Few centres (≤2, 15%) felt strongly about conducting formal donor arm inspections. Although routine arm inspections for potential drug use and obvious skin conditions precluding effective disinfection are performed at every donation, this may not be focused enough for donors associated with more than one likely Plt unit contamination with skin or other organisms. Operationalizing the inspection of a specific donor's arm is difficult, and centres may have to rely on routine arm inspection rather

than calling donors in for an off-schedule examination. The role of identifying donors associated with more than one culture alarm assumes greater importance in this setting. Less than half of centres do this, however.

Two collectors conduct enhanced bag examination when there is concern about external introduction of bacteria during manufacture or storage. Most centres, therefore, rely upon routine product inspection for obvious leaks or tears.

Finally, in the case of machine alarms in the absence of culturable bacteria (false positives), while four centres noted that no investigations are required (data not shown), six collectors stated that supply review and/or technologist observation may be important, likely for proper bottle and machine use practices. Known causes of false-positive alarms include temperature changes during bottle loading and incubator electrical supply spikes, including the potential for bottle lot issues. Three collectors still required the centre physician sign-off on false-positive alarms.

BCE actions with reverse notification from transfusion services

While collector 'reverse notification' of Plt bacterial contamination by a transfusion service might occur in the setting of a suspected septic transfusion reaction, this question posed a different scenario: that is, routine hospital re-assessment of un-transfused products culture-negative at blood collector distribution. That could be by secondary culture, bacterial antigen testing or surrogate measures like pH, or it could be as simple as a concerning visual inspection. Two respondents were hospitals not routinely performing secondary testing, as they are both the collector and the transfusion service provider. In these facilities, other collectors' Plts suspected of harbouring bacteria would trigger a collector notification.

Most BCEs, after third-party notification of product sterility concerns, described variations of co-component control, product and co-component re-culture and management as a false alarm (negative cultures) or a false-negative contamination event (positive cultures). At least two collectors specifically commented that secondary testing of any type is not conducted by hospitals in their country.

Monitoring and trending of culture data

Although all collectors monitor overall alarm rates and the outcomes of their investigations, two of three U.S. centres reported periodic instead of real-time monitoring and trending.

Considerations in determination of future donor eligibility

While three collectors did not report any key donor management considerations, almost all remaining collectors felt that identifying donors with difficult-to-disinfect arms or with the potential for intermittent bacteraemia is important and that they should be deferred unless a reversible cause of contamination can be identified and corrected, particularly if donors are involved in prior (not false-positive) alarm events. The need for case-by-case transfusion medicine expert assessment of the appropriate extent of this search was mentioned by 5 of 10 of respondents. Interestingly, 6 of 13 BCEs noted that if an HCP cleared the donor, they would be accepted regardless of work-up details. Only two collectors felt that certain organisms should result in automatic donor deferral, although one can conceive that the combination of organism and reversibility of its source could easily identify donors who are not appropriate for Plt donation (e.g., an odontogenic organism in a donor unable to address poor dentition).

Donor management with alarming WBD Plt pools

Themes emerging regarding management of donors of alarming pooled WBD Plts included the need to contact and interview all donors in many circumstances, lesser concern about *Cutibacteria* and less pathogenic skin contaminants, measured responses in proportion to the potential for underlying donor health issues and intermittent bacteraemia (prompting HCP referrals) and culture results of available co-components. Of 11 collectors producing WBD Plts, 2 do not generally investigate donors contributing to pooled Plts.

Management of donors associated with prior alarm events

Although not very common outside false-positive alarm involvement, case-by-case evaluation appears warranted when collectors are able to identify donors associated with prior potential or confirmed contamination events. The need to defer donors involved in credible repeat events was noted by several centres, including those with multiple skin organism contaminations and scarred arms.

DISCUSSION

This International Forum was designed to understand the various Plt bacterial culture strategies being employed by blood collectors internationally and specifically focus on how culture results impact donor evaluation and ongoing donation eligibility decisions.

Overall, the scope of this International Forum was not to define what the 'best practice' or ideal response in a particular setting should be but simply report on the overarching extant response patterns for donor evaluations. Although we saw general consensus in the management for two extremes of scenarios (definite/likely contamination events with bacteraemic organisms and machine error false positives), for the other scenarios there was notable variability in responses and divergence in practices. Some of these could be due to subjectivity in interpretation of the proposed scenarios.

Bacterial contamination of Plts stored at room temperature represents the highest risk for infection as well as fatality among all transfusable blood components [1]. Standards have been proposed that require blood collection and transfusion service members to detect and limit bacterial contamination in all Plt components. From a hospital transfusion service perspective, protocols are generally in place to help clinicians to recognize and manage transfusion reactions, including those potentially caused by bacterial contamination [14]. Guidance exists for BCEs regarding Plt bacterial culture procedures, immediate management of donors and assessment of future donation eligibility, but adoption remains inconsistent [14, 15]. This International Forum highlights significant within-country as well as between-country variability and heterogeneity with regard to specific scenarios for donor evaluation and future eligibility. These divergent BCE practices underscore the need for standardization and protocolization for these approaches and the need for adoption of more proactive approaches to managing donors with culture-positive Plt donations.

ORCID

Hany Kamel D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5023-8517 Arwa Z. Al-Riyami D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8649-0650 Cyril Jacquot D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1281-0644 Sandra Ramirez-Arcos D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0705-4987 Aditi Khandelwal D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5585-6194 Mindy Goldman D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9904-9952 Katie Hands D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1860-8319 Silvano Wendel D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1941-7733 Susan R. Brailsford D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2856-0387 Sarah L. Morley D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2999-4737 Mary Townsend D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7759-0676

REFERENCES

- 1. Levy JH, Neal MD, Herman JH. Bacterial contamination of platelets for transfusion: strategies for prevention. Crit Care. 2018;22:271.
- Benjamin RJ, McDonald CP, ISBT Transfusion Transmitted Infectious Disease Bacterial Workgroup. The international experience of bacterial screen testing of platelet components with an automated microbial detection system: a need for consensus testing and reporting guidelines. Transfus Med Rev. 2014;28:61–71.
- Thyer J, Perkowska-Guze Z, Ismay SL, Keller AJ, Chan HT, Dennington PM, et al. Bacterial testing of platelets – has it prevented transfusion-transmitted bacterial infections in Australia? Vox Sang. 2017;113:13–20.
- Borosak M, Wood E. Bacterial pre-release testing of platelets the Australian Red Cross Blood Service clinical experience. Transfus Med Hemother. 2011;38:239–41.
- Ramírez-Arcos S, Jenkins C, Dion J, Bernier F, Delage G, Goldman M. Canadian experience with detection of bacterial contamination in apheresis platelets. Transfusion. 2007;47:421–9.
- Jenkins C, Ramírez-Arcos S, Goldman M, Devine DV. Bacterial contamination in platelets: incremental improvements drive down but do not eliminate risk. Transfusion. 2011;51:2555–65.

- Ramirez-Arcos S, DiFranco C, McIntyre T, Goldman M. Residual risk of bacterial contamination of platelets: six years of experience with sterility testing. Transfusion. 2017;57:2174–81.
- Ramirez-Arcos S, Evans S, McIntyre T, Pang C, Yi QL, DiFranco C, et al. Extension of platelet shelf life with an improved bacterial testing algorithm. Transfusion. 2020;60:2918–28.
- Delage G, Bernier F. Bacterial culture of platelets with the large volume delayed sampling approach: a narrative review. Ann Blood. 2021;6:30.
- Dickson M, Dinesh D. Bacterial contamination of platelet concentrates produced in New Zealand. N Z Med J. 2013;126:12–21.
- NZBS Haemovigilance Annual Reports. Available from: https://www. nzblood.co.nz/healthcare-professionals/haemovigilance-programme/ haemovigilance-annual-report-2012/. Last accessed 1 Jun 2023.
- Brailsford SR, Tossell J, Morrison R, McDonald CP, Pitt TL. Failure of bacterial screening to detect *Staphylococcus aureus*: the English experience of donor follow-up. Vox Sang. 2018;113:540–6.
- McDonald C, Allen J, Brailsford S, Roy A, Ball J, Moule R, et al. Bacterial screening of platelet components by National Health Service Blood and Transplant, an effective risk reduction measure. Transfusion. 2017;57:1122–31.
- Eder AF, Goldman M. How do I investigate septic transfusion reactions and blood donors with culture-positive platelet donations? Transfusion. 2011;51:1662–8.
- Association for the Advancement of Blood and Biotherapies. Guidance on management of blood and platelet donors with positive or abnormal results on bacterial contamination tests. AABB Association Bulletin #05-02. Bethesda, USA: AABB; 2005.

Guest Editors Ralph R. Vassallo Vitalant Medical Affairs, Scottsdale, AZ, USA Email: rvassallo@vitalant.org

Hany Kamel Vitalant Medical Affairs, Scottsdale, AZ, USA Email: hkamel@vitalant.org

Ruchika Goel Vitalant Medical Affairs, Scottsdale, AZ, USA Email: rgoel71@siumed.edu

International Forum Editor

Nancy Dunbar

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Centre, Lebanon, NH, USA Email: nancy.m.dunbar@hitchcock.org

How to cite this article: Vassallo R, Kamel H, Goel R, Al-Riyami AZ, Al Muharrmi Z, Jacquot C, et al. International Forum on Management of Blood Donors with Culture-Positive Platelet Donations: Summary. Vox Sang. 2023;118:997–1003.

Vox Sanguinis Silety International Society 1003

DOI: 10.1111/vox.13520

INTERNATIONAL FORUM

Vox Sanguinis

International Forum on Management of Blood Donors with Culture-Positive Platelet Donations: Responses

Ralph Vassallo | Hany Kamel | Ruchika Goel | Arwa Z. Al-Riyami | Zakariya Al-Muharrmi | Cyril Jacquot | Sandra Ramirez-Arcos | Aditi Khandelwal | Mindy Goldman | Katie Hands | Lorna McLintock | Heather Mitchell | Silvano Wendel | Patrícia Scuracchio | Roberta Fachini | Sandra M. Pettersson | Jesper Bengtsson | Susan R. Brailsford | Joanne Tossell | Luiz Amorim | Maria Esther Lopes | Margarida Pêcego | Marc Germain | Christian Renaud | Sarah L. Morley | Ronald So | Mary Townsend | Long Courtney Hopkins | Lene H. Harritshoej | Christian Erikstrup | Iain B. Gosbell | Melanie H. Levin | Peta M. Dennington | Nancy Dunbar

UNITED STATES-COMMUNITY CENTRE

Ruchika Goel

- 1. Type of blood collection service: Community
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: 50,000–199,999
- Annual distribution of platelet doses: 60,000–119,999
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma

Platelet-rich plasma whole blood-derived pools in plasma Platelet-rich plasma whole blood-derived individual donor units in plasma

- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- Culture instrument(s) used: BacT/ALERT Biomerieux
- 7. Culture sample source:

Apheresis individual products (mother bags) are sampled. Pooled platelets are individually sampled. Whole blood-derived individual split units are pooled and sampled at the transfusing facility.

 Total volume removed for culture: 16 mL from each product

- Timing of sample inoculation after collection:
 Forty-eight hours after collection for apheresis platelets and 36 h after filtration for whole blood-derived pooled platelets
- 10. Culture inoculation practices: Aerobic culture:

One bottle is inoculated per product: For example, if single product per donor, one bottle is inoculated; if double product, two bottles are inoculated and if triple product, three bottles are inoculated.

Aerobic inoculation volume:

```
8 mL
```

Anaerobic culture:

One bottle is inoculated per product: For example, if single product per donor, one bottle is inoculated. If double product, two bottles are inoculated, and if triple product, three bottles are inoculated. *Anaerobic inoculation volume*:

8 mL

11. Hold time before product release:

Twelve hours after BacT sampling before release to hospitals

- Longest allowable platelet expiration: Pooled platelets are BacT-sampled at 1.5 days (36 h) post filtration and expire 5 days from when the whole blood-derived platelet was
- collected. Apheresis platelet products that are BacT-sampled at 48 h post collection expire after 7 days of collection.13. Implementation year of current culture method:

2021

- 14. Culture protocol references: No
- 15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Mechanisms to identify donors associated with any type of past alarm event

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Other: Defer the donor until PCP evaluation and clearance

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination:

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

 Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives): Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results:

We quarantine and discard associated products (co-components). We send the positive bottle out for additional gram stain and further culturing. We investigate with Biomerieux to see if there were temperature issues, electrical issues, too many bottles loaded or cell issues if there is a false positive. Cells are also calibrated if they have a positive bottle as per Biomerieux instructions to identify false positives.

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteraemia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether donors' healthcare providers have cleared them, regardless of workup

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

If a pooled unit has definite or likely contamination, we would contact all donors and advise evaluation/testing and assess for future donation eligibility.

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events:

We maintain a spreadsheet of donors who have had an alarm event. If they have more than one alarm event, the blood centre physician will contact and evaluate the donor and advise evaluation/testing as needed.

Ruchika Goel ImpactLife Blood Services, Springfield, IL, USA Email: ruchikagoel1@gmail.com

OMAN

Arwa Z. Al-Riyami and Zakariya Al-Muharrmi

- Type of blood collection service: Hospital-based
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: 50,000–199,999
- 3. Annual distribution of platelet doses: 2000–19,999
- Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma

Vox Sanguinis Site International Society 1005

Platelet-rich plasma whole blood-derived individual donor units in plasma

Buffy coat whole blood-derived pools in plasma

- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- 6. Culture instrument(s) used:

BACTEC FX blood culture system Becton Dickinson

7. Culture sample source:

For platelet-rich plasma and buffy coat platelet units, pooled samples from individual platelet units (pooled samples from three platelet units) are inoculated into one culture bottle. If positive BACTEC FX results on the pooled sample, repeat sampling from individual units is performed for repeat BACTEC. For apheresis units, sampling is performed per unit without pooling.

8. Total volume removed for culture:

 $3\ \text{mL}$ of the pooled sample or apheresis unit

- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: Minimum of 12 h after donation or 16–24 h after processing the blood unit (whenever feasible)
- 10. Culture inoculation practices:

Aerobic culture:

One aerobic paediatric culture bottle

Aerobic inoculation volume:

3 mL

Anaerobic culture:

None

Anaerobic inoculation volume:

None

11. Hold time before product release:

Minimum of 12 h after incubation of the blood culture bottle. If no alarms, the units can be issued upon request. Incubation is performed for a total of 5 days on all inoculated culture bottles. Our procedure necessitates repeat testing from single units by BACTEC FX if the pooled sample BACTEC FX result is positive. In addition, a gram stain is performed on the pooled culture bottle and, on any positives, BACTEC FX results on individual samples. All results need to be reviewed by a microbiologist to determine the clinical significance of the identified organism. Decision on the use of the units and how to manage the donor is made based on the results of the repeat testing, gram stain/ culture results and on the clinical suspicion of any pathogenic organism. If the organism was found to be pathogenic, the microbiologist and the transfusion medicine physician will work out a plan on how to manage the donor.

12. Longest allowable platelet expiration:

The expiration date for all types of platelet units is 5 days. At times of platelet shortages, the expiration can be extended up to 7 days with authorization by the transfusion medicine physician if the platelet units were tested negative by BACTEC FX after 5 days.

Implementation year of current culture method: 2013

- 14. Culture protocol references:
- 15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated

by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Mechanisms to identify and notify the suspected source among multiple donors associated with contaminated pools

Mechanisms to identify donors associated with any type of past alarm event

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Blood collector or allied health staff calls the donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination:
 Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

 Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Other: If the false-positive alarms are repetitive, the blood bank performs a sterility chain review

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating potential false-negative results:

Most of transfused platelets in our institution are collected in-house and hence tested using the BACTEC FX system. If a septic reaction is associated with a platelet unit that is collected in-house, the related components (red cells and plasma units) are traced and cultured if still in the inventory. If these were transfused, the transfusion records of the recipients are reviewed to assess for any reactions during the transfusion. Our facility does not use point-of-issue rapid bacterial testing. If a suspected septic reaction is associated with a platelet unit(s) obtained from another blood collector, the blood collector is notified with the reaction to trace the donor for investigation.

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteraemia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Other: The decision is made by the microbiologist and the transfusion medicine physician based on the type of the organism identified

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

Decision to call the donor is decided on an individual basis by the transfusion medicine physician and the microbiologist. This is dependent on the results of the repeat investigations on the individual units and the type of the organism identified. The donor contact information is available in our electronic system in case they need to be contacted.

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events:

All records of platelet testing include donation identification numbers, which can be used to trace the donor's past donations if required. Our electronic system captures all in-house past donations information and contact information of all donors.

Arwa Z. Al-Riyami

Sultan Qaboos University Hospital, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman

Email: arwa@squ.edu.om

Zakariya Al-Muharrmi Sultan Qaboos University Hospital, Muscat, Oman Email: muharrmi@squ.edu.om

UNITED STATES-HOSPITAL CENTRE

Cyril Jacquot

- 1. Type of blood collection service: Hospital-based
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: <50,000
- Annual distribution of platelet doses:
 <2000
- Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma
- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- Culture instrument(s) used: BacT Virtuo BioMerieux
- 7. Culture sample source: Individual split units
- Total volume removed for culture:
 16 mL per platelet unit, so 32 mL for a double
- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: Forty-eight hours after collection (large-volume delayed sampling [LVDS] 48h pathway)
- 10. Culture inoculation practices: *Aerobic culture*:

Aerobic inoculation volume:

8 mL

1

Anaerobic culture:

1

Anaerobic inoculation volume: 8 mL

- 11. Hold time before product release: At least 12 h after inoculation
- 12. Longest allowable platelet expiration: Up to 7 days
- Implementation year of current culture method: 2021
- 14. Culture protocol references: No
- 15. Written procedures:
 - Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms
 - Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Vox Sanguinis Silver International Society 1007

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Prescribed donor communications (oral or written) with various confirmed-positive organisms

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

- Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination: Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation
- Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives): Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation
- Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results: We would quarantine and culture any available co-components on the BacT Virtuo if there was any concern. Our blood bank rarely performs Pan Genera Detection testing.
- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Periodic monitoring only
- Factors weighed in donor management: Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteraemia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether donors' healthcare providers have cleared them, regardless of workup

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

Emphasize the need for donor to be evaluated by their physician in order to complete any necessary treatment. Future eligibility is contingent on resolution of the issue.

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events:

Has not occurred but would rely on donor's physician evaluation to determine whether deferral is warranted. If in doubt, would lean towards deferral to ensure patient safety.

Cyril Jacquot

Children's National Hospital, Washington, DC, USA Email: cjacquot@childrensnational.org

CANADA-NATIONAL CENTRE

Sandra Ramirez-Arcos, Aditi Khandelwal and Mindy Goldman

- 1. Type of blood collection service: National
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: ≥400,000
- Annual distribution of platelet doses: ≥120,000
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma

Buffy coat whole blood-derived pools in plasma

- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- Culture instrument(s) used: BACT/ALERT 3D System BioMerieux
- Culture sample source: Apheresis split unit and buffy coat pool
- Total volume removed for culture:
 20 mL buffy coat pool, 20 mL per apheresis dose
- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: Sample inoculation is done at least 36 h post collection.
- 10. Culture inoculation practices: Aerobic culture:

One for each apheresis dose, one for each buffy coat pool *Aerobic inoculation volume*: 10 mL

4230410, 2023, 11, Do

om/doi/10.11111/vox.13520 by Cornell University E-Re

Dep

Wiley Online]

ibrary on [24/02/2025]. See the Term

õ

ythe

Anaerobic culture:

One for each apheresis dose and one per buffy coat pool Anaerobic inoculation volume: 10 mL

11. Hold time before product release:

There is a hold time of at least 6 h post inoculation prior to release.

- Longest allowable platelet expiration:
 Both apheresis and buffy coat pool platelets are stored for 7 days.
- 13. Implementation year of current culture method: 2017
- 14. Culture protocol references:
 - Yes

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17319821/ https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21615745/ https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28653472/ https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33140420/

15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Mechanisms to identify donors associated with some, but not all past alarm events

Prescribed donor communications (oral or written) with various confirmed-positive organisms

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Specific testing is required for approval to continue to donate

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.) Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Check for previous test positivity or transfusion reaction associated with donor

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: If there is a phlebotomist or technologist associated with multiple positive tests, there will be quality assurance processes for follow-up of technique

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

- Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination: Other: Same as per evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen, only if unconfirmed positive.
- 20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

 Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results: Co-components may be tested at the hospital or returned to the blood operator for testing.

 Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes

23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteraemia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether donors' healthcare providers have cleared them, regardless of work-up

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

Other: Case-by-case assessment looking at factors noted above

- 24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination: We culture remaining co-components to try to identify which donor may be the source of contamination (e.g., red cell units). Donor advice and deferral would depend on the organism; for almost all organisms, such as skin organisms, a flag would be added to all the donor's files, if no co-components were positive on culture, but the donors would not be notified.
- 25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events: This is handled on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the organism, review of arm disinfection and processes for potential causes, and questioning of the donor looking for factors. If no reversible cause can be found (usually the case), the donor will be deferred.

Sandra Ramirez-Arcos Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, Canada Email: sandra.ramirez@blood.ca

Aditi Khandelwal Canadian Blood Services, Toronto, Canada Email: aditi.khandelwal@blood.ca

Mindy Goldman Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, Canada Email: mindy.goldman@blood.ca

UNITED KINGDOM-SCOTLAND

Katie Hands, Lorna McLintock and Heather Mitchell

- 1. Type of blood collection service: National
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: 50,000–199,999
- Annual distribution of platelet doses: 20,000–59,999

 Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma Apheresis platelets in additive solution/plasma

- Buffy coat whole blood-derived pools in additive solution/plasma
- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- Culture instrument(s) used: BACT/ALERT 3D Biomerieux
- Culture sample source: Apheresis mother bag or whole blood-derived pool
- Total volume removed for culture: 16 mL
- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: Samples are taken a minimum of 36 h following collection.

- 10. Culture inoculation practices: *Aerobic culture*:
 - 1 Aerobic inoculation volume: 8 mL Anaerobic culture: 1 Anaerobic inoculation volume:

8 mL

11. Hold time before product release:

All platelet components (apheresis and whole blood-derived) are held for 6 h before release.

- Longest allowable platelet expiration:
 All platelet components (apheresis and whole blood-derived) have a 7-day shelf-life from donation.
- Implementation year of current culture method: 2007
- 14. Culture protocol references:
 - No
- 15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Mechanisms to identify and notify the suspected source among multiple donors associated with contaminated pools

Mechanisms to identify donors associated with any type of past alarm event

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Environmental monitoring records are reviewed.

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Environmental monitoring record review

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

_Vox Sanguinis Sign interactional Society 1011

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Environmental monitoring record are reviewed.

19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination: Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators etc)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Environmental monitoring review

20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives): Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators. etc.)

Other: Environmental monitoring record are reviewed

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results, and investigating your potential false-negative results: We do not have point-of-care testing or other surrogates in use. If there was concern regarding a component, for example, if a

blood bank detected platelet aggregates, each case would be managed as a quality event, and depending on level of concern, co-components may be recalled.

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician Certain organisms should result in automatic deferral from blood donation, regardless of the donor's medical workup

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

Other: All of these events are managed on a case-by-case basis; we do not currently have a written policy for this

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

The donor health check forms will be reviewed for each contributing donor, the nature of the bacteria considered and decisions regarding donor eligibility to continue to donating made following this.

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events: Donors will be deferred permanently if there has been a previous alarm event.

Katie Hands

Scottish National Blood Transfusion Service, Dundee, UK Email: katie.hands@nhs.scot

Lorna McLintock

Scottish National Blood Transfusion Service, Edinburgh, UK Email: lorna.mclintock2@nhs.scot

Heather Mitchell

Scottish National Blood Transfusion Service, Edinburgh, UK Email: heather.mitchell4@nhs.scot

BRAZIL-HOSPITAL CENTRE

Silvano Wendel, Patrícia Scuracchio and Roberta Fachini

- 1. Type of blood collection service: Hospital-based
- 2. Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: <50.000
- 3. Annual distribution of platelet doses: 2000-19.999
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: None
- 5. Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: One
- 6. Culture instrument(s) used: BacT/Alert 3D System **BioMérieux**
- 7. Culture sample source: The sources of our culture samples are apheresis mother bag and individual units of platelet-rich whole blood-derived plasma.
- 8. Total volume removed for culture: 8 mL of each unit
- 9. Timing of sample inoculation after collection:

Pathogen reduction was implemented in our service in March 2017 through Intercept Blood System treatment for apheresis platelets in plasma and pools of platelet-rich whole bloodderived plasma; therefore, platelet bacterial culture routine was discontinued at the same time, except for quality control purposes and for all red blood cells units. Before the implementation of pathogen reduction technology, a culture for bacterial contamination was performed on the first day of storage, between 12 and 24 h after the collection of apheresis units or platelet-rich whole blood-derived plasma. Currently, we culture our products only for quality control purposes, so the time for sampling inoculation is preferably the last day of expiration (fifth day). For red blood cells units, they are cultured 12 h after production.

10. Culture inoculation practices:

Aerobic culture: 1 Aerobic inoculation volume: 8 mL Anaerobic culture: 0 Anaerobic inoculation volume:

Λ

11. Hold time before product release:

Since we culture the units only for quality control, we wait for 7 days because they are not used for transfusion. The units that are submitted to pathogen reduction technology can be released for transfusion when the product is available and after the treatment by the Intercept Blood System. In relation to red blood cells, they are released 24 h after inoculation.

VASSALLO ET AL.

 Longest allowable platelet expiration:
 As both apheresis platelets in plasma and platelets-rich whole blood-derived plasma pools are pathogen-reduced, they have a 7-day shelf-life.

- Implementation year of current culture method: 1997
- 14. Culture protocol references:

Yes

Wendel S, Morato LE, Fontão-Wendel F, Toledo R. Double, double, toil and trouble. *Transfusion*. 2005;45:1241.

15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation

Mechanisms to identify and notify the suspected source among multiple donors associated with contaminated pools

Mechanisms to identify donors associated with some, but not all past alarm events

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Permanently defer all such donors

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donor records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: In case of an unexplained transfusion reaction, we also report the event to the hospital risk department and to the National Agency of Sanitary Monitoring, a governmental health department.

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Specific testing is required for approval to continue to donate

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Other: In case of an unexplained transfusion reaction, we report the event to the hospital risk department and to the National Agency of Sanitary Monitoring, a governmental health department.

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination:

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results:

Because pathogen reduction routine was implemented in our service, currently we culture only red blood cells; therefore, in cases of positive results, we place the red blood cells and plasma in quarantine until receipt of results of culture bottles. If there is any bacterial growth, the component is discarded regardless of the type of bacteria isolated, that is, skin bacteria or other type of organism. The apheresis or whole blood-derived platelet co-components are not discarded because they are submitted for pathogen inactivation.

- Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteraemia or sub-optimal skin disinfection exist

Whether donors' healthcare providers have cleared them, regardless of workup

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician Certain organisms should result in automatic deferral from blood donation. regardless of the donor's medical workup

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

In case of a pooled unit with definite or likely contamination, the donor is called for a careful interview with the blood collector physician, and according to bacteria isolated and/or possibility of bacteraemia, the donor will be deferred definitively. Since the implementation of pathogen reduction technology, we did not have any case of septic transfusion reaction or suspicion of bacterial contamination.

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events:

In case of donor with a second instance of contamination with pathogenic skin organisms or common pathogens, he or she is called for an interview with the blood collector physician in order to investigate the medical history, source of infection and risk factors, besides counselling and deferring him for future donations.

Silvano Wendel Hospital Sírio-Libanês, São Paulo, Brazil Email: snwendel@terra.com.br

Patrícia Scuracchio Hospital Sírio-Libanês, São Paulo, Brazil Email: scuracchiop@ihsl.com.br

Roberta Fachini Hospital Sírio-Libanês, São Paulo, Brazil Email: fachinir@ihsl.com.br

SWEDEN

Sandra M. Pettersson and Jesper Bengtsson

- 1. Type of blood collection service: Regional
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: <50,000

- Annual distribution of platelet doses: 2000–19.999
- Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in additive solution/plasma Platelet-rich plasma whole blood-derived pools in additive solution/plasma
- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- 6. Culture instrument(s) used: BACTEC FX
 - BD
- 7. Culture sample source:

From each transfusable unit, when it is in the storage bag. If the apheresis is divided in two bags, we will take one sample of each unit. We sample the whole blood-derived pool unit after leukocyte filtration.

- Total volume removed for culture: 15 ml
- 9. Timing of sample inoculation after collection:

Pooled platelet units are sampled after pooling on the day after the collection. Apheresis units are also sampled on the day after collection. If day of collection is a Friday, two samples are taken: the first on the same day and the second on Monday (due to staff management).

10. Culture inoculation practices:

Aerobic culture:

Pooled platelet units: 1 culture bottle/unit = 1 culture bottle/4-5 collections. Apheresis platelet units: as many culture bottles as the number of transfusable platelet units from that apheresis (e.g., if there are 2 units from one apheresis collection, there will be two culture bottles for that collection)

Aerobic inoculation volume:

10 mL

Anaerobic culture:

None

Anaerobic inoculation volume:

NA

11. Hold time before product release:

There is no hold time; the platelet units are included in stock when release is possible due to HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C and syphilis.

- Longest allowable platelet expiration:
 7 days from collection
- Implementation year of current culture method: 2016
- 14. Culture protocol references: No
- 15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

1014 Vox Sanguinis

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination:

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results:

We do not have an active surveillance of evaluating the potential false-negative results. However, we do investigate suspected transfusion reactions with a culture analysis.

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management: None

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination: We do not inform donors about the contamination

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events: Normally we do not mention about the contamination in the donor record Sandra M. Pettersson

Office for Medical Services in Region Skåne, Lund, Sweden Email: sandra.pettersson@skane.se

Jesper Bengtsson

Office for Medical Services in Region Skåne, Lund, Sweden Email: jesper.bengtsson@skane.se

UNITED KINGDOM-ENGLAND

Susan R. Brailsford and Joanne Tossell

- 1. Type of blood collection service: National
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: ≥400,000
- Annual distribution of platelet doses: ≥120,000
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma

Buffy coat whole blood-derived pools in additive solution/plasma

- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- Culture instrument(s) used: BacTAlert 3D BioMerieux
- Culture sample source: Apheresis individual splits/whole blood-derived pool

 Total volume removed for culture: 16 mL

- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: Sampled at least 36 h post collection
- 10. Culture inoculation practices: *Aerobic culture*:

1

Aerobic inoculation volume:

8 mL

Anaerobic culture:

1 Anaerobic inoculation volume: 8 mL

- Hold time before product release:
 6 h
- 12. Longest allowable platelet expiration: 7 days
- 13. Implementation year of current culture method: 2011
- 14. Culture protocol references: Yes

Brailsford SR, Tossell J, Morrison R, McDonald CP, Pitt TL. Failure of bacterial screening to detect Staphylococcus aureus: the English experience of donor follow-up. *Vox Sang.* 2018;113:540–546.

Vox Sanguinis Silver International Society 1015

McDonald C, Allen J, Brailsford S, Roy A, Ball J, Moule R, et al. Bacterial screening of platelet components by National Health Service Blood and Transplant, an effective risk reduction measure. Transfusion. 2017:57:1122-31.

15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Mechanisms to identify and notify the suspected source among multiple donors associated with contaminated pools

Mechanisms to identify donors associated with some, but not all past alarm events

Prescribed donor communications (oral or written) with various confirmed-positive organisms

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donor records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Some of these donors will be contacted and their history taken, but the majority will be returned to panel with information placed on their medical history.

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Other: Cutibacteria will be recorded on donor history. But donor remains on panel, and no further action is taken unless there have been previous reactions. For pathogenic skin organisms, further investigations and discussion are carried out with the donor, which in most cases will result in deferral.

- 19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination:
 - Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Will depend on the organism

20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives): Other: All initial reactive flags on the system result in donors being suspended; all false-positive results will result in donor being returned to donor panel.

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results: Any visually abnormal packs would be cultured, and depending on the outcome further investigation will be carried out, which may involve swabbing of donor and/or further investigations by their healthcare provider.

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:
 - Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteraemia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician Certain organisms should result in automatic deferral from blood donation, regardless of the donor's medical workup Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

Follow-up of donors will depend on significance of the organism. In some cases, all donors will be contacted, and depending on 'risk', sent for further review.

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events:

If donors have had more than one positive bacterial screening result, we may need to suspend them. This is relatively rare but we have suspended some regular apheresis platelet donors who had very scarred venipuncture sites.

Susan R. Brailsford NHS Blood and Transplant, London, UK Email: su.brailsford@nhsbt.nhs.uk

Joanne Tossell NHS Blood and Transplant, London, UK Email: joanne.tossell@nhsbt.nhs.uk

BRAZIL-REGIONAL CENTRE

Luiz Amorim, Maria Esther Lopes and Margarida Pêcego

- 1. Type of blood collection service: Regional
- 2. Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: 50.000-199.999
- 3. Annual distribution of platelet doses: 2000-19,999
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered:

Apheresis platelets in plasma

Platelet-rich plasma whole blood-derived pools in plasma

Platelet-rich plasma whole blood-derived individual donor units in plasma

- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 20
- 6. Culture instrument(s) used: Biotec
 - Becton & Dickson
- 7. Culture sample source:

Apheresis mother bag and whole blood-derived pool

- Total volume removed for culture:
 8 ml
 - 8 mL
- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: 24–36 h after collection. In general, 24 h; however, if the infectious disease tests are not ready in the first 24 h, we can inoculate up to 36 h after collection.
- 10. Culture inoculation practices:

Aerobic culture:

1

Aerobic inoculation volume:

8 mL

Anaerobic culture:

0

Anaerobic inoculation volume:

0

 Hold time before product release: 12 h

12. Longest allowable platelet expiration:

Five days for any platelet types, regardless of whether they are cultured or not. According to Brazilian regulation, even for pathogen-reduced platelets the expiration time is 5 days.

- Implementation year of current culture method: 2015
- 14. Culture protocol references:

No

15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Mechanisms to identify and notify the suspected source among multiple donors associated with contaminated pools

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

- Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination: Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation
- 20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

None of the above

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results:

The co-components are discarded if the culture is positive, regardless of the level of suspicion or the bacterial species. If cocomponents are available, they are also cultured. If not, we warn the hospital to which the co-components were shipped and we ask them to send back the co-components to us; if the result is false negative, we investigate the collection methods and procedures for the specific case.

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteraemia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

We call all the involved donors for a donor healthcare physician evaluation. The decision about deferral (or not) and future eligibility is taken according to the physician evaluation.

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events: Donors are permanently deferred if they have a confirmed second instance of a definite or likely contamination. Luiz Amorim Hemorio, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Email: luizamorimfilho@gmail.com

Maria Esther Lopes Hemorio, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Email: esther.lopes@hemorio.rj.gov.br

Margarida Pêcego Hemorio, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Email: margarida.pecego@hemorio.rj.gov.br

CANADA-REGIONAL CENTRE

Marc Germain and Christian Renaud

- 1. Type of blood collection service: Regional
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: 200,000–399,999
- Annual distribution of platelet doses: 20,000–59,999
- Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma
 Platelet-rich plasma whole blood-derived pools in plasma
- Practice check plasma whole blood-derived pools in plasma
 Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured:
- 100
- Culture instrument(s) used: BacT/Alert Biomerieux
- Culture sample source: Apheresis mother bag or pooled platelet if derived from whole blood
- Total volume removed for culture:
 20 ml
- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: At least 48 h
- 10. Culture inoculation practices:

Aerobic culture:

1

Aerobic inoculation volume: 8–10 mL

Anaerobic culture:

1

Anaerobic inoculation volume: 8–10 mL

- 11. Hold time before product release: At least 12 h after inoculation
- Longest allowable platelet expiration: Seven days after collection, both for apheresis and whole bloodderived platelets
- Implementation year of current culture method: 2015

14. Culture protocol references:

Yes

Delage G, Bernier F. Bacterial culture of platelets with the large volume delayed sampling approach: a narrative review. *Ann Blood*. 2021;6:30.

- 15. Written procedures:
 - Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms
 - Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Mechanisms to identify donors associated with any type of past alarm event

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

- Specific testing is required for approval to continue to donate Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm
- 17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Procedures have recently been downsized. A second positive result will trigger a complete medical evaluation

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Specific testing is required for approval to continue to donate

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Enhanced inspection of bags for microtears and leaks only observable under pressure

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm



- Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination: Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm
- 20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives) None
- Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results: Depending on the situation, co-components might be recalled
- and tested for sterility 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time:
 - Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteremia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether donors' healthcare providers have cleared them, regardless of workup

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

- 24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination: It varies depending on the pathogen; if it suggests an underlying systemic infection, the suggested investigation will be more aggressive and extensive; much less so if it is a skin contaminant.
- 25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events:

Donor will be permanently deferred unless there is a very convincing explanation that exonerates the donor as the source of contamination.

Marc Germain Héma-Québec, Quebec City, Canada Email: marc.germain@hema-quebec.qc.ca

Christian Renaud Héma-Québec, Montreal, Canada Email: christian.renaud@hema-quebec.qc.ca

NEW ZEALAND

Sarah L. Morley and Ronald So

- 1. Type of blood collection service: National
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: 50,000–199,999
- 3. Annual distribution of platelet doses: 2000–19,999

 Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in additive solution/plasma Buffy coat whole blood-derived pools in additive solution/plasma

- 5. Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured:
- Culture instrument(s) used: BacT/Alert 3D bioMerieux
- Culture sample source: Apheresis mother bag and whole blood derived pool
 Total volume removed for culture:
- 16 mL
- 9. Timing of sample inoculation after collection:

The sample is collected for testing at or after 36 h from post collection. Inoculation generally occurs between 36 and 48 h post collection.

10. Culture inoculation practices:

Aerobic culture: 1 Aerobic inoculation volume: 8 mL Anaerobic culture: 1 Anaerobic inoculation volume: 8 mL

- 11. Hold time before product release: The product is released following inoculation.
- 12. Longest allowable platelet expiration:

Both apheresis platelets in additive solution/plasma and buffycoat-derived platelets in additive solution/plasma have a maximum expiration of 7 days from collection.

- Implementation year of current culture method: 2009
- 14. Culture protocol references:
- Yes

Dickson M, Dinesh D. Bacterial contamination of platelet concentrates produced in New Zealand. *N Z Med J.* 2013;126:12–21.

NZBS. NZBS Haemovigilance Report (Produced Annually). Available from: https://www.nzblood.co.nz/clinical-information/haemovigilance-

programme

15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Mechanisms to identify and notify the suspected source among multiple donors associated with contaminated pools

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

.

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation.

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Other: This may require inspection of bags and sterility chain review if the physician requires it

- 19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination: Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation
- 20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

None

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results:

All platelet components, plasma components and any red cell components from the same collection/unit with an initial positive result will be traced and guarantined. If available, the platelets/red cells associated with a BacT/ALERT Initial Positive will be sent to a local accredited microbiology laboratory for gram stain, culture and identification. If the initial positive result confirms a false-positive result, the associated plasma will be directed to fractionation. If the initial positive result returns an indeterminate or confirmed positive result, the associated plasma will be discarded. The definition a confirmatory test and the classification of true positive and true negative follows the Association for the Advancement of Blood and Biotherapies guidelines as described in the Association Bulletin # 04-07.2: False-Negative investigation. If the transfusion reaction included a temperature rise of 1.5°C or more, a gram stain is requested immediately. If the gram stain and/or culture is positive, all platelet components, plasma components and any red cell components associated are guarantined. The transfusion medicine specialist will determine whether the other components should be released from quarantine, discarded or sent for culture

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management: Other: In general, donor investigations are not triggered unless the transfusion medicine specialist determines that this is required
- 24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination:

In general, New Zealand Blood Service does not trigger a donor investigation in the event that a pooled unit has definite or likely contamination.

Vox Sanguinis Si International Society 1019

25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events: New Zealand Blood Service does not routinely identify donors associated with past positive culture events.

Sarah L. Morley

New Zealand Blood Service, Auckland, New Zealand Email: sarah.morley@nzblood.co.nz

Ronald So

New Zealand Blood Service, Auckland, New Zealand Email: ronald.so@nzblood.co.nz

UNITED STATES-NATIONAL CENTRE

Hany Kamel, Mary Townsend and Courtney Hopkins

- 1. Type of blood collection service: National
- 2. Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: ≥400.000
- 3. Annual distribution of platelet doses: ≥120.000
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma
- 5. Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- 6. Culture instrument(s) used: Bact 3D and Virtuo **BioMerieux**
- 7. Culture sample source: Individual split units
- 8. Total volume removed for culture: 16 mL
- 9. Timing of sample inoculation after collection: ≥48 h
- 10. Culture inoculation practices: Aerobic culture: One per individual split unit

Aerobic inoculation volume:

8 mL

Anaerobic culture:

One per individual split unit

Anaerobic inoculation volume:

8 mL

11. Hold time before product release: 12 h

12. Longest allowable platelet expiration:

using Seven days, large volume delayed sampling protocol

1020 Vox Sanguinis

- Implementation year of current culture method: 2021
- 14. Culture protocol references: No
- 15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Mechanisms to identify donors associated with any type of past alarm event

Prescribed donor communications (oral or written) with various confirmed-positive organisms

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Donor arm inspection by blood collector staff for difficult skin decontamination

Phlebotomist observation for proper skin decontamination technique

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

 Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination: Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Technologist observation for proper sampling and inoculation technique

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

- Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results: Co-components are retrieved and quarantined. If available, platelets co-components are sent for culture.
- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Periodic monitoring only
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management: Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteremia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether donors' healthcare providers have cleared them, regardless of workup

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

Other: Decisions are made by medical director on a case-by-case basis when scenario is not addressed by SOP (standard operating procedure).

- 24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination: Not applicable. We do not produce pooled platelets.
- Management of donors with repeat alarm events: This is a rare occurrence. Donor eligibility is determined by the medical director.

Hany Kamel Vitalant, Scottsdale, AZ, USA Email: hkamel@vitalant.org

Mary Townsend Vitalant, Scottsdale, AZ, USA Email: mtownsend@vitalant.org Courtney Hopkins Vitalant, Scottsdale, AZ, USA Email: chopkins@vitalant.org

DENMARK

- Lene H. Harritshoej and Christian Erikstrup
- 1. Type of blood collection service: National
- Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: 50,000–199,999
- 3. Annual distribution of platelet doses: 20,000–59,999
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in plasma
 - Apheresis platelets in additive solution/plasma Buffy-coat whole blood-derived pools in additive solution/ plasma
- Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- Culture instrument(s) used: BACTALERT BIOMERIEUX
- Culture sample source: Whole blood-derived pool and apheresis mother bag
- Total volume removed for culture: 8–10 mL
- Timing of sample inoculation after collection: One day after collection
- 10. Culture inoculation practices:
 - Aerobic culture:
 - One per pool and one per apheresis
 - Aerobic inoculation volume:
 - 8-10 mL
 - Anaerobic culture:
 - Not applicable
 - Anaerobic inoculation volume:
 - Not applicable
- 11. Hold time before product release:
- We do not use a hold time after culturing 12. Longest allowable platelet expiration:
 - Seven days for both pooled and apheresis platelets
- 13. Implementation year of current culture method: 2012
- 14. Culture protocol references: No
- 15. Written procedures:
 - Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms
 - Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation:

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Sterility chain review (apheresis kits, sterile welders, incubators, etc.)

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results:

Culture from culture bottle and quarantine of co-RBC components until culture bottles are negative. If sample from the culture bottle is positive, we also culture from the quarantined RBC co-components

- 22. Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management: None
- 24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination: Donor is contacted only if a bacteremia of donor is the most possible source of contamination. Therefore, we almost never contact a donor when we detect a culture-positive pool/apheresis. The sterility of the production process and sample drawing process is primarily evaluated.
- 25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events: No response provided

VASSALLO ET AL.

Lene H. Harritshoej

Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

Email: lene.holm.harritshoej@regionh.dk

C. Erikstrup

Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark Email: christian.erikstrup@skejby.rm.dk

AUSTRALIA

Iain B. Gosbell, Melanie H. Levin and Peta M. Dennington

- 1. Type of blood collection service: National
- 2. Annual whole blood and automated red cell collection volume: ≥400,000
- 3. Annual distribution of platelet doses: ≥120.000
- 4. Type(s) of bacterially cultured leuko-reduced platelet offered: Apheresis platelets in additive solution/plasma Buffy-coat whole blood-derived pools in additive solution/plasma
- 5. Percentage of non-pathogen-reduced units cultured: 100
- 6. Culture instrument(s) used: BacT/ALERT VIRTUO bacterial contamination screening system bioMerieux
- 7. Culture sample source: Apheresis and pooled platelets from integrated sampling pouches
- 8. Total volume removed for culture: Pooled platelets: 16-20 mL; apheresis platelets 16-20 mL/unit (can be 1, 2 or 3 units)
- 9. Timing of sample inoculation after collection: BCS bottles are inoculated 36-72 h after collection
- 10. Culture inoculation practices:

Aerobic culture:

1

Aerobic inoculation volume:

- 8-10 mL
- Anaerobic culture:

1

Anaerobic inoculation volume:

```
8-10 mL
```

11. Hold time before product release:

We use large volume/delayed sampling. Platelet components are held until samples are taken 36-72 h after collection, upon which the platelets are released (assuming the mandatory testing is also not reactive). Note answer to 10 above: This does not cover two types of Platelets Pooled: one aerobic and one anaerobic bottle, 8-10 mL/each bottle, that is, 16-20 mL/apheresis: one aerobic and one anaerobic bottle for each unit of which there are one, two or three 8-10 mL/each bottle and 16-20 mL/unit.

12. Longest allowable platelet expiration:

All platelet products: 7 days (all platelet components have an expiry of 7 days after collection).

13. Implementation year of current culture method: 2021

We implemented full LVDS 21 March 2021; large-volume sampling was implemented 30 November 2020.

14. Culture protocol references: Yes

Thyer J, Perkowska-Guse Z, Ismay SL, Keller AJ, Chan HT, Dennington PM, et al. Bacterial testing of platelets: has it prevented transfusiontransmitted bacterial infections in Australia? Vox Sang. 2017;113:13-20. Borosak M, Wood E. Bacterial pre-release testing of platelets: the Australian Red Cross Blood Service clinical experience. Transfus Med Hemother. 2011:38:239-241.

15. Written procedures:

Overall management of screening platelet culture instrument alarms

Immediate product actions to be taken upon culture alarm Timeframe for hospital transfusion service notification of involved co-components

Required investigation elements (donor assessment, staff observations) by each combination of bottle/product culture results

When/what types of culture alarm scenarios must be evaluated by a blood centre physician

Required medical assessments of donors for continued donation Specific procedures or tests mandated for specific organisms (e.g., colonoscopy for S. bovis group isolates)

Mechanisms to identify and notify the suspected source among multiple donors associated with contaminated pools

Prescribed donor communications (oral or written) with various confirmed-positive organisms

16. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a common pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation

Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: Many of these are routine or covered in audits, not triggered by positive blood culture testing, some are not absolutes: for example, specific testing is required for approval to continue to donate.

17. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with a low-pathogenicity or pathogenic skin organism:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: We do not agree S. aureus and coagulase-negative Staphylococci are considered similarly in the rubric. S. aureus can cause occult bacteremia as well as being a skin colonizer, so is regarded by Lifeblood as highly pathogenic, that is, your category 4a not category 2. In addition, we treat Cutibacterium spp. and

coagulase-negative *Staphylococci* differently: Cutibacteria do not get donor follow-up, coagulase-negative *Staphylococci* get followed up. As per other questions above about pathogenic species, we routinely inspect bags and equipment, train the staff on donor arm disinfection and audit this routinely.

18. Evaluations required in definite or likely contamination with an environmental opportunistic pathogen:

Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Blood collector physician calls donor to take a complete medical history and provide preliminary donor advice

Donor healthcare practitioner referral and evaluation

Place a surveillance flag on non-deferred donors' records should they be associated with another alarm

Other: We regard Acinetobacter and Serratia as potentially pathogenic, so follow up the donor in this way.

- 19. Evaluations required in possible but unlikely contamination:
- Blood collector physician direction/evaluation of alarm investigation Other: Lifeblood struggles with this separation of confirmed/ unconfirmed/indeterminate because the lack of confirmation by culturing other bags or the donor or patient does NOT mean the bacterium was not there in the first place; it could be a low inoculum or the other bags do not have good conditions to support that species of bacteria, or the bacteremia in the donor or patient might have been transient and thus relevant cultures are negative. This artificial separation is on final reports that go to hospitals and they find it very confusing. Our regulator has also expressed this concern. With relation to donor follow-up, there is none in this scenario if it is a *Cutibacterium* spp., but the doctor follows up for any other organism, that is, group 2, 3, 4a and 4b organisms.
- 20. Evaluations required in unlikely contamination (e.g., false positives):

Other: We answered this for false positives, as we still follow up indeterminate as per species isolated; for this, we do not do any of the above.

21. Policy for managing co-components, confirming results and investigating your potential false-negative results:

This seems to relate to point-of-care testing in hospitals prior to transfusion, which does not occur in Australia. The only bacterial testing that is done is in the context of investigating transfusion reactions, and if reported to Lifeblood, would be managed as a suspected transfusion-transmitted bacterial infection. This scenario has not occurred at Lifeblood in the last 5 years at least. However, if it does, we would manage it as if it were a transfusion-transmitted infection near-miss, that is, recall all products, clinician notification if associated product transfused, culture all available products, contact implicated donors, enact deviation or corrective and preventative actions and conduct root cause analysis which would include extensive investigation, notify our executive, and so on.

- Monitor and investigate screening culture results in real time: Yes
- 23. Factors weighed in donor management:

Whether a source of infection was identified and definitively treated

Whether underlying risks for intermittent bacteremia or suboptimal skin disinfection exist

Whether donors' healthcare providers have cleared them, regardless of workup

Whether a search for infection or risk factors has been completed to the satisfaction of the blood collector's physician

Whether the donor has been involved in prior alarm events (excluding false-positive alarms)

Other: With respect to automatic permanent deferral, Lifeblood does not do this but considers donors on a case-by-case basis.

- 24. Donor management for definite or likely contamination: Lifeblood follows up all four donors, as it is not possible to know which donor was implicated. We would not do this for *Cutibacterium* spp. or coagulase-negative *Staphylococci*.
- 25. Management of donors with repeat alarm events:

Not aware of any such donors, but if this happened, the donor would be considered on a case-by-case basis by consultation with the medical microbiologists; this scenario would probably result in permanent deferral.

lain B. Gosbell

Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Melbourne, Australia Email: igosbell@redcrossblood.org.au

Melanie H. Levin

Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Melbourne, Australia Email: melevin@redcrossblood.org.au

Peta M. Dennington

Australian Red Cross Lifeblood, Melbourne, Australia Email: pdennington@redcrossblood.org.au

ORCID

Hany Kamel D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5023-8517 Ruchika Goel D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9653-9905 Arwa Z. Al-Riyami D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1281-0644 Sandra Ramirez-Arcos D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0705-4987 Aditi Khandelwal D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5585-6194 Mindy Goldman D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9904-9952 Katie Hands D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1940-8319 Silvano Wendel D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1941-7733 Susan R. Brailsford D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2856-0387 Sarah L. Morley D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2999-4737 Mary Townsend D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7759-0676

How to cite this article: Vassallo R, Kamel H, Goel R, Al-Riyami AZ, Al-Muharrmi Z, Jacquot C, et al. International Forum on Management of Blood Donors with Culture-Positive Platelet Donations: Responses. Vox Sang. 2023;118:1004–23.

Vox Sanguinis SSI International Society 1023

DIARY OF EVENTS



See also https://www.isbtweb.org/events/hvwebinars.html 18-21 November 2023

ISBT Cape Town 2023